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Area: 36,000 hectares

Open Space: 18,239 hectares

Area of open space with outstanding

Population: 201,300 (estimated resident 

population 30 June 2008 Statistics New Zealand)

Climate: warm temperature/subtropical
            14°C – 27°C in summer

              8°C – 19°C in winter

vegetation: 5,246.8 hectares

A snapshot of Waitakere
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About the City

The Annual Report, including the Sustainability Report, is one 

of a suite of three documents, the others being the Long Term 

Council Community Plan (LTCCP) and the Annual Plan.

This Annual Report is also the third year of the Council’s Long 

Term Council Community Plan (LTCCP) 2006-2016 and is a one 

year “slice” from the LTCCP for the 2008/2009 fi nancial year. 

This report explains what the Council did in the last year, how 

much it cost, how it was funded and uses the international 

sustainability reporting guidelines from the Global Reporting 

Initiative (GRI) for sustainability reporting. 

Waitakere City Council’s commitment as an eco city, the 

principles and platforms that direct the Council’s work and 

the eco city direction, the integration of sustainability into its 

corporate activities, progress on the Community Outcomes and 

Long Term Council Community Plan 2006-2016 and fi nancial 

reporting for the Council are all covered in this report.
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Waitakere

Waitakere is located along the west coast of the Auckland 
region and includes the Waitakere Ranges, cascading down 
the foothills and through rural villages and urban centres to 
the Waitemata Harbour.

Waitakere has an outstanding natural environment and 
diverse population and a physical presence comprising 
1/3 bush and rainforest, 1/3 rural land and 1/3 urban land.

The original inhabitants – “The people of the land” –  are 
the Maori tribes of Te Kawerau a Maki and Ngati Whatua. 
Around 14% of the City’s population identify themselves 
as coming from Maori descent. Maori within the City have 
played a leading role in the renaissance of Maori language 
and culture and in promoting the increasing prominence 
of Maori in business and education. Pacifi c Islands people 
(15%) and other ethnic groups from Europe and Asia are 
increasing in numbers and add to the City’s culture 
and diversity.

The community’s history has emerged from the brick and 
pottery industry, timber milling, gum digging, orchards, 
farming, viticulture, the water industry and the rail industry 
and today Waitakere has evolved and expanded into 
viticulture, boat building and marine industry, screen 
production and the light manufacturing sector.

Case Study - Council Walking the Talk
The Council must show leadership through 
examining its own practices as it seeks to work with 
the community in realising the vision of the eco city. 
As with the community, sustainability is a journey 
and the Council needs to continuously improve its 
internal policies, programmes and activities in order 
to become a more sustainable organisation. 

Sustainability reporting on corporate actions will 
help achieve the following aims: 

• Demonstrate the Council’s commitment to being 
a good employer. This is expected to help with 
recruitment and retention of quality staff and 
reduce the costs caused through turnover and 
loss of institutional memory

Mihi

No hea te aroha, te mihi nei, 
no Waitakere

E hapai, pikaukau ana matou te kaupapa

Hei manaaki te oranga whenua, 
oranga moana

Ara te kaitiakitanga mo te iwi hoki 

Greeting

Where is the love, it is here in this 
greeting from Waitakere

Who raise and carry the message

To look after the wellbeing of the 
land and sea

Thus as the guardian for the people
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• Increase the positive impacts of the Council on 
the local economy by increasing the proportion of 
the money raised through rates and user charges 
that is returned to the local economy through jobs 
and purchases. This will help strengthen the City’s 
economic base

• Reduce the environmental impact of the Council’s 
operations through such activities as reducing the
production of greenhouse gases and the amount 
of material disposed of to landfi ll

• Seek to maximise the social benefi ts of the 
Council’s investments and interventions 
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From the Mayor

It is a turbulent time for Waitakere. We are tasked with 
carrying on the culture that has defi ned us as we look 
towards a future amalgamation into the Auckland Council.

In the midst of that adversity we have produced another 
year of leadership. The sustainability principles we 
founded this City on are now becoming mainstream 
nationally and internationally. We continue to lead the 
pack. This year we announced plans to retrofi t 20,000 
homes in the next 10 years, instigated a user pays 
inorganic rubbish collection and signed more than 800 
children up to the Water Ambassadors Kids Club.

Our Councillors and staff have again excelled under 
diffi cult circumstances. The recently released Long Term 
Council Community Plan is a model of good planning. It 
sets out a fi nancial map that will guide our eco city vision 
far into the future.

This year has found our country struggling to extricate 
itself from a deepening economic depression. Waitakere 
has been hurt along with everyone else. Many of our 
people have been left jobless or struggling to pay their 
bills on cut salaries. As a council we have tried to ease 
the burden. Our Plus 4 Redundancy Relief programme 
was acclaimed. We are also creating hundreds of local 
jobs in the development sector. Town centre and marine 
cluster upgrades are set to reshape Hobsonville, while 
the $300 million New Lynn Town Centre Project is on 
track for completion next October.

In July we released West: A History of Waitakere. It is 
a record of what has been achieved here. For 20 years 
we have balanced social, cultural, environmental and 
economic concerns to build a unique city on a unique 
land. Any aerial map of Auckland will show you three 
cities spread out all over the place and one in the west 
that is stable and compact. Its waterways are among 
the cleanest in the region and its hills are protected 
from rampant development. 

Mission, Goals 
and Principles

Waitakere Eco City

sustainable
dynamic
just

Principles

open honest communication
responsiveness
accountability
partnership
innovation
excellence
integrity

Te taiao o waitakere

kia mau tonu nga tikanga
whakahirahira
tino rangatiratanga

Whanonga

kia pono kia ngawari
kia mama nga wawata
ko te whanau hei titiro
kia haere kotahi
kia kakama
kia tino ataahua
kia haere totika I roto I te rangaimarie

Te whakatakanga, nga
tuhenaga, nga whanonga
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Look a little closer though and you will see what really 
defi nes this City. Its people are the kind that turn out in 
their dozens to pull litter out of streams and band together 
in the hundreds to march against family violence. They are 
hard but fair, stubborn but generous, together but diverse 
and they are proud to call themselves Westies. I am proud 
of the role this Council has had in creating Westie culture. 

We will carry that culture and the principles of the 
‘Waitakere Way’ with us as we transition into the 
new Auckland Council.

Some fear we will lose our identity. But I am not worried. 
Though like the tides of our coast the West will change, 
like the Waitakere Ranges it will stand strong forever.

Bob Harvey 
Mayor
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From the CEO

As Waitakere makes ready for its place in the Auckland 
Council by November 2010, I refl ect on what has been 
achieved at Waitakere during the year that’s just passed.

There are scores of laudable outcomes in a mere 12 months. 
Some are new; some of them win prizes; others are slow-
release projects just emerged from chrysalis form.

I’m going to start with people, because that’s what Waitakere 
is mostly about.

The fact that Waitakere fosters community life is refl ected in 
a national quality of life survey with the majority of Waitakere 
residents (91 percent) rating their quality of life as “good” or 
“extremely good”. Over 80 percent of Waitakere residents 
take part in regular physical exercise and 88 percent of 
residents fi nd it easy to use a local park.

Possibly the most visible example of council-community 
co-operation is the re-vegetation of riparian margins along 
Waitakere’s streams by the community through the Project 
Twin Streams project.

River banks have been transformed by hundreds of pairs of 
hands, old and young, through digging a hole and putting in 
plants that are fi rming the banks. Importantly, the project 
raised community awareness about the many ways people 
can look after their local streams.

The Council brings the community together in many ways 
and the following are just the tip of the totara - the ANZAC 
services, Waitakere Community Boards Unsung Hero Awards, 
Matariki, Diwali, Moon Festival, Trash to Fashion, Fathering 
Week, Christmas Giftmaking, Samoan language week, Going 
West, Arts Open Studio weekend, Infratil-Waitakere City 
Community Awards - to name only a few of the “out there” 
people events that Waitakere excels in.

• West Wave, one of Waitakere’s favourite destinations 
for people of all ages has just been awarded the Douglas 
Pharmaceuticals Best Large Business Award in this year’s 
Westpac Waitakere Business Awards.

• The people of Waitakere want jobs close to home so the 
Council this year unlocked valuable business land that will 
generate new jobs at Universal Drive extension in central 
Henderson.

• Children are learning the sustainability message in their 
classrooms, thanks to initiatives from Waitakere City 
Council’s environmental advisers.

• In Glen Eden, it’s about boosting business and creating a 
buzz: Waitakere’s newest Business Improvement District 
(BID) has been newly created with the Council’s help.

• On the new Water Ambassadors Kids Club website close to 
1000 children of New Zealand’s fi rst eco city are leading the 
charge on water conservation - consumption in Waitakere 
has reduced dramatically.

• At Glendene and Kelston, residents are helping assess 
the need for new facilities in their communities while 
in Massey, the Massey Matters council-community 
“neighbourhood renewal” comprises forums, research, 
a newsletter, and the recognition of “Massey Marvels”, 
those who quietly work for a better Massey and are 
known and respected for their commitment to our 
community. Massey Matters has just won a Society of 
Local Government Managers’ commendation for council-
community relations in the 2009 New Zealand Post Group 
Local Government Excellence Awards.

• The Council’s latest learning centre has just opened 
at the refurbished Titirangi library.

• Residents can now pre-book their own user-pays 
inorganic collection via a website or through the Council. 
Waitakere has launched a campaign that says ‘Bags Not’ 
to plastic bags.

In last year’s report, I referred to the ‘-isation’ of urban, globe 
and technology and the role of cities as drivers of economic 
and social success through collaboration between the Council, 
community and outside agencies.

In this acknowledged landscape, local government Waitakere-
style is all about economic leverage generated from 
infrastructure development and investment.  The Council uses 
that leverage wisely in partnership with long term developers. 

Economic and commercial gain can be achieved with a clear 
logic for intervening between public and private capital in large 
scale developments such as New Lynn.

The ambitious transformation of New Lynn is an outstanding 
example of what can be achieved through partnerships and 
collaboration.  The $300 million redevelopment programme 
currently underway will transform New Lynn from brownfi elds 
to a leading example of successful urban regeneration.

The benefi ts from the improved transport infrastructure in 
New Lynn will be signifi cant.  Travel will be more effi cient and 
the whole area will be much more pedestrian friendly.
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collaborative rail trenching project en route to an integrated 
transport hub of world-class standard.  Work on the trench 
has done very well this year with trains expected to run 
underground early next year.  The project also involves road 
improvements and town centre development which also got 
underway this year.

In the Northern Strategic Growth Area (Westgate to 
Hobsonville), earthworks have started at the 167 hectare 
former Hobsonville airbase, where 3000 houses are planned. 
The fi rst houses will be ready by early 2011.

The State Highway 16 extension to Brigham Creek Road and 
SH18 deviation motorway projects by New Zealand Transport 
Agency remain on track for opening in 2012. The fi rst stage 
of resource consents to begin development on the extended 
Westgate town centre have been lodged and decisions are 
expected after Christmas. 

Years of Council planning and collaboration with developers 
have begun to come to fruition in this area, with a lot more 
to come.

• Double-tracking of the western rail line continues. Project 
Twin Streams walk and cycleways are nearing completion 
and there has been an increase of 32 percent in cycling in 
Waitakere (Regional Cycling Monitoring Programme)

• Total combined bus, ferry and rail patronage increased 
7.7 percent for the Auckland region, with rail patronage 
increasing 12.6 percent and bus patronage increasing 7.8 
percent.  Patronage on the Western train line services 
increased by 12.7 percent!

• A groundbreaking pilot programme that uses offenders to 
beautify graffi ti-prone areas of the Henderson rail corridor 
has received Ministry of Justice funding to extend into 
neighbouring Sunnyvale.

• The publication of WEST, the most comprehensive history 
ever written about the west of Auckland.

Waitakere has overcome many obstacles and setbacks in its 
20 resilient years and continues its commitment to meeting 
the needs of the present without compromising future 
generations.

Sustainability has enormous relevance to the organisation’s 
strategies, actions, and you, who have chosen to make your 
home in the west of Auckland.

Waitakere practises sustainability in many ways including 
long term planning, particularly for the city’s major 
infrastructure, and takes account of predicted increased 
variations in our weather. 

There is a focus on reducing single occupancy car travel, 
reducing energy consumption, especially electricity 
consumption, and increasing public awareness of and public 
debate on climate change. Responses and actions are being 
developed to address climate change to achieve Waitakere’s 
goals to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. 

We do not operate in a vacuum. Broader trends, whether 
macro-economic or political, affect the organisation and 
infl uence sustainability priorities.

The global recession has impacted on local businesses, jobs 
and the rate of development. As major investors, Waitakere 
continues to pilot economic activity while staying aware of the 
impact of rate increases and the risks of rising debt levels.

Predicted oil price rises (based on strong evidence that in 
the future fossil fuels will decline in availability), will one day 
force change in diverse areas, including transportation, food 
production and how we work. 

Steady cost increases are already resulting in decreased travel 
and increasing demand on alternative energy sources.

The Council’s strategic direction is focused on increasing 
local access to work, education and recreation through 
the development of a compact city that reduces the need 
for travel.

The development of an effi cient and accessible public 
transport system enables cost effective travel while 
decreasing the need for single occupant car use. 

Waitakere’s six strategies - growth management, transport, 
environment, social, cultural wellbeing and economic 
wellbeing - comprise Waitakere’s strategic direction.

The strategies encapsulate the city’s vision for the 
short, medium and long-term, developed in response to 
the challenges of economic, environmental and social 
performance.

I urge you to hold on to the vision and reality of Waitakere as 
the vigorous and prosperous west, as we embark on the next 
stage of our journey.

Vijaya Vaidyanath 
Chief Executive Offi cer 
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Why Plan Ahead?

As long term sustainability and resiliency become more 

embedded in our thinking it is important we plan for the 

needs of residents now and in the future. The way the 

roads and paths, the pipes and the parks are developed 

today will shape our City for many years and will affect 

the way our children and our grandchildren will live in 

this place for many years ahead.

The Long Term Council Community Plan (LTCCP) as set 

out in the Local Government Act 2002 is our plan ahead 

for Waitakere and its residents. We believe our plan is a 

good plan. It sets a clear direction and some challenging 

but achievable goals towards becoming a prosperous, 

resilient, sustainable and liveable city. 

How Do Annual Plans and The Long Term 
Council Community Plan Work Together?

The following diagram shows the planning cycle of the 

Council. The 2006-2016 LTCCP, adopted in June 2006 sets 

out the Council’s work programme for the next 10 years. 

The plan is reviewed every three years and progress is 

reported on every year.

The Annual Report is a one year “slice” from the LTCCP. It 

explains what the Council did in the last year, how much it 

cost and how it was funded and also reports on sustainability, 

using the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). The previous 

Annual Report was adopted on 29 October 2008.

Each year we also produce an Annual Plan that is based 

on the LTCCP. It provides an opportunity to make minor 

changes to the LTCCP. If a major change to the LTCCP is 

identifi ed then the Council must follow a more rigorous 

consultation and decision making process. Generally 

this will still be done through an expanded Annual Plan 

consultation process.

Planning and Reporting Cycle

LTCCP
10 Year Plan

Includes Year 1
Annual Plan

Annual Report Annual Report

Annual Plan
Year 3

Annual Report

Annual Plan
Year 2
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In 1993, the Waitakere City Council declared itself an eco 
city and was the fi rst council in New Zealand to adopt 
Agenda 21 – the programme of action that was produced 
at the United Nations Rio Earth Summit in June 1992.

Waitakere’s vision as an eco city is a place where 
developing the economy, caring for the environment, 
celebrating cultural diversity and building strong 
communities go hand in hand.

This vision guides our decisions and activities and, together 
with the Council’s acknowledgement of the Treaty of 
Waitangi, is at the heart of our aspirations for the City. We 
are working with the community and other key partners 
to build a future that is sustainable, dynamic and just.

The Council is now required to plan its activities at least 
10 years ahead and to respond to a set of community 
outcomes and priorities as a result of the Local Government 
Act 2002. Our work programme and activities to enable this 
vision are documented in the 2006-2016 Long Term Council 
Community Plan.

Planning For Waitakere into the Future

There are many issues challenging Waitakere. Like other 
councils in the Auckland region, the Council is grappling 
with issues related to a rapidly growing population. The 
annual population growth rate for Waitakere over the 
period July 2007 to June 2008 was 1.5%. By 2021 our 
City’s population is expected to increase to 242,200 
people – an increase of 40,900.

The challenges to the Council include ensuring the 
availability of reasonable quality and affordable housing 

and the infrastructure for residents, enabling access to 
local retail facilities and services, open and green space 
and employment opportunities. 

Today, over 50% of the City’s workforce travel out of 
the city to work everyday.

This has a tremendous impact on levels of traffi c 
congestion, community and family disconnection and the 
strength of our local economy. Transport is our largest 
single contributor to greenhouse gas emissions. Together 
these present signifi cant obstacles to our goal of becoming 
a sustainable and prosperous city.

The City’s Response to Growth

Enabling our City to develop whilst still becoming more 
prosperous and sustainable is our challenge.

Initiatives include:

• the creation of a sustainable and integrated transport 
network that increases use of public transport

• facilitating urban intensifi cation and town centre 
economic development

• reducing travel need and greenhouse gas emissions

• including a variety of travel options including walking, 
biking, public transport and motor vehicles

• the intensifi cation and redevelopment of the urban 
and semi-urban centres especially those close to 
the rail corridor

• development of a new urban centre at Westgate

How the Eco City has Developed:
Long Term Council Community Plan
2006–2016
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• supporting legislation and community focused initiatives 
towards the long term protection of the Waitakere 
ranges, the foothills, rural and coastal areas of the City

• ensuring that over three quarters of all new residential 
development takes place within the Metropolitan Urban 
Limit (MUL).

The creation of higher density settlements in key town 
centres is a priority. Increased densities mean less 
dependence on cars, a more centralised network of pipes 
and essential infrastructure and a considerable lift in the 
quality and types of services that you can expect within 
a suburban town centre. 

Walkable communities will contribute to stronger and more 
connected communities.

The Council is aware that increased housing density also 
poses risks.

We are working with other agencies to encourage the 
provision of social services in line with urban growth 
and changing communities.

We are working to ensure that new housing is of high 
quality, affordable and adaptable to our changing household 
needs while also minimising construction waste going 
to landfi ll. We are planning for suffi cient access to open 
space and parks and more local jobs for the people living 
in these settlements.

The Long Term Horizon
and Planning Direction

Throughout this century we will face more major challenges 
from an increasingly faster changing world. Many of the 
forces we must plan for are beyond the Council’s control.

With the increasing rate of change it is sometimes diffi cult 
to predict exactly what the future will look like. We can 
however see the general trends.

The rapid changes in technology are fundamentally 
reshaping the way our society functions. In just 15 years 
the internet has completely altered the way we do 
business, communicate, shop and work with information. 

People can now purchase goods and work from home, 
or can be on the other side of the world running a business 
back in New Zealand. Everybody from Central Government 
to business is trying to understand what the medium-to-
long-term implications are of this technological revolution.

The Council is now responding to the consensus on 
climate change through its climate change action plan.

There is strong evidence that fossil fuels will decline in 
availability. The increase in price is already resulting in 
increasing demand on alternative energy sources. 

This will drive change in a very diverse range of areas 
including transportation, food production and work.

The disparity between the rich and poor has continued 
to grow at both a local and global level. Attention is being 
given to ensure all residents benefi t from a developing city.

The Council is working to identify the net impact of all these 
trends and forge a coherent group of longer term strategies 
to plan successfully for the future.

Waitakere City Council is an active participant in the 
development of the region’s Long Term Sustainability 
Framework and as it progresses we will be seeking better 
alignment between our own long term visions and that 
of the region’s.

In December 2005, as part of its broader strategic 
visioning and to provide a strong foundation, the Council 
recommitted to a series of high level principles. 

The source of these is the Rio Declaration / Agenda 21, 
(http://www.waitakere.govt.nz/abtcit/ec/agnd21overv4.asp), 
the Aalborg Charter (www.aalborgplus10.dk) and the 2003 
Sustainable Development Programme of Action for 
New Zealand (http://www.mfe.govt.nz/issues/susdev/
programme.html).

on these is detailed in Volume 1 of the Long Term Council Community Plan 
2006 – 2016 pages 10 to 14 which is available from the Council’s website, 
http://www.waitakere.govt.nz/AbtCnl/pp/ltccp.asp or our Call Centre 839 0400.

More Information



Annual Report // Including Sustainability Report 2008/200915

The stakeholders identifi ed below are those that the Council 
is required to consult with under legislation, or stakeholders 
it chooses to consult with for policy development and 
programme delivery.

• Residents and ratepayers

• Resident and ratepayer groups

• Council staff

• Councillors and Community Board members

• The Council’s fi nancial institutions

• Council Controlled Organisations

• Other external parties

• Other councils

• Other organisations working on their sustainability 
programmes and reporting

• Central Government

Best for the West – Waitakere’s 10 Year Plan 
Consultation Process

The Council’s decisions on Waitakere’s 10 Year Plan 
2009–2019 (long term plan) was made after consultation 
with the community. The focus was to ensure the Council 
progressed towards a sustainable future and people receive 
value for money.

The long term plan was released on 31 March 2009 to all 
Council service centres, libraries, Citizens’ Advice Bureaux 
and community houses. It contained details about the 
Council’s vision and strategic direction for the 10 years 
from 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2019. It also included what 
the Council planned to do, the levels of service it would 
provide and information about Council policies and fi nancial 
and forecast statements.

A summary of the long term plan was published as a 
Waitakere City News special edition and circulated to 
65,534 households in the City. This special edition drew 
attention to the City’s strategic direction and fi nancial and 
key issues facing the City.

The long term plan and the Waitakere News special edition 
were available on the Council’s website and upon request 
from the Council’s 24-hour Call Centre. They and the 
Council’s website included a submission form for feedback.

Submissions

The Council received 353 submissions on the long term 
plan. These submissions mentioned more than 1,000 issues 
including important topics, fi nancial and other issues facing the 
City. Nearly one third specifi cally addressed these key issues:

• Disposal of land surplus to requirements
• Glen Eden Town Centre Business Plan targeted rate

• Mobile Library service

• On-street paid parking

• Retrofi tting houses in the City

• Rugby World Cup 2011

• Wilsher Village complex

• Proposed changes to fees and charges.

Stakeholders

A summary of the issues in the submissions 
received is as follows:

Future planning and development 183

Arts, events and communications  87 

Transport assets  68 

Leisure and community services 162

Parks and property 134

Waste management 9

Consents, enforcement and environmental 17

Support services 63

Key consultation issues 293

Three Waters 26

Policies 14

Total 1056
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All submitters were given the opportunity to present 

their submissions in person to the Long Term Council 

Community Plan and Annual Plan Committee. After the 

hearings, all submissions were then considered by the Long 

Term Council Community Plan and Annual Plan Committee.

Best for the West - Waitakere’s 10 Year Plan 2009–2019 
was adopted by the Council on 30 June 2009.

Auckland Council Transition Support

There is an ongoing programme of support to enable 
Council staff to move through the period of transition 
to the Auckland Council in a positive and focussed way. 
Communication has been a key element. A commitment 
from the Chief Executive Offi cer to advise Council staff as 
soon as possible of any new information received, as well 
as regular updates from the Chief Executive Offi cer and 
Directors, has ensured Council staff feel well informed and 
involved in the transition process. 

Workshops have been held with Council managers and 
team leaders to encourage them to be the Vision Keepers 
throughout this transition process - to ensure that clear 
expectations are set for Council staff about tasks and more 
importantly the manner in which they support one another.

Another series of workshops on Understanding Change 
and Building Resilience are being offered. These will be 
followed with a full programme of career transition support 
at all levels including curriculum vitae writing and interview 
skills workshops.

Pay and Employment Equity Review

The joint Council and Public Service Association (PSA) 
Pay and Employment Equity Review Committee was 
established to review pay and employment practices in 
the Council. The Pay and Equity Unit of the Department 
of Labour provided funding for the review to enable the 
Council to engage a project manager to lead the review 
process. The review committee concentrated on three 
key areas: 

• Rewards (women and men have an equitable share 
of rewards)

• Participation (women and men participate equitably 
in all areas of the organisation)

• Respect and fairness (women and men are treated 
with equal respect and fairness).

The review commenced as an outcome of the last PSA 
Collective Agreement negotiations that were concluded 
in July 2008. Pay and employment equity is about ensuring 
that pay, conditions, access and experiences in the 
workplace, are not affected by gender. 

The review wanted to concentrate on what the organisation 
was already doing well. 

The Council:

• provides staff with free Employee Assistance Programme 
sessions, with the provision of additional support to 
assist staff through the Auckland Governance transition.

• has good relationships with local businesses resulting 
in staff receiving subsidies or priority listings for 
childcare facilities

• provides a baby feeding room in the main building

• has pay rates that are aligned to the general market

• is a great employer

• has a strong brand, identity and vision

• provides staff with fl exible working arrangements.

The following areas for consideration were tagged for 
further investigation by the review committee and survey 
respondents. They were not addressed further due to time 
and resource constraints. 

Considerations for further investigation were:

• The creation of job families (similar job groupings) 
and career paths for all occupations

• Investigate breastfeeding rooms for off campus sites

• Job description audit. Primarily looking at qualifi cations   
 versus experience.
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Waitakere has a mix of sustainability challenges given 
its urban environment located next to the Waitakere 
Ranges, the West Coast and inner harbours. The City’s 
sustainability challenges are identifi ed as biodiversity, 
managing population growth and demographic change, 
technological change, changing world views, globalisation, 
climate change and resource availability. These challenges 
underpin our strategies and responses and assist in the 
Council’s long term planning, work programme and asset 
management plans. The Waitakere Ranges and Foothills 
Heritage Area Act 2008 promotes the protection and 
enhancement of the Waitakere Ranges heritage features.

The Council defi nes ‘eco city’ as a City which responds to the 
challenges of the 21st century by working creatively with the 
community to increase the social, environmental, economic 
and cultural wellbeing of present and future generations.

Biodiversity

The Waitakere Ranges make up more than half of the City’s 
land area and provide a home to a wide range of rare and 
common native plant and animal species. This expansive 
natural area has local, regional, national and international 
signifi cance for one reason or another and the City has 
the collective responsibility for ensuring that these natural 
values are maintained, enjoyed and enhanced. Native 
vegetation in the lowland area, which is the urban part of 
the City, is fragmented and primarily restricted to gullies 
and stream margins. There are small forest remnants 
and an area of approximately 30ha of gumland vegetation 
in Waikumete Cemetery, but largely the vegetation is 
in the regeneration stage and commonly mixed with 
exotic species. The Council’s Environment Strategy 2009 
envisages linking the Waitakere Ranges through the City 
to the coast bringing the natural world into people’s lives. 

Population Growth and Social Equity

There are many issues challenging Waitakere. Like other 
councils in the Auckland Region, issues related to a rapidly 
growing population are complex. The annual population 
growth rate for Waitakere over the period July 2007 to June 
2008 was 1.5%. By the year 2021 our City’s population is 
expected to increase to 242,200 people 
- an increase of 40,900 from 2008. 

The challenges include ensuring the availability of reasonable 
quality and affordable housing and infrastructure for residents, 
enabling access to local retail facilities and services, open and 
green space and employment opportunities.

In moving forward the Council has a commitment to ensuring 
that the City can accommodate its growth needs in the long 
term. In particular the City will need to expand and intensify to 
provide for local employment growth. In planning for that future 
growth the foundations of a compact and connected city form 
will be underpinned by both “hard” and social infrastructure. 

In Waitakere, progress is already building towards a 
contained, compact and effi cient city offering a distinctive 
and high quality of life with easy access to the coast 
and outdoors and a well designed urban form providing 
close proximity to work and education and economic 
development based on productivity gains.

Waitakere’s Growth Management Strategy 2009 seeks 
to ensure that the City grows primarily within the current 
urban footprint and includes areas at Massey and 
Hobsonville by 2021 and the urbanisation of Redhills,
Scotts Point and Whenuapai post 2021. 

The Council’s long term planning is designed to give effect 
to the Growth Management Strategy with a focus on the 
major town centres, namely New Lynn, Henderson and 
Westgate and the Northern Strategic Growth Area (of 
Hobsonville and Massey North/Westgate). The vision is for 
major town centres that are high density, vibrant, safe and 
connected by sustainable, social and physical infrastructure.

Economic sustainability also implies that services are 
affordable for current and prospective residents. The 
Council only has limited options to fund its operations. 
Essentially these are rates, user charges, borrowing and 
subsidies from Central Government.

The Council makes every effort to maximise revenue from 
sources other than rates. For 2008/2009 over 50% of 
operating costs were funded from rates. Capital expenditure is 
usually funded by borrowing. New projects incur maintenance 
costs, depreciation and interest which have to be funded. 
Increased costs from projects driven by growth are well in 
excess of the consequent growth in the rating base. Full 
details of these are published in Part A of the Long Term 
Council Community Plan 2009 - 2019 on pages 17 to 25.

Sustainability Challenges
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The disparity between the rich and poor has continued to 
grow at both a local and global level. Throughout history and 
around the world inequities have resulted in marginalised 
communities and associated mistrust and disorder. From 
advocating and enabling access to affordable housing, 
encouraging more quality jobs in the City to supporting access 
to skills and information, the Council is strongly aware of the 
need to ensure all residents benefi t from a developing City.

The Global Recession

The global recession is impacting on local businesses, 
jobs and the rate of development. Central Government 
is developing response packages to limit fallout and local 
government, as a major investor, has a role to play in 
keeping up economic activity while being aware of the 
impact of rate increases and the risks of rising debt levels. 

Climate Change

New Zealand is a signatory to the Kyoto Protocol, an 
agreement negotiated in 1997 to delay global warming 
by reducing greenhouse gas emissions. Different targets 
were established for different countries based on their 
ability to manage emissions. The target for New Zealand
is to stabilise its emissions at 1990 levels. Countries that 
do not meet targets for the fi rst commitment period (2008-
2012) will need to buy emissions credits from countries 
that exceed their targets. 2009 is a crucial year in the 
international effort to address climate change, culminating 
in the United Nations Climate Change Conference (COP 
15) in Copenhagen, 7-18 December 2009. In 2007, parties 
agreed to shape an ambitious and effective international 
response to climate change, to be agreed at Copenhagen. 
Central Government is currently consulting on a target of 
greenhouse gas emissions reductions of between 10% 
and 20% below 1990 levels by 2020, if there 
is a comprehensive global agreement.

The more direct consequences of climate change for 
Waitakere are that storm events are projected to become 
more extreme. The one in 100-year event may become 
the one in 20-year event. This would put additional stress 
on an already stretched stormwater system and may 

decrease soil stability, especially in steeper areas. Flooding 
may become more common along streams and rivers. A 
sea-level rise will affect coastal settlements and potentially 
those along the estuaries of the Waitemata Harbour, 
especially when a king tide coincides with heavy rainfall.

Increases in temperatures and changes in rainfall patterns 
may also affect biodiversity and some species may be 
unable to adapt.

Conditions may become more favourable for introduced 
and potentially invasive species and other biosecurity 
threats. Increased temperature and humidity may also 
affect human health, with a rise in infectious diseases 
and heat stress. Warmer, more humid summers may 
result in more people installing air conditioning and 
increasing the demand for electricity. However 
warmer winters may decrease demand.

Fossil Fuel Oil Peak

One of the big factors affecting the Council’s spending 
is the fl uctuating price of oil on the world market, with oil 
currently hovering around the US$60 per barrel mark. The 
increase in the price of oil affects different areas of the 
Council in different ways, from the increased raw material 
costs for bitumen for road works, through to the increased 
costs for construction.

Changes in fossil fuel prices directly infl uence project costs 
through increased transport costs and indirectly through 
increased costs of materials that have a large transport 
component. The Council is concerned about the impact of 
these rapidly rising fossil fuel prices on the individual and is 
actively exploring alternative energy options. The Council is 
also investing in and actively encouraging public transport 
use and providing infrastructure, such as extensive 
networks of walk and cycleways in support of alternative 
means of transport. There is also ongoing work identifying 
different ways to do business - ways not so heavily 
dependent upon fossil fuel use.
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Technology

The rapid changes in technology are fundamentally 
reshaping the way our society functions. In just 15 years 
the internet has completely altered the way we do 
business, communicate, shop and work with information. 
People can now purchase goods and work from home, or 
can be on the other side of the world running a business 
back in New Zealand. Broadband infrastructure is being 
increasingly seen as critical to economic growth in New 
Zealand and Waitakere’s residents need to be able to 
access this infrastructure and services over the internet. 
Everybody from Central Government to business is trying 
to understand what the medium to long term implications 
are of this technological revolution. 

Auckland Governance

The Royal Commission on Auckland Governance report 
in April 2009 and the subsequent response by Central 
Government signalled changes to the governance 
of the region and the local council areas. Central 
Government released its decisions on the recommendations 
of the Royal Commission on Auckland Governance on 
7 April 2009. There are signifi cant differences between 
the Royal Commission recommendations and Central 
Government’s decisions. 

The key high-level decisions are:

• one unitary Auckland Council 

• one mayor for Auckland with governance powers, elected 
at large by the region’s residents and ratepayers 

• approximately 20 to 30 local boards across the region 
as the second tier of governance 

• 20 Councillors on the Auckland Council – eight elected 
at large and 12 elected from wards 

• the fi nal number of local boards and the boundaries 
of the Auckland Council, wards and local boards to be 
determined by the Local Government Commission. 

A number of other recommendations need consideration 
by Central Government, or will be developed by the 
Auckland Transition Agency and councils across the region. 
Some issues will be for the future Auckland Council to 
decide. The Council will continue to be a contributor to the 
parliamentary processes that set out the new governance 
structures for the region, in the best interests of the 
residents of Waitakere and the region. 
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How the Community Outcomes Affect Planning

In 2005 the Waitakere community identifi ed Community 
Outcomes for Waitakere 2006-2009. The Council considers 
these when planning for the future and they are strongly 
aligned to the strategic direction of the Council which has
been recently updated and is described in the Long Term 
Council Community Plan 2009-2019. The Annual Report 
2008-2009 is still aligned to the strategic direction in the 
Long Term Council Community Plan 2006-2016 but the 
updated strategic direction will be a key infl uence in future 
Annual Reports of the Council. Some of the community 
outcome aspirations fall outside of the Council’s 
responsibilities and in these other areas the Council 
is taking a leadership and advocacy role with groups 
and organisations.

The Council facilitates the identifi cation of Waitakere’s 
Community Outcomes at least every six years. 

The Community Outcomes for Waitakere 2006-2016 
that relate to the Annual Report 2008/2009 are:

Green Network

He Tuituitanga Kakariki

People are in harmony with and have a strong sense 
of stewardship, of kaitiaki of the natural environment.

We are all actively managing our growth and minimising 
ecological threats particularly through increased local 
participation in decisions and action.

Mauri Ora

Access to Maori Resources

Live as Maori.

Celebrate being Maori.

Celebrate ethnic cultural diversity.

Celebration of the city’s unique and rich tribal 
and Maori history.

Cultural knowledge within a traditional and 
contemporary context is valid and relevant. 

Nga Manukura

Maori Leadership

Maori determination and integrity.

Sustained Iwi Maori leadership in Waitakere.

Strong Communities

He Iwi Kaha

Waitakere has a strong sense of connection and networks 
of community so people feel safe and have a sense 
of belonging.

We are civil to and respectful of each other, have a good 
work life balance and contribute to our City, community, 
friends and family.

Strong Economy

He Tupuranga Kaha Ihi Wana

Our local economy is sustainably prosperous with abundant 
good local jobs, strong businesses, high quality education 
and training opportunities and contributes to a sustainable 
regional economy.

Waitakere is an attractive place to work and do business 
where people have choices.

People have a good work life balance, quality of life 
and participate in family and community life.

Sustainable Integrated Transport

Kauneke Tauwhiro Me Te Whakaurunga Waka

Sustainable transport systems provide fast and effective 
movement of people, goods and services within and in 
and out of the City.

The transport network is integrated, innovative, safe 
and environmentally responsible and supports excellent 
lifestyles and quality urban and village design.

Public transport services are appealing, reduce 
car dependency and match local needs.

Community Outcomes 
and Strategic Direction
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Sustainable Environment

Kauneke Tauwhiro Taiao

We manage our growth in a way that increases our 
sustainability and enables a healthy living environment.

We have access to good quality water and air and we 
manage our energy, waste and water innovatively 
and responsibly.

We are a leader in sustainable housing and 
building practices.

Te Mana Whakahaere

Autonomy

Active protection of Maori interests in accordance 
with the Treaty and recognition of Iwi Maori.

Toiora

Healthy Lifestyles

Good health, education and increased participation 
in a healthy and positive lifestyle.

Urban and Rural Villages

Nga Kainga Taone Tuawhenua

Henderson is the key central town centre with Westgate 
and New Lynn as major centres and a network of smaller 
villages and neighbourhoods.

Thriving well connected town and neighbourhood centres 
where people want to live, play and work.

The centres refl ect local character and foster pride.

People feel connected to their local places and to 
each other.

Villages have an identifi ed centre, are safe and have 
accessible common areas.

Homes are healthy and environmentally responsible.

Vibrant Arts and Culture

Toi Me Nga Tikanga Taketake

Waitakere’s arts and culture is refl ected and appreciated 
in our everyday life and the City is itself a work of art.

We participate in creative pursuits and have a deep 
and wide perception of arts and cultures in our City. 

Waiora

Environmental Protection

Replenishment of nature’s food chain of tiriwa (the fl ora 
and fauna).

Maori and non Maori respect and appreciate the City’s 
natural taonga/wonders.

Whaiora

Participation in Society

Comprehensive participation of Iwi Maori in the affairs 
of Waitakere, Aotearoa and the world.

Sustain positive growth of innovative Maori 
economic development.

Working Together

Te Mahi Tahi

We have a culture of working together as a City, as 
neighbourhoods and as a family, effi ciently utilising 
our time, people and resources.

We mobilise local energy and empower people to 
participate through providing information they need 
and open transparent decision-making.

The Waitakere Community Outcomes Progress Report 
2008 is the fi rst report on the outcomes. The report was 
compiled for two audiences, those who wish to know 
how we are doing and those who wish to work out how 
they can contribute to achieving the outcomes sought
by the community.
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Measures and contributing activities were grouped around 
each Community Outcome. The measures are useful to 
help inform, to open dialogue with others and to identify the 
best intervention points for agencies and others working in 
the community.

Information contained in the report will also help 
organisations and individuals make submissions on future 
Long Term Council Community Plans.

More detail and updates can be found through the 
Council’s website (http://www.waitakere.govt.nz/AbtCnl/
pp/ltccp/ltccp-comm-outcomes.asp) and through the Call 
Centre on 839 0400.

The Council’s Strategic Platforms

Throughout the 2008/2009 year the Council has been 
developing a new set of strategies that replace the previous 
strategic platforms of the Council. The development of the 
strategies has been informed by the Community Outcomes 
and is the Council’s contribution to achieving them. The 
new strategies were effective from July 2009.

As a part of the Long Term Council Community Plan 2006-
2016 the Council adopted nine strategic platforms and 
grouped the Council’s core and discretionary services and 
activities into the nine strategic platforms areas. 

The strategic platforms coupled with the Council vision 
enabled the activities of the Council and budgets to 
be grouped in a way that was easy to understand and 
measurable for both the Council and the community. 

The strategic platforms directly related to and demonstrated 
the Council’s response to the Community Outcomes. It 
is important to note that the Council’s direction and the 
Community Outcomes were different. The headings in 
some cases were the same, but the visioning process that 
created them and the priorities underneath them were 
different. The Council reviewed its strategic direction 
as a part of the development of the Long Term Council 
Community Plan 2009-2019 to ensure the City’s direction 
remained up to date and forward looking. 

The Council’s strategic platforms that were relevant in the 
2008/2009 year were:

Urban and Rural Villages

Nga kainga taone, tuawhenua

Town Centres are thriving places, providing exciting options 
for people to live, work and play. Public facilities, places and 
spaces teem with people; the streets are alive and busy.

Integrated Transport and Communication

Te Whakaurunga Waka Te Whakawhiti korero

Public transport and communication systems provide fast, 
effective services to the whole city. Transport systems are 
integrated, innovative and environmentally responsible.

Strong Innovative Economy 

He tupuranga kaha ihi wana

Waitakere is a place of innovative economic activities, 
providing local, quality work and development options for 
its people. Environmentally responsible businesses are 
supported and fl ourishing.

Strong Communities 

He iwi kaha

People are active, informed, healthy and content. They feel 
safe and there is a strong sense of community. Our city is a 
great place for children. We enjoy our diversity of lifestyles 
and people.

Active Democracy 

He tikanga pai ki ta te iwi e hiahia ana

People feel that they can make a difference. There are 
high levels of community participation and respect for each 
other’s views.

Green Network 

He tuituitanga kakariki

The Waitakere Ranges will be permanently protected. There 
will be a network of bush and trees, (a green network) from 
the Ranges, through town centres and suburbs, to the 
coasts, bringing the natural world into people’s everyday 
lives and fi lling the streams and forests with life.

To fi nd more in-depth information on each of the outcomes and how they will be measured 
read the Waitakere Community Outcome Progress Report 2008 and look for regular updates 
on the Council’s website: www.waitakerepeople.net.nz 

More Information
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Three Waters 
Nga Wai e toru

Waitakere takes an innovative approach to managing drinking 
water supply, wastewater and stormwater together, under 
the heading of the Three Waters.

Sustainable Energy and Clean Air 
He kaha motuhake. He hau ora pai

Waitakere’s energy and emissions to air management 
demonstrates ongoing progress towards a sustainable society.

Zero Waste 
He whakakore otaota

Waitakere’s Zero Waste strategy will produce a clean and 
attractive city that increasingly turns its waste into resources.

Community Outcomes – The 2008 Scorecard

The Council’s progress report on the Waitakere Community 
Outcomes was published in 2008. The Council has 
continued to collect data on the indicators in that report 
to judge the community’s progress on achieving 
Community Outcomes. 

The indicators show that:

• Total rates of recorded crime in Waitakere (955 per 
10,000 residents) remain less than the national rates 
(1011 per 10,000). To June 2008, 55% of recorded crime 
in Waitakere was solved, compared to 47% nationally. 
82% of residents reported that Waitakere was a very/ 
reasonably safe place to live in 2009. 

• Waitakere continues to have less doctors and GP’s 
per 100,000 residents compared with national fi gures 
according to the Medical Council of New Zealand.

• Residents satisfaction with the variety, location and 
quality of parks remains above 80%, whilst the proportion 
of residents who agreed that the community works 
together and supports one another increased from 56% 
in 2008 to 68% in 2009.

• Resident perceptions of their own health, of public 
transport and of Council governance have not changed 
signifi cantly between 2008 and 2009. 

The proportion of residents who agreed that the community 
works together and people support each other increased 
between 2008 and 2009 as did the proportion of people 
who thought Waitakere is a safe city. 
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Everything that the Council does takes into account 
these fi ve priorities, all of which weave through each 
of the strategic platforms.

The Treaty of Waitangi
Te Tiriti o Waitangi
People in the city are proud to uphold the Treaty 
of Waitangi.

Sustainable Development
Waitakere’s development demonstrates ongoing 
progress towards a sustainable society.

First Call for Children

A city where children and youth participate in the 

development of the city; play and hang out safely; have 

good health care, education and housing; are free from 

violence; develop their own cultural identity and enjoy the 

city’s diversity; access integrated transport systems; enjoy 

clean air, water and green spaces; are free from poverty.

Safe City
Waitakere – a safe place to be.

Lifelong Learning
A city where everyone can access fl exible, creative 
and inspirational affordable learning and can participate 
in city life.

Together these fi ve priorities and nine platforms will give 
us a city that is sustainable, resilient and liveable.
Through the Council’s operations, and in partnership 
with the community and agencies, we are no longer 
laying the foundation but developing our city for
a resilient, liveable and sustainable future.

The Council’s 
Strategic Priorities
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Partnership with Public Service Association

As part of the Council’s commitment to Agenda 21 and to 
Corporate Sustainability, the Chief Executive Offi cer and 
staff are committed to creating a sustainable, dynamic 
and just workplace. The Workplace Waitakere Partnership 
Statement (1999) developed in collaboration with the Public 
Service Association (PSA), guides the ongoing development 
of workplace and employee relations.

As part of the Council’s commitment to the Treaty 
of Waitangi it is endorsed and refl ected in the 
Partnership Statement.

Specifi c areas of action:

• Promoting freedom of association
• Strengthening participation and consultation
• Providing adequate training
• As part of this commitment, it is recognised that 

provision must be made for tikanga Maori, Maori 
culture, values and protocol in this agreement 
and its implementation in the workplace 

As a result the PSA organiser, many PSA delegates and 
specialist members participate in extensive consultation 
and enhanced employee involvement across the areas of 
wellbeing; health and safety; communication; training and 
development; joint working groups; steering groups and 
regular liaison meetings with the Group Manager: Human 
Resources and Organisational Development and Council 
staff in relation to the Collective Agreement and personal 
grievance cases.

The majority of the Council’s unionised staff are 
represented by the PSA, which is New Zealand’s largest 
union, covering members in the public service, health, 
local government, crown agencies and private business. 
Local government is part of the community sector group 
within the PSA.

In recognition of the contribution the PSA makes to the 
organisation in terms of public good, the Council pays 50% 
of members’ union fees and provided an annual study 
award of $10,000 to support study carried out by the PSA 
that will be of benefi t to the organisation’s workplace.

At the PSA Members’ Annual General Meeting, a 
committee of workplace delegates are elected. While 
delegates are well experienced in committee roles, new 
delegates are offered formal training sessions by the PSA.

Equal Employment Opportunities

Equal Employment Opportunities (EEO) is an integral 
component of the human resources management plan of 
the Council. The use of job sharing, fl exible work hours and 
the ability to respond to personal and family issues or crises 
is paramount in ensuring the Council is seen as an employer 
of choice. Through recruitment and selection processes that 
are transparent in application to ensure the most suitable 
people are employed, regardless of age, gender, ethnicity, 
religion, sexual preference or political beliefs, the Council 
continues to grow the diversity and skills of its staff. Human 
Resource plans, policies and procedures continue to be 
developed reviewed and modifi ed to ensure alignment 
to the Council’s strategic direction.

Quadruple Bottom Line – Social

Objectives
To continue to foster and maintain an environment at the Council that:

• supports the strategic direction of the organisation, as determined by the Chief Executive Offi cer
• ensures that the Council is a “good employer,” as required and defi ned in the Local Government Act 2002
• is consistent with all existing employment and related legislation
• meets the “good faith” requirements of the Employment Relations Act 2000 and fulfi ls partnership 

principles contained in the Council’s Partnership Statement
• recognises the needs of individuals and groups 



Annual Report // Including Sustainability Report 2008/200929

The Council continues using cross-organisational work 
streams, team meetings and unit work groups to involve 
employees in Council work programmes and 
organisation performance.

In 2008/2009 work using workplace working groups 
continued on:

• Collective Agreement negotiations.
• Occupational Health and Safety.

Working Environment

The Council provides a strong working environment 
framework for its staff. The Human Resource team 
continues to promote and support the organisation to 
proactively manage workplace practices and requirements 
to ensure Council staff meet the requirements of their 
roles, whilst at the same time promoting family 
friendly policies. 

Health and Safety and Wellbeing

The Council actively promotes safe and healthy work 
practices and is continually improving its systems to 
reduce accidents, create a safety conscious culture and 
ensure continuing compliance. Maintaining secondary level 
accreditation with Accident Compensation Corporation 
(ACC) Workplace Safety Management Practices Audit is 
a key objective.

The Council is proactive with legislative changes and has 
continued to champion wellness and work life balance. 

Capacity Building

A three level Leadership/Management Development 
programme is in place. This focuses on ensuring all 
managers and team leaders are well-rounded and highly 
effective managers of people and resources. Level one 
focuses on the core management skills while levels two 
and three provide further interactive learning opportunities 
to enhance both management and leadership capabilities 
with a focus on succession planning. Alongside this a 
comprehensive programme of internal and external learning 
opportunities are provided for all Council staff to enhance 

the technical and personal skills required for the current 
position and/or future career development. The learning and 
development needs are identifi ed through the Performance 
Development System that aims to develop the capability 
of both individual staff and the organisation as a whole to 
meet the ongoing challenges the organisation faces 
in a changing society. 

These programmes along with the continuing development 
of effective Induction sessions (Knowing Your Workplace); 
First Aid and Site Safe programmes; toastmasters for staff 
and team building all combine to provide the continuing 
professional development required to keep Council staff 
up to date and effective in their respective roles.

Of particular note is the Leadership and Management 
Development programme, designed with Unitec Institute 
of Technology, to assist the development of leaders from 
within the organisation. This last intake completed their 
programme in December 2008 and the programme has 
been ended. The focus of the programme was to help 
council staff understand the strategic goals of the Council, 
what the organisation needed to do to achieve Council and 
community goals and what leadership and management 
meant in their roles.

Liberating Behaviours

Ensuring a positive and socially sustainable work environment 
has been the aim behind the ongoing promotion of the 
fi ve Liberating Behaviours. These behaviours are designed 
to ensure that the values that drive the Business Investment 
Marketing Strategy are modelled both internally 
and externally. 

The fi ve behaviours are: Do What You Say You Will, Be 
Innovative, Be Bold, Work Together and Speak Positively. 

A number of Council staff members have been involved 
in creative and fun initiatives to promote these behaviours. 
The response from Council staff has been positive and 
participation in the events has raised awareness and 
encouraged the use of these behaviours in day to day 
work practices.

The Waitakere Central Community Garden project 
grew out of the Sustainability Incubators initiative. 
Council staff were invited by management to identify 
opportunities to work in more sustainable ways 
and the gardening group won high-level support to 
initiate a community garden in a planter bed in the 
courtyard area outside the Council Chambers. 

One of the aims was to identify the issues that 
residents may face in utilising Council-managed land 
for community gardens; another aim was to grow 
knowledge of gardening, seed saving and healthy 
food amongst the Council staff community. The 
approach was met with enthusiastic support from 
businesses in the building adjacent to the Civic 
Square and gardening began in autumn 2009. 

Case Study – Community Garden
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Auckland Sustainability Framework 

The Auckland Sustainability Framework (ASF) is an 
overarching, long term and integrated approach to planning 
for the Auckland region. It was developed as part of a 
collaborative effort led by all of the region’s councils working 
with Central Government, Mana Whenua and the academic, 
business and community sectors. At the heart of the ASF 
is the concept of sustainability that focuses on developing 
a resilient region that can adapt to change that will help 
ensure Aucklanders continue to enjoy a high quality of life 
and leave a positive legacy for future generations.

The ASF is being used to guide improvements to the 
implementation of the Auckland Regional Growth Strategy 
and in planning for the future. The ASF recognises the 
challenges of long term thinking and planning when 
rapid change creates an uncertain future. It focuses on 
developing a resilient region that can adapt to change by 
building strong communities and robust ecological systems.

The ASF is also used to guide regional strategies and 
decision making towards sustainable outcomes including 
the review of existing strategies such as the Auckland 
Regional Land Transport Strategy. In April 2008, the 
Regional Sustainable Development Forum published the 
Auckland Sustainability Framework Tool Kit which provides 
a set of tools for people working at a strategy, policy 
and programme implementation level to assist them in 
implementing the ASF. The tool kit is intended to ensure 
strategies and decision-making are consistent with the ASF, 
coherent and well integrated with each other and that they 
refl ect the principles of sustainable development.

One Plan for Auckland

On its own, the Auckland Sustainability Framework Tool Kit 
is not suffi cient to achieve the region’s sustainability goals 
and the shift required in thinking, planning, investment and 
action. An ongoing implementation phase is also required 
and is being advanced through a collaborative political forum, 
the Regional Sustainable Development Forum (RSDF) and 
the development of the One Plan for the Auckland Region. 
One Plan will communicate the region’s strategic direction 

and priority actions in a more compelling, coherent way. It 
will also identify opportunities for more co-ordinated action 
between central, regional and local government.

The ASF has been used for the identifi cation of priority 
projects for the fi rst version of One Plan. Subsequent 
versions will develop an all encompassing regional plan that 
brings together existing strategies and investment and that 
will ultimately help shape a more sustainable future for the 
Auckland region. One Plan (version 1) was endorsed by the 
RSDF in September 2008. 

One Plan (version 1) includes seven priority programmes 
of action, a stocktake of upcoming infrastructure priorities 
and identifi es a series of priority policy directions to be 
developed in the future. 

Waitakere City Council and Changes 
to Auckland’s Governance

The Council made a signifi cant contribution to the ongoing 
work on Auckland’s new local governance structure through 
its submission to the Select Committee on the Local 
Government (Auckland Council) Bill. This was a cross-
Council effort which drew from our collective experiences 
in sustainable development. There will be ongoing effort to 
contribute into the third Auckland Council bill, which is due 
to be introduced to Parliament late in 2009. 

Council staff are kept up-to-date on developments via 
a number of mechanisms including Chief Executive 
Offi cer chats, internal fora and the econet. This will be 
an increasingly important programme in order to keep 
staff focussed on the tasks ahead of them with all the 
understanding they can possibly have in this interim period. 

The garden has yielded many kilograms of vegetables 
in this fi rst growing season, with caulifl ower, broccoli, 
beetroot, rocket and kohlrabi being particularly 
prolifi c. Leeks, carrots, broad beans and endives are 
fl ourishing amongst the spring bulbs. Requests for 
free vegetables have been received and there have 
been fl urries of interest again now that spring has 
sprung and Council staff are outside more.

The main method of communicating about the garden 
project has been by word-of-mouth and it remains a 
bit of a mystery for many people using the Council 
buildings. The success of the garden relies on a very 
few keen green-fi ngered Council staff, with no budget 
and limited time to pursue a wealth of opportunities 
that exist for greater community engagement, greater 
variety of plants and greater sharing of gardening 
experience and enthusiasm.
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It would seem 2005/2006 staff turnover 
was extraordinary. The strategies 
we implemented in 2005/2006 have 
succeeded in reducing turnover despite a 
very tight and competitive labour market. 

Residents of Vision Waitakere Gardens, a 
retirement village situated on the banks of 
Henderson Creek, have expanded their interest 
in sustainability and the environment past stream 
restoration and into drinking water conservation. 

A rain water tank has been installed courtesy 
of the Council’s EcoWater division. The 3,000 

litre tank collects rainwater off the roof and this 
water is distributed to the village worm farm and 
gardens by gravity feed trickle irrigation. This rain 
harvesting means the garden minimises the need 
to use precious drinking water on the gardens and 
also saves money on the water bills. However, the 
village’s sustainable water practises go further.

Case Study – Vision Waitakere Residents
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* The large increase in Health and Safety accidents that 
were ‘notifi able’ or causing ‘serious harm’ results from 
better information from the appointment of a permanent 
specialist resource to health and safety, which has greatly 
increased our tracking and reporting as an organisation. 
Increased health monitoring has picked up 3 gradual 

injuries and another 4 of these accidents have been 
reported due to the ambiguity of the current ‘Serious 
Harm’ defi nition, of which a new defi nition is due to be 
released shortly. Of these 13 injuries none has warranted 
investigation from the Department of Labour.

A number of residents are actively seeking 
opportunities to share sustainability messages with 
visiting groups from the wider community. From 
time to time they conduct tours of their extensive 
gardens and demonstrate how to use water wisely in 
the hydroponics and propagation sections, the worm 
farm and fl ower beds and vegetable plots. It is an 

opportunity for residents to demonstrate community 
leadership, share their passion for gardening and 
pass on information to school children and other 
members of the public on how they too can be more 
waterwise in their lives.

are Ambassadors for Sustainability

2009 2008 2007 2006 2004 2004 2003 2002

Health and Safety 
accidents that were 
‘notifi able’ or causing 
‘serious harm’*

13 1 1 0 1 5 4 0

Number of days lost 
to work accidents

 423  617  519  483  173  298  236 0

Number of days lost 
to non-work accidents

 688  585  1,080  750  836  622  390  447 

Percentage of days 
lost to paid sick leave

2.6% 3.0% 2.8% 2.7% 2.8% 2.4% 2.6% 2.4%
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Diversity of Waitakere

59% of people (103,446) in Waitakere said they belong to 
the European ethnic group. For all New Zealand 67% said 
they belong to the European ethnic group. 13.4% of people 
(22,890) in Waitakere said they belong to the Maori ethnic 
group compared with all of New Zealand at 14.7%.
The population of Waitakere contains a larger proportion 
of Pacifi c peoples (15%) and larger proportion of Asian 
people (16%) compared with the whole of New Zealand 
(at 6.8% and 9.1% respectively). 26,469 people in 
Waitakere identifi ed themselves as being of Maori descent. 
66% of Waitakere’s residents were born in New Zealand as 
compared to 77% in 2006.
Note: percentages do not total 100, as people may belong to more 

than one ethnic group. Figures are based on 2006 census.

Social and Cultural Strategy Group

The Social and Cultural Strategy Group initiates strategies, 
policies and partnerships that facilitate the development 
of social and cultural wellbeing programmes in the City. 
The Group leads a range of community safety programmes 
through “SAFE Waitakere” and supports the work 
programmes of Te Taumata Runanga, the Waitakere 
Pacifi c Board and the Waitakere Ethnic Board. The Group 
also administers the Wellbeing Collaboration Project 
and partners with Central Government as well as with 
community organisations such as Community Waitakere, 
Ecomatters Trust and Neighbourhood Support. Staff roles 
include Strategic Advisors for Social Wellbeing, Disability, 
Pacifi c, Youth and Children and Cultural Wellbeing. A 
key role of the Group is undertaking community capacity 
building and community development work with a focus 
on place shaping at the neighbourhood and suburb levels. 

Kaupapa Maori

Kaupapa Maori is the Council’s own information network 
for staff providing online information (Econet) on local Iwi 
and protocols e.g. Maori burial choices, links to national 
information and resources including Treaty of Waitangi and 
online Maori language learning, Iwi consultation processes, 
translations of commonly used Maori phrases, Maori related 
events and the virtual team working on integrating Maori 
culture into the Council.

Matariki

As part of the Matariki celebrations during 24 June – 24 
July 2009 three nights of Leadership Conversations were 
hosted, there was a music and arts festival at Corban 
Estate, Waitakere Libraries display on Matariki, Project Twin 
Streams Matariki Community Planting Days in Glen Eden, 
Ranui, McLaren Park, Opanuku and Henderson. Waitakere 
participated in the regional Maori in the City-Atimira with 
a focus on business, arts and culture and a youth platform 
promoted by Waitakere, which will become key part of the 
future Atimira in 2011.

Nga Korero Tataki (Leadership Conversations)

Ko nga hua o ënei wananga kai tuturu ai te ora o te tangata 
mai te tirohanga o te Maori, ahu mai tënei whakaaro, te hui o 
te roopu Toiwhenua hei whakamana te wa o Matariki mo te 
taone nui o Waitakere. Noreira anei nga hua o nga whakaaro 
kua puta mai, te roopu whakahaere nei o Waitakere.

The concept of a Sustainability forum through the ‘lens’ of 
Maori intellectual and spiritual thinking was suggested by 
the Toi Whenua group as a ‘keynote’ event for Waitakere 
as part of a regional series of events in the four main cities. 

Quadruple Bottom Line – Cultural

Objectives
To foster and nurture Waitakere’s cultural diversity through:
• implementing the commitment to the Treaty of Waitangi
• increasing representation from different ethnic groups in developing Waitakere’s directions
• encouraging the many expressions of cultural diversity through the arts, festivals, literature and the built form
• celebrating the differences in the diversity that makes Waitakere a strong community 
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Living more Sustainably is an aspiration; it recognises that 
humans have had a massive impact on the planet and our 
co-inhabitants and the quality of life and potentially the 
survival of future generations is not guaranteed. It drives 
a realisation that we need to make changes now to create 
the future we want.

Waitakere’s key Matariki event of this year’s festival 
included the three nights of speakers and performances 
considering our world’s sustainability through the lens of 
traditional knowledge and contemporary Maori thinking 
covering He Oranga Kaueke (living that progresses growth), 
Te Ao Maori me te Ao (the Maori world and the world) and 
Nga aka o Te Tiriti (the roots of the Treaty). 

The Repeat Reading Aloud programme for adults is 
developed and offered by the volunteers of Culture 
Company – Reading 4 U at Waitakere Central 
library, New Lynn library and Massey library during 
each school term. The programme is a community 
project supported by Multicultural Services, 
Waitakere Library and Information Services. It has 

benefi ted many adult learners of English language 
that come from a range of diverse ethnic groups. 
The programme provides English language support 
on a one to one basis to the new readers. 

Language barrier is identifi ed as the primary 
obstacle in successful settlement of culturally 
and linguistically diverse communities. It isolates 

Case Study – Removing the Language Barrier

Six different community groups have spent the last 12 
months working on a 4.75 metre sculpture, Te Herenga 
Tangata, which stands in Urlich Reserve, near the corner 
of Swanson and Birdwood Roads in Ranui. The sculpture 
is a true testament to the local community, incorporating 
and celebrating the traditional designs and motifs of the 
local Maori, Croatian and Pacifi c Island communities and 
including the work of six local community groups and six 
local artists. 

The sculpture was created by Project Twin Streams Ranui-
Massey community groups, who have adopted sections of 
stream bank alongside Swanson, Waimoko and Momotu 
Streams.The idea of an identity marker emerged through 
consultation with the community groups and was expanded 
through community consultation at planting days, markets 
and the Ranui community centre. 

The sculpture consists of three components, each with 
its own signifi cance and meaning. The fi rst is a concrete 
base with a band of mosaic tiles referencing traditional 
Maori designs, created by students from Te Piataata Trust 
and Birdwood Primary School. The second section is 
decorated with mosaics made by the Croatian community, 
Liston College and Agape Trust. These panels represent 

the growth of plant life in the area with alternate segments 
representing Maori eel traps. The top section features a 
native wood pigeon made out of concrete and mosaic tiles, 
surrounded by stainless steel leaf-like designs that can be 
interpreted in a variety of ways; as a Pacifi c fl ower, waka 
paddle or planting spade. This section plays homage to the 
local Pacifi c culture and has been designed and constructed 
by Engineers Industry Training students. 

Sina Mead from Engineering Industry Training Ltd- an 
alternative education unit working with 13 to 17 year olds – 
says it has been “very inspiring” to work with Project Twin 
Streams on the sculpture. “We have been involved with 
the sculpture right from the beginning. From the design to 
the construction and fi nally helping to erect the completed 
sculpture, it has been inspirational for the students to see 
how the project went from the plans to becoming a reality,” 
she says. 

“I have told the students they are making history – many 
will continue to live in the area and in the future they will be 
able to bring their children to the sculpture and show them 
what they helped to create and what they were a part of. 
It will become a point of reference for them.” 

Case Study – Te Herenga Tangata
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Waitakere Pacifi c Arts and Cultural Trust

The Waitakere Pacifi c Arts and Cultural Trust is the governing 
body for the Pacifi c Arts and Cultural Centre. The Trust’s role 
is to steer the development of Pacifi c arts and culture at the 
Corban Estate, Henderson, by providing a clear strategy, 
good governance and fi nancial management. The Trust 
works closely with the Pacifi c Mamas Arts and Cultural Trust 
to help guide the existing Pacifi c Arts and Cultural Centre as 
it transitions into an expanded and stronger base for Pacifi c 
arts and culture in the Auckland region.

People from many Pacifi c nations grace Aotearoa/
New Zealand with their rich cultures and spiritual traditions 
expressed in many ways including music, song, dance, 
prayer, language, visual art performing arts and traditional 
arts. To remain rich and vibrant practices from the past need 
to be nurtured and preserved and new forms of expression 
encouraged. The Centre aims to do just this by providing a 
home for Pacifi c arts and culture of all kinds, open to everyone 
and supporting cultural exchange and mutual learning. 

The Centre will gradually grow from a small-scale operation 
based mainly on volunteers to a medium-scale enterprise 
with paid staff, multiple projects and a diverse range of arts 
and cultural activity on a site refl ecting the many Pacifi c 
nations in Aotearoa. 

Libraries’ Multicultural and Migrant Services

Talofa Lave, Fakalofa Lahi Atu, Malo elelei, Kia Orana, NiSa 
Bula, Halo, Namaste, Ni Hao, Dobro Dosli, Welkom

Multicultural and Migrant services are provided to enable 
those who are newly arrived in New Zealand, or are 
non-English speaking members of the community to gain 
access to the library and to library services and facilities. 
Waitakere Libraries provides collections of books in more 
than forty foreign languages as well as resources for 
learning English through all the branches in Waitakere. 

Throughout the year, libraries organise displays and events 
that are of importance to culturally diverse communities; 
this include Moon festival, Ramadan, Samoan language 
week, Oceania festival of arts and culture and Diwali. 
Waitakere Libraries also organise special displays on Race 
relations day and World refugee day. Waitakere Libraries 
is also a key partner with the Human Rights Commission 
and deliver many projects that contribute to New Zealand 
Diversity Action Programme. In addition to Migrant Services, 
Settlement Support Services are offered through libraries to 
assist new migrants to effectively settle in Waitakere. 

Life-Long Learning

With a vision to provide Life-Long Learning opportunities 
short courses such as the basic computer classes are 
offered in Mandarin. Libraries also support a community 
based project ‘Repeat read aloud programme for adults’ 
which supports English language learners and is delivered 
in three hub branches. Special story-times for children are 
organised in different languages to provide support for 
maintaining fi rst language. Key information about the library 
services is also available in ten languages.

Sustainable Living Courses

The Sustainable Living Programme ran its second Mandarin 
version of the course in May 2009. The course was run an 
experienced facilitator from the Chinese community and 
support by Waitakere, North Shore, Manukau and Auckland 
City Council.

The current Mandarin programme was launched by running 
a three hour workshop in April 2009. More than 100 
interested people from the Chinese community attended 
and over 20 people registered for the full fi ve topic course 
held on each Thursday at the Sustainable Living Centre in 
New Lynn. The topics of the course cover waste, water, 
shopping, eco-gardening and energy/transport. 

individuals, leading them to economic, educational 
and social deprivation. However, the Repeat Reading 
Aloud programme specifi cally works towards bridging 
that gap, giving adults an opportunity to practice 
English in library settings, which not only provides a 
non-intimidating environment but is also resourced 
with materials suitable for non English speaking 

learners. Over a year more than 400 people have 
engaged themselves in this programme. It has built a 
close knit community of volunteers and readers that 
mirror the cultural diversity of Waitakere.
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The Council is one of the largest public sector organisations 
within the City. The Council is responsible for investing 
in and maintaining the network infrastructure (e.g. roads 
and other transport, water, wastewater and stormwater 
collection and management), community infrastructure and 
parks in the City and delivering a whole range of services 
for the wellbeing of the community. The scale and scope of 
these activities have a major impact directly and indirectly 
on the local economy.

The Council makes a direct contribution to the local 
economy through the delivery of services, employment of 
human and physical resources and the purchase of goods 
and services. The value of the goods and services produced 
by the Council exceeds rates intake from the community, 
as 47.4% of the Council’s operating expenditure is funded 
from sources other than rates. By returning a part of 
the Council’s revenue back to the community through 
employment and local purchases, the Council triggers off 
a process of employment and income multiplication in the 
local economy, lifting the living standards of the residents.

Overall, the Council’s operations have contributed to 
improve the economic wellbeing of the City during the 
reporting period, as can be seen from the indicators 
presented below. The scale of Council operations could 
be measured by the size of its asset base, the operating 
expenditure and revenue, the value added, value of 
procurements and the number of employees. 

Assets and Infrastructure

With the growth of the City, the total value of the Council’s 
assets has increased over the years. During 2008/2009 

the total value of assets rose by $305.1 million to $2,885.5 
million. A major proportion of Council assets represent 
investments made in infrastructure facilities such as roads, 
water services and town centres, which collectively provide 
the foundation for a sustainable city. The investments 
in infrastructure increased by $270.5 million to $2336.6 
million in 2008/2009. This represents investments made to 
accommodate the City’s growth as well as to raise the level 
of services provided.

Operating Expenditure

The operating expenditure of the Council largely refl ects 
the gross value of goods and services produced by it. With 
the expansion of the scale and scope of Council activities, 
its total operating expenditure has steadily increased over 
the years. In 2008/2009 operating expenditure increased by 
3.1% compared to 17.7% increase in the previous year.

Transport and the three water services account for 47.7% 
of the total operating expenditure.

Operating Revenue

The operating revenue of the Council is important in 
meeting operating expenditure and funding capital 
expenditure. In the past, the Council’s operating revenue 
has been slightly higher than its operating expenditure, 
resulting in an operating surplus. In 2008/2009 the Council’s 
operating revenue amounted to $254.2 million, with an 
operating surplus of $30.7 million.

Property rates represent the single largest source of revenue, 
accounting for 58.4% of the total revenue. General rates have 
increased an annual average rate of 7% over the last three years.

Quadruple Bottom Line – Economic

Objectives
To grow and sustain Waitakere’s economic environment through:
• increasing the positive economic contribution to the community and minimising the adverse economic impacts
• growing the value of goods and services sourced from Waitakere businesses
• managing Council fi nances prudently and in a manner that promotes the current and future 

interests of the community
• minimising the fi scal implication of climate change for Waitakere over the long-term 
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Borrowings and Debt Servicing

A large proportion of the Council’s annual capital 
expenditure is funded from long term borrowings. Debt 
funding of capital expenditure related to level of service 
enables the Council to maintain inter-generational equity 
in distributing the funding costs. However, the level of 
borrowing needs to be managed prudently so that the 
Council’s fi nancial sustainability will not be undermined.

With the increase in capital expenditure, the total amount 
of debt outstanding has also increased substantially. 
During 2008/2009 the total amount of long term debt 
outstanding increased by 21%, reaching $450.8 million. 
This represented 19.3% of equity and 177.3% of total 
operating revenue.

Since the Council’s debt has to be serviced from its 
operating revenue, borrowings could involve potential 
implications for its fi nancial viability and the sustainability of 
the services provided. During 2008/2009, interest payments 
accounted for 11.4% of operating revenue and 19.6% of 
annual rates revenue. This is well within the guidelines in 
the Liability Management and Investment Policy adopted by 
the Council in June 2009.

Economic Value Added

The economic value of the services provided by the Council 
can be measured by applying the value added concept used 
in national accounting. The value added represents the 
Council’s direct contribution (excluding the goods and 
services purchased from outside sources) to the local and 
national Gross Domestic Product. This does not include 
the much wider effects of Council activities undertaken to 
promote economic development in the City. The Council’s 
contribution to local economic value added is provisionally 
to be about $116 million in 2008/2009. This represents an 
increase of nearly 11% over the previous year. 

Employment and Income Generation

The employment opportunities generated by the Council 
produce a signifi cant direct and indirect economic impact 
in the Auckland region and the City. As at 30 June 2009 it 
employed 986 FTEs, representing a 6% increase over the 
same period last year. These employees bring a diverse 
range of talents and skills to the City and the region. About 
71% of the Council employees reside within Waitakere. 
Thus, the Council has become one of the major sources of 
employment for the local community.

The net remuneration paid to Council staff adds to the 
amount of disposable income, wealth and purchasing 
power in the City and region in general and in particular, 
the remuneration paid to the staff resident in Waitakere 
contributes to expand the local market for businesses. This, 
in turn, contributes to the growth of local production and 
employment. The employee income injected into the City is 
estimated to be close to $33 million (net of PAYE tax) during 
2008/2009. This represents an increase of 3% over the 
previous year.

With the relocation to Henderson of the Council’s principal 
offi ce building, non-resident staff members also have 
greater opportunities to patronise the businesses located 
in Henderson. Although it is hard to measure, the multiplier 
effects of this income injection are likely to be signifi cant.
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Local Purchases

The Council’s expenditure on purchases is perhaps the 
strongest linkage to the local and the regional economy. 
Being a major buyer of a wide range of goods and services, 
the Council provides a signifi cant potential market for local 
suppliers. The supply of goods and services to the Council 
in turn leads to the creation of employment opportunities 
and generation of household income within the City.

In 2008/2009, the Council’s total expenditure on the 
purchase of goods and services was estimated to be about 
$187 million (excluding payments for utility services such as 
water, telecommunication and power). Of this, about $34 
million (or 18%) worth of goods and services were supplied 
by local businesses.

Indirect Employment Effects 
of Local Purchases

The purchases by the Council from local suppliers could 
create a ripple effect in the local economy. The immediate 
impact would be business growth and the generation 
of employment by local suppliers. There is no reliable 
information to quantify the precise employment effect, but 
based on some assumptions, it is estimated that the total 
number of employment positions supported by Council local 
purchases is likely to be around 177 Full Time Equivalents.

Tax Payments to Central Government

The Council’s operations generate a signifi cant amount of 
tax revenue for the government. These include the GST 
and FBT payments and the PAYE deducted from the gross 
remuneration of employees. During 2008/2009 the total 
amount of tax paid (including PAYE tax from employees) 
was $22 million. 

Central Government Grants and Subsidies

The Council receives a signifi cant amount of grants and 
subsidies from Central Government. These are generally 
tied to specifi c projects and uses. The amount of Central 
Government grants to the Council has increased over time 
and in 2008/2009 it was about $24.13 million, an increase 
of 9.9%. 

Economic Limitations

The scope of this section is limited to the economic effects 
of the Council’s operations as a corporate entity. The 
indirect economic effects of the Council’s investments in 
infrastructure and the services delivered are not measured 
here. The economic effects are related to Council’s own 
expenditure and exclude those of Council Controlled 
Organisations. The fi gures reported on the Council’s 
purchases from local sources are provisional, as the system 
of data compilation is being streamlined and refi ned on an 
ongoing basis.
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The fi gures reported on local employment retained in the 
City by local purchases are an indirect estimate based on 
the labour/output ratios at national level and they should not 
be treated as actual employment positions. The changes 
in the jobs linked to local purchases largely refl ect the 
changes in the extent of purchases from local suppliers.

Climate Change

The Council began working on climate change initiatives 
in 2000 and was one of the fi rst four councils to join the 
Communities for Climate Protection (CCP-NZ) programme 
in August 2004, when it was launched by the International 
Council for Local Environmental Initiatives (ICLEI) in 
New Zealand. The programme covers fi ve milestones: 
making an inventory and forecast of emissions; establishing 
emissions reduction goals; developing and adopting a local 
action plan; implementing the action plan and quantifying 
the benefi ts; then monitoring and reporting on progress 
towards the goals.

Waitakere City Council has completed 
Milestones 1, 2, 3 and 4.

Milestone 1 – In 2004/2005 the Council undertook an 
emissions inventory which measured greenhouse gas 
emissions in the City (the community inventory) and from 
the Council’s own operations (the corporate inventory).

Waitakere community greenhouse gas emissions in 2001 
were 900,353 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e). 

In a business as-usual scenario, where no action is taken 
these emissions would be expected to rise by 25% 
by 2010. 

Waitakere City Council Greenhouse 
Gas Emissions

In 2008/2009 the Council’s own greenhouse gases were 
estimated at 5,229.53 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 
(CO2e). In a business-as-usual scenario, where no action is 
taken, these emissions would be expected to rise by 
65% by 2010.

Community 900,353 tonnes of carbon dioxide   
equivalent (CO2e)

   At $30 a tonne the community’s    
 liability is $27 million a year.

Corporate 5,229.53 tonnes of carbon dioxide    
equivalent (CO2e)

   At $30 a tonne, the Council’s liability 
is $156,886 a year.

Industrial

17%

Commercial

6%

Residential

13%
Waste

20%

Community
co2 Emissions

Transport

44%

Milestone 2 – The Waitakere goals for corporate emissions 
are to stabilise total greenhouse gas emissions by 2010 and 
to reduce total emissions by 50% by 2021.

Community reduce by 15% per capita by 2010    
(stabilisation) 

   Reduce by 40% per capita by 2021 
(three tonnes per capita)

   Reduce by 80% per capita by 2051 
(one tonne per capita).

Corporate stabilise total greenhouse gas emissions 
by 2010

  Reduce total emissions by 50% by 2021.
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Vehicle Fleet

16.1%

Water/
Sewerage

2.5%

Buildings + Other

49.9%

Air Travel

1.2%

Street Lighting

30.3%

Council
co2 Emissions

Milestone 3 – The Council’s Action Plan on Climate Change 
and Energy, adopted in September 2006, focuses on six key 
areas of infl uence: renewable energy generation, transport, 
energy in buildings waste reduction, adaptation to climate 
change and education and awareness. It operates in two 
areas of work: policy; and action and demonstration.

Milestone 4 – Waitakere is the fi rst CCP-NZ council to 
complete Milestone 4 in August 2008 for implementing 
and quantifying the benefi ts of policies and measures in 
the action plan. Waitakere had achieved a 5% savings from 
corporate energy effi ciency projects.

The Council is also co-ordinating a Housing Retrofi t Project 
to examine the home retrofi t activities taking place in the 
City and develop a future business case that will seek to 
achieve a higher uptake of retrofi ts. EcoWater’s water 
demand reduction programmes also reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions.

In 2006 the Council entered into a contract with an 
organisation called CLINZI (Climate Change Impacts on 
New Zealand Infrastructure) consisting of representatives 
from Landcare Research, NIWA, the New Zealand Centre 
for Ecological Economics and the International Global 
Change Institute. The contract required CLINZI to assess 

the potential climate changes that may occur within the 
Waitakere in the next 50 years and how these changes may 
impact on Council and non-Council owned infrastructure. 
CLINZI were then required to undertake an assessment of 
Council policies and strategies in conjunction with council 
staff to identify changes required to deal with the impacts 
of climate change.

The main climate changes identifi ed were: extreme 
rainfall events are likely to become more frequent, annual 
temperature increases of between 0.2 and 1.3 degrees 
Celsius by 2030 and 0.6 and 3.8 degrees Celsius by 2080, 
a sea level rise of 0.2 m by 2050 with 1-in-100-year storm 
surges of up to 1.39 m above current mean sea level. The 
following consequential potential impacts were identifi ed: 
changes in water demand, possible reductions in water 
quality, increased risk of sewer and wastewater overfl ows, 
impact on transmission assets, increased road and rail 
maintenance and a possible increase in vector-borne
disease due to increased mosquito populations. The 
potential impacts were discussed with each of the asset 
managers and taken into consideration in the preparation 
of the 2009-2019 Activity Plans and the Long Term Council 
Community Plan 2009-2019. A report on the study was 
issued by CLINZI in August 2008 and is available in the 
Corporate Library. 
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Key fi nancial indicators For the year ended 30 June 2009

Council Revenue $000  

Sources of revenue

Rates 148,553 58.5%

Other operating revenue 84,463 33.2%

Vested assets 21,167 8.3%

Total revenue (excluding other gains) 254,183 100%

Assets $000   

What the City is worth

Infrastructure 2,336,591 81.0%

Land and buildings 175,563 6.1%

Other fi xed assets 37,995 1.3%

Other fi nancial assets 242,797 8.4%

Investment properties 13,901 0.5%

Other assets 78,612 2.7%

Total assets  2,885,459 100%

Council Expenditure $000   

Where the money is spent

Urban and Rural Villages  44,537 17.9%

Integrated Transport and Communication  35,583 14.3%

Strong Innovative Economy  4,570 1.8%

Strong Communities  36,416 14.7%

Active Democracy  11,847 4.8%

Green Network  12,953 5.2%

Three Waters  71,585 28.8%

Sustainable Energy and Clean Air  470 0.2%

Zero Waste  14,937 6.1%

Unallocated (Regional levies and other)  15,408 6.2%

Total expenditure (excluding other losses) 248,306 100%

Financial Overview
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The following information has been extracted from Council’s audited fi nancial statements.

2009
$m

2008
$m

2007
$m

2006
$m

2005
$m

Financial performance

Rates  129.7  118.4  111.2  101.6  92.9 

Water rates  18.8  19.0  18.8  19.8  19.0 

Vested assets  21.2  16.7  12.0  15.3  12.6 

Profi t on sale of shares  -   -   -   -   - 

Profi t on sale of other assets  -   7.3  -   1.3  3.4 

Interest income  0.2  0.1  0.3  1.1  0.7 

Dividend income  0.2  0.2  1.2  0.4  0.1 

Other revenue  84.1  89.5  73.1  84.1  52.8 

Total income  254.2  251.2  216.6  223.6  181.5 

Depreciation  45.5  41.4  35.4  31.2  27.8 

Interest expense  29.1  24.6  18.3  13.6  8.9 

Museum Levies  2.8  2.6  3.4  2.1  1.8 

Other expenditure  207.5  185.1  166.9  133.9  125.1 

Total expenditure  284.9  253.7  224.0  180.8  163.6 

Net surplus  (30.7)  (2.5)  (7.4)  42.8  17.9 

Cash fl ows

Net cash fl ow - operating activities  49.2  41.2  31.4  39.1  29.9 

Net cash fl ow - investing activities  (124.4)  (119.7)  (101.8)  (111.4)  (81.9)

Net cash fl ow - fi nancing activities  78.3  89.4  57.4  78.6  48.8 

Total net cash in/(out) fl ow  3.1  10.9  (13.0)  6.3  (3.2)

Financial Overview
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Trend statement continued
2009

$m
2008

$m
2007

$m
2006

$m
2005

$m

Financial position

Cash and cash equivalents  3.9  0.8  0.9  2.8  5.0 

Debtors and other receivables  34.8  33.5  24.3  32.6  33.3 

Non-current assets held for sale  4.4  9.0  7.2  1.2  8.7 

Other fi nancial assets  242.8  213.5  215.1  216.4  199.4 

Investments in associates  6.0  6.0  2.0  -   - 

Investment properties  13.9  21.9  33.7  26.5  14.3 

Infrastructure assets  2,336.6  2,066.1  2,008.4  1,736.7  1,302.8 

Other assets  237.8  224.5  199.0  187.3  127.3 

Derivative fi nancial instruments  5.3  5.1  10.5  1.1  - 

Total assets  2,885.5  2,580.4  2,501.1  2,204.6  1,690.8 

Call borrowings  -   -   11.0  -   4.7 

Creditors and accruals  54.8  55.4  53.9  51.3  48.6 

Borrowings  451.9  374.2  287.2  229.8  149.5 

Landfi ll aftercare liability  3.1  4.1  4.2  4.5  5.9 

Other provisions  11.5  8.3  1.0  0.9  - 

Derivative fi nancial instruments  28.5  2.2  3.5  -   - 

Total liabilities  549.8  444.2  360.8  286.5  208.7 

Revaluation reserve  806.0  605.1  605.1  381.5  200.6 

Other equity  1,529.6  1,531.0  1,535.2  1,536.5  1,281.5 

Total equity  2,335.6  2,136.1  2,140.3  1,918.0  1,482.1 

Financial Overview
continued
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Trend statement continued
2009

$m
2008

$m
2007

$m
2006

$m
2005

$m

Key fi nancial ratios and statistics

Borrowings  451.9  374.2  298.2  229.8  154.1 

Less sinking funds  -   -   -   3.1  3.8 

Net borrowings 451.9 374.2 298.2 226.7 150.3

Net term debt per capita $2,245 $1,886 $1,527 $1,181 $832

Interest on borrowings as a % of rates & water rates 19.6% 17.9% 14.1% 11.2% 8.0%

Total assets to net borrowings  6.4 : 1  6.9 : 1  8.4 : 1  9.7 : 1  11.2 : 1 

Population of the City * 201,300 198,400 195,300 191,900 180,700

*  The population of the City was estimated to be 201,300 as at 30 June 2009 (Statistics New Zealand).

Financial Overview
continued

5 10 15 20 250

Where your rates are spent

Cents in the dollar 

Wastewater (inner area only, includes depreciation & interest)

Roads & footpaths (includes depreciation & interest)

Parks (includes depreciation & interest)

Policy development, partnerships and planning

Leisure

All other services

Libraries (depreciation is not funded)

Stormwater

Civic costs

Auckland War Memorial Museum and MOTAT statutory levies

Consents & Field services

City development, promotion and economic development

Emergency management

Resource management

Rubbish collection and disposal

Animal welfare



Annual Report // Including Sustainability Report 2008/200947



Annual Report // Including Sustainability Report 2008/2009 48
P

a
rt O

n
e // Q

u
a
d

ru
p

le B
o
tto

m
 L

in
e / E

n
v
iro

n
m

en
ta

l

Greenhouse Gas Reporting

The emission factors used for reporting on pages 56-57 
are based on the Communities for Climate Protection 
Programme for 2002-2005 emission factors and the 
Ministry for the Environment for 2006 and 2007 emission 
factors. Emission factors for the 2008 calendar year 
were not available until September 2009, so the average 
emission factors for 2001-2007 have been used in the 
interim. The 2008/2009 emission factors will be updated 
in the 2009/2010 report. Of note is the annual difference 
in emission factor for electricity generation depending on 
the annual use of renewable energy (e.g. wind and hydro) 
versus diesel and coal and whether the winter had average 
or extremely low hydro lake levels. These factors are of 
course outside the control of the Council.

The Council’s corporate greenhouse gas emissions 
increased by 453 tonnes of carbon (10.5%) for 2008/2009 
compared to 2007/2008. This is partly due to an increase in 
the use of gas and electricity usage as summarised in the 
section on Energy Usage and partly that the emission factor 
for electricity rose from 0.165 tonnes of CO2 equivalent 
per megawatt in 2007/2008 to using an average of 0.192 
tonnes of CO2 equivalent per megawatt in 2008/2009 until 
confi rmation in September 2009. Given there was a low 
hydro lake period for the 2008 calendar year, it is anticipated 
that the electricity emission factor for 2008 will be 0.192 
tonnes of CO2 equivalent per 
megawatt or higher.

Energy Usage

Fuel consumption decreased 13,862 litres (5.0%) in 
petrol and diesel during 2008/2009. This has resulted in a 
reduction of approximately 34,121 litres (11.5%) or 40% 
per FTE since the peak period of 2002/2003. Air travel has 
dropped signifi cantly, 729,320 kilometres (61.8%) as the 
Council reviewed its training and travel requirements in 
consideration of the global economic recession. Gas usage 
increased 409,539 kWh (6.1%) overall due to an increase in 
usage at West Wave but some of the savings from previous 
years was still maintained. Electricity usage increased 
by 429,450 kWh (3.3%) with the largest increase due to 
Waitakere Central 252,882 kWh (8.5%), which was due to 
a 19.24% increase in the demand the building was required 
to provide heating or cooling to an 18oC external heat point 
during the same period.

Energy Savings

The Council reached the joint milestones of saving/avoiding 
$1.56 million dollars energy costs and 11,196,816 kilowatt 
hours energy usage since it began its energy effi ciency 
programme in 2001/2002. This has been achieved through 
allocating a Council staff member to be responsible for 
Council’s energy management, installing energy management 
software to quantify and report on energy usage and costs, 
working with Council staff to identify opportunities and 
implement energy effi ciency projects and quantifying and 
reporting the savings from projects. Of these savings, the 
Council achieved energy cost savings of $260,611 (excluding 
GST), from reductions in energy usage of 2,023,032 kilowatt 
hours (kWh) and 17,339 litres of fuel during 2008/2009.

Quadruple Bottom Line – Environmental

Objectives
To foster and protect Waitakere’s environment through:
• reducing the use of energy by the Council and the community
• decreasing the reliance on the use of non-renewable energy
• reducing the resources used by the Council in relation to the services it provides
• reducing the Council and the community’s waste contribution to land fi ll
• models best practice in the Council funded and operated buildings
• protects and enhances Waitakere’s wonderful natural environment
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The benefi ts of previous energy effi ciency projects are 
continuing to be reaped, with the following savings 
achieved in 2008/2009 compared to their peak year:

• West Wave furthered its reduction electricity usage 
to 272,896 kWh (7.7%) compared to the peak year of 
2006/2007 and reduced its overall savings in gas to 
436,074 kWh (6.1%) compared to the peak year 
of 2004/2005. 

• Waikumete Cemetery continues to benefi t from more 
effi cient use of the crematorium with an overall 673,045 
kWh (70%) reduction in gas compared to the peak year 
of 2003/2004. 

• Massey leisure centre and library continues to benefi t 
from more effi cient use of gas with an overall 220,996 
kWh (64.7%) reduction in gas usage compared 
to 2004/2005.

• New Lynn Community Centre continues to benefi t from 
more effi cient electricity usage with an overall 34,246 
kWh (25.5%) reduction in electricity usage compared 
to 2003/2004.

• New Lynn Library maintained the majority of its electricity 
usage reduction to 70,889 kWh (28.7%) compared to the 
peak year of 2006/2007.

• Starling Park continues to benefi t from replacing stored 
with instantaneous gas hot water supply with a 14,569 
kWh (96%) reduction compared to the peak year 
of 2004/2005.

• The upgrade and installation of new traffi c signals to Light 
Emitting Diode (LED) lights has maintained an overall 
reduction of 232,896 kWh (27%) in electricity usage 
compared to the peak year of 2004/2005, while installing 
additional new LED traffi c signals.

Lighting plans were reviewed to identify energy effi ciency 
opportunities before actual installation for Henderson Youth 
Facility, Titirangi War Memorial, Waikumete Cemetery and 
Titirangi library.

Further work has continued on researching energy 
effi ciency opportunities for street lighting and installation 
of 203 CosmoPolis luminaries with a 23% energy savings 
and 19 Stealth LED luminaries with a 55% energy savings 
compared to the standard High Pressure Sodium luminaries 
that would have otherwise been installed during the capital 
upgrade project for 14 Waitakere streets. In September 
2008 the Council co-hosted ‘Advancing New Zealand Street 
Lighting Technologies Forum and Night Tour’ to promote 
discussion on energy effi cient street lighting infrastructure 
with over 120 participants from all over New Zealand, 
including government offi cials, local government managers, 
lighting engineers, urban designers, developers and lighting 
suppliers. A DVD of the event was produced, incorporating 
presentations, night tours, product specifi cations and latest 
research on energy effi cient street lighting outcomes and 
Local Government Magazine published ‘Street Lighting 
Technology Supplement 2008/2009’ in the November 2008 
issue with the support of Waitakere and other partners.

Fuel consumption decreased 13,862 litres (5%) in petrol 
and diesel during 2008/2009. This has resulted in a 
reduction of approximately 34,121 litres or 11.5% in total 
or 40% per FTE since the peak period of 2002/2003. 
The Council is continuing its work on improving the fuel 
effi ciency of the vehicle fl eet.

Renewable Energy

Total energy requirements supplied by renewable sources 
are estimated at 26,026 kWh for 2008/2009, a growth of 
67%, totalling 0.16% of total electricity requirements.

It was found in December 2008 that the Civil Defence 
and Emergency Management photovoltaic system may 
have prevented the electricity meter from recording 
onsite electricity consumption, rather than the whole site 
being powered by the photovoltaic system as stated in 
the 2007/2008 report. The Civil Defence and Emergency 
Management photovoltaic system was not operating in 
April and May 2009 due to a fault.

The Massey Leisure Centre and Library photovoltaic system 
was back in full operation but the energy generation 
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is estimated at 10,950 kWh per annum until the Sunny Web 
Box is connected to the Council’s network later in 2009 
to enable staff to take monthly actual readings.

Auckland Region Climate Change and Energy 
Work Groups

The Council is participating in the Auckland Region 
Working Groups to develop regional energy and climate 
change strategies. 

As part of the Carbon Futures project, the Auckland Region 
Working Group on Climate Change developed a forecast 
to 2040 and back-cast to 1990 for carbon equivalent 
emissions for the region with an estimated growth of 11 
million tonnes by 2040 of carbon equivalent emissions 
compared to 1990 under the Business as Usual model. 
The Group developed a long list and prioritised list of 
reduction initiatives for consideration to reduce the level of 
greenhouse gas emission for the region. 

The Auckland Regional Council sought stakeholder 
consultation on the Issues and Options for Climate Change 
and Energy as a result of the work from the Auckland 
Region Working Groups. 

The Auckland Region Working Group on Climate Change 
is currently reviewing the next steps for the project to align 
with the fi ndings of the Royal Commission on Auckland 
Governance, which includes the recommendation that, the 
future regional entity “should work closely with consumers, 
the industry and central government agencies to develop a 
climate change and energy strategy for the region, including 
monitoring and reviewing electricity security of supply 
performance and industry planning and regulation 
impacting the Auckland region”.

Earth Hour 2009

Waitakere participated in the World Wildlife Foundation 
initiated Earth Hour for the second year running. The 
Electricity Commission sponsored 10,000 compact 
fl uorescent and halogen down lights through Energy 
Mad. The Council distributed the energy effi cient lights 
through Waitakere libraries, Westfi eld WestCity, Lynmall, 

EcoMatters Environment Trust, Waipariera Trust, Parents as 
First Teachers and Family First programmes, Project Twin 
Streams community groups, Unitec student services and 
library, Congregational Christian Church in America Samoa, 
Te Raa Mokopuna and the Indian Association. It was 
estimated that 63% residents of Waitakere were likely to 
have taken part in Earth Hour in some form, compared 
to 51% for New Zealand.

Transport Strategy

The Council’s vision for transport is “A sustainable multi-
modal transport system that is integrated with land use 
and contributes to Waitakere being an eco city.” This vision 
supports a change from single-occupancy vehicle use to 
more sustainable modes of travel. That shift is necessary 
to enhance the quality of life in our City, to create dynamic 
town centres and liveable communities and to protect 
the natural environment. To cope with expected growth, 
without a corresponding increase in vehicles on the road, 
Waitakere needs to make the transition to a more compact 
city which maximises the benefi ts of the rail line and its 
three main town centres. During the last year the use of 
public transport use has increased 7.7% for the Auckland 
region, with rail patronage increasing 12.6% and bus 
patronage increasing 7.8%. The Western train line services 
patronage increased by 12.7%. Cycling appears to be 
showing a strong rise in popularity in Waitakere with trip 
counts from the Regional Cycle Monitoring programme 
showing a 32% increase over the previous year’s fi gures.

Sustainable Transport

The Community Sustainable Transport programme aims 
to enable greater community participation in increasing 
sustainable transport uptake. The programme has initiated 
the inaugural West Bike Fest – a community celebration 
of cycling and regularly attended community events to 
encourage and reward sustainable transport choices in 
the Waitakere community. 

Internal work includes advocacy for cycling and walking 
projects within Council and regional networking to improve 
service provision for active modes of travel. The programme 
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has also provided funding for neighbourhood walking 
groups and walkability projects.

The Project Twin Streams walk and cycleways are nearing 
completion and the Community Sustainable Transport 
programme is assisting with their promotion and with 
monitoring the use of the off-road network of shared paths. 

Waitemata District Health Board Staff 
Travel Plan

The Council supports the regional TravelWise workplace 
travel planning, providing support for workplaces and 
institutions who elect to embark on a travel planning 
process. The Waitemata District Health Board has now 
completed the research and investigation phase of the 
staff travel plan and has already launched a very successful 
shuttle van service between the two main hospital sites in 
Waitakere and North Shore cities. The travel plan aims to 
reduce single occupant car trips to and from work amongst 
the 6,000+ staff, by promoting greater uptake of passenger 
transport (bus, train and carpooling) and active (walking, 
cycling) commuter trips.

Staff Workplace Travel Plan

Within the Council itself, the Staff Travel Plan continues 
to promote sustainable travel choice. Council staff can 
access subsidised public transport for their work commute 
and utilise fl eet bicycles as well as train and bus services 
for business travel. Carpooling is encouraged, with priority 
access to the limited on-site staff parking. 

The travel plan champion celebrates and promotes 
sustainable transport through the annual Sustainable 
Transport Breakfast, BikeWise Month activities, Walk2Work 
Day, Car-free Day, World Environment Day, Carpool Day 
and regular stories published via the staff intranet. End-of-
trip facilities for cyclists and other active travellers are fully 
utilised and include secure bike parking, lockers, showers, 
towel racks and hair dryers. 

Council staff continue to shift away from single occupancy 
car journeys and towards greater uptake of passenger 
transport and active travel in their daily commute. Results 

from the staff travel survey undertaken in February 2009 
show that uptake of public transport has increased from 
12.7% of commuter trips in February 2008, to nearly 18% 
of commuter trips in 2009.

Only 52% of Council staff drive to work and 18% are 
arriving as passengers - either carpooling with others 
or being dropped off at work. This is a far cry from the 
position in 2006, where around 90% of Council staff 
were driving to work. 

Walking and cycling have both become more popular 
over the past year and are nearly back at their 2006 
levels. Evaluation of the year-long Greenshoes Active 
Travel Rewards programme showed a variety of positive 
outcomes from promoting walking and cycling - some quite 
unexpected! For more information refer to Workplace Staff 
Travel Plan - Staff Travel Mode-Shifts on page 56.

Public Place Recycling

The fi rst Waitakere public place recycling bin was installed 
at Waitakere Central Library in July 2006 due to the high 
foot traffi c with Unitec located adjacent to the library. In 
February 2009 one was installed at Piha to help visitors to 
the beach to recycle their drink containers, rather than them 
being sent to landfi ll. As part of a Council and Ministry for 
the Environment trial a further nine Love NZ public place 
recycling bins were installed in July 2009 in Henderson, 
New Lynn, Te Atatu Peninsula, Titirangi and Glen Eden town 
centres. 

Waste-Not Fund

The Council held its inaugural round of the Waste-Not 
fund in May 2008, grants were distributed to 13 recipients 
in August 2008 with the majority of the projects being 
completed in recent months. The fund saw some 
excellent successes in waste minimisation and community 
engagement. Some of these included the development 
of a new modular vermiculture waste disposal system 
suitable for both homes and businesses, the distribution 
of 100 early childhood activity centres made from 
recycled materials saving approximately 2,800 kg of solid 

In February 2009, Council organised the inaugural 
West Bike Fest. The event attracted support from 
the Department of Cycling – the newly formed 
West Auckland community cycling club; NZ Police; 
ARTA, Educate New Zealand, Bike Barn New Lynn 
and AvantiPlus Waitakere. Around 150 cyclist of 
all ages enjoyed an array of activities, including 

obstacle courses, snail races, bike decoration and 
a ride along the Opanuku section of Project Twin 
Streams shared path network. The event was a 
huge success and attracted media coverage, 
as well as strong support for future celebrations 
of cycling.

Case Study – West Bike Fest
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waste, the establishment of the New Zealand Product 
Stewardship Council, a waste reduction programme aired 
on the Chautari Hamro Chautari Nepali radio program, the 
replacement of a coal boiler with a wood chip boiler at 
Henderson Valley School which will save around 700kg 
of solid waste every winter (as well as being cleaner 
burning) and the establishment of a large scale worm farm 
at Vision Waitakere Gardens retirement village diverting 
approximately 3000kg of food waste per year.

EnviroSmart

Four Waitakere businesses (Civic Contractors, Jenkin 
Timber, Sonoco and ONYX Environmental) participated in 
the national EnviroSmart programme co-sponsored by the 
Council. This is a two year sustainable business programme 
designed specifi cally for small to medium-sized New Zealand 
businesses that take the businesses through a resource 
effi ciency programme. Businesses are supported in work 
towards Gold EnviroMark accreditation which includes 
developing an Environmental Management System for their 
businesses. Three Waitakere businesses achieved Gold 
EnviroMark accreditation. 

Cloth Nappy Project

The Cloth Nappy Project celebrated the launch of 
Waitakere Hospital re-implementing the use of cloth 
nappies permanently in their maternity ward. As a result 
approximately 80,000 nappies will be prevented from 
entering the landfi ll per year. To celebrate the launch the 
cloth nappy kits could be hired for seven weeks by Waitakere 
residents at a 50% discount on the hire fee until 31 
December 2009. Education is continuing at the Cloth Nappy 
Education Centre in Te Atatu Peninsula with much success. 
More and more parents are becoming aware of how practical 
and easy cloth nappies are to use with the added bonus that 
they are being kind to the planet and their pockets.

Waitakere Inform Challenge Inspire

Inspiring a community to face the environmental challenges 
of the future and be part of creating change was the focus 
of a series of seminars and workshops in Waitakere during 

August 2008. Waitakere Inform Challenge Inspire (WICI) 
was supported by the Council and Unitec and aimed to give 
the public and community and agency staff food for thought 
on local and global issues.

A host of inspiring New Zealand and international speakers 
live and via video link led the sessions through a range 
of topics from reinventing cities and new thinking on 
climate crisis to delivering sustainable communities and 
reducing our dependence on oil. Videos and material from 
the speakers have been lodged onto Waitakere Online for 
ongoing community and agency reference.

Automotive Services Industry Project

From February through to May 2009 the Cleaner Production 
team visited 50 businesses in the automotive services 
industry to ensure sites, companies and individuals that use 
potentially hazardous substances are operating with a high 
level of environmental protection. Priority of site visits was 
given to businesses whose sites are in close vicinity to the 
Project Twin Stream catchments.

To continue on with the project from the previous year, 
the sectors targeted were car wreckers and panel beaters. 
During the visits to the businesses the Cleaner Production 
team promoted “best practice” behaviour and provided 
relevant information, resources or contacts where 
applicable to the business. 

Water Demand Management Works 
in Waitakere

The Council has a goal to reduce water consumption 
25% by 2025. This is needed in order to defer the 
construction of a new water supply infrastructure which 
would be economically and environmentally costly. Most 
people drink less than 5% of the drinking water supplied to 
their homes; the rest is used for non-drinking purposes and 
then does down the drain.

The Council has been encouraging greater effi ciency 
through increased engagement with the community, 
promotional campaigns for solar water heating and general 
water wastage reduction information. Education of adults 
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and children on water demand issues have been a priority 
and this has been implemented by community seminars on 
rain-harvesting, brochures, awareness campaigns, an online 
kids club as well as incentives and rebates.

A reduction in water use is continuing with 157 litres per 
person per day being used compared to 163 litres per day in 
2008. This equates to a drop of 10 litres per person per day 
since 2007.

Water Ambassadors Kids Club

In March 2009 the Council launched the Water 
Ambassadors Kids Club. This is an online based programme 
which targets fi ve to ten year olds who are interested 
in caring for their water source and happy to share this 
information with their families and friends. 

The website at www.waterambassadors.co.nz provides 
learning resources including links to other water demand 
and environmental websites for children. It also encourages 
them to post stories and pictures concerning their efforts 
to minimise wastage of drinking water around their homes. 
Each child who registers receives a membership kit 
containing fun and instruction activities, such as measuring 
water use around the home, games and puzzles as well as 
some collectables. At the end of June 2009 there were 400 
members including some international ones.

Towards a Plastic Shopping Bag Free 
Waitakere

The Council acknowledges that plastic bags are an 
environmental concern and action needs to be taken to 
mitigate their use in the City. The Mayor hosted a breakfast 
forum in March 2009, for the local retailers to address the 
indiscriminate use of plastic shopping bags in the City. The 
forum helped raised awareness of the issue and reinforced 
support for action from the local retailers. 

Since the forum major retailers like The Warehouse and 
Foodstuffs have introduced a national charge on plastic 
shopping bags that they give out at their outlets. The 
Council has also been working on a campaign to raise 
community awareness and bring about consumer behaviour 

change. The public awareness campaign is being developed 
to be positive, engaging and inclusive and refl ect the 
character of Waitakere, offering real alternatives to plastic 
bags and tips for reducing their use.

Reducing Resource Use

The Committee Services team reviewed the Council 
committee agenda process to reduce the quantity of paper 
required for printing. Council staff, community stakeholders 
and the press who have requested to receive agendas will 
be able to access these agendas digitally via a hyperlink to 
the internet sent to their email address when the agenda 
is printed. It is estimated that the paper usage will drop 
from 1,146,500 sheets per annum to 733,760 sheets, an 
estimated 36% reduction. The project was implemented in 
June 2009 and will be monitored with great interest.

Enviro-Challenge

The second Waitakere High Schools Enviro-Challenge was 
held, where teams of senior students from eight of the 
City’s high schools audited their schools’ energy and water 
use, waste treatment and travel patterns. The climax was 
an event that pitched teams against one another in fi ve 
environmentally themed challenges to test environmental 
knowledge, powers of investigation, presentation skills 
and teamwork. The winning team from Rutherford College 
squeezed ahead of rivals St Dominic’s College, Massey 
High School, Henderson High School, Liston College, 
Kelston Boys High School, Kelston Girls’ College and 
Waitakere College to take the Enviro-Challenge trophy. 
One student from each participating school took part in an 
environmental ambassador programme in Wellington and 
delivered a presentation to the Waitakere Councillors.

EcoDay

EcoDay 2009 was a great success with some 64 exhibitors 
and an estimated attendance of over 5,000 people. There 
was a great range of high quality exhibitors and a fantastic 
atmosphere amongst visitors and exhibitors alike. There 
were fi ve seminar sessions, a bus tour of a Waitakere 
sustainable home and Earthsong Eco-Neighbourhood, 
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an open home through The Now Home, an open day by 
the Sustainable Living Centre, a small organic market and 
children’s entertainment. EcoMatters Environment Trust are 
contracted by the Council to organise the event each year. 

Beacon Pathway Limited (Beacon)

Beacon is a research consortium initially formed in 2004 
by four shareholders:  Waitakere City Council, Fletcher 
Building, SCION Research and Building Research New 
Zealand. In 2007, New Zealand Steel also joined as a 
shareholder. All current shareholders made a commitment 
until 2010 to fund Beacon which is matched by funding 
from the Foundation for Science, Research and Technology 
(FRST). The purpose of Beacon is “building homes that 
don’t cost the earth”, that is to work towards a high 
quality of sustainability in the residential environment. The 
aspirational goal is that 90% of New Zealand homes will 
achieve a higher standard of sustainability by 2012.

A wide range of research has been undertaken and 
completed. The Beacon Neighbourhoods research has 
completed case studies of existing neighbourhoods, 
greenfi eld and brownfi eld developments, including a 
detailed West Harbour case study in conjunction with 
the Council and Housing New Zealand Corporation. The 
HomeSmart Renovations research recruited over 400 out of 
750 homeowners to participate in the research programme. 

Informing the HomeSmart Renovations project are 
a number of Beacon research projects including 
Beacon’s High Standard of Sustainability® (HSS)®, a 
housing typologies framework and the prevalence and 
understanding of consumer choice with respect to 
renovation, a Papakowhai renovation project and a detailed 
cost benefi t analysis around the range of packages which 
could achieve retrofi t into New Zealand homes. Beacon 
has also been active in presenting messages through the 
media across the four channels of Consumer, Industry, 
Government and Infrastructure.

Eco Design Advisor Service

Waitakere has had an in-house Eco Design Advisor since 
2006. Free, impartial advice to architects, designers and 
prospective home builders and renovators on how to make 
the most of their site, materials, energy, water and other 
resources is provided. In the last year, the Eco Design 
Advisor carried out 283 consultations with homeowners 
and designers, made 35 presentations and participated 
in 130 networking events.

During the year the Eco Design Advisor had person-to-
person interactions with approximately 850 owners, 
designers, tradespeople and Council staff. As the role is 
mostly face-to-face, the ripple effect of the interactions is 
considerably greater. By helping improve the quality and 
performance of new and existing housing, the service 
makes a signifi cant contribution to the Council’s goals of 
improving the health and wellbeing of residents and making 
better use of resources such as energy, water and materials.

Sustainable Procurement

Over the last few years research has been conducted 
on sustainable procurement strategies and practices and 
trialled on a small number of Council contracts. Trials have 
included the pool vehicle fl eet, catering contracts and 
lighting projects to incorporate information on company 
sustainable business practices and product or service 
sustainability outcomes into the tender process, with life 
cycle cost evaluation being considered rather than only 
up front capital costs. The Council has been incorporating 
some elements of sustainable procurement since the 
beginning of the eco city in 1993, the current effort is to 
trial a more formal process of sustainable procurement. 
Further trials will be completed in the next year to inform 
and evaluate the process. 
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Paper Usage

* Paper recycling has been artifi cially increased during clean-outs as a result of: AIM Project in 2004 by an estimated 
5 tonnes and preparation for ‘The Move’ to Waitakere Central by an estimated 6.84 tonnes in 2006 and 3.96 tonnes in 2007. 
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Total Fuel Consumption

Litres/staff

Vehicle Fleet Fuel Performance

Unit 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Paper Consumption tonnes 54.380 51.840 49.730 52.450 50.630 48.190

Paper Consumption t/staff 0.055 0.056 0.055 0.065 0.067 0.067

Paper & Cardboard Recycled tonnes* 35.955 30.000 36.440 57.090 42.560 41.680

Copying Paper
sheets/
person 9,777 10,238 9,878 11,757 12,207 12,434
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Target: stabilise total greenhouse
gas emissions by 2010

The emission factors used reporting are 
based on the Communities for Climate 
Protection Programme for 2002 – 2005 
emission factors and the Ministry for the 
Environment for 2006 and 2007 emission 
factors. Emission factors for 2008 were not 
available until September 2009, so average 
emission factors for 2001 – 2007 have been 
used in the interim. The 2008/2009 
emission factors will be updated in the 
2009/2010 report. 



Annual Report // Including Sustainability Report 2008/200957

Unit 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Petrol litres 215,732 224,348 228,794 216,655 219,997 224,002 238,804 218,212

Diesel litres 46,902 52,148 60,882 57,560 59,702 58,172 57,952 57,556

Gas kWh 7,113,051 6,703,512 7,294,279 6,927,976 8,347,053 7,571,210 6,400,920 6,174,466

Electricity kWh 16,752,081 16,217,797 16,577,615 13,603,161 12,629,313 11,877,683 10,596,468 9,059,661

Air Travel - 

Short Haul
km 10,061 27,640 30,199 27,844 18,096 11,903 11,903 NA

Air Travel - 

Medium 

Haul

km 225,874 389,861 422,132 376,021 383,651 320,525 163,355 NA

Air Travel - 

International
km 214,604 762,358 626,977 880,070 724,070 694,691 463,298 NA

Electricity and gas quantities (and associated CO2) are normalised for reporting purposes. This creates slight changes 
in reported usage resulting from effect of estimated and actual readings on fi nal calculations through EnergyPro 
software each year.

Equivalent tonnes of CO2-e

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Direct Greenhouse Gas Emissions – Scope 1

Petrol 500.19 529.46 542.24 498.31 505.99 515.20 549.25 501.89

Diesel 123.49 139.76 161.34 150.81 156.42 152.41 151.83 150.80

Gas 1,346.93 1,303.16 1,383.87 1,304.40 1,571.58 1,425.51 1,205.17 1,162.53

Indirect Greenhouse Gas Emissions – Scope 2

Electricity 3,210.90 2,675.94 3,464.72 3,185.63 2,266.74 2,305.54 1,744.75 1,769.14

Indirect Greenhouse Gas Emissions – Scope 3

Air Travel 
– Short Haul

1.78 4.89 4.80 4.43 2.88 3.72 1.89 NA

Air Travel 
– Medium Haul

22.20 38.32 55.72 49.63 50.64 42.31 21.56 NA

Air Travel 
– International

23.74 84.32 67.09 94.17 77.48 74.33 49.57 NA

Total Equivalent 

Tonnes of CO2e
5,229.23 4,775.85 5,679.78 5,287.37 4,631.73 4,519.03 3,724.03 3,584.36

Energy Consumption

Emission Source
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kWh

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

National Grid 16,752,081 16,217,797 16,577,615 13,603,161 12,629,313 11,877,683 10,596,468 9,059,661

Distributed Energy 26,026 15,601 10,981 13,263 11,726 5,552

One-Off Cost 
Savings $

On-Going Cost 
Savings $

One-Off kWh 
Savings

On-Going kWh 
Savings

Litres 
of Fuel

2001/2002 0 56,876 0 268,606

2002/2003 22,842 79,475 85,915 553,068

2003/2004 4,497 82,168 0 561,899

2004/2005 46,244 83,200 0 568,143

2005/2006 0 335,722 186,056 3,227,364

2006/2007 2,250 354,532 0 2,028,171 8,669

2007/2008 0 231,533 0 1,694,561 42,676

2008/2009 0 260,611 0 2,023,032 17,339

75,833 1,484,116 271,971 10,924,845 68,684

1,559,949 11,196,816

Electricity Source

Energy Usage and Cost Savings

Performance Ratios

Equivalent tonnes of CO2-e     

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

CO2 /FTE 5.301 5.122 6.264 6.509 6.119 6.275 5.572 5.621

CO2/ Residents 0.026 0.024 0.029 0.028 0.024 0.024 0.021 0.020

CO2 Vehicle 
Fleet/Vehicle

2.754 3.297 3.415 4.687 5.474 4.982 6.204 NA

CO2 Vehicle 
Fleet/FTE

0.632 0.718 0.776 0.799 0.875 0.927 1.049 1.023

Grid/Distributed 
Generation

0.155% 0.096% 0.066% 0.097% 0.093% 0.047%
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Biodiversity

Waitakere has a rich biodiversity in both the Waitakere 
Ranges and the more urbanised lowlands. Although records 
are not complete, it appears that we have lost 11 native bird 
species from the Ranges and 15 species from the lowlands. 
The short-tailed bat was once common in the region but 
has not been recorded for some time. Furthermore, there 
are now 240 plant species identifi ed as actual or potential 
threats to native vegetation and there are 19 introduced bird 
species, nine introduced mammals and two amphibians, all 
competing with our native species.

The challenge to halting the loss of biodiversity is to 
maintain the viability of local populations across the range 
of native species that naturally occur in the region, the range 
of ecosystems, to understand their signifi cance and to 
facilitate community support and engagement in biodiversity 
management for the long term.

Local Action for Biodiversity

Waitakere has joined Local Governments for Sustainability 
(ICLEI’s) Local Action for Biodiversity (LAB) project as 
one of 21 pioneer cities worldwide. LAB is a unique 
global urban biodiversity programme that results in on the 
ground biodiversity management by local government. 
Demonstrating the relevance of local action to biodiversity 
management, LAB is widely recognised, including 
recognition by the United Nations Convention on Biological 
Diversity at its Conference of the Parties in Bonn 2008.

As a LAB participant, each city focuses on local action 
and delivery according to a guided fi ve-step process, from 
planning through to implementation. Facilitated by ICLEI’s 
LAB team, each city delivers the following project targets: 

1. Production of a biodiversity report documenting the City’s 
biodiversity and its management.

2. Signing of the Durban Commitment on biodiversity, 
committing to biodiversity protection at a political level.

3. Developing a long-term local biodiversity strategy and 
accompanying action plans.

4. Committing to implement the local biodiversity strategy 
and action plans.

5. Implementing fi ve new biodiversity initiatives within the 
three-year time frame.

Waitakere has achieved the fi rst four of these targets, being 
one of eleven cities to produce their Biodiversity Report. 
Waitakere was also the fi rst to produce their Biodiversity 
Strategy and Action Plan which has been acclaimed as an 
example for the other cities to follow. Waitakere has now 
progressed four of its fi ve key biodiversity initiatives towards 
meeting target fi ve.

Urbanisation – Habitat Loss

The Auckland region is experiencing a population growth 
rate of 1.5% per annum, the same as Waitakere’s. Increased 
population means pressure for further development 
which usually results in further loss of habitat, whether 
it is loss of bush, loss of rural land or encroachment of 
coastal and riparian areas. Along with increased population, 
development and noise urbanisation brings more weeds and 
pests to compete with indigenous biodiversity.

On the positive side, there are some bird species that enjoy an 
advantage provided by the variety of garden plants that provide 
winter forage in particular. The more we can use native plants 
in our gardens and parks, supplemented with nectar producing 
and fruiting exotics, the more urban areas can support species 
such as tui, kereru or even bellbird once more.

Despite insectivores and frugivores enjoying some benefi t 
from plantings in urban areas, the insectivorous bird species 
defi nitely suffer unless bush remnants with full undergrowth 
to support invertebrate communities are left intact. 

Plant Pests

Plant pests are a major threat to biodiversity by changing 
environmental conditions through shading, smothering 
or preventing other species from establishing. Within 
natural communities they affect vegetation structure and 
composition, regeneration, plant and animal biodiversity, 
hydrology and nutrient regimes.

The Community Co-ordinator for Project Twin Streams 
Opanuku saw an opportunity to extend the stream 
restoration the community were doing along the 
Opanuku to collaborating with a Waitakere Properties 
Limited managed industrial site to restore a wetland 
on a tributary of the stream.

Waitakere Properties Limited were required to plant 
the section of the stream bank and wetland as part of 
an approved resource consent. With the assistance 

of Council staff and by accessing funding from the 
industrial estate the community can take responsibility 
for the ongoing restoration of the wetland. Suffi cient 
funding was provided to restore the wetland and plant 
the entire stream bank adjacent to the wetland and 
bordering the industrial estate.

Henderson High School outdoor education students 
undertook planting, covering the bank (which had once 
been a dumping ground) with pioneer species and 

Case Study - A Great Collaborative Project – 
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Problem plant pests in Waitakere are numerous and 
include agapanthus (Agapanthus praecox) on the west 
coast, Elaeagnus x refl exa, woolly nightshade (Solanum 
mauritianum), wild ginger (Hedychium gardnerianum and 
H. fl avescens), mignonette vine (Andredera cordifolia), 
moth plant (Araujia sericifera), blue morning glory (Ipomoea 
indica), climbing asparagus (Asparagus scandens), ladder 
fern (Nephrolepis cordifolia), bamboo (including Bambusa 
and Phyllostachys species), honeysuckle (Lonicera japonica) 
and jasmine (Jasminium polyanthum) in the Waitakere 
Ranges. In the urban area pest plants also include privet 
(Ligustrum sinense and L. lucidum), Arundo donax, climbing 
asparagus, pampas (Cortaderia selloana and C. jubata) and 
monkey apple (Acmena smithii). These plant pest species 
have invaded native bush areas, grow at a rapid rate and 
out-compete native species.

Animal Pests

Animal pests browse on palatable plant species, reducing 
the success rate of new plantings, degrading existing 
habitats and compete with native species also using these 
food sources. Some also prey on native birds, invertebrates 
and fi sh. Firmly established animal pests include Norway rat 
(Rattus norvegicus) and ship rat (Rattus rattus), mouse (Mus 
domesticus), brush-tailed possum (Trichosurus vulpecula), 
various wasp species, pest freshwater fi sh species, ferret 
(Mustela furo) and stoat (Mustela ermine) and feral goats 
and pigs in the Waitakere Ranges. 

In addition, there is an ongoing threat to coastal bird 
species, particularly New Zealand dotterel (Charadrius 
obscurus) and banded dotterel (Charadrius bicinctus), 
variable oystercatcher (Haematopus unicolor) and little 
blue penguin (Eudyptula minor) from dog predation and 
disturbance. Dogs and domestic cats also have easy access 
to valuable lowland fauna habitat, such as wetlands and 
tidal mudfl ats, because of the close proximity of residential 
development to these areas.

Climate Change

Little is known at this stage about how climate change 
will affect biodiversity in the Waitakere Ranges. Increasing 
temperatures and more intense rainfall events may result 
in the climate becoming marginal for certain species while 
making conditions more favourable for some pests. This 
is an area not well understood at present and the Council 
is planning to assess the likely effects of climate change 
in more detail during the next year. However, it will still be 
unpredictable how particular species will respond 
to change.

Habitats Protected or Restored

The Ark in the Park

The Ark in the Park is a Forest and Bird restoration project 
in the Cascades Kauri Park, northern Waitakere Ranges. 
It is a partnership between Forest and Bird and the 
Auckland Regional Council. It builds on park management 
programmes, especially possum control. The community 
restoration project is managed by the Waitakere Branch 
of the Royal Forest and Bird Protection Society. It aims to 
signifi cantly reduce animal and plant pests in a 2000 hectare 
area. The long-term goal is to reintroduce native animals 
and plants now extinct in the Waitakere Ranges. The North 
Island robin, whitehead and stitchbird have already been 
brought back. In the near future they hope to see kokako, 
bellbird, kakariki, kaka, lizards, giant weta and mistletoe. 
In the long term there is potential to see kiwi and weka 
return to the area. 

Project Twin Streams

Project Twin Streams is an innovative multi-faceted project 
that focuses on achieving long-term sustainable integrated 
management of the Henderson Creek and Huruhuru Creek 
catchments. This project weaves together the issues of 
integrated stormwater management and the restoration 
of 56 km of stream banks along the Oratia, Waikumete, 
Opanuku, Pixie and Swanson Streams, with a sustainable 
community development approach. The Project Twin 
Streams catchment has a population of 103,000 people and 
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Community, Council and 
Local Industry Wetland Restoration Project

wading through muddy ponds to plant native wetland 
species, such as reeds, grasses - Ti Kouka, Pukatea, 
Kahikatea and Swamp Maire. 

In early summer, Henderson High School Parekura 
Unit students replaced some of the reeds that had 
earlier been ‘stolen’ by the resident pukeko population. 
The Corrections community workers also helped out 
with weeding the diffi cult areas. The Corban Estate 

Weaving Circle, who manage the nearby Pa Harakeke 
(containing special weaving fl ax), plan to plant kuta in 
the ponds. Kuta is a giant reed used by Maori to weave 
mats, hats and other useful items. Further ahead, once 
the area is more established, rare and endangered 
wetland species will be introduced. 
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covers 10,000 hectares. The purpose or kaupapa for Project 
Twin Streams is: Working together for healthy streams and 
strong communities: creating a sustainable future.

Community organisations in six areas across the catchment 
(Swanson, Ranui/Massey, Henderson Creek, Opanuku, 
Oratia and Glen Eden) are resourced to implement the 
project in a way that refl ects the special identity and 
aspirations of their community.

A total of 425,103 plants have been planted since the 
beginning of the project in 2003 with 71% planted by 
local communities. Project Twin Streams has restored 
signifi cant stretches of stream-banks through the removal 
of environmental weeds and the planting of eco-sourced 
native plants. These riparian corridors are the backbone 
of the Green Network, linking the Waitakere Ranges to 
the Waitemata Harbour.

Since 2003 over 15,000 volunteers have participated in 
Project Twin Streams. There are 67 groups now adopting 
sections of stream banks. These groups range from 
schools, mental health and disability groups, youth and 
youth at risk groups, businesses, church groups, alternative 
education groups and whänau groups. Nineteen local 
schools are actively engaged in Project Twin Streams – both 
in site preparation and planting and related educational and 
arts activities to raise awareness of the issues facing 
the streams and the catchment. 

Ten kilometres of walk and cycleways along the Opanuku, 
Oratia and Waikumete Streams are in the fi nal stages of 
completion. The Council has purchased 84 houses in the 
Project Twin Streams catchment to better manage 
the fl ow of stormwater in the catchment. 

Taking the Sustainability Message 
into Households and Neighbourhoods

Through the stream restoration work community members 
identifi ed that replanting stream banks would not be 
enough to improve water quality. They needed to work with 
people in their own homes to change household behaviours 
and to increase awareness of wider sustainability issues. 
The Council also had specifi c objectives focused on 
reducing water, energy and waste and reducing the use 

of private motor vehicles and wanted to explore ways 
of increasing community uptake of these issues. These 
factors provided the opportunity to develop the Project 
Twin Streams Sustainable Household Sustainable Living 
demonstration programme to test whether the community 
development model, that had successfully engaged 
communities in stream restoration work, could also be 
used to engage households to live more sustainably. The 
programme has been developed in collaboration with 
EcoMatters Environment Trust, Te Ukaipo Mercy Initiatives 
for Rangitahi, Ranui Action Project and Celebrating  
Swanson. 

From February 2008 to June 2009, 550 households in Glen 
Eden, Ranui and Swanson have engaged local residents 
in understanding the issues and implementing actions to 
live more sustainably. Each household has also received a 
free home water and energy check and where necessary 
a water retrofi t – for example low fl ow showerheads, 
gizmos in the toilets and other water savings measures. 
Eligible houses have been referred for insulation retrofi ts. 
In 2009/2010 the programme will be developed further, 
building on Ranui and Swanson local residents being 
involved in the existing programme through participation in 
local neighbourhood sustainability conversations, attending 
workshops on composting, vegetable growing and 
rainwater harvesting and participating in mucking-in events. 
Some of the participants have gone on to organise street 
parties or events that highlight sustainable living. 

Strategies for Managing Impacts 
on Biodiversity

The Council’s adopted Long Term Council Community Plan 
(LTCCP) 2006-2016 identifi es sustainable development 
as one of the City’s fi ve priorities, including through 
supporting ecosystem capacity and respecting 
environmental limits. A key indicator of sustainability 
is the maintenance of local biodiversity. The concept 
of sustainability is also supported by the Community 
Outcomes: Sustainable Environment - Kauneke Tauwhiro 
Taiao and Waiora - Environmental Protection. 

The LTCCP targets the Waitakere Ranges for a higher level 
of protection, in particular, through managing weeds and 

The Green Network Community Assistance 
Programme offers a variety of tools to help 
landowners remove weeds from their properties. 
This consists of community weed bins, ginger 
rubbish bags, vouchers for ginger trailers and 
individual weed bins. This year the weed side 

of the programme expanded to include more 
sustainable measures.

Weed control assistance consisted of the 
traditional measures as well as weed tarpaulins 
for smaller areas, composting ginger barrels and 
composting tradescantia bags. Approximately 60 

Case Study – Weed Disposal Through the
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pests, ensuring ecosystems are not compromised by urban 
sprawl or visitor pressure and re-establishing corridors to 
link the Ranges to the sea. The LTCCP includes funding to 
support this programme. Delivery is through the preparation 
of the Local Area Plans.

Biodiversity Strategy

The Biodiversity Report 2007 and Local Biodiversity Action 
Plan 2008 collates and re-focuses many of the policies and 
actions already adopted by the Council and the community 
for a range of different purposes and proposes some new 
actions to provide good biodiversity outcomes from all land 
management practices. The report and action plan does 
not duplicate other Council policies already contained in 
the District Plan, Parks and Open Space Strategic Plan, 
reserve management plans and integrated catchment 
management plans.

Visions have been developed for forests, freshwater 
habitats, the coast and urban areas. Fulfi lling this vision 
will involve commitment by the Council, Auckland Regional 
Council, community groups and indeed all residents of 
Waitakere. 
The projects to implement the Local Biodiversity Action 
Plan were developed during 2007/2008 and will guide the 
delivery and reporting of future biodiversity projects.

Other mechanisms for managing impacts on 
biodiversity include:

• Waitakere City District Plan
• Neighbourhood Restoration Initiatives 
• Ecosourcing Code of Practice and Ethics 2001
• Local Action for Biodiversity Project - ICLEI’s 

biodiversity programme
• Waitakere City Parks Weed Management Strategic 

Plan 2006
• Waitakere City Parks Animal Pest Management 

Strategic Plan 2006
• Waitakere Ranges and Foothills Heritage Area Act 2008 

Awards Received

• New Zealand Architecture Award 2008, Auckland 
Architecture Award for Sustainable Architecture 
– Waitakere Civil Defence

• New Zealand Architecture Award 2008, Auckland 
Architecture Award for Public Architecture
– Waitakere Civil Defence 

• LivCom Personal Award 2008- Mayor Bob Harvey 
for environmental leadership

• National Swim School Promotion of the Year 
 – West Wave 

• New Zealand Recreation Association (NZRA) Outstanding 
Pool Award – West Wave

• New Zealand Recreation Association (NZRA) Outstanding 
Project Award – Piha Domain’s Story of an Eel footbridge

• Human Rights Commission New Zealand Diversity 
Action Award - Waitakere Library and Information 
Services awarded for its contribution to improving race 
relations in its community

• Waitakere Business Award Employer of Choice Award 
– West Wave Aquatic Centre

• NZIOB (NZ Institute of Building) Silver Jubilee Awards 
for Excellence 2008 Holmic Projects $15 million to $50 
million Excellence Award - John Schermbrucker; Special 
Projects Manager Waitakere City Council and Nick Page 
construction manager of Canam Construction Ltd for 
their work on Waitakere Central

• Sustainability Award of Excellence in Partnership by 
New Zealand Institute of Landscape Architects - Renee 
Davies; Service Manager - Parks Planning with Landcare 
Research and Architectus and Athfi eld Architects for 
Waitakere City Council Green Roof

• New Zealand Architecture Award Winners 2009 Heritage 
– Colin McCahon Cottage

• Axis Awards 2009 - Best Outdoor Visual Award for 
Vodanovich project.

Green Network Programme
ginger barrels were distributed in Waitakere and 35 
composting weed bags in partnership with Weedfree 
Trust. The barrels are recycled from a variety of 
merchants in Auckland and the bags are sewn locally 
by a community group.

Less waste was taken to landfi ll, with more weeds 
composted at source and the nutrients returned 
to the land. In March each year the Weedfree Trust 
runs the War on Weeds programme - for the fi rst 
time all weeds, 115 tonnes, were composted on 
Puketutu Island. 
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Governance
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Role of the Council

The Council has overall responsibility and accountability for 
the proper direction and control of the Council’s activities 
in pursuit of Waitakere’s Community Outcomes. This 
responsibility includes areas of stewardship such as:

• formulating the City’s strategic direction in conjunction 
with the community - the Long Term Council Community 
Plan (LTCCP)

• determining the services and activities to be undertaken 

• managing principle risks

• administering various regulations and upholding the law

• monitoring the delivery of the Long Term Council 
Community Plan and Annual Plan

• ensuring the integrity of management control systems

• safeguarding the public interest

• ensuring effective succession of elected members

• reporting to ratepayers.

Council Operations

The Council has appointed a Chief Executive Offi cer to 
be in charge of the Council’s operations and delegated 
certain powers of management to that position, as required 
under Section 42 of the Local Government Act 2002 (see 
organisation chart on page 75).

Division of Responsibility between the Council 
and Management

A key to the effi cient running of the Council is that there 
is a clear division between the role of elected members 
and that of management. The Local Government Act 2002 
sets out a series of governance policies that support the 
principles of local government. 

The Council has adopted its Local Governance Statement 
that explains the governance and management 
responsibilities. It clarifi es the governance role and 
expected conduct of elected members, describes the 
effective, open and transparent processes used by 
the Council, ensures separation of regulatory and non-
regulatory responsibilities and explains the good employer 
requirements. The elected Mayor has no executive powers 
and does not actively participate in Council operations. The 
Mayor represents the Council’s leadership at the political 
level and may recommend policy directions for the Chief 
Executive Offi cer to consider.

This Local Governance Statement ensures the community 
has information on the processes that the Council follows 
when making decisions and taking action and how the 
community can infl uence these processes.

While many of the Council’s functions have been delegated, 
the overall responsibility for maintaining effective systems 
of internal control ultimately rests with the Council. Internal 
control includes the policies, systems and procedures 
established to provide measurable assurance that specifi c 
objectives will be achieved.

Role and Structure of 
Waitakere City Council
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Governance System – Independent Election

The Council believes that its democratic election by 
Waitakere’s citizens ensures that it is able to operate 
in the best interests of the City.

Council Meetings

Council and committee meetings take place each month. 
In addition, given the importance of the Long Term Council 
Community Plan and Annual Plan and the Council’s strategic 
planning for the future, the full Council meets as the Long 
Term Council Community Plan and Annual Plan Committee 
for these purposes. 

The Council holds monthly meetings to monitor 
management activities and to ensure that the affairs of the 
Council are being conducted in accordance with legislative 
mandate and the Council’s objectives. The Council also 
monitors  the performance of council organisations 
and Council Controlled Organisations (including Council 
Controlled Trading Organisations).

Council Committees

The Council has set up several standing committees to 
monitor and assist in the effective discharging of specifi c 
responsibilities.

Each standing committee is made up of elected members 
and Te Taumata Runanga also has appointed members. 
Each committee meets monthly, with additional meetings 
held as required.

The Council’s standing committees are:

• Council
• Long Term Council Community Plan and Annual 

Plan Committee
• Infrastructure and Works Committee
• Policy and Strategy Committee
• Finance and Operational Performance Committee
• Planning and Regulatory Committee
• Culture and Community Committee
• Te Taumata Runanga
• NorSGA Urban Development Committee
• Emergency Services Committee
• Performance Review Committee

Subcommittees

The Council has also set up subcommittees to deal with 
various other functions and activities. These subcommittees 
report directly to a relevant standing committee and include:

• Tenders Subcommittee
• Swimming Pool Exemption Subcommittee
• Town Centres Subcommittee
• Creative Communities Scheme Allocation Subcommittee
• Kay Road Balefi ll Site Management Subcommittee

Community Boards

The Community Boards focus on local matters within a 
particular community and ward and are responsible for 
assessing their requirements. They exercise decision-
making power on issues specifi cally delegated by the 
Council within the strategic and annual plan frameworks set 
by the Council. Community Boards are responsible for:

• local decision-making, assessing and responding to local 
needs, input to the Council’s Annual Plan and long term 
planning, communication with community associations 
and social interest groups within the community

• providing an overview of local road works, water and 
wastewater, storm water, drainage, parks, recreational 
facilities, community activities, provision of community 
advisory services, libraries and community centres and 
traffi c management within the community.

• allocation of funding for local community projects from 
the Community Wellbeing Fund and decision on matters 
specifi cally delegated by the Council.

Partnerships

An essential element of the Council’s operations is input 
from the community. By establishing close working 
relationships with various sectors within the community, 
the Council is in a better position to accommodate 
community needs in its decisions.

Partnerships are built into the Council structure in the 
following manner:

• Te Taumata Runanga

This partnership is effected through a standing committee 
of the Council to ensure Maori issues, views, perspectives 
and Treaty issues are considered. Representation 
as a member of the committee is determined by 
recommendations from iwi and other Maori community 
groups in the City.
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Community Partnerships

There is a range of partnership relationships with various 
community organisations such as the Tag Out Trust.

Development of Maori Capacity to Contribute 
to Decision-Making Processes

(Required by Section 93 (7)(b) and Clause 5, Schedule 10 
of the Local Government Act 2002)

The Council has, over a number of years, examined ways 
to foster Maori capacity to contribute to participation in its 
decision-making processes. It has developed a number of 
processes and mechanisms to this end. These are:

Te Taumata Runanga

Te Taumata Runanga is a standing committee of the 
Council. The fi elds of activity of Te Taumata Runanga are 
to ensure Maori values are considered in the Council’s 
decision-making; ensure that the Council can meet its 
obligations to the Tangata Whenua; ensure that the Council 
considers the needs of the Maori community in effective 
service provision; regularise communication between Maori 
and the Council and its committees; ensure that the Council 
is aware of and sensitive to issues of concern to the 
Tangata Whenua and local Maori people and to provide the 
Council with a structure to facilitate input into the Council’s 
decisions that have cultural signifi cance to Maori people. 

It consists of two Councillors, representatives of both of 
the iwi claiming mana whenua status within Waitakere and 
representatives from a number of urban Maori and pan-tribal 
organisations (10) from around the City. The Committee 
meets monthly and provides a Maori perspective and input 
into the Council strategy, plans, policies and operations. 
The membership of the Committee provides a connection 
to the Maori communities of the City via the ‘fl ax roots’ 
membership of each organisation. Te Taumata Runanga 
creates its own strategic work programme which is 
supported by Council staff. The Committee is represented 
in full voting capacity at meetings of the Strategy and Policy 
Committee and in a non-voting capacity at hearings and 

deliberations on the Long Term Council Community Plan 
and Annual Plan, with the representative able to provide 
comment to the Council on any areas of the Council’s 
proposed programme and budgets.

The Council is committed to working in partnership with 
Te Taumata Runanga to review its make up on an ongoing 
basis to ensure it maintains and improves its capability 
to serve the Maori communities of the City and input 
effectively into the Council decision making.

Te Taumata Runanga Review 

Te Taumata Runanga review process has begun but has 
temporarily been put on hold. The review had highlighted a 
number of ways that the committee could be strengthened. 
After consultation with the Maori community and past 
members of Te Taumata Runanga, one of the key changes 
desired was for the committee to have a more proactive 
role in advocating and pursuing opportunities for Maori in 
Waitakere. As a result of the review to date, there will be 
further consideration of the breadth of representation from 
the Maori community on the committee and also of the 
committee’s delegated powers.

Te Aho Tumanako – Maori Wellbeing Plan

A key piece of work being developed by Te Taumata 
Runanga is Te Aho Tumanako, a plan for Maori community 
investment and collaboration. The plan is divided into the 
four areas of social, economic, environmental and cultural 
wellbeing, all of which will be considered from a Maori 
worldview. It is envisaged that this plan will guide Council 
investment and support for various initiatives and also 
assist other stakeholders to identify and address wellbeing 
priorities for Maori in Waitakere.

The fi rst part of Te Aho Tumanako being developed is the 
Maori Economic Wellbeing Plan, as economic development 
has been identifi ed by Te Taumata Runanga as a strategic 
priority. Some consultation has taken place in this regard 
and further work is being undertaken in respect of the 
proposed Maori Social Wellbeing Plan.
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Partnership Relationships with Mana Whenua

The Council works directly with both iwi Te Kawerau a Maki 
and Ngati Whatua as Mana Whenua (people with customary 
and ancestral ties to the area) in Waitakere. The Council 
has developed relationships with these iwi groups that 
are represented through a range of mechanisms including 
Memoranda of Understanding, contracts for professional 
services and formal consultation mechanisms.

The Council contracts with entities representing both iwi for 
professional services in relation to Resource Management 
matters as well as inputs to policies, implementation 
and arts projects and social programmes. This provides 
resourcing to iwi to enable them to build their own capacity 
as well as enabling the Council to meet its legislative 
obligations and strategic goals in respect of working 
with Mana Whenua.

Memoranda of Understanding

The Council will consider entering into partnership 
agreements or Memoranda of Understanding with Maori 
community organisations where these will add value to the 
Council, the particular organisation and the wider Maori 
community. A Memorandum of Understanding is currently 
being developed with Te Whanau o Waipareira Trust.

Community Liaison Processes

As part of the Maori Relationships Unit’s function, the 
Council conducts liaison meetings with organisations in the 
Maori communities of the City. These vary in frequency 
depending on the particular organisations involved and the 
demand for contact with the Council. 

Specifi c Consultation Processes

The Council, in consultation with Te Taumata Runanga, 
hold specifi c consultation processes aimed at the Maori 
community. In 2005 specifi c processes were held with the 
Maori communities of the City in relation to the review of the 
electoral system (in particular the issue of Maori wards) and 
Community Outcomes for the Long Term Council Community 
Plan. Further consultation processes, tailored to meet the 
needs of the Maori communities, will be held as required.

Specialist Staff Resources and Service 
Provision 

The Council employs a number of staff with roles focused 
on assisting the community to participate in and feel 
comfortable with Council processes and make use of 
Council services. These include staff in policy, advisory, 
liaison and protocol roles focused on issues of interest to 
or affecting the Maori communities of the City, through to 
specialist service delivery roles in the Library Service and 
the arts and culture area. Together these positions make up 
the Maori Relationships Unit. Maori protocol is an integral 
part of city-wide events, civic ceremonial protocols and part 
of the organisation’s culture so that Council processes are 
more welcoming to Maori citizens. Maori stories are told in 
interpretation of information associated with Council projects.

In addition to the specialist services, other Council services 
are aimed in part at improving Maori capacity to participate 
in decision-making processes. For example, services such as 
the Learning Centres enable residents to access information 
and training via the web through local libraries. These services 
provide access to Maori as part of the wider community. 

Waitakere Pacifi c Board 

The Pacifi c community of Waitakere currently makes up 
15% of Waitakere’s total population. The mission of the 
Waitakere Pacifi c Board Incorporated (WPB) is to effectively 
work on a partnership basis with Waitakere City Council 
and other relevant agencies to address and improve on 
the governance and socio-economic conditions impacting 
on the Pacifi c peoples, whilst maintaining their cultural 
integrity and diversity. The Board brings together nine 
Pacifi c Nations: Cook Islands, Fiji, Kiribati, Niue, Samoa, 
Tahiti, Tokelau, Tonga and Tuvalu.
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The Council has undertaken a review of the current 
Community Partnership Agreement and a Three-year 
Funding Agreement with the WPB. Following this 
review the Council has agreed to sign a new Community 
Partnering Agreement and Funding Agreement with 
the WPB. Features of the Community Partnering 
Agreement are:

• shared objectives including a commitment to working 
together to achieve social and economic wellbeing and 
strong integrated communities in Waitakere

• based on partnership principles, e.g. recognises the 
autonomy and independence of both parties and an 
agreement to act towards each other honestly and 
in good faith

• includes a commitment to develop and implement 
an annual shared work programme.

Waitakere Ethnic Board

The Waitakere Ethnic Board (WEB), a registered 
incorporated society, was established on 20 September 
2003 after calls from ethnic groups in Waitakere to establish 
an ethnic advisory body to promote and represent the 
interests of all ethnic communities within Waitakere City 
Council boundaries. The main aim of the WEB is to enable 
ethnic communities to have a shared forum for articulating 
issues and infl uencing local and central government. 

The Council has undertaken a review of the current 
Community Partnership Agreement and a Three-year 
Funding Agreement with the WEB. Following this review 
the Council has agreed to sign a new Community Partnering 
Agreement and Funding Agreement with the WEB. The key 
objectives of this partnership are:

• a commitment to working together to achieve social 
cohesion and strong integrated communities in Waitakere

• the inclusion of ethnic perspectives in the Council’s policy 
development, service delivery and decision making

• achieving an appropriate level of representation of ethnic 
communities and refl ection of their interests in the Long 
Term Council Community Plan (LTCCP)

• providing a forum for mutual learning about (i) the 
functions, roles, responsibilities and activities of local and 
central government and (ii) the issues, concerns, needs 
and aspirations of the City’s ethnic communities.

Waitakere Youth Council

Waitakere is a young City with 35,574 (19.1%) of its 
population aged between 12 and 24. 

The Waitakere Youth Council were formally invited to 
participate in Council meetings from June 2007 to act on 
behalf of the youth of Waitakere and provide input into 
Council decisions that will affect youth now and in the 
future. This was in recognition of the Council’s strategic 
priority First Call for Children. This platform means that with 
every decision the Council makes people in the younger age 
brackets must be considered. This is where the voice of the 
Waitakere Youth Council comes in.

The Youth Council’s membership is based on the offi cial 
national youth age of 12 to 24 and is drawn from the high 
schools and local community of Waitakere.

• youth of Waitakere are given a voice and 
 fairly represented
• provide a focus on youth and youth issues
• make sure that youth are celebrated and bring about 

change in the City that youth would like to see. 

Community Participation in Decision-Making

There are a number of mechanisms for residents and 
ratepayers to participate in the Council’s decision making. 
These include:

• making submissions on the Long Term Council 
Community Plan and Annual Plan

• submitting recommendations to the Council through 
public forums, submissions and representations for 
specifi c policies, strategies and plans

• direct contact with Elected Members.

There are a number of mechanisms for staff to make 
recommendations to Management and the Council to 
participate in organisation decision making. These include:

• through reports to the Council and Directors Group 
that provide professional recommendations on policy, 
programmes and activities

• the Chief Executive Offi cer’s principles for the organisational 
culture encourage staff to speak up and be heard

• through the PSA partnership in regards to employment 
and contract conditions.
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Risk Management
Legislative Compliance

As a regulatory body, the Council administers various 
regulations and laws. As such, it is vital that it also 
complies with all relevant legislation. The Council 
makes use of an internal solicitor and contracts external 
law fi rms with local government expertise to help it comply 
with applicable legislation. 

Councillors – Confl icts of Interest

There is a Code of Conduct for the Mayor and Councillors 
of Waitakere in accordance with the provisions of the Local 
Government Act 2002. The Code includes guidance on 
confl icts of interest.

A confl ict of interest is defi ned as arising when a person 
carries out a particular function with two or more interests 
in confl ict. In their capacity as members of the Council, a 
confl ict of interest exists when one of them has a private 
interest in a decision where they also have a public role 
as an elected member. In such a case the public role and 
private interest are in confl ict. The result can be a poor 
decision because their private concerns, that have nothing 
to do with the public duty, have infl uenced the decision. 
The purpose of this aspect of the Code is to emphasise 
the importance placed on high quality public decision 
making which enhances public confi dence. Councillors 
acknowledge the need to be vigilant in this respect. 
The Code of Conduct is available to the public through 
www.waitakere.govt.nz.

While the decision to disqualify themselves is ultimately 
a matter for each of them alone, they are encouraged 
to seek guidance and assistance from colleagues or the 
Chief Executive Offi cer. As a further resource the guidance 
contained in the following documents (and any subsequent 
updates or revisions) published by the Offi ce of the Auditor-
General are noted:

a. Good Practice Guide: Managing confl icts of interest 
– Guidance for Public Entities (June 2007)

b. Good Practice Guide: Guidance for members of 
local authorities about the law on confl icts of interest 
(June 2007)

The Councillors have agreed to take a precautionary 
approach to the way in which they manage all confl icts 
of interest.
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Waitakere City Council
Commitee Structure As at 30 June 2008

Council
Mayor Bob Harvey

Deputy Mayor PA Hulse

Emergency 
Services
Committee

Chairman: Cr DQ
Battersby, QSM, JP
Development
of policies and
programmes to
ensure that the
Council is ready
to respond to civil 
defence and other 
emergency
circumstances
(including rural 
fi re events) and 
that the Council 
is able to meet its 
obligations under 
the Civil Defence 
Emergency
Management
Act 2002.

NorSGA Urban
Development
Committee

Chairman: Cr LA
Cooper, JP
Oversight of all
matters related to 
the implementation 
of Plan Changes 
13-18, and the 
consideration and 
recommendation
of policies, 
strategies and 
agreements
with regard to 
the planning and 
development
in the Northern
Strategic Growth 
Area (NorSGA).

Planning and
Regulatory 
Committee

Chairman: Cr VS
Neeson, JP
Oversight of all
matters relating 
to the Council’s 
planning and 
regulatory functions 
and the development
of policies and
strategies in relation
to those functions.

Swimming Pool
Exemption

Subcommittee

Chairman: WW
Flaunty, QSM JP
The exercise of all
of the powers and

functions conferred
upon the Council
by the Fencing of
Swimming Pools 

Act 1987.

Kay Road Balefi ll
Site Management

Subcommittee
Chairman: PA Hulse

Oversight and monitoring
of aftercare management of 

the Kay Road Bale Fill
site in accordance with the 

Management Plan, ensuring
compliance with Auckland 

Regional Council standards.

Infrastructure
Works 
Committee

Chairman: Cr DQ
Battersby, QSM, JP
The monitoring
of performance
in relation to the
planning coordination
and implementation
of, all infrastructure
and development
works within the City.

Town Centres
Subcommittee

Chairman: Cr DQ
Battersby, QSM, JP

Oversight of all
matters related to

the implementation
of Plan Changes

13-18 as they relate
to the town centres

of Henderson and
New Lynn.

Policy and
Strategy 
Committee

Chairman: Cr PA Hulse
The development
of Council policies
and strategies
for the social,
economic, cultural
and environmental
well-being and for
the infrastructural
development of 
the City.

Culture and 
Community
Committee

Chairman: Cr JP
Lawley, JP

Planning and
monitoring for the

development of
community heritage,

arts (in the widest
sense of that word),

recreation and 
leisure within 

the City and the 
establishment

and running of City
wide events and

other related cultural
programmes.

Heritage Fund 
Allocation

Subcommittee

Chairman: Cr JP
Lawley, JP

Consideration and
recommendation

to the Culture
and Community

Committee of the
allocation of funding
from the City Wide

Heritage Fund.
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Henderson
Chairman: EAG

Grimmer, MNZM

Street Events 
Subcommittee –

Henderson Ward
Chairman: WS Bainbridge

Massey
Chairman: JG Riddell

Street Events
 Subcommittee –

Massey Ward
Chairman: AE Davies

New Lynn
Chairman: GPJ Marshall

Street Events
Subcommittee –
New Lynn Ward

Chairman: SL Taylor

Waitakere
Chairman: KJP

Witten-Hannah, JP
Street Events

Subcommittee –
Waitakere Ward

Chairman: EN Taylor

Community 
Boards

Finance and
Operational
Performance
Committee

Chairman: Cr RI Clow
Oversight of the
Council’s operations,
service delivery, 
tenders, procurement, 
and fi nancial 
management (including 
asset, cash, investment 
and debt management).
Monitoring compliance
with the Long Term
Council Community 
Plan/Annual Plan and 
budget implementation.

Tenders Subcommittee

Chairman: Cr RI Clow
Consideration and awarding of tenders
and contracts for the procurement 
of goods and services by the Council 
where the contract value exceeds the 
delegated authority of offi cers, or the 
particular contract is referred to
the subcommittee for a decision. 
Oversight and approval of the Council’s 
procurement processes and the 
recommendation of policies relating to
procurement to the Finance and 
Operational Performance Committee.Community 

Assistance Fund 
Allocation 

Subcommittee

Chairman: TBA
Consideration and 

recommendation to the 
Finance and Operational 
Performance Committee

of the allocation of funding 
from the City Wide 

Community Wellbeing 
Fund, Hall and Marae Fund, 

Youth Programme Fund, 
Accommodation

Assistance Fund and Fee 
Waivers Fund.

Creative Communities

Scheme Allocation Subcommittee

Chair: Cr AK Corban, OBE, JP
Consideration and recommendation
to the Finance and Operational
Performance Committee of the
allocation of funding from the 
Creative Communities Scheme.

Performance
Review Committee

Chairman: RA
Harvey, QSO, JP
Dealing with all
matters relating to
the employment
relationship between
the Council and the
Chief Executive
Offi  cer and monitoring
the performance of
the Chief Executive
Offi  cer in relation
to agreed key 
result areas.

Youth Council

Chairman: C Finlay
To provide the youth
of Waitakere with
a voice, through
positive activities
and accurate
representation.
Waitakere Youth
Council provides a
voice for the youth 
of the City and 
provides for input 
to Council decisions 
that will affect 
youth now and
in the future.

Te Taumata
Runanga

Chairman: W Paki, JP
Consideration of any
matter before the
Council in respect
of which Maori may
make a contribution 
to decision making 
and fostering the 
capacity of Maori 
to contribute to 
the Council’s decision 
making processes.

Hearing by
Commissioners

Chairman: VS
Neeson, JP
Hearings pursuant
to Resource
Management Act;
Building Matters; 
Sale of Liquor Act; 
Dog Control Act; 
Local Government 
Act; and Bylaws.

LONG TERM COUNCIL COMMUNITY PLAN AND ANNUAL PLAN COMMITTEE

Chair: Cr JM Clews, QSO, JP
Oversight of the preparation of and consultation upon the Long Term Council Community Plan (including 
associated policies) and Annual Plan, the making of amendments to those documents following consultation 
and recommendation of the amended documents to the Council for adoption.
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Henderson Ward

Massey Ward

New Lynn Ward

Waitakere Ward

Bob Harvey, QSO, JP

35a Ambler Avenue
Glen Eden
WAITAKERE 0600
Phone: 818 5629
Fax: 813 0372
bob.harvey@waitakere.govt.nz
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or
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Peter Chan, JP
20 Piriti Drive

Te Atatu Peninsula

WAITAKERE 0610

Phone: (09) 834 5638

Mobile: 0274 921 203

Fax: (09) 834 5648

peter.chan@waitakere.govt.nz

Linda Cooper, JP

41 Renoir Street
West Harbour
WAITAKERE 0618
Phone: (09) 416 7137
Mobile: 021 223 5258
linda.cooper@waitakere.govt.nz

Warren Flaunty, QSM, JP
86 Red Hills Road

RD 1

Henderson

WAITAKERE 0782

Phone: (09) 832 5685

Mobile: 021 223 5643

warren.fl  aunty@waitakere.govt.nz

Vanessa Neeson, JP
26 Wiseley Road

Hobsonville

WAITAKERE 0618

Phone: (09) 416 6452

Mobile: 021 281 0445

Fax: (09) 416 6452

vanessa.neeson@waitakere.govt.nz
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Brenda Brady, JP
PO Box 121 456

Henderson

WAITAKERE 0650

Phone: (09) 836 0798

Mobile: 027 564 0566

Fax: (09) 836 0734

brenda.brady@waitakere.govt.nz

Assid Corban, OBE, JP
314 Great North Road

Henderson

WAITAKERE 0612

Phone: (09) 838 8947

Fax: (09) 837 3103

assid.corban@waitakere.govt.nz

Ross Dallow, QPM, JP
90 Picasso Drive

West Harbour

WAITAKERE 0618

Phone: (09) 416 7610

Mobile: 021 770 267

ross.dallow@waitakere.govt.nz

Mike Jolley
7 Pittville Place

Henderson

WAITAKERE 0612

Phone: (09) 836 5464

Mobile: 0274 159 486

Fax: (09) 827 1767

mike.jolley@waitakere.govt.nz

Derek Battersby, JP
4 Pamela Place

New Lynn

WAITAKERE 0600

Phone: (09) 827 4152

Mobile: 021 599 672

derek.battersby@waitakere.govt.nz

Janet Clews, QSO, JP
11a Oates Road

Glen Eden

WAITAKERE 0602

Phone: (09) 818 7262

Mobile: 021 223 4774

Fax: (09) 818 7262

janet.clews@waitakere.govt.nz

Ross Clow
376 Titirangi Road

Titirangi

WAITAKERE 0604

Phone: (09) 817 8456

Mobile: 021 720 466

Fax: (09) 826 0571

ross.clow@waitakere.govt.nz

Judy Lawley, JP
Phone: (09) 837 7107

Mobile: 027 293 1747

judy.lawley@waitakere.govt.nz

Penny Hulse, Deputy Mayor
2a Parklands Avenue

Swanson

WAITAKERE 0612

Phone: (09) 832 5358

Mobile: 021 273 4663

Fax: (09) 832 5358

penny.hulse@waitakere.govt.nz

Paul Mitchell
198 Parker Road

Oratia

WAITAKERE 0604

Phone: (09) 818 6885

Mobile: 021 285 8978

Fax: (09) 818 6809

paul.mitchell@waitakere.govt.nz
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Waitakere City Council
Organisation Chart

Asset Management

Tony Miguel

EcoWater
Parks Assets
Transport Assets
Quarry
Property Assets

Consents

Michael Campbell

Consent Services

Planning & Community

Services

Philip Brown

Resource Mgt 
& Building
Parks Planning
Field Services
WestWave Centre

Service Management

Stephen Drumm

Business Support
Operations Support
Animal Welfare
Testing Station
Solid Waste

Acting: Max Wilde 

Animal Welfare 
Testing Station

Project Services

Alan Tresadern

Contracts & Quality
Roading Projects
Water Projects
Special Projects

Customer Services

Paul Tate

Call Centre
Counter Services
Key Account
Management Operations
Cemetery

Chief Executive Offi cer
Vijaya Vaidyanath

Director:
City Services

John Dragicevich

Director:
Strategic Planning

Graeme Campbell

Director:
Corporate and 

Business Services

Jaine Lovell-Gadd

Deputy Director:
Strategic Planning

Lesley Jenkins

Business Support

Vanessa Sherer

Strategic Governance

Catherine Taylor

Strategic Framework 

& Research

Maureen Crombie

Sustainable Management

Matt Heale

Urban Design 

& Development

Tim Watts

Transport Strategy

Kevin Wright

Environmental Strategy

Carol Bergquist

Economic Development 

Strategy

Steve Wilcox

Director:
Public Affairs

Wally Thomas

Communications

Glyn Walters

Offi ce of the Mayor

Alan Rodgers-Smith

City Arts

Naomi McCleary

Events & Special 

Projects

Barbara Cade

Communications 

Advisor

Fiona Cunningham

International 

Relationships

Richard Duncan

Community Engagement / 

Consultation

Nada Cottroll / Angela 

Penteado

Information Management

John Johnson

Assurance Services

Kingsha Changwai

Human Resources 

& Organisational 

Development

Jeff Dougal

Democracy & Support 

Services

Darryl Griffi n

Legal Services

Denis Sheard

Unit Coordination 

& Support

David Tait

Strategic Projects

Fraser Henderson
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Business & Financial

Services

Geoff Williams

Social & Cultural 

Strategy

Tony Rea

Library & Information 

Services

Su Scott

Emergency 

Management

Bill Morley

Leisure Services

Louis Rattray

Maori Relationships

Wayne Knox

Director:
Community Wellbeing

Sue Bidrose

Director:
Finance

Andrew Pollock

Rates

John MacKenzie

LTCCP and Annual 

Plan Finance Team

Associate Director: 
Finance

Steve Drumm

Executive 
Manager:
Ray Day

Deputy Director:
Finance

Khee Mee Soo

Financial Business 

Systems

Clive Crasto

Financial Planning 

& Reporting

Vacant

Financial Processes

Vacant

Financial Projects

Vacant

Infrastructure Funding

Vacant

Funds Management

Bruce Wilkin

Financial Transactions

John MacKenzie

Security

Brian Louden

Issues Resolution

Roger Wilson

Members Liaison

Jack Burton

Executive Support
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Hoani Waititi Marae 
Representative

Warahi Paki, JP (Chairman)
6 Blacklock Avenue
Henderson
Waitakere
Phone: 835 4738
Mobile: 027 577 5247

Te Piringatahi O 
Te Maungarongo
Representative

Wiremu Hetaraka
PO Box 180032
Luckens Point
West Harbour
Waitakere
Mobile: 021 733 578

Te Roopu Puawai O Waitakere 
Representative

Wiremu Ellis
38 Lynwood Road
Kelston
Waitakere
Phone: 827 9816 / 827 4859
Mobile: 027 328 3405

Te Runanga O Ngati Whatua 
Representative

Awa Hudson
66 Royal Road
Massey
Waitakere
Phone: 833 8434

Te Roopu Wahine Maori Toko 
i Te Ora Representative

June Mariu, JP
29 Tawa Street
Te Atatu Peninsula
Waitakere
Phone: 834 7473
Mobile: 021 636 115

Kakariki Marae 
Representative

Tom Watford
2/8 Cleve Road
Green Bay
Waitakere
Phone: 827 0434
Mobile: 027 474 7564

Te Atatu Representative

Mihi Te Huia
123 Taikata Road
Te Atatu Peninsula
waitakere
Phone: 834 6720

Te Roopu Kaumatua 
O Waipareira
Representative

Denis Hansen
3 Illana Place
Ranui
Waitakere
Phone: 832 4762
Mobile: 021 078 1904

Te Kawerau A Maki 
Representative

Te Warena Taua, MNZM
517 Oruarangi Road
Mangere
Auckland
Mobile: 021 620 486

Te Whanau O 
Waipareira Trust

Evelyn Taumaunu
12 Hamurana Place
Te Atatu Peninsula
Waitakere
Phone: 834 3377
Mobile: 021 044 1046

Te Taumata Runanga is a standing committee of the 
Council. The fi elds of activity of Te Taumata Runanga are 
to ensure Maori values are considered in the Council’s 
decision making; ensure that the Council can meet its 
obligations to the Tangata Whenua; ensure that the Council 
considers the needs of the Maori community in effective 
service provision; regularise communication between 
Maori and the Council and its committees, ensure that 

the Council is aware of and sensitive to issues of concern to 
the Tangata Whenua and local Maori people and to provide 
the Council with a structure to facilitate input into the 
Council’s decisions that have cultural signifi  cance to Maori 
people. A member of Te Taumata Runanga is appointed to 
the Policy and Strategy Committee to further enhance this 
input into the Council’s decision making process.

Te Taumata Runanga

Representatives
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Henderson

Community Boards are responsible for:

• local decision-making, assessing and responding to local 
needs, advocating on behalf of the community, input 
to the Council’s Annual Plan and long term planning, 
communication with community associations and special 
interest groups within the community

• overview of local road works, water and wastewater, 
stormwater, drainage, parks, recreational facilities, 

community activities, provision of community advisory 
services, libraries and community centres and traffi c 
management within the community

• allocation of funding for local community projects 
from the Community Wellbeing Fund

• decisions on matters specifi cally delegated by 
the Council.

Community Boards

Note: All addresses are in Waitakere

Elizabeth Grimmer,
MNZM (Chairman)
2/212 Te Atatu Road
Te Atatu South
Phone: 838 9327 (p&f)
Mobile: 027 204 6429
elizabeth.grimmer@
waitakere.govt.nz

Wayne Bainbridge
4 Sunrise Lane
Te Atatu South
Phone: 834 8908 (p)
Business: 834 6909 (b&f)
Mobile: 027 534 6909
wayne.bainbridge@
waitakere.govt.nz

Steve McDonald
14 Kaikoura Street
Henderson
Phone: 837 7893 (p&f)
Mobile: 027 647 7484
steve.mcdonald@
waitakere.govt.nz

Shirley Savage
2 Kokiri Street
Te Atatu South
Phone: 835 2561
shirley.savage@
waitakere.govt.nz

Leo Nobilo, JP
8 Covil Avenue
Te Atatu South
Phone: 834 3426
Mobile: 021 754 145
leo.nobilo@
waitakere.govt.nz
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Massey
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ar
dJohn Riddell (Chairman)

1-82 Luanda Drive
Ranui
Phone: 833 6972
Fax: 833 6973
Mobile: 0274 779 750
john.riddell@
waitakere.govt.nz

John Carrodus
14 Bannings Way
Hobsonville
Mobile: 021 897 497
john.carrodus@
waitakere.govt.nz

Allen Davies, JP
31 Moire Road
Massey
Phone: 833 7734
allen.davies@
waitakere.govt.nz

Brian Neeson
26 Wiseley Road
Hobsonville
Phone: 416 6452(p&f)
Mobile: 0226 133 642
brian.neeson@
waitakere.govt.nz

Judith Fletcher
10 Bernleigh Terrace
West Harbour
Phone: 416 3408
Mobile: 021 885 5125
Judith.fl  etcher@ 
waitakere.govt.nz
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Community Boards (continued)

New Lynn Waitakere
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dGayle Marshall (Chairman)
57 Woodglen Road
Glen Eden
Phone: 818 5707 (p&b)
Fax: 818 5782
Mobile: 021 244 1956
gayle.marshall@
waitakere.govt.nz

Wayne Davis
15b Margan Avenue
New Lynn
Phone: 826 5187
Mobile: 021 102 0079
wayne.davis@
waitakere.govt.nz

Tony Hartnett
177 Scenic Drive
Titirangi
Phone: 817 3082 (p&f)
Mobile: 027 6837112
tony.hartnett@
waitakere.govt.nz

Pim Van der Voort, JP
54 Huia Road
Titirangi
Phone: 817 8935 (p&f)
Mobile: 021 1844418
pim.vandervoort@
waitakere.govt.nz

Sandy Taylor, JP
61 Parker Rd
New Lynn
Phone: 827 1112
Fax: 416 2121
Mobile: 021 739 437
sandy.taylor@
waitakere.govt.nz

N
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ar
d Kubi Witten-Hannah, JP

(Chairman)
8 La Trobe Road
Karekare
Phone: 812 8851
Mobile: 027 248 0282
kubi.wittenhannah@
waitakere.govt.nz

Linda Davies
1073B Huia Road
Huia
Phone: 811 8789
Business: 815 4321 
ext 5073
Mobile: 021 241 5256
Linda.davies@
waitakere.govt.nz

Elizabeth Francke
80 Otitori Bay Road
Titirangi
Phone: 817 8130
elizabeth.francke@
waitakere.govt.nz

Evan Taylor
61 Parker Rd
New Lynn
Phone: 827 1112
Mobile: 0274 739 437
evan.taylor@
waitakere.govt.nz

Christine Shepherd, JP
31 Tirohunga Drive
Henderson
Phone: 836 3239 (p&f)
Mobile: 021 253 8116
christine.shepherd@
waitakere.govt.nz
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Council Controlled 
Organisations
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The Council has three subsidiaries which are Council 
Controlled Organisations. In accordance with Schedule 
10 of the Local Government Act 2002 the following 
information must be reported on for each Council 
Controlled Organisation:

Waitakere Enterprise Trust Board (WETB)

Extent to which the Council’s policies and objectives in 
regard to ownership and control of the organisation have 
been implemented

The Council considers that the Trust is meeting the 
objectives as outlined below: 

• Promote Waitakere as an attractive business location

• Partner the Council and Waitakere Properties Ltd 
to realise the economic opportunities presented by 
major projects

• Support the establishment and growth of business 
focusing in particular on high added value industries

• Focus on the skill needs of employers and initiate actions 
to help meet those needs

• Advocate the needs of the Waitakere economy

Nature and scope of its activities

Waitakere Enterprise Trust is a charitable trust subject to the 
provisions of the Charitable Trusts Act 1957. The Trust does 
not trade with the intention or purpose of making a profi t.

The Trust is considered to be a council-controlled 
organisation because the Council appoints its board of 
trustees and obtains the benefi ts of its activities. The 
objectives of the Trust are closely aligned with the Council’s 
community and economic development objectives. Key 
activities include providing advice to local businesses, 
facilitating and attracting investment to the City, 
employment training and employment placement schemes. 
The main sources of income for the Trust are the Council 
and the New Zealand Government. 

Introduction



Annual Report // Including Sustainability Report 2008/200983

Achievement of Key Performance Targets
Part One: Grow and Attract Businesses

Activity Performance Objective Actual Performance

New business start-ups.

Deliver the ‘Powerful Start’ 
new business start up 
information, workshop and 
coaching programme 

400 new business information enquiries 
serviced through BIZ programme 

90% “mystery shopper” satisfaction rating

75 complete new business workshop series 

The new businesses survival rate 
for the fi rst 12 months exceeds the 
national average 

Baseline one year turnover and FTE 
growth of participants established 

804 Biz enquiries

91% “mystery shopper” satisfaction rating

75 completed 4 of 4 new business 
start-up workshop series

Information not available

Information not available

Deliver Work and Income ‘Be 
your Own Boss’ programme 
to transition benefi ciaries to 
business or work

40 participants complete the programme 

100% of those that complete the 
programme produce approved business 
plans or back to work plans

50 clients completed 4 of 4 workshop series

100% completion – 60% with approved 
business plan and 40% with approved 
back to work plans

Run the West Auckland 
Region of the Young 
Enterprise Scheme

7 schools participate 
200 students participate 
25 new businesses established

5 schools participating in 2009 school year
235 students participating
34 YES companies established

Early stage business

Deliver New Zealand Trade 
and Enterprise’s Enterprise 
Training Programme to 
provide foundation business 
skills to early stage 
businesses

175 Waitakere businesses participate in 
the programme 

35 training workshops held in Waitakere

190 businesses with 213 individuals 
participated

60 training workshops held in Waitakere

Deliver ‘Business Mentors 
New Zealand’ mentoring 
programme

1 Maori Trustee Training programme 
delivered

75 matches made

Grade A provider status maintained

1 Maori Trustee Training programme 
completed plus 2 modules

106 matches made

Grade A attained

Accelerated growth business

Deliver the 2009 Waitakere 
Business Awards programme

75 entries

500 attend Gala Dinner event

$75,000 of unpaid/unsponsored 
media coverage

Baseline data for revenue, EBIT and FTE 
levels of participants established

58 entries received from 41 entrants

575 attendees

Media coverage at $145,000 in value

Baseline established
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Deliver a High Growth 
Programme of accelerated 
growth planning, advice and 
connection to joint ventures 
and/or venture capital to 
unlock growth potential

5 participants selected 

Baseline data for revenue, EBIT and FTE 
levels of participants established

7 participants selected

Baseline data established

Establish new business 
services for Waitakere 
growth businesses such 
as R&D Tax Credit Advice, 
advice on accessing central 
government business growth 
funding, a market analysis 
service and one-on-one 
strategic business advice

150 clients 

Baseline data for revenue, EBIT and FTE 
levels of clients established

Strategic one to one advice to 24 
businesses

2 businesses from Waitakere selected for 
regional Competitive Edge Programme

20 clients have received market 
analysis service

R&D Tax revoked by new government

Baseline data established

Deliver the New Zealand 
Trade and Enterprise 
Escalator Programme

20 participants 1 Escalator seminar delivered and 
attended by 16 participants

1 Technology NZ Seminar presented and 
attended by 12 participants

Deliver advanced level 
“Powerful Ideas for 
Business” seminars

8 Seminars delivered

Cumulative attendance of 125 participating 
individuals

90% satisfaction

7 ‘Powerful Ideas’ seminars delivered 
and attended by 84 participants with a 
satisfaction level of 97%

4 ‘Recession Buster’ panels delivered 
and attended by 80 participants with a 
satisfaction level of 99%

Business attraction, expansion and retention 

Deliver a business attraction 
service for businesses 
seeking to locate in 
Waitakere

50 clients facilitated 

20 businesses locate, expand or are 
retained in Waitakere using the service 

200 new jobs

61 clients facilitated

1 business located to Waitakere (40 
new jobs) and 2 businesses expanded 
(85 new jobs)

Current active client numbers yet to 
confi rm decisions are:
New business employees 340
Existing local businesses 850
21 active relationships with developers

Key client management 

Deliver the Waitakere ‘A-list’ 
Key Client Management 
Service in partnership 
with Council 

40 A-list clients 

100% of Waitakere’s A-list companies 
remain in Waitakere 

100% service level commitment on 
consents processing timeframes in 
accordance with the joint WE/WCC 
Service Level Agreement achieved 

80% client satisfaction

38 current clients

100% retained

98% service level commitments met

100% satisfaction - 78% very satisfi ed, 
22% satisfi ed
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Support Council’s ambitions 
for the Community Sector

5 enter the Waitakere Business Awards 

Board membership of Community 
Waitakere maintained 

Support provided to specifi c initiatives 
as agreed

4 entrants

Membership maintained

Nothing specifi ed

Business networks 

Sponsor, support, market and 
grow the Waitakere Business 
Club, Waitakere City 
Rotary State of the Nation 
and Business After 5 events

15 events per annum 

Total cumulative attendance 1,300 

Business Club membership exceeds 2,000

13 events held (2 breakfasts, 2 lunches, 
9 business after 5 events) 

Cumulative attendance of 1,993

Business club membership currently 
stands at 2,009

Deliver the West Women 
networking series

6 events held per annum
Total cumulative attendance 200

6 West Women network held attended 
by 268

Key industry support

Implement Council’s 
allocation to purchase 
services from Tourism 
Auckland

8 advertisers in ‘The Auckland Guide’ 

Membership of Study Auckland 
maintained

Council funding allocation removed during 
Annual Plan deliberations therefore 
Auckland guide advertising not subsidised 
and Study Auckland membership 
not retained.

Maintain Destination 
Waitakere website

135 businesses featured 153 businesses featured

Deliver a key client fi lming 
permit service

150 fi lming permits 
95% processed within 48 hours

125 fi lming permits
95% processed within 48 hours

Sustainable business

Develop Waitakere 
Enterprise as a leader in 
sustainable practice

The impact of WE’s activities be 
carbon zero 

Sustainable Action Plan performance 
objectives met or exceeded

Investigating carbon calculators to 
establish what further actions needs 
to be taken

Not measured

Mainstream sustainable 
business practice advocacy 
and advice into WE’s services

A sustainable practice component to all 
Business Awards categories 

All business advisory trained in sustainable 
business practice

Actively support the Sustainable Business 
Network 

Investigate the feasibility of sustainable 
consumer information to be incorporated 
into the Target Your Market service 

Sustainable business a priority sector 
under the Investment Facilitation service 

Actioned and included in 2009 entry form

All business trainers attended the 
Sustainable Business Course

Ongoing, membership of SBN Northern 
Region Board maintained

Consumer Who Cares data purchased and 
used in the Target Your Market service

Ongoing
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Part Two: Skilled and productive labour force

Activity Performance Objective Actual Performance

Foundation skills

Deliver foundation skills youth 
and ESOL programmes 

80% average occupancy of 39 places and 
60% achievement of positive destination 
outcomes for youth training

80% average occupancy of 59 places and 
60% achievement of positive destination 
outcomes for ESOL training 

10 places for Alternative Education 
secondary school students

Maori and Pacifi c Youth exceeds 50%

81% occupancy for 2008 academic year 
with 52% positive destination outcomes

94% occupancy for 2008 academic year 
with 72% positive outcomes for 2008

97% average occupancy for 2008

Maori youth 33%, Pacifi c youth 28% for 
the 2008 academic year

Deliver adult numeracy and 
literacy based programme

100% average occupancy of 30 adult 
literacy places 

100% occupancy for FLP programmes for 
2008 with a throughput of 41 students. 
Delivered 1 commercial workplace 
literacy programme and commenced a 20 
business contract with ESITO

Deliver ESOL after school 
programmes 

An average of 20 enrolments An average of 6 enrolments in 2008. 
Programme cancelled.

Establish an International 
Computer Drivers Licence 
IT literacy programme

50 participants Programme not established due to product 
concerns

Foundation skills

Implement the ‘IT Compass’ 
IT diagnostic and advisory tool

60 businesses 

25 community organisations and 10 
schools participate in testing

Project completed with total of 136 
registered participants (84 businesses, 36 
not for profi t organisations, 16 education 
organisations) ICT compass tool remains 
open for use as ongoing data collection

Post-school transition 

Implement the CONNECT 
Waitakere programme

DVD, website and teaching resource 
integrated into the curriculum of 5 
secondary schools

DVD, website and teaching resource 
available as resource in all Waitakere 
Secondary schools, public libraries and CABs

Implement the Gateway 
programme in partnership with 
Waitakere Secondary Schools

400 students participate 

Average unit standard achievement 
exceeds the national average of 16

387 students participating in 481 
placements in 2008 school year

Average unit standard achievement 
of 22 attained
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Support and champion the 
Waitakere Youth Transition 
Service

Membership of the Steering Group and 
Advisory Group maintained

Membership of the Steering Group and 
Advisory Group maintained until groups 
were changed

Educational achievement and alignment

Support and champion the 
Waitakere Education Sector 
Trust and implementation of 
the Waitakere Learning Plan

Membership of the Waitakere Education 
Sector Trust

Membership attained

Support and champion 
the expansion of Unitec 
in Waitakere including 
advocating for a multi-provider 
trade and technology Campus

90% satisfaction from key Unitec staff Not measured due to Unitec restructure 
resulting in staff changes

Present key economic trends 
and futures to Waitakere 
Secondary School Principals, 
advocating the educational 
needs of the City

One presentation delivered per annum One presentation delivered to Hui Taumata

Provide a leadership role to the 
local PTE network, advocating 
alignment and relevance

Chair role of ESOL providers network 
maintained 

Youth providers network established

Maintained

Established

Conduct an annual industry 
training and apprentice 
graduation for Waitakere

85 graduates celebrated Graduation cancelled by agreement 
with Council
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Waitakere City Holdings Limited (WCHL)

Extent to which Council’s policies and objectives in regard 
to ownership and control of the organisation have 
been implemented

Council considers that the Company is meeting the 
objectives as outlined below: 

• To ensure that each subsidiary company operates 
economically and effi ciently and in accordance with an 
agreed Statement of Intent and to optimise the returns 
- both fi nancial and non-fi nancial - and the value of the 
subsidiary companies within the parameters set by 
Council.

• To keep Council informed of matters of substance 
affecting WCHL and the subsidiary companies and, 
insofar as it is practical and reasonable in the opinion of 
the directors, provide the opportunity for comment on 
such matters prior to taking any action.

• To ensure that there is regular and informative reporting 
of the fi nancial and non-fi nancial performance and risk 
exposures of WCHL and the subsidiary companies.

• To advise the Council on establishment opportunities for 
council-controlled organisations.

• To act as a responsible corporate citizen, including being 
a good employer.

• To maintain and improve good governance by regularly 
and constructively appraising the performance of the 
subsidiary company directorates and maintaining an 
appropriate monitoring framework.

Nature and scope of its activities

Waitakere City Holdings Limited is a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Council. WCHL wholly owns, directs 
and monitors the activities of its subsidiary, Waitakere 
Properties Limited. The main purpose of WCHL is to ensure 
effi cient and economical operations of the Council’s trading 
subsidiaries and to advise the Council on opportunities in 
respect of its subsidiary operations and the formation 
of new subsidiaries. 
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Achievement of Key Performance Targets

Objective Performance Target Result

Governance of council-owned entities with accountability to the community

Ensure that the fi nancial 
targets and strategic direction 
of WCHL are in line with the 
requirements of Waitakere 
City Council.

A draft 2009/2010 SOI for the holding 
company and the draft SOIs of its 
subsidiaries will be submitted no later than 
1 March 2009.

Draft 2009/2010 SOI submitted prior to 
1 March 2009.

Ensure that Waitakere City 
Council is kept informed of all 
signifi cant matters relating to 
its subsidiaries.

Quarterly reports to the Finance and 
Operational Performance Committee 
of Council.

Major matters of urgency are reported to 
the Chair of the Finance and Operational 
Performance Committee of Council and 
Council’s Chief Executive jointly on a “no 
surprises” basis with formal reporting 
undertaken as soon as practical on the 
Board concluding its investigations and 
being in a position to report.

Quarterly reports were submitted to 
Council’s Finance and Operational 
Performance Committee.

All matters of urgency were reported to 
the Chair of the Finance and Operational 
Performance Committee within an 
appropriated timeframe.

Ensure that WCHL directors 
add value to the company 
and that their conduct 
is according to generally 
accepted standards.

A formal evaluation of the WCHL 
governance structures and directorate 
completed in conjunction with Council 
by June 2009.

The governance review undertaken by the 
Council included changes to the structure 
and the Board and the introduction of a 
Charter and was completed by June 2009.

Ensure that WCHL’s 
procedures for the 
recommendation of Directors 
for appointment to subsidiary 
directorates are open and in 
accordance with written policy.

That a Directors Policy be agreed with 
Council’s Finance and Operational 
Performance Committee and the adopted 
policy be followed for any further director 
appointments made.

A revised policy on the appointment and 
remuneration of Directors was adopted by 
the Council.

Ensure timely advice to 
Council’s Finance and 
Operational Performance 
Committee and Chief 
Executive on the 
performance of the Boards of 
the respective activities.

Undertake an annual evaluation of the 
Holding Company, in conjunction with 
Council offi cers, of the respective Boards.

Completed as part of the governance 
review.
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Objective Performance Target Result

Financial return or contribution to council’s overall budget

Ensure that WCHL returns 
a dividend to Waitakere City 
Council in accordance with 
the Council’s budgets and 
meets other fi nancial targets.

No dividend is anticipated to be made to 
the Waitakere City Council over the next 
3 years.
2008/2009 Nil
2009/2010 Nil
2010/2011 Nil

No income received from subsidiary 
therefore no return made to Waitakere 
City Council.

Ensure that the subsidiary 
companies return a minimum 
acceptable dividend.

WCHL is not anticipating receiving any 
income from subsidiaries over the next 
3 years
2008/2009 Nil
2009/2010 Nil
2010/2011 Nil

No income received from subsidiary.

Ensuring subsidiaries deliver on council’s strategic goals

Ensure that the subsidiaries 
have in place planning for 
the future.

Completion in conjunction with Council 
of a strategic directions document for the 
Group by 30 June 2009.

Alignment of the SOIs with Council’s 
strategic direction undertaken and 
completed by 30 June 2009.

Ensure that the subsidiary 
companies draft SOIs are 
received by WCHL and 
forwarded to the Council by 
statutory deadline.

Draft 2009/2010 SOIs are to be received 
by WCHL and forwarded to the Council by 
1 March 2009.

Draft 2009/2010 SOI for the subsidiary 
company was reviewed by WCHL and 
forwarded to the Council prior to 
1 March 2009.

Ensure that the fi nal 
subsidiary company SOIs 
are appropriate, measurable, 
attainable and timely.

Review subsidiary SOIs with comments 
back to respective subsidiaries within 60 
day statutory time frame.

Subsidiary SOIs reviewed within the 60 
day timeframe

Ensure that the fi nal 
subsidiary company SOIs 
are strategically aligned 
documents, while also being 
compatible with the strategic 
aims of Council.

WCHL will direct the subsidiary companies 
to produce strategically aligned draft 
2009/2010 SOIs.

WCHL will assess the alignment of the 
SOIs with any specifi cally notifi ed Council 
strategic directives.

Objectives of subsidiaries developed, 
in conjunction with Council and Council 
offi cers, to be aligned with appropriate 
Council strategic platforms

Comments back to subsidiaries within 60 
day statutory time frame.

The draft SOIs of the subsidiary company 
was reviewed by WCHL for appropriate 
alignment to Council strategic directives 
and platforms. Comments were received 
back and included in the fi nal documents 
before being returned to Council for formal 
adoption. Subsidiary SOIs reviewed within 
the 60 day timeframe.
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Ensure that subsidiary 
company reporting is relevant 
and timely.

Subsidiary company SOIs to incorporate 
specifi c reporting requirements, including 
quarterly reporting of performance.

Specifi c reporting requirements, including 
the requirement for quarterly performance 
reports, were incorporated in the 
Subsidiary Company’s SOIs.

Ensure that there are 
adequate processes for 
the identifi cation, assessment 
and management of the 
risk exposures of the 
subsidiary companies.

Subsidiary company SOIs to incorporate 
specifi c statements regarding the 
processes for the management of 
risk exposures.

A statement regarding the process 
for the management of risk exposure 
was included in the Subsidiary 
Company’s SOIs.

Objective Performance Target Result

Supporting enterprise waitakere’s contribution to a strong innovative economy

Oversee the operations of 
the Board of Trustees of 
Enterprise Waitakere.

WCHL will meet at least twice over the 
course of each fi nancial year with the 
Board of Trustees to receive a formal 
update on operations.

The Board Chairperson of WCHL is also 
the Board Chairperson of Waitakere 
Enterprise Trust and in that capacity 
attends all Trust Board meetings. Formal 
updates on the Trusts performance are 
also presented to each meeting of the 
WCHL Board.
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Waitakere Properties Limited (WPL)

Extent to which Council’s policies and objectives in 
regard to ownership and control of the organisation have 
been implemented

The Council considers that the Company is meeting the 
objectives as outlined below: 

• As a Council-Controlled Trading Organisation, the 
principal objectives of the Company are stated 
in section 59 of the Local Government Act 2002, 
specifi cally:

• To achieve the objectives of its shareholders, both 
commercial and non-commercial, as specifi ed in the 
Statement of Intent

• To be a good employer

• To exhibit a sense of social and environmental 
responsibility by having regard to the interests of the 
community in which it operates

• To conduct its affairs in accordance with sound 
business practice

The Directors intend the Company to operate as a 
successful business, recognising that the services are 
provided in a competitive environment. As a provider of 
such services it believes it has obligations that apply to a 
company operating in a competitive environment:

• To maintain such systems and procedures as 
necessary for the prudent and successful operation 
of the Company

• To achieve rates of return similar to other comparable 
development companies, or to identify the cost of 
activities not undertaken on a strictly commercial basis

• To exercise opportunities that add value to the 
Company and/or further the Company’s objectives

• To build the value of the Waitakere Properties 
Limited brand

• To manage the risks associated with the Company’s 
operations prudently

The Company will aim to maximise the value of the 
Company and therefore the value of the Shareholder’s 
investment, by: 

• Anticipating and meeting the customer’s needs

• Ensuring developments are of consistently high quality

• Providing customers with value for money

• Undertaking or encouraging development in a manner 
consistent with strategic City objectives

• Pursuing opportunities that advance the strategic
City objectives

The above represent the general values and objectives 
of the Company. Specifi c objectives relating to each 
property or project may be consistent with any concept 
plan approved by resolution of the Council or any Letter of 
Direction specifi c to that property/project or set out within 
the Declaration of Trust.

Nature and Scope of its Activities

Waitakere Properties Limited develops and manages 
council-owned properties under a formal trust deed 
arrangement. As at 30 June 2009, the company administers 
eight properties under this trust deed arrangement. The 
combined book value of these properties as at 30 June 
2009 is $26.3m.

Details of each property are outlined below:

Waitakere Central (BV $12.8m) – The company continued to 
seek tenants for an additional offi ce building. Central One, 
totalling 2,385m2 of leasable offi ce and retail space, was 
completed and remains fully tenanted on the offi ce space 
front with 90% of the retail space leased.

Hobsonville (BV $6.05m) - Council acquired 12ha at 
Hobsonville and rezoned it for marine use under a plan 
change. WPL has designed an integrated marine precinct 
and is in the process of securing all consents required 
for development. In addition it is seeking expressions of 
interest from the marine industry.
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Totara Avenue Shops (BV$1.94m) - These shops are being 
managed for eventual redevelopment once the rail under-
grounding is complete. 

Keeling Road (BV$3.68m) - The civil works were completed 
and title issued in 2009 allowing settlement of the sold 
properties to occur.

Ambrico Place, New Lynn (BV$0.6m) - The residual 
landholding is being held pending the completion of the 
under grounding in New Lynn.

Godley Road, Greenbay (BV 0.4m) - Efforts are continuing 
to be made to acquire an adjoining property to establish a 
redevelopment site for older adult housing.

Hugh Brown Car Park, New Lynn (BV$0.8m) - Development 
plans were put on hold pending the under grounding 
of the rail line and the acquisition of the Totara Avenue 
development opportunity.

Great North Road (BV$0.0) – A site given to the company 
to extract commercial value from now the Council has 
demolished the heritage building on the site (which 
was why Council bought it). Development plans for a 
childcare underway.

Other Activities – During the year WPL was active in 
providing advice on the older adult housing development 
at Wilsher Village.

During the 2008/2009 fi nancial year, the following 
distributions were made from the trust accounts: Totara 
Avenue, $134,800 (interest payment); Keeling Road, 
$505,534 (interest payment); Waitakere Central, $206,364 
(interest payment); and Keeling Road, $1,000,000 
(principal payment).
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Item Performance Measure Performance

Governance Hold regular meetings of the Board •
of Directors

Provide audited fi nancial statements and •
an operations report to the Shareholder by 
30 September 2009

Provide unaudited accounts and summary of •
operations

Provide a draft Statement of Corporate Intent •
to the Shareholder for approval

Provide Business Plan to Shareholder•

Provide quarterly reports •
to the Shareholder

Ten ordinary meetings of the Board were held•

Provided by 30 September 2009•

Draft report on operations and draft • fi nancial 
statements for 2009 provided in September 2009

Draft Statement of Intent provided to Council in •
February 2009 and approved in June 2009

Provided•

Quarterly reports provided as required•

Governance as 
Trustee

Agree appropriate requirements for Trust •
project outcomes with Council

Financial returns for Trust projects shall be •
consistent with market expected returns 
unless Council agrees to another rationale for 
the project

The terms of the Declaration of Trust for •
each project will be agreed with the Council 
concurrently with the Company accepting 
responsibility for control and development 
activities for such landholding

Adherence to the terms and conditions of any •
Letter of Direction which may be given by 
Council from time to time in relation to any 
landholding, including in relation to commercial 
or environmental concerns, strategic 
outcomes and project fi nancial distributions

Report to the Council progress in relation to •
each landholding held under Declaration of Trust 
simultaneously with the statutory requirements 
to report on operations

Properties acquired under Declaration •
of Trust are the subject of agreement 
with Council and/or subject to further Council 
approval as to specifi c development requirements

Current trust projects are being •
developed over several years and they are 
managed and assessed using normal market 
parameters

N/A•

No Letters of Direction were received for the year•

The Company provided a ‘Report on Operations’ •
for the year ended 30 June 2008 in September 
2008 and for the half year ended 31 December 
2008, in February 2009, updating progress in 
relation to each landholding held pursuant to a 
Declaration of Trust

Commercial 
Return

To achieve (budgeted) revenue •
and costs.

Target Net Profi t After Tax of breakeven•

Revenue of $1,790,971 •

Expenditure of $1,789,588 •

Net Profi t after Tax of $400•
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Governance

The governance of council-controlled organisations is 
primarily effected through the Finance and Operational 
Performance Committee. 

Statement of Intent – Council Controlled Organisations

The Council has received and approved the 2009/2010 
Statements of Intent from Waitakere City Holdings Limited, 
Waitakere Properties Limited and the Waitakere Enterprise 
Trust. Full copies of the Statements of Intent can be 
obtained from the Council’s Call Centre (09) 839 0400.

Council Organisations Appointments

As required by legislation, the Council has adopted a policy 
on the appointment of directors to council organisations.

Council organisations fall under three broad categories: (a) 
those controlled solely by this Council (b) those controlled 
on a regional basis (c) and those organisations not 
controlled by the Council, where the Council either has a 
minority shareholding or the ability to appoint one or more 
members to the governing body.

Key features of the Council’s policy include:

identifi cation of knowledge, skills and experience relevant •
to the entity

consideration of existing mix of skills and experience •
on the board

annual review of board performance•

appointment on merit rather than representation•

reference to governance best practice as promulgated by •
the Institute of Directors, Offi ce of the Auditor General 
and other relevant material

use of independent advice where required•

Where council organisations are controlled on a regional 
basis with other local authorities, governance requirements 
are established by way of shareholder agreements 
or equivalent documents and in the absence of such 

agreements, the Council will abide by its current policy as 
the minimum standard.

The performance expectations of all council organisations, 
whether controlled or not, are established through 
documents such as statements of intent or equivalent 
performance agreements. Council-controlled organisations 
are required to report quarterly to the Council.

Other Shareholdings

The Council also has the following shareholdings, but does 
not have benefi ts of control.

Watercare Services Limited

The Local Government Amendment Act 1998 vested 
in the Council a 16.6% shareholding in Watercare Services 
Limited. The Act specifi es that Watercare’s shareholders 
must retain their shares and that Watercare must not 
pay any dividend. Watercare Services Limited supplies 
bulk water and wastewater services primarily to local 
government and its trading enterprises in the 
Auckland region.

Auckland Regional Transport Network Limited

Auckland Regional Transport Network Limited (ARTNL) 
was established in July 2001 by six of the territorial local 
authorities in the Auckland Region for the purposes of 
managing certain transport assets. The shareholders have 
now resolved to transfer responsibility for the management 
ARTNL’s net assets to the Auckland Regional Transport 
Authority (ARTA) at nil consideration. Once these assets are 
transferred the Company will be wound up.

Prime West Limited

This is a recently established company which will own the 
assets of the Henderson Valley Film Studios. Council has a 
44% shareholding in this company with the balance held by 
an unrelated third party. 

Prime West Management Limited

Waitakere Properties Limited has a 40% interest in 
Prime West Management Limited and its reporting date 
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is as at 30 June 2009. The business of the Company is 
property management. This company is insolvent and the 
investment has been written down to nil.

North West Auckland Airport Limited

Waitakere City Council, North Shore City Council and 
Rodney District Council own 25% of the share in this 
company with the balance held by an unrelated third party. 
The company is essentially inactive at the present time 
awaiting a decision by Central Government on the future of 
the Whenuapai Air Base.

The New Zealand Local Government Insurance 

Corporation Limited

The Council has a 1% shareholding in New Zealand Local 
Government Insurance Corporation Limited, a company that 
provides risk fi nancing products to local government and its 
trading enterprises in New Zealand.





Annual Report // Including Sustainability Report 2008/2009 98
P

a
rt T

w
o
 // G

o
v
ern

a
n

ce

Compliance

The Council and management of Waitakere City Council 
confi rm that all statutory requirements of the Local 
Government Act 2002 have been complied with.

Responsibility

The Council and management of Waitakere City Council 
accept responsibility for the preparation of the annual 
fi nancial statements and the judgements used in them.

The Council and management of Waitakere City Council 
accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining 
a system of internal control designed to provide 
reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability 
of fi nancial reporting.

In the opinion of the Council and management 
of Waitakere City Council, the annual fi nancial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2009 fairly 
refl ect the fi nancial position and operations of 
Waitakere City Council.

Mayor
Bob Harvey 
28 October 2009

Chief Executive Offi cer 
Vijaya Vaidyanath 
28 October 2009

Associate Director: Finance
Stephen Drumm
28 October 2009

Statement of 
Compliance and Responsibility
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Cost of Services Statements 
by Strategic Platform
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Urban & Rural Villages
Nga kainga taone, tuawhenua

The Vision: Town Centres are thriving places, providing exciting options for people to live, work and play.
Public facilities, places and spaces teem with people; the streets are alive and busy.

Cost of Services Statement
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

Activity Revenue

City Development  (25)  -  (10)

Consents, Compliance & Enforcement - Resource Management  (15)  (30)  (19)

Consents, Compliance & Enforcement - Consent Services  (9,722)  (11,341)  (10,485)

Cemetery  (1,585)  (1,907)  (1,279)

City Heritage  (229)  (275)  (310)

Community Facilities Property  (212)  (91)  (168)

Consents, Compliance & Enforcement - Field Services Parking Enforcement  (4,370)  (4,002)  (4,077)

Parks, Streetscape and Town Centres  (154)  (120)  (93)

Parks Planning  (79)  (116)  (24)

Leisure  (391)  (367)  (337)

Total  (16,782)  (18,249)  (16,802)



Annual Report // Including Sustainability Report 2008/2009101

Urban & Rural Villages continued

Cost of Services Statement
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

Activity Costs

City Development  1,023  1,140  763 

Strategic Projects  1,018  1,428  1,092 

District Plan  121  270  217 

Consents, Compliance & Enforcement – Resource Management  1,040  1,235  1,146 

Consents, Compliance & Enforcement – Consent Services  10,197  11,326  10,297 

Cemetery  1,254  1,336  1,443 

City Heritage  919  585  578 

Community Facilities Property  1,176  629  574 

Consents, Compliance & Enforcement – Field Services Parking Enforcement  2,336  2,256  2,279 

Parks, Streetscape and Town Centre Maintenance  6,962  5,016  5,313 

Parks Planning  643  1,558  814 

Leisure  2,075  1,760  4,041 

Total  28,764  28,539  28,557 
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Cost of Services Statement
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

Indirect Costs & Allocations

Unit Administration  2,745  2,553  2,494 

Leisure Depreciation  29  -  - 

Cemetery Depreciation  227  235  226 

Parks, Streetscape and Town Centres Depreciation  4,729  4,361  3,487 

City Heritage Depreciation  -  164  110 

Consents, Compliance & Enforcement - Consent Services Depreciation  4  4  6 

Community Facilities Property Depreciation  975  971  903 

Depreciation Allocated from Overheads  1,415  1,071  1,425 

Parks Interest  2,860  2,860  2,331 

Interest Allocated from Overheads  564  457  414 

Other Allocated Overheads  2,225  2,626  3,110 

Total Indirect Costs & Allocations  15,773  15,302  14,506 

Total Cost of Services  44,537  43,841  43,063 

Net Cost of Services Funded from Rates & Other Revenue  27,755  25,592  26,261 

Capital Expenditure

City Development 1,394 2,100 1,057

Strategic Projects 11,505 65,703 7,731

Consents, Compliance & Enforcement - Field Services Parking Enforcement 15 18 -

Cemetery 1,487 2,017 1,350

Property 9 319 371

Parks, Streetscape and Town Centre Maintenance 6,811 25,478 7,346

Parks Planning 257 877 273

Leisure 888 8,665 7,604

Total Capital Expenditure 22,366 105,177 25,732

Funded by:

Loan 15,073 94,953 18,804

Depreciation Reserve 2,613 3,906 4,666

Previous Years’ Surplus 1,150 1,150 416

Special Funds 92 110 160

Development Contributions & Financial Contributions 3,438 5,058 1,686

Total 22,366 105,177 25,732
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Integrated Transport & Communication
Te Whakaurunga Waka Te Whakawhiti korero

The Vision: Public transport and communication systems provide fast, effective services to the whole city.
Transport systems are integrated, innovative and environmentally responsible.

Cost of Services Statement
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

Activity Revenue

Transport & Roads Strategy  -  -  (361)

Transport & Roads Maintenance  (6,491)  (5,579)  (4,953)

Total  (6,491)  (5,579)  (5,314)

Activity Costs

Transport & Roads Strategy (41) 216 128

Transport & Roads Maintenance 10,697 11,468 9,692

Total 10,656 11,684 9,820

Indirect Costs & Allocations

Unit Administration  1,055  988  971 

Depreciation Allocated from Overheads  527  502  528 

Transport Assets Depreciation  11,715  11,422  11,426 

Interest Allocated from Overheads  208  186  142 

Transport Assets Interest  10,597  10,597  8,640 

Other Allocated Overheads 825  1,069  1,069 

Total Indirect Costs & Allocations  24,927  24,764  22,776 

Total Cost of Services  35,583  36,448  32,596 

Net Cost of Services Funded from Rates & Other Revenue 29,092  30,869  27,282 

Capital Expenditure

Transport & Roads  44,992  130,114  39,612 

Total Capital Expenditure  44,992  130,114  39,612 

Funded as Follows:

Loan  18,840  72,334  27,854 

Transfund & Other Subsidies  11,131  42,942  - 

Development Contributions & Financial Contributions  1,603  3,418  1,398 

Depreciation Reserve 13,418  11,420  10,039 

Previous Years' Surplus  -  -  321 

Total  44,992  130,114  39,612 
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Strong Innovative Economy
He tupuranga kaha ihi wana

The Vision: Waitakere is a place of innovative economic activities, providing local quality work and development 
options for its people. Environmentally responsible businesses are supported and fl ourishing.

Cost of Services Statement
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

Activity Revenue

Policy Development & Planning  -  -  (85)

Total  -  -  (85)

Activity Costs

Economic Initiatives  138  79  137 

Strategic Projects  659  763  883 

City Development  -  -  6 

City Promotion  778  735  844 

Policy Development & Planning  1,472  1,452  1,344 

Total  3,047  3,029  3,214 

Indirect Costs & Allocations

Unit Administration  1,077  988  979 

Depreciation Allocated from Overheads 151  131  173 

Interest Allocated from Overheads  59  48  47 

Other Allocated Overheads  236  277  350 

Total Indirect Costs & Allocations  1,523  1,444  1,549 

Total Cost of Services  4,570  4,473  4,763 

Net Cost of Services Funded from Rates & Other Revenue  4,570  4,473  4,678 
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Strong Communities
He iwi kaha

The Vision: People are active, informed, healthy and content. They feel safe and there is a strong sense 
of community. Our city is a great place for children. We enjoy our diversity of lifestyles and people. 

Cost of Services Statement
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

Activity Revenue

Arts & Culture  (3)  (155)  (214)

Emergency Management  (56)  (24)  (88)

Libraries  (699)  (378)  (575)

Partnerships  (1,644)  (739)  (1,107)

Westwave Aquatic Centre  (5,497)  (4,855)  (4,851)

Consents, Compliance & Enforcement – Consent Services Health & Other Licences  (587)  (765)  (661)

Leisure  (166)  (106)  13 

Animal Welfare  (1,321)  (1,261)  (1,414)

Housing for Older Adults  (1,120)  (1,180)  (1,051)

Total  (11,093)  (9,463)  (9,948)

Activity Costs

Maori Relationships  220  216  180 

City Development  -  -  55 

Arts & Culture  2,875  3,154  3,035 

Emergency Management  1,112  1,129  1,058 

Libraries  9,079  9,147  8,491 

Partnerships  959  1,302  775 

Policy Development & Planning  1,005  1,174  701 

Westwave Aquatic Centre  5,296  5,214  4,791 

Consents, Compliance & Enforcement – Consent Services Health & Other Licences  1,428  1,611  1,579 

Leisure  1,018  917  866 

Animal Welfare  2,057  1,988  2,165 

Housing for Older Adults  932  772  1,042 

Total  25,981  26,624  24,738 
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Cost of Services Statement
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

Indirect Costs & Allocations

Unit Administration  1,583  1,507  1,498 

Westwave Aquatic Centre Depreciation  1,615  1,666  1,632 

Arts & Culture Depreciation  -  10  - 

Libraries Depreciation  2,624  2,654  1,903 

Animal Welfare Depreciation  46  46  46 

Housing for Older Adults Depreciation  540  386  403 

Emergency Services Depreciation  169  85  37 

Depreciation Allocated from Overheads  1,299  1,141  1,329 

Interest Allocated from Overheads  547  456  358 

Other Allocated Overheads  2,012  2,437  2,694 

Total Indirect Costs & Allocations  10,435  10,388  9,900 

Total Cost of Services  36,416  37,012  34,638 

Net Cost of Services Funded from Rates & Other Revenue  25,323  27,549  24,690 

Capital Expenditure

Arts & Culture  107  5,755  149 

Emergency Management  41  70  1,259 

Libraries  1,535  6,737  2,120 

Animal Welfare  116  320  - 

Westwave Aquatic Centre  198  382  517 

Housing for Older Adults  2,076  3,308  2,780 

Total Capital Expenditure  4,073  16,572  6,825 

Funded by:

Loan  1,731  12,698  4,233 

Other External Recoveries  749  1,500  1,501 

Depreciation Reserve  1,469  2,024  991 

Development Contributions & Financial Contributions  124  350  100 

Total  4,073  16,572  6,825 
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Active Democracy
He tikanga pai ki ta te iwi e hiahia ana

The Vision: People feel that they can make a difference. There are high levels of community participation 
and respect for each other’s views.

Cost of Services Statement
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

Activity Revenue

Meetings, Elections & Civic Functions  (48)  (30)  (321)

Total  (48)  (30)  (321)

Activity Costs

Risk Management  (3)  -  15 

Maori Relationships  279  318  264 

Communications  1,305  1,548  1,376 

Meetings, Elections & Civic Functions  1,648  1,657  2,317 

Councillors  1,322  1,280  1,219 

Community Boards  331  351  329 

Te Taumata Runanga  46  46  39 

Annual & Long Term Plans  1,357  957  924 

Information & Support for Elected Members  1,385  895  1,260 

Information & Support for Elected Members - Leisure  57  55  58 

Information & Support for Elected Members - Transport & Roads  98  79  61 

Information & Support for Elected Members - Parks  108  68  79 

Information & Support for Elected Members - Parks Planning  44  35  50 

Information & Support for Elected Members - Consent Services  20  20  20 

Information & Support for Elected Members - Field Services  89  90  85 

Information & Support for Elected Members - Resource Management  20  20  20 

Policy Development & Planning  314  440  199 

Total  8,420  7,859  8,315 

Indirect Costs & Allocations

Unit Administration  2,191  2,191  2,183 

Depreciation Allocated from Overheads  420  341  448 

Interest Allocated from Overheads 164  125  120 

Other Allocated Overheads  652  719  905 

Total Indirect Costs & Allocations  3,427  3,376  3,656 

Total Cost of Services  11,847  11,235  11,971 

Net Cost of Services Funded from Rates & Other Revenue  11,799  11,205  11,650 
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Green Network
He tuituitanga kakariki

The Vision: The Waitakere Ranges will be permanently protected. There will be a network of bush and trees, from 
the Ranges, through town centres and suburbs, to the coasts, bringing the natural world into people’s 
everyday lives and fi lling the streams and forests with life.

Cost of Services Statement
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

Activity Revenue

Consents, Compliance & Enforcement - Field Services Compliance & Enforcement  (841)  (732)  (715)

Parks, Streetscape and Town Centres  (129)  (209)  (88)

Total  (970)  (941)  (803)

Activity Costs

Policy Development & Planning  399  641  206 

Consents, Compliance & Enforcement - Field Services Compliance & Enforcement  2,989  3,340  2,979 

Parks, Streetscape and Town Centre Maintenance  6,749  7,244  6,171 

Parks Planning  487  560  581 

Total  10,624  11,785  9,937 

Indirect Costs & Allocations

Unit Administration  771  733  731 

Consents, Compliance & Enforcement - Field Services Depreciation  2  2  2 

Depreciation Allocated from Overheads  526  504  534 

Interest Allocated from Overheads  207  188  144 

Other Allocated Overheads  823  1,078  1,082 

Total Indirect Costs & Allocations  2,329  2,505  2,493 

Total Cost of Services  12,953  14,290  12,430 

Net Cost of Services Funded from Rates & Other Revenue  11,983  13,349  11,627 

Capital Expenditure

Parks, Streetscape and Town Centres  1,055  1,608  1,089 

Total Capital Expenditure  1,055  1,608  1,089 

Funded by:

Depreciation Reserve  253  240  44 

Loan  802  1,368  1,045 

Total  1,055  1,608  1,089 
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Three Waters
Nga Wai e toru

The Vision: Waitakere takes an innovative approach to managing drinking water supply, wastewater and stormwater 
together, under the heading of The Three Waters.

Cost of Services Statement
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

Activity Revenue

Wastewater  (459)  (566)  (791)

Stormwater  (723)  (901)  (1,128)

Water Supply  (19,344)  (20,981)  (19,406)

Total  (20,526)  (22,448)  (21,325)

Activity Costs

Policy Development & Planning  144  120  33 

Wastewater maintenance and operations  5,742  3,837  5,302 

Watercare Services Limited  15,987  16,060  14,625 

Stormwater  3,699  2,820  4,589 

Water Supply  7,543  8,241  7,513 

Bulk Water Purchase  8,467  8,821  7,570 

Total  41,582  39,899  39,632 

Indirect Costs & Allocations

Unit Administration  947  905  904 

Depreciation Allocated from Overheads  2,057  1,673  2,130 

Stormwater Depreciation  5,419  5,049  4,878 

Wastewater Depreciation  6,226  5,315  5,165 

Water Supply Depreciation  3,814  3,909  3,625 

Interest Allocated from Overheads  811  621  574 

Stormwater Interest  2,766  2,766  3,264 

Wastewater Interest  3,355  3,355  2,733 

Water Supply Interest  1,388  1,388  1,442 

Other Allocated Overheads  3,220  3,569  4,316 

Total Indirect Costs & Allocations  30,003  28,550  29,031 

Total Cost of Services  71,585  68,449  68,663 

Net Cost of Services Funded from Rates & Other Revenue  51,059  46,001  47,338 
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Cost of Services Statement
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

Capital Expenditure

Wastewater  8,816  12,428  7,475 

Stormwater  11,049  21,481  9,805 

Water Supply  4,006  6,645  4,014 

Total Capital Expenditure  23,871  40,554  21,294 

Funded by:

Loan  12,998  16,774  9,811 

Development Contributions & Financial Contributions  2,576  9,086  2,757 

Other External Funding  6,371  9,788  5,289 

Depreciation Reserve  1,926  4,906  3,437 

Total  23,871  40,554  21,294 
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Sustainable Energy & Clean Air
He kaha motuhake. He hau ora pai

The Vision: Waitakere City’s energy and emissions to air management demonstrates ongoing progress 
towards a sustainable society.

Cost of Services Statement
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

Activity Costs

Chief Executive  -  150  - 

Policy Development & Planning  287  212  180 

Emission Testing  77  25  49 

Total  364  387  229 

Indirect Costs & Allocations

Unit Administration  52  48  44 

Depreciation Allocated from Overheads  18  10  12 

Interest Allocated from Overheads  7  4  3 

Other Allocated Overheads  29  22  25 

Total Indirect Costs & Allocations  106  84  84 

Total Cost of Services  470  471  313 

Net Cost of Services Funded from Rates & Other Revenue  470  471  313 

Capital Expenditure

Sustainability Projects  -  50  - 

Climate Change  -  100  - 

Total Capital Expenditure  -  150  - 

Funded by:

Loan  -  150  - 

Total  -  150  - 
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Zero Waste
He whakakore otaota

The Vision: Waitakere’s Zero Waste strategy will produce a clean and attractive city that increasingly turns 
its waste into resources.

Cost of Services Statement
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

Activity Revenue

Waste Management  (11,133)  (12,686)  (11,727)

Total  (11,133)  (12,686)  (11,727)

Activity Costs

Waste Management  12,182  13,548  12,505 

Cleaner Production  67  72  125 

Total  12,249  13,620  12,630 

Indirect Costs & Allocations

Unit Administration  573  546  545 

Depreciation Allocated from Overheads  609  584  679 

Waste Collection & Disposal Depreciation  312  280  269 

Interest Allocated from Overheads  240  217  183 

Other Allocated Overheads  954  1,246  1,375 

Total Indirect Costs & Allocations  2,688  2,873  3,051 

Total Cost of Services  14,937  16,493  15,681 

Net Cost of Services Funded from Rates & Other Revenue  3,804  3,807  3,954 

Capital Expenditure

Waste Collection & Disposal  386  911  438 

Aftercare  978  1,124  571 

Total Capital Expenditure  1,364  2,035  1,009 

Funded by:

Loan  1,364  1,960  852 

Depreciation Reserve  -  75  157 

Total  1,364  2,035  1,009 
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Activity Statements
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What We Do

As a public body the Council has a responsibility to provide 
timely, quality, information to the general public and other 
stakeholders.

The Local Government Act 2002 also requires greater 
levels of communication and consultation, much of which is 
undertaken in this area.

Levels of Service

The levels of service in the City Promotion area relate in 
part to the range of activities being undertaken by other 
parts of the Council. Generally the levels of service are 
expected to remain similar to the past in the Public Affairs 
area. The levels of service have been set at a constant level 
for the duration of the Plan.

City Promotion

Levels of Service

Main Activities Level of Service Statement How will we measure this Target
Actual 
Achievement

To be 
achieved 
by 2016

External 
communications

To communicate the Council 
affairs in a relevant and 
timely fashion via proactive 
media activity

Percentage of media 
enquiries dealt with within 
1 working day

95% per 
annum

94% 95% per 
annum

Percentage of media 
statements that are 
approved and distributed 
within 24 hours of Council 
decisions or directives

95% per 
annum

95% 95% per 
annum

To ensure relevant and timely 
media release material and 
information on the Council 
run events are put onto the 
Council’s website

Percentage of press releases 
and event information 
posted on the Council’s 
website within 24 hours

90% per 
annum

97% 90% per 
annum

All measures for this activity are on or have exceeded their target with the exception of percentage of media enquiries 
dealt with within 1 working day. However, the percentage of media enquiries dealt within 1 working day improved by 
3% compared to last year.
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Works Programme

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009
Annual Plan

$000’s

Key Projects 

External Newsletter 202 250 

Media Monitoring 38 36 

Youth Leadership Development 15 31 

GTI Communications 35 75 

LTCCP Communications/Consultation 33 150 

Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

 Activity Costs 

 Maintenance and running costs  778  735  844 

 Total  778  735  844 

 Activity Revenue 

 General rates  778  735  844 

 Total  778  735  844 

 Net Activity Surplus (Defi cit)  -  -  - 
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What We Do

The Democracy and Governance functions are designed 
to assist the Council to fulfi l its governance role in respect 
of the organisation and the community. This is a legal 
requirement under the Local Government Act 2002, 
as is the requirement to have both an Annual Plan and a 
Long Term Council Community Plan (LTCCP).

All residents and ratepayers are able to have their 
democratic say through voting in the three-yearly election 
for elected members and a mayor, through attendance at 

Community Board meetings and through participation 
in formal submission and consultative processes.

Levels of Service

The Levels of Service are expected to remain similar 
to those currently provided.

Many of the democratic functions are a cyclical process - 
for example Community Boards, Council and Committee 
meetings, the Annual Plan, the Long Term Council 
Community Plan and the three-yearly elections.

Democracy and Governance

Levels of Service

Main Activities Level of Service Statement
How will we 
measure this

Target Actual Achievement
To be 
achieved 
by 2016

Democratic 
functions – 
the council 
and committee 
meeting 
processes

To arrange and support 
council, standing 
committees, special 
committees, sub-
committees and community 
board meetings within 
statutory processes set out 
in the Local Government 
Offi cial Information 
and Meetings Act 
1987(LGOIMA)

Number of breaches 
as documented from 
complaints of non-
compliance as logged 
in the customer 
services database

100% 
compliance 
with LGOIMA 
provisions 
per annum

100% compliance with 
LGOIMA provisions 
per annum

100% 
compliance 
with LGOIMA 
provisions
per annum

Residents believe that the 
public can infl uence the 
Council's decision making

Survey of residents 75% per 
annum 

Large Infl uence 11%

Some Infl uence 35%

Small Infl uence 35%

75% per 
annum

All measures for this activity have met their target with the exception of the survey measure.
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Works Programme

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s 

2008/2009
Annual Plan

$000’s 

Key Projects 

Sister Cities 42 56 

ANZAC Day 14 18 

Civic Functions 17 43 

Citizenship Ceremonies 20 19 

Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

 Activity Costs 

 Meetings, elections and civic functions  1,648  1,657  2,317 

 Councillors  1,322  1,280  1,219 

 Community boards  331  351  329 

 Annual and long term plans  1,357  957  924 

 Te Taumata Runanga  46  46  39 

 Total  4,704  4,291  4,828 

 Activity Revenue 

 Meetings, elections and civic functions  40  30  321 

 General rates  4,664  4,261  4,507 

 Total  4,704  4,291  4,828 

 Net Activity Surplus (Defi cit)  -  -  - 
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What We Do

This activity’s key focus is the provision of effective Civil 
Defence Emergency Management and Rural Fire readiness 
and response organisation on a 24 hour basis for any 
incident or emergency that could occur within Waitakere.

Emergency Management is a joint initiative between 
the Council, Fire Services, Police and the District Health 
Boards. Locally, Waitakere has its own Civil Defence 
Emergency Management Plan. This sits within the wider 
Civil Defence Emergency Management framework provided 
for at a regional level.

The key services offered in this area are as follows:

Maintaining Waitakere’s Civil Defence Preparedness

This involves the maintenance of a fully operational 
Civil Defence Emergency Operating Centre (EOC) and 
ensuring civil defence capability from this headquarters. It 
includes civil defence staff training and the development 
and ongoing review of civil defence plans and operating 
procedures. The EOC is undertaking specifi c preparation 
and training programme in order to prepare for a pandemic 
event such as avian bird fl u. This preparation and planning 
is being done at a city-wide level and is also working 
collaboratively with region-wide lead initiatives. Regular 
training programmes for council staff, volunteers and 
liaison staff from stakeholder organisations are held, as 
is a training and exercise plan for the EOC, welfare and 
rescue operational readiness. The service also includes 
the provision and maintenance of an effective radio 
communications network throughout the city.

Rural Fire

The Council is a rural fi  re authority and is responsible 
for the issuing of fi re permits and associated fi re call 
management. The services provided also include 
responding to public inquiries for rural fi re information and 
the provision of rural fi re parties for rural fi re response 
purposes at the Karekare, Bethells Valley and Waitakere 
Village rural fi re stations.

Community Awareness

Increasing community awareness of civil defence issues 
and emergency management is an important part of the 
service provided in this area. An annual programme of 
public education presentations to community groups and 
schools is also undertaken. Response to public enquiries 
and advice on civil defence and emergency management 
is part of this service.

Urban Search and Rescue

The main component of this service is the maintenance 
of a volunteer Initial Response Unit for general rescue and 
Urban Search and Rescue support.

Levels of Service

The levels of service are expected to remain similar to 
those currently provided. Based on the 4R’s continuum, the 
current levels of service for the Waitakere City Emergency 
Management Unit are as follows.

Emergency Management
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Levels of Service

Main Activities
Level of Service 
Statement

How will we measure 
this

Target
Actual 
Achievement

To be achieved 
by 2016

Maintaining 
Waitakere’s 
civil defence 
emergency 
management 
preparedness

Provision for exercising 
and training programmes 
for all (emergency 
centre staff, council 
staff and volunteers) 
involved in maintaining 
Waitakere’s civil defence 
preparedness

Total number of 
courses run and total 
number of attendees

25 courses 
and 350 
attendees 
or more 
per annum

46 courses and 
348 students

25 courses and 350 
attendees or more 
per annum

Total number of fully 
qualifi ed volunteers (to 
NZQA standard)

Minimum of 
12 qualifi ed 
volunteers 
per annum

57 rescue and 
133 rural fi re 
volunteers fully 
qualifi ed. 

Increase the minimum 
of 12 qualifi ed 
volunteers per annum 
to 15 from 01 July 
2010 to 30 June 2016 

Maintain a response 
organisation able to 
respond quickly to any 
incident or emergency

Council staff and 
volunteers are able to 
respond within 1 hour 
for each emergency 
activation exercise (run 
twice a year and prior 
to each holiday period) 
– pass or fail rate of 
1 hour response

100% pass 
rate for all 
exercises 
per annum

3 EOC Activation

2 EOC Exercises

1 EOC Silo 
Refresher 
Training

1 Welfare 
Exercise.

100% pass rate

100% pass rate for all 
exercises per annum 

Community 
awareness

Provide advice and 
information to the 
community on civil 
defence and emergency 
management in order 
to build community 
resilience

Percentage of enquiries 
responded to within 48 
hours of being received 
(individuals, community 
groups and schools) 

95% per 
annum

95% 95% per annum

Presentations given to 
schools and community 
groups (Note 1)

Total number 
of presentations given 
and the 
total number 
of attendees

To maintain 
a minimum 
of 10 or 
more school 
presentations 
and 10 
or more 
community 
presentations 
each year

7 schools and 20 
community group 
presentations 
1,716 attendees1. 

Increasing the 
number of school 
presentations from 
a minimum of 
10 to 15 or more 
and community 
presentations from a 
minimum of 10 to 15 
or more from 01 July 
2010 to 30 June 2016

Contribution 
to regional 
civil defence 
emergency 
management 
preparedness

To contribute to effective 
regional civil defence 
emergency management 
arrangements

Council represented 
at the Coordinating 
Executive Group 
(CEG) and Civil 
Defence Emergency 
Management Group 
(CDEMG) and provides 
input to regional plans

Minimum 
of 1 Council 
representative 
at each 
meeting

There were 
13 meetings 
attended by 
26 Council 
representatives

Minimum of 1 Council 
representative at each 
meeting

1)  Did not meet target of 10 presentations to schools due to schools having their own in-house training programmes.

Apart from the above exception, all measures for this activity have exceeded their target.
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Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

 Activity Costs 

 Maintenance and running costs  1,112  1,129  1,058 

 Depreciation  169  85  37 

 Total  1,281  1,214  1,095 

 Activity Revenue 

 Grants and subsidies  56  24  88 

 General rates  1,225  1,190  1,007 

 Total  1,281  1,214  1,095 

 Net Activity Surplus (Defi cit)  -  -  - 

 Capital expenditure  41  70  1,259 

 Total  41  70  1,259 

 Funded by: 

 Loan  41  70  1,259 

 Total  41  70  1,259 
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What We Do

The Council owns and manages an integrated aquatic and 
fi tness centre known as ‘West Wave’ which is located in 
the Henderson town centre. West Wave opened in 2003 
and has been developed around the original Olympic sized 
pool which was fi rst built by the Council in 1990 to host the 
XIV Commonwealth Games. The facility now comprises 
three main physical spaces; the competition pool hall, the 
leisure pool hall and the fi tness centre.

The Council also owns and manages the recreation centre 
on the same site which is set up with courts for games 

such as indoor basket ball. It is also a venue for large annual 
events such as the American Muscle Car Club Show, the 
Arms Fair, the Auckland Orchid Show and the Waitakere 
City Community Arts Council (WCCAC) Exhibition.

Levels of Service

The operational levels of service are expected to remain 
the same with the complex being open 363 days of the 
year from 5.45 am to 9.30 pm. For services such as Learn 
to Swim and Community Planning and Fitness, staffi ng will 
continue to be based on revenue.

West Wave Aquatic Centre

Levels of Service

Main Activities Level of Service Statement How will we measure this Target
Actual 
Achievement

To be achieved 
by 2016

Westwave 
management

To manage the Westwave 
Aquatic Centre effectively 
on behalf of Waitakere city

Attendance levels to 
the Westwave facility 
maintained or increased

725,000 visits 
or more in 
2008/2009

953,872 visits 
in 2008/2009

Improvement 
achieved 
annually up 
to a target of 
750,000 visits 
or more

Lifeguards are 
appropriately trained 
to ensure the safety 
of pool users

All lifeguards have 
undergone the centre’s 
training course for pool 
supervision and health 
and safety

100% per 
annum

100% per 
annum

100 % per 
annum

Pool water is maintained 
to New Zealand public 
pool standards

Daily testing and 
monitoring

100% 
compliance 
per annum

100% 
compliance

100% 
compliance 
per annum

Customer satisfaction Customer satisfaction 
survey

95% of 
respondents 
consider the 
overall standard 
of service to 
be acceptable, 
very good or 
excellent per 
annum

98% 
satisfaction

95% of 
respondents 
consider the 
overall standard 
of service to 
be acceptable, 
very good or 
excellent per 
annum

Pool facilities 
(includes sauna 
and spa)

To provide pool facilities for 
use by the community

Percentage of closures for 
reasons of maintenance, 
biohazards or plant failures 

Less than 5% 
per annum

Less than 
1% closures

Less than 5% 
per annum

Swim lessons 
and coaching

To provide swim lessons 
and coaching

Total number of individual 
enrolments per term

2,200 
enrolments 
on average 
per annum

2,461 
enrolments 
on average 
per annum

2,200 
enrolments 
on average 
per annum

All measures for this activity are on or have exceeded their target.



Annual Report // Including Sustainability Report 2008/2009123

Works Programme

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s 

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s

Key Projects 

Equipment Renewals 140 216 

Upgrades 58 166 

The necessary upgrades and renewals were carried out to maintain health and safety so the remainder of the budgets were 
not required. 

Admissions, membership fees and use of facilities was greater than budget because of increased returns from the 
fi tness centre.

Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

 Activity Costs 

 Maintenance and running costs  5,296  5,214  4,791 

 Depreciation  1,615  1,666  1,632 

 Total  6,911  6,880  6,423 

 Activity Revenue 

 Admissions, membership fees and use of facilities  5,497  4,855  4,851 

 General rates  (436)  124  (359)

 Depreciation reserve  235  235  300 

 Total  5,296  5,214  4,792 

 Net Activity Surplus (Defi cit)  (1,615)  (1,666)  (1,631)

 Capital Expenditure  198  382  517 

 Total  198  382  517 

 Funded by: 

 Depreciation reserve  143  216  212 

 Loan  55  166  305 

 Total  198  382  517 
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What We Do

The Council provides a range of arts and cultural services 
which refl ect the diverse communities of the city.

The Council believes that the support of arts and culture is 
an important component of making a vibrant and attractive 
city, as well as providing a means for the community to 
express a sense of self and place.

Public Art Collaboration in Community Facility 

Development

A major part of the work in this area involves the input of 
artists into the Council’s facility or development projects 
such as community and civic buildings, bridges and parks.

This involves the selection of a “lead artist” to work with 
the engineer, architect or landscape architect leading the 
design of the project to integrate site specifi c and functional 
artworks into the fabric of the facility.

For example, the arts bridges in Henderson, arts features in 
the West Wave Aquatic Centre, Massey Library and Leisure 
Centre, Glen Eden and New Lynn Libraries and the arts 
rotunda and children’s playground in the Te Atatu Peninsula 
village green.

Community Arts Projects

This involves facilitation of an artist working with a local 
community group, such as a school to develop an artwork 
in a public place, often a park or landscaping around a 
civic building. For example the taniwha developed with 
a local school group in Hart Domain Henderson, the moa 
developed with a local school group at the Massey Library 
and the clay tiles and mosaics included in the footpath at 
Manawa Wetland in New Lynn.

The city continues to grow as a place where all cultures 
and particularly Maori arts and culture, are vital to the city 
and we want to ensure that making, participating, being 
surrounded by and celebrating arts and culture are a means 
of expressing a sense of self and place.

Provision of Arts and Cultural Infrastructure

This service involves the administration of contracts and 
funding to deliver key arts services. Contracts and funding 
arrangements exist for Lopdell House Society, McCahon 

House Trust, Pacifi c Island Arts Centre and the Corban 
Estate Art Centre. The Lopdell Gallery is contracted to 
provide the major art exhibition space for the city and a 
range of associated arts services. The Corban Estate Art 
Centre is contracted to provide a range of arts services 
such as exhibitions, artist studios and art education. 
Funding contracts also exist with the two Community Arts 
Councils, the Playhouse Theatre Trust and the Waitakere 
Orchestra. Both the Lopdell House and Corban Estate 
precincts are in the process of concept development 
planning for extension and upgrading.

Civic Art Collection Management

The Council has a small but important collection of civic art, 
much of which has been donated to the city over the years. 
It now has an acquisitions fund which has allowed the 
purchase of three to four works from signifi cant Waitakere 
artists in each of the past two years. In addition the Council 
is frequently loaned art works by local artists for exhibition 
in Council facilities. These collections are managed and 
exhibited appropriately as part of the service provided in 
this area.

Civic and Community Events

The Council is also engaged in the provision of a signifi cant 
community, arts and cultural events programme for 
residents of the city and further afi eld. This includes the 
Trash to Fashion® Awards, the Going West Books and 
Writers Festival, Matariki, Pacifi ca Living Arts Festival, the 
Moon Festival, Diwali and other smaller events. In addition 
this area is responsible for a range of youth and children 
targeted events, such as Toddler Day Out and 
Summer Slamz.

Within the Council, this section provides organisation and 
support for events such as the opening of new facilities, as 
well as the community and civic events.

The Council undertakes the work programme in the area 
primarily because of the signifi cant positive effects to the 
wellbeing of the community. Major events have positive 
economic impacts in themselves, due to the supporting 
activities such as food and beverage sales associated with 
them. Likewise the many cultural events – Diwali Festival 
of Light, New Lynn Moon Festival and Pacifi ca Living 

Arts and Culture
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Arts Festival have signifi cant positive cultural benefi ts. 
Events such as the Toddler Day Out result in positive social 
outcomes and those such as Eco Day result in positive 
environmental outcomes.

In almost all instances the Council’s budget provided for the 
event is not the total budget required, with external funding 
through sponsorship and in-kind assistance generally 
contributing the bulk of the event funding.

The Events Strategy will prioritise the kind of events 
that the city will promote in order to achieve cultural and 
recreational objectives. The Strategy will look at focusing on 
becoming more competitive in attracting and maintaining 
national and international events and developing 
sustainable, vibrant community events and festivals.

Levels of Service

Arts and Culture

Arts are critical to the city’s development socially, culturally, 
environmentally and economically and it is important that 
we provide easy access and remove barriers to arts and 
cultural activity. However, delivery mechanisms have 
budgetary implications as well as philosophical ones. The 
Council has a history of fi nancial input into arts and culture 
in a number of ways, some more visible than others. There 
are limited resources but a growing number of new and 
existing parties wanting a share of those resources so an 
overview of the arts and cultural practices and the current 
delivery mechanisms need to be reviewed going forward.

Civic and Community Events

In addition, the Council has signalled a desire to have an 
increasing number of events in the city and so levels of 
service in this area are expected to increase gradually 
over time.
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Levels of Service

Main Activities
Level of Service 
Statement

How will we 
measure this

Target Actual Achievement
To be 
achieved by 
2016

Events (includes 
civic, community, 
art, cultural and 
regional events)

To design, manage 
and deliver events

Total number of events 
run and total number of 
attendees (audience)

30 events 
and 120,000 
attendees 
or more in 
2008/2009

18 Council designed, 
managed and delivered 
events attracting 40,100 
participants 

30 events and 
improvement 
achieved 
annually up 
to a target 
of 200,000 
attendees 
by 2016

“37 externally organised 
events which were 
fi nancially supported 
by Council, attracting 
148,950 participants

Arts Events attracted a 
further 18,850 people”

Residents satisfaction 
survey of city wide 
events and / or on site 
survey

80% of 
attendees 
surveyed rate 
the events 
acceptable, 
very good 
or excellent per 
annum

92% of participants 
surveyed were satisfi ed 
or more than satisfi ed 
with the events being 
produced and/or 
supported by Council

80% of 
attendees 
surveyed rate 
the events 
acceptable, 
very good 
or excellent 
per annum

Community 
arts delivery

To support and 
develop art in the 
community, providing 
opportunities for 
the community to 
be involved in arts 
projects in their 
local area

Number of community 
arts programmes 
delivered

85 programmes 
per annum

172 programmes 85 
programmes 
per annum

Public arts delivery To manage and 
deliver art into 
the public arena, 
ensuring that public 
art is incorporated 
into 70% of all major 
council buildings, 
bridges and parks 
projects

Percentage of public 
art as incorporated into 
major council projects in 
a given year

70% or more 
projects 
have an art 
component per 
annum

80% of Council 
infrastructure projects 
for 2008/2009 have an 
art component

70% or 
more of 
major council 
projects 
have an art 
component 
per annum

All targets have been exceeded.
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Works Programme

Details
2008/2009

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009
Annual Plan

$000’s

Key Projects 

Lopdell House Contract 452 452 

Pacifi c Arts Development at Corbans 79 150 

Pacifi ca Living Arts Festival 43 45 

Waitakere History Project 68 73 

Corban Estate Arts Centre 335 335 

Going West Literary Festival 192 160 

Trash to Fashion 58 140 

Grants to Community Arts Councils 80 85 

Creative Solutions (Toi Whenua) 25 25 

Playhouse Theatre Trust Grant 25 25 

Functional Art Projects (Capital) 39 40 

Lopdell House Precinct Redevelopment 2 4,086 

Lopdell House Carparking Project - 1,350 

State Highway 16/18 Artwork 11 50 

General Events 68 70 

Events Bid 89 110 

Moon Festival - 20 

Christmas Parades and traffi c management 30 40 

Waitakere City Laureates Programme 8 40 

Youth Events 28 32 

Guy Fawkes Display 20 20 

Waitakere Sounds 60 65 

Waitakere City Orchestra 30 30 

EcoFestival 25 25 

Waitangi Day Festival 20 20 

The Lopdell House Precinct Redevelopment and Lopdell House Car Parking Project have been carried forward to the 
20092/2010 fi nancial year.
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Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

 Activity Costs 

 Galleries, programmes and events  2,875  3,154  3,035 

 Depreciation  -  10  - 

 Total  2,875  3,164  3,035 

 Activity Revenue 

 Events income  3  155  214 

 General rates  2,847  2,984  2,410 

 Accumulated funds  25  25  122 

 Reserves  -  -  289 

 Total  2,875  3,164  3,035 

 Net Activity Surplus (Defi cit)  -  -  - 

 Capital expenditure  107  5,755  149 

 Total  107  5,755  149 

 Funded by: 

 Loan  107  5,755  149 

 Total  107  5,755  149 
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What We Do

Approximately 550 burials and 600 cremations are carried 
out each year with 30% of the ashes interred at the 
cemetery. Because of the age of the cemeteries there are 
approximately 5,000-6,000 genealogy enquiries per year.

Waikumete is the only cemetery in Auckland providing 
burial facilities for those of the Jewish faith and is one 
of only two providing for Muslim burials. The Urupa area 
provides burial plots for urban Maori who do not wish to 
be, or are not affi liated with any particular marae.

The local provision of burial and crematoria services has a 
positive impact on the community in terms of easy access 
to the burial and ashes interment sites of loved ones.

The Waikumete Cemetery is acknowledged as having a 
very signifi cant cultural, historical, ecological and landscape 
heritage, which is protected and managed for the benefi t 
of the wider community. For example the gum land and bush 
land and the areas around the graves are the site of many 
rare and endangered native plant species, some of which do 
not exist anywhere else in the city. The management of the 
cemetery refl ects these disparate values.

In addition to managing the burials and cremations, 
the Waikumete Cemetery is also managed to implement 
the Waikumete Cemetery Conservation and Reserve 
Management Plan. This includes grounds maintenance, 
weed removal and restoration of both the natural and 
cultural heritage values present within the cemetery. 
Many of the buildings are maintained by the Property 
Services section of the Council, as part of its portfolio of 
heritage properties.

The services the Council provides at the cemetery can be 
summarised as:

• Burials
• Cremations
• Ash internments
• Chapel facilities
• Genealogy enquiries
• Provision of a park facility
• Conservation of a signifi cant cultural and 

natural heritage site

Levels of Service

All customers can expect a pleasant environment; 
sympathetic, helpful, accurate, prompt service, good 
understanding and knowledge of culture and customs. 
Provision is also being made to upgrade the chapels and 
offi ces, so as to enhance the atmosphere of the facilities.

Changes to Levels of Service

The Council is consulting with the community to determine 
whether to plan for a reception centre at Waikumete so 
that it can provide holistic funeral facilities. The Council 
has also planned for an increase in the landscaping of the 
grounds immediately surrounding the Chapel and graves 
at Waikumete and to better link this area with other 
signifi cant heritage assets within the grounds. This work is 
in accordance with the Waikumete Cemetery Conservation 
and Reserve Management Plan. The levels of service below 
are expected to be achieved on an annual basis.

The Council has a Customer Services Charter that 
incorporates a compliments and complaints process. 
A database is maintained of all compliments and 
complaints. The database will be monitored to ensure 
appropriate levels of customer service are maintained.

Cemetery
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Levels of Service

Main Activities Level of Service Statement How will we measure this Target
Actual 
Achievement

To be 
achieved 
by 2016

Burials To ensure that all burials 
are carried out within 
appropriate timeframes 

Percentage of burials that 
have been carried out within 
the appropriate timeframes

98% per 
annum 

99% 98% per 
annum 

Cremations To ensure that all cremations 
are carried out within 
appropriate timeframes 

Percentage of cremations 
that have been carried 
out within the appropriate 
timeframes

98% per 
annum

98% 98% per 
annum

Conservation of 
heritage sites

To conserve cultural and 
natural heritage sites for 
future generations

Compliance is maintained for 
all restoration work which 
impacts on the natural and 
cultural heritage features of 
the cemetery

100% 
compliance 
per annum

100% 100% 
compliance 
per annum

All measures for this activity are on or have exceeded their target.

Works Programme

Details
2008/2009

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009
Annual Plan

$000’s

Key Projects 

Grounds Maintenance 396 382 

Weed Control 28 32 

Remedial Tree Work - 20 

Roading and footpath improvements 325 363 

Development of Burial Areas 278 320 
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Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

 Activity Costs 

 Maintenance and running costs  1,253  1,336  1,443 

 Depreciation  227  235  226 

 Total  1,480  1,571  1,669 

 Activity Revenue 

 Burials and cremations  1,584  1,907  1,279 

 Development contributions  21  53  15 

 General rates  (198)  (493)  180 

 Waikumete cemetery fund  28  52  140 

 Depreciation reserve  17  30  3 

 Total  1,452  1,549  1,617 

 Net Activity Surplus (Defi cit)  (28)  (22)  (52)

 Capital expenditure  1,487  2,017  1,350 

 Total  1,487  2,017  1,350 

 Funded by: 

 Waikumete cemetery fund  92  110  160 

 Development contributions  21  53  15 

 Depreciation reserve  147  201  19 

 Loan  1,227  1,653  1,156 

 Total  1,487  2,017  1,350 



Annual Report // Including Sustainability Report 2008/2009 132
P

a
rt F

o
u

r // A
ctiv

ity
 S

ta
tem

en
ts

What We Do

Leisure assists in the development and management of 
purpose built leisure facilities which include community and 
leisure centres, community houses, community halls and 
other community leisure facilities.

Its work also involves the facilitation of leisure activities 
and events for Waitakere as well as assisting community 
groups to obtain funding for leisure activities.

This section has a strong focus on working directly with and 
on behalf of the community to deliver community projects 
and initiatives.

Many of the services are delivered in partnership with 
others such as Sport Waitakere, the YMCA and other 
community groups. In addition this part of the Council has 
a major role in providing funding and information to a range 
of community, creative and sporting groups through the 
administration of various Council and other organisation 
funds. This includes the Creative Communities Fund, the 
Community Sport Fund, the Wellbeing Fund, the

Community Halls Grants, the Community Accommodation 
Assistance Grants and the provision of Out of School Care. 
Staff work with community groups providing advice and 
assistance on funding and fundraising, accommodation 
(including community leases), governance and management.

The services delivered by the Leisure Services area can be 
summarised as:

• Community and leisure facility operations
• Community and leisure facility planning and development
• Community and leisure programmes and activities
• Community assistance and funding
• Community development

Levels of Service

Levels of service are not expected to change signifi cantly 
over the next ten years, but will be reassessed in 
consideration to customer feedback as part of the Council’s 
planning processes. Maintaining constant levels of service 
for the provision of facilities such as community centres 
and houses and leisure centres means that there does need 
to be an increased provision to cater for growth.

Because of the “uneven” nature of investment in new 
or expanded facilities in some instances there will be 
a temporarily reduced or enhanced level of service 
immediately prior to or after the development of a 
new facility.

The Council has contracts in place for leisure services 
delivery with the YMCA, the Trusts Stadium and 
Sport Waitakere.

These contracts have targets for the respective 
organisations to achieve. Performance is formally reported 
to the Council at least semi-annually.

The YMCA operates the Massey Leisure Centre facility and 
it is required that an annual survey is conducted of users to 
measure the overall service of the Centre, value for money, 
variety of programmes, quality of programmes and provision 
of youth programmes. The targets have been set at 80%.

Sport Waitakere are funded annually to deliver various 
leisure programmes. The contract requires Sport Waitakere 
to receive an 80% satisfaction response from surveys 
conducted at their events.

The Trusts Stadium has various measures of performance, 
including visitor numbers, events and hospitality, repeat 
booking, satisfaction surveys and hireage.

Health and Safety checks are conducted quarterly at the 
three venues by the Council.

Leisure
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Levels of Service

Main Activities Level of Service Statement How will we measure this Target
Actual 
Achievement

To be 
achieved 
by 2016

Leisure 
management

To manage all leisure 
contracts effectively 
on behalf of Waitakere 
city (includes YMCA, 
Trusts Stadium and Sport 
Waitakere)

Percentage of contractual 
targets met 

80% per 
annum

99% 80% per 
annum

Massey leisure 
centre

To provide adequate leisure 
facilities that are well used 
by the community

Total number of visitors to 
the Massey leisure centre

195,000 
or more in 
2008/2009

205,503 Improvement 
achieved 
annually to 
a target of 
200,000 or 
more by 30 
June 2016

Community 
houses, centres 
and halls

To provide and support the 
management of community 
houses, centres and halls in 
Waitakere city 

Total number of users to the 
community houses, centres 
and halls

550,000 or 
more per 
annum

543,675 550,000 or 
more per 
annum

Funding arrangement 
contracts in place

100% all 
contracts 
in place per 
annum

100% 100% all 
contracts 
in place per 
annum

All measures for this activity are on or have exceeded their target except for total number of users for community houses, 
centres and halls.

The following projects have been carried forward to the 2009/2010 fi nancial year. 

Extension to Ranui Community House   

Te Atatu Peninsula Community Centre Redevelopment   

Hockey Turf   

Leisure Facility Partnerships    

Works Programme

Details
2008/2009

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009
Annual Plan

$000’s

Key Projects 

Youth Facility 748 500 

Extension to Ranui Community House - 80 

Te Atatu Peninsula Community Centre Redevelopment 68 2,275 

Hockey Turf 20 1,852 

Leisure Facility Partnerships - 1,528 
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Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

 Activity Costs 

 Leisure maintenance and running costs allocated to: 

 Urban and rural villages  2,076  1,760  4,041 

 Strong communities  1,018  917  866 

 Active democracy  57  55  58 

 Depreciation  29  -  - 

 Total  3,180  2,732  4,965 

 Activity Revenue 

 Leisure facilities hire and grants allocated to: 

 Urban and rural villages  392  367  337 

 Strong communities  166  106  (13)

 Development contributions  219  656  188 

 General rates  2,188  2,065  1,978 

 Accumulated funds  120  120  120 

 Recreation and sport fund  49  44  43 

 Community purposes fund  30  30  30 

 Loan  205  -  2,470 

 Total  3,369  3,388  5,153 

 Net Activity Surplus (Defi cit)  189  656  188 

 Capital expenditure  888  8,665  7,604 

 Total  888  8,665  7,604 

 Funded by: 

 Development contributions  219  656  188 

 Loan  669  8,009  7,416 

 Total  888  8,665  7,604 
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What We Do

Libraries are responsible for the operation of libraries and 
learning centres.

Libraries include:

• Access to library services
• Collection management
• Providing circulation services for borrowing
• Providing services targeted at children and youth
• Supporting research and study
• Providing resources for a wide range of the city’s cultures
• Providing learning centres and support for education
• Operation and maintenance of a community archive
• Providing for libraries as a community focal point
• Management of the contracts for the operation of the 

city’s Citizens Advice Bureaux
• Provision of council information and services at a 

community level through the operation of service centres 
(New Lynn, Glen Eden and Massey; and in the future Te 
Atatu Peninsula and Titirangi)

Levels of Service

As a result of the development of a number of new 
libraries, including theWaitakere Central Library, opened in 
2006, the levels of service for libraries have been increasing 
gradually and this is expected to continue. In addition 
the Council has set a new level of service of providing a 
learning centre in each library, with a programme to bring 
the libraries up to this level.

Funding has been provided in the fi rst three years of the 
plan for improvements to libraries at Ranui, Massey and 
Te Atatu Peninsula as well as a mobile library upgrade. 
In 2014, funding has been provided for a new library in 
Hobsonville and Westgate. With these developments visitor 
numbers are expected to increase.

Other levels of service for libraries generally relate to the 
core functions of collection acquisition and circulation per 
head of population (per capita). A review of the library 
strategy is planned which will set defi nitive levels of 
service. In the absence of local policy the approach to date 
has been keeping the book stock at a reasonable quality.

Book Stock Collection

The “Standards for Public Libraries in New Zealand” 
published by the Library and Information Assoc of New 
Zealand Aotearoa (LIANZA) sets clear guidelines for 
responsibilities and performance indicators to evaluate the 
performance of libraries. Service Performance Indicators 
are measured against the 18 other metropolitan libraries 
throughout New Zealand. The measures primarily assess 
the core functions of the library service, which are 
collection acquisition and circulation.

Libraries
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Current performance indicators as reported to national 
associations for libraries are: 

Historically, when compared to other metropolitan libraries, 
both the growth and scope of the collection has been less 
than the national mean. Over the past six years funding has 
increased resulting in the size of the collection remaining 
more or less static but with an improvement in the 
condition of the collections overall.

Computer Systems

New technology introduces alternative ways of providing 
library circulation and lending services and will enable the 
Council to continue to meet or exceed current levels of 

service as demand for these services grows. The greatest 
amount of growth has been seen in the provision of 
Personal Computers (PCs) for both Online Public Access 
Catalogues (OPAC) – used by the public to view and reserve 
library items - and internet access in the learning centres.

Heritage Collection

All local history and heritage collection materials are 
acquired as donated collections which have been slow to 
grow; however, that has changed in the last two years with 
the community becoming more aware of the library as a 
suitable repository for documentary memorabilia. The oral 
history project targets historic memory of key fi gures within 
Waitakere’s community. Future provision is made for some 
acquisitions of historical material as the opportunity arises.

Learning Centres

Libraries have a role in providing access to Information and 
Communications Technology (ICT) through their support for 
the rollout of learning centres across the city and provide 
citizens with the skills to use computers and the internet to 
access online information, communicate and develop new 
skills online, in accordance with the Digital City vision.

The provision of learning centres within libraries and the 
number of computers provided has increased in the past 
three years with 97 additional computers being installed in 
2005/2006. Once all libraries have learning centres the level 
of service is expected to remain at this level.

Measure Waitakere National Mean

Transactions 2,175,295 2,425,414

Cost per transaction $3.31 $3.28

Registered patrons as 
% of population

54.6% 55.1%

Holdings per capita 2.31 3.16

Issues per capita 10.52 14.23

Stock turnover 4.55 4.72

Enquiries per capita 0.30 1.17

Transactions per capita 11.72 15.93

Real visits per capita 5.67 8.52

Levels of Service

Main Activities
Level of Service 
Statement

How will we measure this Target
Actual 
Achievement

To be achieved 
by 2016

Access to library 
services

To provide access to the 
community, both physical 
and virtual, to library 
resources

Total number of visitors 
to Waitakere libraries and 
website (includes visits 
to online catalogue and 
e-resources)

Improvement 
achieved 
annually up 
to a target 
of 1,065,000 
visits to 
branches 
and 50,000 
website visits 
or more per 
annum

1,531,001 
physical 
visitors and 
252,512 virtual 
visitors to the 
website

Improvement 
achieved 
annually up 
to a target 
of 1,500,000 
visits to 
branches 
and 100,000 
website visits 
or more by 30 
June 2016

Collection 
management

(Note 1)

To select, acquire, 
catalogue and protect 
new library material

Number of new holdings 
(library items) per capita

Improvement 
achieved 
annually up 
to a target 
of 2.47 books 
per resident

0.077 new 
books per 
capita

Improvement 
achieved 
annually up 
to a target 
of 2.55 books 
per resident
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Levels of Service continued

Main Activities Level of Service Statement How will we measure this Target
Actual 
Achievement

To be 
achieved 
by 2016

Circulation 
services

(Note 2)

To provide circulation 
services to the community in 
terms of lending, reserving 
and borrowing

Total number of items issued Improvement 
achieved 
annually up 
to a target 
of 2,100,000 
issues per 
annum

1,807,964 
issues

Improvement 
achieved 
annually up 
to a target 
of 2,500,000 
issues per 
annum

Community 
archive (special 
collections)

(Note 3)

To preserve the 
documentary heritage of 
West Auckland

Number of collection items 
accessioned

200 collection 
items per 
annum

128 200 collection 
items per 
annum

Learning centres

(Note 4)

Operation of learning 
centres

Percentage of active use 
of the computers in the 
learning centres

85% average 
usage per 
annum

60.37% 85% average 
usage per 
annum

Waitakere citizens 
advice bureaux

Provide information and 
advice services

Total number of enquiries 
(including email)

44,000 per 
annum

73,778 44,000 per 
annum

1. This measure was intended to be annual and cumulative and should be phrased as “Number of holdings per capita” 

2. The target set was based upon information extracted from the library’s old system (now replaced). It has since been 
discovered that this information was not accurate. The new library system is now providing the correct information 
and targets were revised in the Long Term Council Community Plan. The result does not impact on level of service.

3. The result will vary depending on the number of donated items that are to be included in the library collection.

4. The target measure was set based on data collection process that was unable to be replicated by staff and is likely to be 
an unachievable and unrealistic measure.

All of the above have been replaced by better measures and more realistic targets in the LTCCP for 2009-2019.

The following projects have been carried forward to the 2009/2010 fi nancial year. 

Library Management System upgrade projects   

Radio frequency infrared devices (RFID) for stock information  

Ranui Library rebuild   

Te Atatu Peninsula Library (as element of Community Centre  

Phase 2 Massey Library extension   

Works Programme

Details
2008/2009

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009
Annual Plan

$000’s

Key Projects 

Book stock collection 1,402 1,500 

Library Management System upgrade projects 71 668 

Radio frequency infrared devices (RFID) for stock information 33 703 

Ranui Library rebuild 16 1,216 

Te Atatu Peninsula Library (as element of Community Centre - 2,442 

Phase 2 Massey Library extension - 129 
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Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

 Activity Costs 

 Maintenance and running costs  9,036  9,147  8,491 

 Depreciation  2,624  2,654  1,903 

 Total  11,660  11,801  10,394 

 Activity Revenue 

 Income from chargeable services  656  378  575 

 Development contributions  124  350  100 

 General rates  9,315  9,707  8,115 

 Depreciation reserve  -  54  126 

 Accumulated funds  -  -  70 

 Loan  14  -  - 

 Total  10,109  10,489  8,986 

 Net Activity Surplus (Defi cit)  (1,551)  (1,312)  (1,408)

 Capital expenditure  1,535  6,737  2,120 

 Total  1,535  6,737  2,120 

 Funded by: 

 Development contributions  124  350  100 

 Loan  1,411  6,387  2,020 

 Total  1,535  6,737  2,120 
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What We Do

Parks and Open Spaces

The Parks and Open Spaces section is responsible for the 
management of the extensive park, streetscape and open 
space areas owned by the Waitakere City Council. Assets 
include active sports fi elds and courts, toilets, pedestrian 
ways, walking tracks, car parks, foot bridges, natural areas 
including beaches, plantings, trees and grassed areas on 
park land and on streetscapes especially town centres. 
Parks and Open Spaces also manages the citywide graffi ti 
removal programme, legal and environmental weed 
programme and cemetery landscape maintenance. The 
services delivered by this team can be summarised as:

• Parks asset and forward planning
• Parks asset development planning and implementation 

(capital and renewal programme)

Parks Planning

The Parks Planning team’s focus is strategic - long term 
planning for the city’s green network, parks and open 
spaces and community projects and economic incentives 
that promote this. The Parks Planning section prepares 
Reserve Management Plans in accordance with the 
Reserves Act’s requirements and also Conservation Plans 
in accordance with the Historic Places Act. The services 
delivered by this team can be summarised as:

• Strategic planning for parks and open space
• Green Network implementation
• Community interaction and support
• Advice and information
• Project management of park development projects

Levels of Service

The Council has done much in recent years to improve 
its levels of service and to provide a high quality, well 
maintained and administered parks network.

The levels of service proposed are similar to those provided 
for now, however there are some areas, such as sportsfi eld 
provision, where it is recognised that the levels of service 
will be negatively impacted by population growth, as there 
is limited land available for sportsfi eld development. There 
is currently a shortage of competition fi elds in summer and 
a shortage of training fi elds in winter to meet the demand. 
The availability of fi elds during winter is also an issue 
with some winter clubs. Non asset solutions relating to 
promotion and education will need to be implemented 
to meet the demand.

There are frequent requests to increase the operational 
service levels and the provision of fl ower gardens. The 
maintenance costs associated with these are very high 
and the public are often unaware of this.

What We Do

Parks
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All measures in this activity have met or exceeded their target.

Levels of Service

Main Activities
Level of Service 
Statement

How will we measure this Target
Actual 
Achievement

To be achieved 
by 2016

Processing of 
resident queries 
and requests

To provide information 
and respond to 
requests about parks 
and open spaces

Response time for all 
queries and requests 
regarding parks and 
open spaces

95% within 
48 hours per 
annum

98.7% 95% within 48 hours 
per annum

Maintenance 
and operations 
in parks and 
open spaces

To produce 
management plans 
for reserves

Reserve management 
plans in place (to cover 
all reserves in the city. 
34 plans in total – 
24 citywide and 
10 collective plans)

30 completed 
plans

33 completed Improvement 
achieved annually 
up to a target of 34 
completed plans. 
3 plans renewed 
each year from 
2011/2012 onwards

Ensure safety and 
quality standards are 
not compromised for 
playgrounds

Programmed inspections 
of 151 playgrounds on a 
fortnightly basis with the 
17 high use playgrounds 
receiving a weekly 
inspection

100% 
compliance 
with inspection 
safety and 
quality 
programme 
per annum

100% 100% compliance 
with inspection 
safety and quality 
programme 
per annum

Citizens have easy 
access to a safe and 
attractive local park

Residents are satisfi ed 
with the variety and 
location of parks within 
the city

80% 
satisfaction 
per annum

86% 80% satisfaction 
per annum

Community 
involvement

To encourage 
community 
involvement in 
partnership with 
the Council in green 
network projects

Maintain or increase the 
number of people working 
in partnership with the 
Council in green network 
projects involving planting 
and weed removal

3,250 people or 
more each year

33,911 
volunteers 
involved 
in various 
projects

Improvement 
achieved annually 
to a target of 
3,500 people or 
more per annum 
by 30 June 2016

Maintain or increase the 
number of park and open 
space clean-ups by the 
community

150 cleanups 
or more per 
annum

331 cleanups 
were 
completed

150 cleanups or 
more per annum

Green network To extend and 
enhance the city's 
natural ecosystems 
and biodiversity

100,000 or more 
eco-sourced native 
plants are planted in 
the city each year

100,000 or 
more per 
annum

167,000 native 
plants were 
planted

100,000 or more 
per annum
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Parks, streetscape and town centres capital expenditure has been carried forward to the 2009/2010 fi nancial year.  

Works Programme

Details
2008/2009

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009
Annual Plan

$000’s

Key Projects 

Green Network 126 194 

Parks, streetscape and town centres maintenance 13,535 11,999 

Parks, streetscape and town centres renewals 3,870 3,945 

Parks, streetscape and town centres capital expenditure 3,996 20,479 

Reserve Management Plans 100 154 

Keep Waitakere Beautiful 207 194 

Conservation Plans 12 -

Netball Courts 1,667 2,662

Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

 Activity Costs 

Parks, streetscape and town centre maintenance allocated to: 

 Urban and rural villages  6,963  5,016  5,313 

 Active democracy  108  68  79 

 Green network  6,749  7,244  6,171 

Parks planning allocated to:

 Urban and rural villages  643  1,558  814 

 Active democracy  44  35  50 

 Green network  487  560  581 

 Parks depreciation  4,729  4,361  3,487 

 Parks interest  2,860  2,860  2,331 

 Total  22,583  21,702  18,826 
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Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

 Activity Revenue 

Parks, streetscape and town centre maintenance allocated to: 

 Urban and rural villages  155  120  93 

 Green network  129  209  88 

Parks planning allocated to: 

 Urban and rural villages  79  116  24 

 Land subdivision reserve fund contributions  2,940  3,099  6,285 

 Development contributions  64  175  50 

 General rates  19,790  19,572  17,370 

 Accumulated funds  -  1,064  828 

 Loan  1,807  - 

 Total  24,964  24,355  24,738 

 Net Activity Surplus (Defi cit)  2,381  2,653  5,912 

 Capital Expenditure 

Parks

 Urban and rural villages  6,811  25,478  7,033 

 Green network  1,055  1,608  1,402 

Parks Planning

 Urban and rural villages  257  877  273 

 Total  8,123  27,963  8,708 

 Funded by: 

 Development contributions  64  175  50 

 Land subdivision reserve fund  2,940  3,099  1,346 

 Depreciation reserve  2,721  3,945  4,691 

 Accumulated funds  1,150  1,150  416 

 Loan  1,248  19,594  2,205 

 Total  8,123  27,963  8,708 



Annual Report // Including Sustainability Report 2008/2009143

The Waitakere City Council provides housing for older 
adults in 12 villages across the city consisting of 335 units. 
The provision of this service is to assist older adults that 
demonstrate a genuine housing need. This need is based 
on the following criteria:

• Age
• Capable of independent living
• Income level
• Citizenship
• Residency

The Housing for Older Adults team manages the end-to-end 
process including interviewing, assessment and selection 
of tenants, collecting rents and all repairs and maintenance 
associated with the villages (buildings and the grounds).

Levels of Service 

Tenant Management

Operational levels of service are expected to be more 
or less the same with accelerated improvements for 
completing maintenance within seven days and ensuring 
that yearly work programs are realistic and can be delivered.

Housing Stock

Within the constraints that require the villages to be self 
funding but affordable, the units have been managed to 
ensure legislative health and safety standards are not being 
compromised. Funding has been included for upgrades of 
the villages. The Council has received funding from housing 
New Zealand for modernisation.

What We Do

Housing for Older Adults

1. A satisfaction survey will be carried out in July/August 2009.

2. It is currently not practical to measure this target and it has not been included as a measure in the 2009-2019 LTCCP.

Apart from the above exceptions, other measures for this activity have exceeded their target.

Levels of Service

Main Activities
Level of Service 
Statement

How will we measure this Target
Actual 
Achievement

To be achieved 
by 2016

Tenant 
management

To manage tenants 
and ensure that all 
houses are reaching 
maximum occupancy

Percentage of 
occupancy rate

70% per 
annum

76% 70% per annum

Tenants of the 
Council provided 
housing are satisfi ed 
with tenancy 
services1.

Satisfaction survey 80% of 
tenants are 
satisfi ed or 
very satisfi ed 
per annum

Not Measured 
in FY09

80% of tenants are 
satisfi ed or very 
satisfi ed per annum

Building 
and grounds 
maintenance

Maintain all buildings 
and grounds2.

Requests for service 
responded to within 
given timeframes in 
accordance with the 
nature of the request

95% per 
annum

Not Measured 95% per annum
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Rental Income was less than expected because a number of units were held vacant during on-going refurbishments. 

Works Programme

Details
2008/2009

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009
Annual Plan

$000’s

Key Projects 

Renewals and Upgrades 2,077 3,308 

Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

 Activity Costs 

 Maintenance and running costs  932  772  1,042 

 Depreciation  540  386  403 

 Total  1,472  1,158  1,445 

 Activity Revenue 

 Rentals and other Income  1,869  2,680  2,552 

 Total  1,869  2,680  2,552 

 Net Activity Surplus (Defi cit)  397  1,522  1,107 

 Capital expenditure  2,076  3,308  2,780 

 Total  2,076  3,308  2,780 

 Funded by: 

 Depreciation reserve  1,327  1,808  779 

 Loan  -  -  500 

 Other External Recoveries  749  1,500  1,501 

 Total  2,076  3,308  2,780 
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Waitakere’s heritage involves those aspects of both 
the natural and built environment that have been inherited 
from the past, defi ne the present and will be handed on to 
future generations.

Resource Consents

The District Plan provides protection for approximately 209 
heritage buildings and structures, 115 heritage trees and 
28 listed archaeological sites (although this fi gure does not 
include waahi tapu).

Resource consents are required for modifi cations to 
heritage listed features. The Consents section processes 
these resource consents.

Internal advice on the applications and appropriate 
conditions is provided by the Resource Management 
and Building section.

Property Management

The Council’s portfolio of heritage properties includes 
commercial buildings such as Lopdell House and the Falls 
Hotel, the Corban Estate, a range of buildings on reserves 
and a number of residential properties. Many of the 
Council’s heritage properties are being leased or rented out 
to commercial tenants, arts groups or community groups.

Property Services manages all lease arrangements and 
selection of tenants, collection of rents and all maintenance 

associated with heritage properties.

Conservation Plans for the Council’s property assets are 
prepared by a team of council staff from relevant sections 
of the Council involved with the property including the 
Principal Advisor Heritage.

Documents, Photographs and Oral History

Waitakere Libraries has an extensive collection of heritage 
documents and photographs including the Jack Diamond 
Collection. A local history advisor is employed to manage 
this collection, for which a purpose built, climate controlled 
facility has been constructed in the new Waitakere 
Central Library.

An oral history collection also exists at the Waitakere 
Libraries which is being added to on an incremental basis.

Some historical documents are also held in the 
Waitakere Archive.

Advice and Advocacy

The Council has prepared a Heritage Strategy and Action 
Plan and has commenced resourcing the implementation 
of this. Further policies will be developed, including a 
review of the District Plan provisions and a non regulatory 
programme developed to complement this.

City Heritage



Annual Report // Including Sustainability Report 2008/2009 146
P

a
rt F

o
u

r // A
ctiv

ity
 S

ta
tem

en
ts

1. During the December quarter, there were unusual numbers of complex request received, which took additional time 
to research. Request can become complex if the information is not readily accessible.

Apart from the above exception, all measures for this activity are on or have exceeded their target.

Levels of Service

Main Activities Level of Service Statement How will we measure this Target
Actual 
Achievement

To be 
achieved 
by 2016

Heritage 
advice

To respond to public heritage 
enquiries within an appropriate 
timeframe

Number of public heritage 
enquiries responded to 
within 2 working days

95% per annum Estimated to 
be 95%

95% per 
annum

Heritage 
property 
management

To maintain the Council owned 
heritage buildings 

Number of heritage 
buildings inspected 
and maintenance plans 
completed

6 or more 
inspections 
and 6 or more 
maintenance 
plans completed 
each year

9 inspections 
and 6 
maintenance 
plans were 
completed

6 inspections 
and 6 
maintenance 
plans were 
completed

Heritage 
material

To protect and make available to 
the community when required, 
historic materials held within the 
Waitakere city archive 1.

Percentage of archival 
requests from the Council 
archives responded to 
within 5 working days

95% per annum 86% 95% per 
annum

Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

 Activity Costs 

 Maintenance and running costs 919 585 578

 Depreciation - 164 110

 Total 919 749 688

 Activity Revenue 

 Rentals 229 275 310

General rates 301 152 186

Depreciation reserve 3 158 82

 Total 533 585 578

 Net Activity Surplus (Defi cit) (386) (164) (110)



Annual Report // Including Sustainability Report 2008/2009147

What We Do

Transport Strategy

Strategic planning and decision making is a legislative 
requirement of the Local Government Act 2002.

Planning for future growth needs to be done in a way that 
is sustainable, affordable and aligned with regional and 
national initiatives, policies and legislation. 

The Transport Strategy section is responsible for strategic 
transport advice and development of strategy and plans for 
Waitakere, such as the Parking Plan and Freight Plan.

The Transport Strategy section works with organisations 
such as the Auckland Regional Transport Authority (ARTA), 
the Auckland Regional Council (ARC) and Transit NZ to 
ensure that Waitakere participates in national and regional 
policy and strategy programmes. These include input into 
reviews of bus services and state highway programmes.

The ARC sets the Regional Lands Transport Strategy. ARTA 
has the responsibility to implement the Regional Land 
Transport Strategy, with the assistance of the Council and 
other organisations. ARTA has developed plans such as 
the Auckland Transport Plan, Auckland Lands Transport 
Programme, Passenger Transport Network Plan, Rail 
Development Plan and Sustainable Transport Plan.

Transport Strategy is also involved in land use development 
and area planning to ensure the integration of transport and 
land use. Examples are the integration of car/non car travel 
and development in the town centres and in new growth 
areas at Westgate/Hobsonville.

Transport Assets

The Transport Assets section manages the budget and 
oversees the implementation of transport programmes and 
projects. Transport Assets works with the Project Services 
team in planning for maintenance and renewal programmes 
together with the establishment of associated contracts 
and processes.

In addition, this section works in partnership with Land 
Transport New Zealand (LTNZ) and the Auckland Regional 
Transport Authority which provide funding in the form of 
subsidies. This section also works closely with the New 
Zealand Police and the Land Transport Safety Authority 
regarding the safe design and safe use of roads and 
community safety.

Levels of Service

In regard to the transport function, levels of service 
generally relate to travel effi ciency, safety, comfort, 
convenience, cleanliness, amenity and mode-choice.

The levels of service need to meet the LTNZ requirements 
where these are stipulated.

The levels of service are largely unchanged. However, 
some levels of service are expected to continue to fall, 
particularly where these are dependent on third party 
actions. An example of such a fall in level of service is the 
increase in travel times along city roads that are affected 
adversely by the North Western Motorway capacities.

On the other hand, the development of park and ride 
facilities has been planned for offering new services in the 
next 10 years to encourage greater use of buses and trains.

Transport and Roads
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Levels of Service

Main 
Activities

Level of Service 
Statement

How will we measure this Target
Actual 
Achievement

To be achieved 
by 2016

Customer 
service1.

To respond quickly, 
respectfully and 
effi ciently when 
contacted about issues 
and problems

There are no more than 5% of 
requests for service older than 
30 days

95% per annum 95% less 
than 30 days

95% per annum

Road 
maintenance
2.

Roads are maintained 
to a standard that is 
appropriate for their 
use, they are safe, 
comfortable to ride 
on, clean and tidy, 
with adequate signage 
and markings which 
enable easy navigation

Land Transport New Zealand’ 
audit of the Council’s road 
maintenance programme to 
confi rm an acceptable level of 
maintenance and to identify 
priorities for future maintenance 

100% per annum 100% 100% per annum

3. Sealed and unsealed 
roads are maintained 
to prevent hazards

Routine monthly inspection of 
the roading network to identify 
location of potholes, edge breaks, 
cracks, failed pavement layers 
along with database modelling

Potholes or pavement 
failures which are 
hazards are repaired 
within 48 hours and 
other repairs are 
performed the next 
month. Reactive 
maintenance is also 
carried out upon 
requests through the 
Council’s call centre

Repairs 
were 
undertaken 
within 
contract 
response 
times

100% per 
annum. This 
level of service 
is ongoing

Road 
condition 
rating4.

Road condition is 
maintained to an 
affordable level, while 
ensuring that there 
is no signifi cant long 
term deterioration

Condition rating surveys of 
pavement and footpath condition. 
Measured as a percentage of the 
network rated as being in a very 
good condition, as defi ned in the 
international infrastructure asset 
management manual

95% of the road 
network 

98% of 
the road 
network 

95% of the road 
network 

Road safety5. Roads are designed 
for safe use for 
motorists, cyclists and 
pedestrians with low 
crash and injury rates

Completion of 33% of the 
accident investigation study (AIS) 
programme per year as identifi ed 
in the 3 yearly AIS study of 
‘blackspots’

100% completion 
of 33% of the study 
for each year

100% 
completion 
of the 
programmed 
safety 
improvement 
projects.

100% 
completion 
of 33% of 
the study for 
each year

Traffi c 
congestion6.

Major routes are free 
of congestion and 
traffi c is fl owing

The Levels of service are largely 
unchanged. However, some levels 
of service are expected to continue 
to fall, particularly where these are 
dependant on third party actions, 
but will continue to comply within 
the standards specifi ed in the 
Highway Capacity Manual as 
dislcosed in the Level of Service 
table. An example of such a fall in 
level of service is the increase in 
travel times along city roads that 
are affected adversely by North 
Western Motorway capabilities.

Less than 5% of 
non-complying 
travel per annum

Estimated to 
be less than 
5%

Less than 5% of 
non-complying 
travel per annum

Public 
transport7.

To ensure that public 
transport is accessible, 
affordable and safe

More buses and trains into cities 
on a working day

Improvement 
achieved annually 
up to a target of 
2,056 buses and 
180 trains operating 
in the city by 30 
June 2009

23 additional 
trains to 
New Lynn : 
34 additional 
trains to 
Henderson

Improvement 
achieved 
annually up to a 
target of 3,221 
buses and 312 
trains operating 
in the city by 30 
June 2009
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1. All ‘Requests for Service’ were responded to promptly with immediate entry into the Council’s Pathways system and 
distribution to relevant responsible offi cers for appropriate action. The customer was provided with a reference number for 
tracking purposes should they wish to contact Transport Assets staff for progress reports.

2. Waitakere roads were maintained to an appropriate standard for their use through an annual programme which covers all 
the assets within the road boundary. Contracts were in place covering resealing, general maintenance, kerb and channel, 
street cleaning, road marking, signs, drainage, street lighting and traffi c signals.

3. The Sealed Road Maintenance contract specifi es that the contractor is required to inspect roads constantly for potholes 
and other hazards. ‘Requests for Service’ received by the Call Centre were recorded in the Pathways system and 
processed promptly. The timeframe specifi ed in the contract document was strictly enforced and a Transport Assets ‘Field 
Assistant’ was employed to follow up timeliness of response and progress of the work.

4. Land Transport New Zealand Network statistics for the year ended 30 June 2008 indicates that % of roughness factor 
exceeding NASRA 150 has increased signifi cantly.This outcome was the result of a processing error in our high speed data 
collection. This has now been rectifi ed. We subsequently undertook a detailed investigation which revealed no signifi cant 
increase in average roughness.

5. The 2008/09 fi nancial year was very successful in terms of fi nishing 100% of the programmed safety improvements 
projects. The works involved some 50 sites carried out under the Minor Improvement Works category for projects costing 
less than $250,000 and a further 2 sites under the Crash Reduction programme category for projects costing more than 
$250,000. Forward design has also been undertaken which will allow implementation of some 10 accident sites within the 
city.

6. High fuel prices and other current economic issues have contributed to a reduction in the use of the single occupant car in 
recent months, with a noted shift towards use of public transport. Double tracking, upgrade of rail stations and increased 
train services have also encouraged people to utilise this mode of transport. However, some anticipated congestion 
occurs near construction sites around the city. (e.g. around the New Lynn Transit Oriented Development, Great North Rd, 
Henderson Town Centre, SH16/18 at Westgate).  It is estimated that congestion is still less than 5% on the city’s main 
routes.

7. Completion of double-tracking between Henderson and Swanson led to a 15-minute peak train service between Swanson 
and Britomart, providing much of the increase into Henderson. In addition, interpeak frequencies increased from every 
37 minutes to every 30 minutes which provided all of the increase to New Lynn and some of the increase to Henderson. 
There was no increase in bus service into the town centres during 2008/09.     

The New Lynn town centre and undergrounding project is on-going and has been carried forward to 2009/2010.

Works Programme

Details
2008/2009

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009
Annual Plan

$000’s

Key Projects 

Traffi c Facilities including street lights (subsidised) 4,087 4,556 

Renewals including sealed roads, drainage, kerb and channel, slips and 
preventative maintenance (subsidised)

15,520 17,985 

Street Cleaning (non subsidised) 458 400 

Footpath renewals including vehicle crossings (non subsidised) 1,012 1,018 

New Lynn town centre and undergrounding project 10,478 66,957 

Routine maintenance (subsidised) 3,254 3,325 

Routine maintenance (non subsidised) 555 658 

Operational data management 326 413 
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Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

 Activity Costs 

Transport and roads maintenance allocated to:

Integrated transport and communication 10,697 11,468 9,691

Active democracy 98 79 61

 Transport and Roads strategy allocated to:

Integrated transport and communication (41) 216 128

Transport and roads depreciation 11,715 11,422 11,426

Transport and roads interest 10,597 10,597 8,640

Total 33,066 33,782 29,946

Activity Revenue

Transport and Roads 

LTNZ and other subsidies 4,525 3,638 3,234

Petrol tax and other revenue 1,966 1,941 1,718

Transport and Roads strategy

LTNZ and other subsidies - - 361

LTNZ subsidy on capital expenditure 11,131 42,942 10,314

Development contributions 1,603 3,418 1,398

General rates 26,072 27,701 23,440

 Total 45,297 79,640 40,465

 Net Activity Surplus (Defi cit) 12,231 45,858 10,519 

Capital expenditure 44,992 130,114 39,612

Total 44,992 130,114 39,612

Funded by

LTNZ and other subsidies 11,131 42,942 10,314

Development contributions 1,603 3,418 1,398

Loan 18,840 72,334 17,540

Depreciation reserve 13,418 11,420 10,039

Accumulated funds - - 321

Total 44,992 130,114 39,612
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What We Do

The services provided by the Animal Welfare section 
include:

• Dog control enforcement
• Animal welfare enforcement
• Stock control enforcement
• Impoundment and animal care - accommodation
• Adoptions
• Education - dog owner licensing, school groups, 

general public
• Registrations

Dog Control enforcement services are provided in 
both Waitakere and North Shore cities under a ‘shared 
services’ contract which enables effi ciencies resulting 
in fi nancial savings.

Animal Welfare aims to ensure that animal welfare 
standards and regulatory requirements are delivered 
to the community in a fair and equitable manner.

The goals of the business are to:

• Reduce errant dog owner behaviour
• Minimise animal related problems
• Find safe homes for animals left in care
• Promote animal welfare

Levels of Service

Standards of service are set by the Biosecurity New 
Zealand and the Animal Welfare Institute of New Zealand 
an approved organisation under the Animal Welfare Act 
1999, which regulate and audit the activities of 
Animal Welfare.

To offset the regulatory side of our service, work continues 
strongly in the fi eld of education, welfare and re-homing 
initiatives. These service levels will remain largely 
unchanged. New legislation dealing with dog micro chipping 
will not impact on levels of service except perhaps for 
dangerous dogs, menacing dogs and new dog owners.

Animal Welfare

Levels of Service

Main Activities Level of Service Statement How will we measure this Target
Actual 
Achievement

To be 
achieved 
by 2016

Resident safety 1 To respond to resident 
complaints about 
dangerous dogs

Percentage of resident 
complaints responded 
to within 1 hour

95% per 
annum

91% 95% per 
annum

Animal welfare 2 75% of animals are re-
homed / adopted

75% of re-homing / adoption 
of animals per annum

75% of 
re-homing / 
adoption of 
animals per 
annum

66% 75% of 
re-homing / 
adoption of 
animals per 
annum

1. During the year, there have been 923 reported incidents on dangerous dogs. Included in the 923 reported incidents were 
498 ‘dog challenges’. A dog challenge occurs when no physical contact is made with the dog and a challenge does not 
have to be responded to within the one hour target.

2. The number of dogs surrendered is increasing and many of these dogs are not suitable for adoption. There has also been 
a slow down in the number of people looking to adopt. Section 42 uplifts (for non registration) have also increased and 
many of the owners are not reclaiming their dogs.
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Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

 Activity Costs 

 Maintenance and running costs 2,057 1,989 2,126

 Depreciation 46 46 46

 Total 2,103 2,035 2,172

 Activity Revenue 

Dog registration fees, contract income and other 1,321 1,261 1,375

General Rates 751 749 765

Depreciation Reserve 27 19 31

 Total 2,099 2,029 2,171

 Net Activity Surplus (Defi cit) (4) (6) (1)

 Capital expenditure 116 320 -

 Total 116 320 -

 Funded by: 

 Loan 116 320 -

 Total 116 320 -
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What We Do

The core business of the Council’s testing station is the 
provision of vehicle safety inspections or Warrant of Fitness 
(WOF) tests. Other services include:

• Emissions testing for petrol and diesel vehicles
• Motor registrations/licensing
• Change of ownership processing
• All registration plate transactions
• Road User Charges (RUC) processing
• Driver licensing testing

Although not mandated by statute to provide the service, 
ensuring safety of vehicles and drivers on the road and 
developing opportunities for emissions testing are good 
reasons for the Council to be involved. This activity is a 
source of revenue to the Council.

Levels of Service

As a heavily regulated business, there are technical service 
level requirements stipulated in governing regulations and 
measured by the governing body LTNZ. These service 
levels will remain largely unchanged. However, if there is 
legislation introduced governing emissions testing in the 
future it will result in an additional service requirement. The 
numbers of inspections are expected to remain constant.

Vehicle Testing Station

Levels of Service

Main Activities Level of Service Statement How will we measure this Target
Actual 
Achievement

To be 
achieved 
by 2016

Vehicle safety 
inspections1.

To provide accurate 
inspections in compliance 
with all legislation to ensure 
road safety

Total number of warrant of 
fi tness vehicle inspections 
undertaken

32,000 
inspections 
per annum

26,531 32,000 
inspections 
per annum

Emissions Testing To encourage vehicle owners 
to participate in the offer of 
free emissions testing

Total number of vehicles that 
undergo emissions testing 
at the Council owned vehicle 
testing station

Between 
6,000 and 
8,000 vehicles 
tested per 
annum

8,820 Between 
6,000 and 
8,000 vehicles 
tested per 
annum

1. The testing station faces ongoing competition from garages which are often more accessible and are able to provide 
additional services such as vehicle maintenance.
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Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

 Activity Costs 

Emission testing 50 - 49

Vehicle testing 1,166 1,154 1,182

Vehicle testing depreciation 7 6 6

 Total 1,223 1,160 1,237

 Activity Revenue 

Vehicle testing 1,137 1,169 1,186

 Total 1,137 1,169 1,186

 Net Activity Surplus (Defi cit) (86) 9 (51)

Capital Expenditure 10 20 -

 Total 10 20 -

 Funded by: 

Accumulated funds 10 20 -

 Total 10 20 -
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What We Do

Consents services

The primary business of delivering consents and licences is 
driven by statute. Three core businesses exist to undertake 
this: Resource consents/District Plan administration and 
advice; building consents including construction review and 
advice; licences and Land Information Memoranda (LIMs).

The three core businesses are broken into the following 
service components:

• Resource consents processing
• Resource management advice and information
• Resource consents compliance
• Resource consents dispute resolution
• Building consents processing
• Building advice and information
• Construction review
• Land Information Memoranda (LIMs)
• Data management (Property Records 

and Hazard Register)
• Licensing (Health and Sale of Liquor)
• Consents management and administration

EcoWater Development Services

EcoWater’s Development Services bridges the gap for 
customers between consent regulation and ensuring that 
any assets built in new developments and subdivisions are 
compatible with the existing wastewater and stormwater 
systems.

Compliance and Enforcement

Field Services delivers a compliance and enforcement 
activity that forms part of the regulatory framework 
of the Council. The unit responds to and carries out 
approximately 25,000 site visits as a result of customer 
complaints each year about illegal building work, illegal 
resource management activity such as bush clearance and 
earthworks, environmental health concerns, noise issues, 
parks, parking and roading concerns.

Parking Services issues approximately 43,000 infringement 
notices per annum as a result of its role in the compliance 
and enforcement of statutory traffi c and transport 
regulations.

Field Services also carries out approximately 3,000 other 
programmed inspections each year that are designed to 
minimise non-compliance with regulations put in place 
by local government to protect the environment and 
community. This includes inspections of food premises, 
liquor licences, hairdressers, swimming pool fencing, 
massage parlours and vehicle crossings.

Much of this work is regulated through statutes and 
powers of enforcement. Non compliance often requires 
enforcement action to be taken through the courts 
and consequently enforcement action is an essential 
component of Field Services.

Consents, Compliance and Enforcement
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Resource Management

The main role of this team is to ensure that the Waitakere 
City District Plan remains an effective tool for the delivery 
of the Council’s strategic objectives. This involves the 
monitoring of the District Plan implementation and the 
development of Plan changes to ensure that the District 
Plan’s effectiveness remains. This area also provides an 
overview of the consent processing undertaken by the 
Council and provides specialist planning advice where 
complex or strategic resource consents are 
being considered.

Levels of Service

A comprehensive training programme needs to be 
undertaken in order for the Council to meet the 
accreditation requirements of the Building Act 2004 by 
2013. Despite the slowing of the building boom, there has 
been a recent increase in staff numbers, due to increased 
processing times as a result of the requirements of the 
Building Act 2004 and the increased customer services 
through, the roll out of the ‘One Stop Shop’ system.

Statutory Levels of Service

Application type Timeframe

Building consents 20 working days 20 working days

Non notifi ed Subdivision or Land Use 
Consents being subject to s37 

40 working days

Non notifi ed Subdivision or Land Use 
Consents 

20 working days

Notifi ed Subdivision or Land Use Consents 45 working days

Notifi ed Subdivision or Land Use Consents 
being subject to s37

90 working days

LIMS 10 working days

Certifi cate for Public Use 20 working days

Code Compliance Certifi cates 20 working days

Requests for offi cial information 20 working days

Certifi cates of Acceptance 20 working days

Meeting statutory timeframes for processing consents 
has declined in recent years largely due to signifi cant 
increases in applications during the building boom which 
has affected the performance of all councils in the region. 
Recent changes from both the Resource Management Act 
Amendments 2003 and the Building Act 2004 have also had 
a signifi cant impact on staff and our ability to meet statutory 
levels of service.
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Levels of Service

Main Activities
Level of Service 
Statement

How will we measure this Target
Actual 
Achievement

To be 
achieved 
by 2016

Building and 
resource 
consent 
application 
processing

To provide 
information and 
consents for 
buildings and 
resources

Response time for building 
consents issued and processed 
within statutory timeframes (as per 
consents table in volume 2 activity 
plan summary)

100% per annum 1 Resource 
Consents 
= 86%, 
Building 
Consents 
= 99%

100% per 
annum

Licensing 
services

To award licences 
and renew existing 
licences 

All licensed premises are inspected 
each year (liquor)

100% per annum  100% 100% per 
annum

Inspection and 
enforcement 
services

To inspect 
and enforce 
compliance with 
consent and 
licensing legislation

Percentage of complaints 
responded to within the maximum 
5 day statutory time frames e.g. 
illegal bush clearance, building 
complaints, vehicle crossings and 
street damage

80% per annum 2 78% 80% per 
annum

All food premises will be inspected 
each year and graded accordingly

100% per annum 3 106% 100% per 
annum

Inspection and 
enforcement 
services

To inspect 
and enforce 
compliance with 
consent and 
licensing legislation

Inspections of swimming pools 
carried out on a 3 year cycle in the 
city to ensure compliance with 
Fencing of Swimming Pool Act 
1987

Improvement achieved 
annually to a target 
of 95% completion 
of 1/3 of the fi ve-
year inspection cycle 
annually by 30 
June 2009 4

116% Improvement 
achieved 
annually to a 
target of 100% 
completion of 
1/3 of the fi ve-
year inspection 
cycle annually 
by 30 June 
2016

1. The complexity of information required by legislation often results in insuffi cient detail or missed components of 
information supplied in the application. This can result in delays in application processing and impact on the ability to 
process within the statutory deadlines. However there has been an improvement this year’s results compared to last 
year which reported 99% for building and 86% for resource consents.

2. The result is slightly below target. Two positions left vacant during the year as cost saving measure have impacted 
on annual performance.

3. The target is to inspect all food premises at least once each year. The inspection programme has been completed 
slightly ahead of schedule.

4. All swimming pools are inspected over a three year period. As at 30 June 2009 the inspection programme was ahead 
of schedule for this year.      
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Costs and revenues are a consequence of volumes of consents processed. These were less than anticipated because of the 
economic climate. 

Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

Activity Costs

Consent services maintenance and operations allocated to:

Urban and rural villages  10,190  11,326  10,298 

Strong communities  1,428  1,611  1,579 

Active democracy  20  20  20 

Field services maintenance and operations allocated to:

Urban and rural villages  2,343  2,256  2,045 

Active democracy  89  90  85 

Green network  2,989  3,340  2,979 

Resource management maintenance and operations allocated to:

Urban and rural villages  1,040  1,235  1,146 

Active democracy  20  20  20 

Consent services depreciation  4  4  6 

Field services depreciation  2  2  2 

Total  18,125  19,904  18,180 

Activity Revenue

Consent services fees and charges allocated to:

Urban and rural villages 9,722  11,341  10,485 

Strong communities 587  765  661 

Field services fees and charges allocated to:

Urban and rural villages 4,370  4,002  3,844 

Green network 841  732  715 

Resource management fees and charges allocated to:

Urban and rural villages  15  30  19 

General rates  2,590  3,034  2,331 

Accumulated funds  -  -  125 

Total  18,125  19,904  18,180 

Net Activity Surplus (Defi cit)  -  -  - 

Capital expenditure  441  1,268  - 

Total  441  1,268  - 

Funded by:

Loan  441  1,268  - 

Total  441  1,268  - 
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What We Do

The Council’s Waste Management Strategy is concerned 
with facilitating the fi ve ‘R’ principles: Reduce, Reuse, 
Recycle, Recover and Residual disposal.

Three sections assist in the management of waste 
management activities:

Solid Waste and Refuse Station

The Solid Waste section is responsible for the operation of 
the Waitakere Refuse and Recycling Transfer Station, which 
includes a drop-off centre that assists in the handling, 
separating and disposal of all waste types. This section 
oversees rubbish collection operations throughout the 
city for both households and commercial premises. It also 
oversees operations for the removal of litter from street 
litter bins, footpaths and our streets.

Aftercare

The Aftercare section ensures that the Council fulfi ls its 
legal requirements and responsibilities to manage any 
environmental effects of the 64 former waste disposal sites 
within Waitakere for which the Council has responsibility. 
The Council also has responsibility to remediate the sites 
in preparation for future use including erosion protection, 
re-vegetation and weed control.

Cleaner Production Section

The Cleaner Production team has a long-term focus in 
environmental sustainability assisting the Council to lead by 
example in areas such as energy saving, fl eet management, 
waste minimisation and recycling and encouraging and 
assisting the local community (business, residential and 
schools) to adopt more sustainable practices.

Levels of Service

Levels of service relate to the achievement of the strategic 
platform of Zero Waste by 2020. Zero Waste does not 
mean that no rubbish will be produced. It means that we 
will deal with waste in such a way that to the greatest 
possible extent, it is turned back into useful resources 
and not simply dumped into landfi lls. Levels of service are 
largely unchanged as the Council continues to bring the 
Resource Recovery Centre into full operation.

Waste Management
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Levels of Service

Main Activities
Level of Service 
Statement

How will we measure 
this

Target
Actual 
Achievement

To be achieved 
by 2016

Waitakere 
business 
sector 
sustainability

To encourage 
businesses to adopt 
more sustainable 
business practices

Number of businesses 
participating in 
environmental initiatives

60 new businesses 
or more per annum

114 60 new businesses 
or more per annum

Kerbside 
collection 
(residential)

To provide collection 
of residential 
kerbside bagged 
waste on a weekly 
basis

Tonnes of residential 
kerbside bagged waste 
collected by the Council 
contractors

26,600 tonnes 
in 2008/2009 
(128kg per person)

22,519 tonnes 
(120.9 kg per 
person)

Improvement achieved 
annually up to a target 
of 30,590 tonnes 
(128kg per person) 
by 30 June 2016

Illegal 
dumping

To respond to 
complaints ensuring 
that Illegally 
dumped rubbish 
is removed 

Percentage of jobs with 
full information provided 
that are logged and 
completed for illegally 
dumped waste to be 
collected by the Council 
(excluding parks, beaches 
and private properties)

95% per annum 1 93% 95% per annum

Number of enforcement 
actions taken on illegal 
dumpers (including 
warning letters) 

300 per annum 347 300 per annum

Recycling 
and reuse

To encourage 
waste reduction 
by providing the 
community with an 
avenue for recycling 
and reuse 

Total tonnage of 
recyclable items collected 
(includes glass, plastic, 
aluminium, steel cans 
and paper)

16,600 tonnes in 
2008/2009

17,423 tonnes Improvement achieved 
annually up to a target 
of 18,700 tonnes by 30 
June 2016

Zero waste 
advocacy

Public perception of 
zero waste strategy as 
measured by annual 
survey

Improvement achieved 
annually up to a target 
of 60% of respondents 
being aware of the zero 
waste strategy by 30 
June 2009 2

Not measured Improvement achieved 
annually up to a target 
of 85% of respondents 
being aware of the zero 
waste strategy by 30 
June 2016

Green waste 
composting

To provide a venue 
for turning all green 
waste into compost

Tonnes of green waste 
deposited at the transfer 
station for composting

5,900 in 2008/2009 3 3,849 tonnes Improvement achieved 
annually up to a target 
of 6,600 by 30 June 
2016

Management 
of closed 
landfi lls 
(Council 
owned and 
operated)

To manage the 
closed landfi lls 
(Council owned 
/ operated) and 
ensure there are no 
negative impacts on 
the environment

Regulatory compliance 
for consented landfi lls is 
maintained at the level 
of 2C (Auckland Regional 
Council compliance 
ratings) or higher

No breaches per annum No breaches 
have occurred

No breaches per annum

1. Illegal Dumping: Service Requests completed were slightly below target at 93%. This is mainly because only two 
Waste Minimisation Offi cers were handling illegal dumping service requests for the entire city while the other two 
were fully committed to monitoring the ongoing inorganic collection areas during the latter half of the year.

2. The methodology for measuring this target has not been determined. The measure has been excluded from the 
2009-2019 LTCCP.

3. The tonnage of green waste deposited at the Refuse Transfer Station for composting was below target. 
 Green waste continued its downward trend and is at the lowest for the past 12 years.     



Annual Report // Including Sustainability Report 2008/2009161

Works Programme

Details
2008/2009

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009
Annual Plan

$000’s

Key Projects 

Building work to be undertaken - construction and demolition facility; bins; 
resource sorting facility; expansion of resource recovery centre; expansion of 
abandoned vehicle storage area; load out dock

208 532 

Plant replacement and upgrade 178 225 

Renewals programme for litterbins - 67 

Industry programmes Film, television, boat building and construction and 
demolition industries

18 20 

Cleaner production hazardous substances 7 7 

Partnership projects including sustainable household programme, 

Enviroschools, fuel effi ciency

11 18 

Business partnership programme including envirostart 10 3 

Retail sector and small business 11 24 



Annual Report // Including Sustainability Report 2008/2009 162
P

a
rt F

o
u

r // A
ctiv

ity
 S

ta
tem

en
ts

Costs and revenue are dependent on the volumes of waste processed. 

Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

Activity Costs

Maintenance and running costs  12,182  13,547  12,505 

Cleaner production  67  72  125 

Depreciation  312  280  269 

Total  12,561  13,899  12,899 

Activity Costs

Bag sales and transfer station revenue  11,133  12,686  11,727 

General rates  1,060  746  853 

Depreciation reserve  268  331  294 

Total  12,461  13,763  12,874 

Net Activity Surplus (Defi cit)  (100)  (136)  (25)

Capital Expenditure

Solid waste  386  911  438 

Aftercare  978  1,124  571 

Total  1,364  2,035  1,009 

Funded by:

Loan  1,352  1,948  702 

Accumulated funds  12  12  150 

Depreciation reserve  -  75  157 

Total  1,364  2,035  1,009 
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What We Do

The stormwater system caters for the stormwater 
discharge from the entire city either via streams and 
watercourses or through a piped system. While some 
of the city’s urban areas are provided with a fully piped 
stormwater service, in many areas the system is a 
combination of pipe systems and open watercourses. Only 
one third of properties have a piped stormwater connection.

Stormwater is discharged from the city into either the 
Waitemata or Manukau Harbours. The West Coast beach 
area discharges directly to the Tasman Sea while a small 
catchment discharges to the Kumeu River, which ultimately 
discharges to the Kaipara Harbour. In the rural areas and 
in many of the older areas of the city where a stormwater 
system is not provided, individual properties discharge 
stormwater to the road side.

Levels of Service

Protection of dwellings and properties from fl ooding is a 
major criteria in providing an acceptable level of service to 
rate payers. The numbers of fl ooding events are directly 
related to the intensity of rainfall events, or through 
localised issues like blocked cesspits, which can be 
prevented by regular maintenance.

The Council will continue to provide stormwater services 
in accordance with the current levels of service, but with 
the additional emphasis on reducing the adverse effects of 
stormwater particularly the effect on local streams.

Stormwater
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Levels of Service

Main Activities
Level of Service 
Statement

How will we measure this Target
Actual 
Achievement

To be 
achieved 
by 2016

Manage stormwater 
quality

To manage systems for 
stormwater treatment

Percentage of urban areas that 
have storm water treatment

16% in 
2008/2009

16.8% Improvement 
achieved 
annually up 
to a target of 
28% by 30 
June 2016

Manage fl ood 
incidents and risk

Flood callouts are 
responded to within 3 
hours

Percentage of fl ood callouts 
responded to within 3 hours 
(target applies to storms up to 
1 in 1 year event)

90% or more 
per annum

95% achieved 90% or more 
per annum

Environmental 
protection of streams

To maintain the 
variety of native fi sh in 
Waitakere streams

The variety of native fi sh at 
monitored sites throughout 
the city is maintained or 
improved in the long term

Maintaining 10 
or more fi sh 
species per 
annum

10 different 
species 
including 
Koura

Maintaining 
10 or more 
fi sh species 
per annum

To maintain the variety 
of native birds residing 
by Waitakere streams

The variety of native bird 
species per monitoring site 
throughout the city (including 
the Opanuku, Oratia and 
Swanson stream corridors) is 
maintained or improved in the 
long term

Maintaining 6 
or more bird 
species per 
annum

12 native bird 
species.

Maintaining 6 
or more bird 
species per 
annum

Stormwater network 
condition rating

Stormwater network 
condition is maintained 
to an affordable level, 
while ensuring that 
there is no signifi cant 
long term deterioration

Condition analysis, monitoring, 
CCTV inspections and 
modelling of stormwater 
network. Measured as a 
percentage of the network 
rated as being in a very good 
to average condition, as 
defi ned in the international 
infrastructure asset 
management manual.

98% of the 
stormwater 
network per 
annum 1

92% of the 
network in 
very good 
to average 
condition 

98% of the 
stormwater 
network per 
annum

Regulatory 
compliance

Ensure that there are 
no breaches of the 
Resource Management 
Act

Resource consents obtained 
for stormwater networks

100% per 
annum

100% 100% per 
annum

No justifi ed abatement notices 
or enforcements proceedings 
by the Auckland Regional 
Council

100% per 
annum

100% 100% per 
annum

1. The 98% condition rating target was based on limited data. Using additional CCTV information it is now calculated 
at 92%. This is still satisfactory for a network with an average age of 27 years.

Apart from the above exceptions, all measures for this activity are on or exceeded their target.
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There are large amounts of items carried forward into 2009/2010. This is due to projects such as New Lynn and NorSGA 
being dependent on third parties. 

The scheduled programme for Project Twin Streams was not completed and has been carried forward to 2009/2010.

Works Programme

Details
2008/2009

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009
Annual Plan

$000’s

Key Projects 

Stormwater Network Renewal Programme 908 1,050 

Stormwater Treatment Facilities 86 145 

Video Programme 3 210 

Miscellaneous renewals including inlets, outlets and manholes 289 730 

Stormwater Network Upgrade Programme 4,196 3,571 

State Highway 16 & 18 Hobsonville Services 130 190 

Project Twin Streams 4,329 7,508 

Twin Stream Cycleways & Walkways - 2,319 

Stormwater strategy - stream upgrading programme 313 512 

NORSGA Capital Expenditure 617 2,000 

Stormwater catchment planning - 638 

Stormwater quality treatment 264 1,550 
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Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

Activity Costs

Maintenance and running costs  3,699  2,820  4,589 

Depreciation  5,419  5,049  4,878 

Interest  2,766  2,766  3,264 

Total  11,884  10,635  12,731 

Activity Revenue

Connection fees and other charges  723  901  1,128 

Loan  1,092  -  2,753 

Development contributions  35  1,333  612 

Other capital recoveries  186  -  - 

Project Twin Streams recoveries  6,185  9,788  5,289 

General rates  8,755  8,420  7,476 

Total  16,976  20,442  17,258 

Net Activity Surplus (Defi cit)  5,092  9,807  4,527 

Capital Expenditure

 Stormwater infrastructure  6,720  13,973  4,890 

 Project Twin Streams  4,329  7,508  4,915 

 Total  11,049  21,481  9,805 

Funded by:

Loan  3,962  8,744  3,077 

Development contributions  35  1,333  612 

Other Capital recoveries  186  -  - 

Project Twin Streams recoveries  6,185  9,788  5,289 

Depreciation reserve  681  1,616  747 

Accumulated funds  -  -  80 

Total  11,049  21,481  9,805 
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What We Do

Ninety percent of Waitakere is provided with a wastewater 
service. The network collects wastewater from 
approximately 60,000 properties (including residential, 
industrial, commercial and institutions). Wastewater from 
the network is currently delivered to Watercare Services 
Limited through a network of branch sewers throughout 
the city, connecting to the Western Interceptor. The 
wastewater then fl ows to the Mangere Wastewater 
Treatment Plant for treatment and disposal.

Those remaining properties in the rural areas, rely on on-
site treatment and disposal systems.

The Council provides a three yearly pump out service for 
septic tank systems. Ownership and maintenance of these 
systems remain with the property owner.

The Council adopted the principles of Agenda 21 in 1993 
as the basis for sustainable development of the city. Since 
that time the Council has actively pursued alternatives to 
conventional wastewater infrastructure. These include 
feasibility studies relating to mini and local treatment 
facilities, storage tanks at known overfl ow points, piping 
materials that lessen renewal costs and education on water 
conservation with its fl ow on effect on wastewater disposal.

Waitakere discharges on average approximately 44,000 
cubic metres of wastewater each day to the Mangere 
Wastewater Treatment Plant for treatment.

Levels of Service

The Council will continue to provide wastewater services in 
accordance with the current levels of service, but with the 
additional emphasis on measures to reduce the number of 
overfl ows. This includes accelerating the programmes for 
fl ushing, videoing, root cutting, repair and renewal work.

Wastewater
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Levels of Service

Main Activities
Level of Service 
Statement

How will we 
measure this

Target
Actual 
Achievement

To be achieved 
by 2016

Reliability of 
the wastewater 
system

Ensure reliability of 
wastewater system

Number of blockages and 
overfl ows in the wastewater 
network 

Less than 
17 per 1,000 
properties for 
the fi rst three 
years

16.86 
per 1,000 
properties

Improvement 
achieved annually 
up to a target of 
less than 12 per 
1,000 properties in 
a given year by 30 
June 2016

Reduce the adverse 
effects of wastewater 
overfl ows on the 
environment, particularly 
streams

Reduce the number of 
wastewater overfl ows from 
the wastewater network

10% in 
2008/2009 1

3.1% Improvement 
achieved annually 
up to a target of 
25% by 30 June 
2016

Public health 
and safety

Ensure public health and 
safety through prompt 
incident response

Respond to wastewater 
overfl ows within 2 hours

98% per 
annum

98% 98% per annum

Clear blockages within 6 
hours of a sewer block

95% per 
annum

99% 95% per annum

Respond to health related 
complaints regarding septic 
tanks within 2 working days

98% per 
annum

100% 98% per annum

Wastewater 
network 
condition rating

Wastewater network 
condition is maintained 
to an affordable level, 
while ensuring that there 
is no signifi cant long term 
deterioration

Condition analysis, 
monitoring, CCTV 
inspections and modelling 
of wastewater network. 
Measured as a percentage 
of the network rated as 
being in a very good to 
average condition, as 
defi ned in the international 
infrastructure asset 
management manual.

90% of the 
wastewater 
network per 
annum

90% of the 
network is 
in very good 
to average 
condition 
based on 
sample 
examined

90% of the 
wastewater 
network per 
annum

Regulatory 
compliance

Ensure that there are no 
breaches of the Resource 
Management Act

Resource consents obtained 
for wastewater networks

100% per 
annum

100% 100% per annum

No overfl ows from 
wastewater pumping 
stations that result in an 
adverse effect on the 
environment

100% per 
annum

100% 100% per annum

No justifi ed abatement 
notices or enforcements 
proceedings by the Auckland 
Regional Council

100% per 
annum

100% 100% per annum

1. Limited progress has been made in reducing the number of wastewater overfl ows in 2008/09. Tree roots, fat deposition 
and foreign objects continue to be the main cause of overfl ows.

Apart from the above exceptions, all measures for this activity are on or exceeded their target. 
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There are items carried forward into 2009/2010. This is due to projects such as New Lynn and NorSGA being dependent on 
third parties. 

Works Programme

Details
2008/2009

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009
Annual Plan

$000’s

Key Projects 

Sewer renewals 1,534 5,183 

Pump stations 18 210 

Video Programme - 328 

Miscellaneous renewals including pipe bridges and manholes 312 1,792 

Wastewater network upgrade programme 3,065 2,728 

State Highway 16, 18 and NORSGA 22 186 

Infi ltration and infl ow programme 3,865 5,782 
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Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

Activity Costs

Wastewater maintenance and operations  5,743  3,837  5,302 

Watercare Services Limited for wastewater treatment and disposal  15,987  16,060  14,625 

Depreciation  6,226  5,315  5,165 

Interest  3,355  3,355  2,733 

Total  31,311  28,567  27,825 

Activity Revenue

Connection fees and other charges  460  566  791 

Development contributions  1,922  3,772  2,060 

Wastewater targeted rate  27,156  27,132  23,832 

Rural sewerage targeted rate  614  696  648 

Environmental monitoring rate  173  173  134 

Loan  1,908  -  1,774 

Total  32,233  32,339  29,239 

Net Activity Surplus (Defi cit)  922  3,772  1,414 

Capital expenditure  8,816  12,428  7,475 

Total  8,816  12,428  7,475 

Funded by:

Loan  4,242  4,641  2,311 

Development contributions  1,922  3,772  2,060 

Depreciation reserve  2,559  3,922  2,853 

Accumulated funds  93  93  251 

Total  8,816  12,428  7,475 
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What We Do

Most of Waitakere is provided with a water supply service 
(97.5% of population), except for some properties in the 
rural areas. Water is supplied to all customers through 
water meters installed at the property boundary. The 
domestic water meters are read six monthly while the 
larger commercial customer meters are read and billed 
either monthly or two-monthly.

The Council works in partnership with the region in 
implementing the Auckland Water Management Plan.

Levels of Service

The Council will continue to supply water in accordance 
with current levels of service but with an emphasis on the 
proactive fl ushing programme and backfl ow prevention 
programme as part of water quality improvement.

Water supply
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Levels of Service

Main Activities
Level of Service 
Statement

How will we 
measure this

Target
Actual 
Achievement

To be achieved 
by 2016

Reliability 
of water 
infrastructure

To provide adequate water 
fl ow and pressure

Provide adequate fl ow and 
pressure for fi re fi ghting 
by ensuring fi re hydrants 
meet the fi re fi ghting water 
supplies code of practice 
SNZ PAS4509:2003

92% per 
annum

98% 92% per annum

Ensure reliability of water 
system

Number of major faults 
in the water reticulation 
network (not to exceed 12 
per 1,000 connections)

Less than 12 
per annum

8.8 per 1,000 Less than 12 per 
annum

Fast response to water 
mains breaks

Response to major faults 
in the water reticulation 
network within 2 hours

98% per 
annum

98% 98% per annum

Ensure the water supply is 
restored within 6 hours of a 
major water fault

98% per 
annum

99% 98% per annum

Reliability of 
water quality

The Council’s own 
drinking water systems 
are safe, reliable and 
clean

Ensure water supply quality 
as affected by the Council’s 
own network complies with 
the Ministry of Health's 
drinking water standards 
for New Zealand (2000) and 
achieves 'A' grading

100% of ‘A’ 
grade per 
annum

100% of 'A' 
Grade per 
annum

100% of ‘A’ grade 
per annum

Water 
conservation

Water is conserved 
and used effi ciently

Reduce average domestic 
metered water use per 
person in a given year

Over the fi rst 
three years 
to reduce to 
159 litres per 
person by 30 
June 2009

157 litres per 
person per 
day

Improvement 
achieved annually 
up to a target 
of 145 litres per 
person by 30 June 
2016

Water loss in the water 
supply system is kept 
to a practical minimum 1

Less than 
75 litres per 
connection 
per day

82 litres per 
connection 
per day

Less than 75 litres 
per connection 
per day

Water network 
condition rating

Water network condition 
is maintained to an 
affordable level, while 
ensuring that there is 
no signifi cant long term 
deterioration

Condition analysis, 
monitoring, CCTV 
inspections and modelling of 
water network. Measured as 
a percentage of the network 
rated as being in a very good 
to average condition, as 
defi ned in the international 
infrastructure asset 
management manual.

95% of 
the water 
network per 
annum

97% of the 
network is 
in very good 
to average 
condition 
based on 
the sample 
examined

95% of the water 
network per 
annum

1. Increased leakage in 2008/09 due to a number of leaks which have been diffi cult to locate.

Apart from the above exception, all measures for this activity are on or exceeded their target.
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There are items carried forward into 2009/2010. This is due to projects such as New Lynn and NorSGA being dependent on 
third parties. 

Works Programme

Details
2008/2009

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009
Annual Plan

$000’s

Key Projects 

Valve and hydrant repairs 298 310 

Watermain renewals 2,386 2,895 

Miscellaneous renewals including water meters, pumps, pipe bridges 121 282 

State Highway 16 & 18 Hobsonville Services - 428 

Drinking water quality improvements 213 250 

NORSGA Capex - 260 

Backfl ow Programme Installations 27 63 

Water Network Upgrade Programme 961 913 
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Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

Activity Costs

Maintenance and operations  7,543  8,241  7,513 

Bulk water purchase  8,467  8,821  7,570 

Depreciation  3,814  3,909  3,625 

Interest  1,388  1,388  1,442 

Total  21,212  22,359  20,150 

Activity Revenue

Water sales, connection fees and other charges  19,344  20,981  19,406 

Development contributions  101  292  85 

Loan  83  - 

Total  19,528  21,273  19,491 

Net Activity Surplus (Defi cit)  (1,684)  (1,086)  (659)

Capital expenditure  4,006  6,645  4,014 

Total  4,006  6,645  4,014 

Funded by:

Loan  1,100  2,866  1,077 

Development contributions  101  292  85 

Depreciation reserve  2,805  3,487  2,852 

Total  4,006  6,645  4,014 
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The functions that support the 19 activities are:

Support activities

Chief Executive’s Offi ce
Risk Management
Legal and Insurance
Human Resources
Information Management
Finance
Property
Customer Services
Unit Administration

Planning

City Development
Strategic Projects
Strategy and Development

Miscellaneous interest expense, depreciation, levies and 
payments to other organisations and miscellaneous items 
that were not allocated to an activity are also included here.

Levels of Services

These functions are primarily internally focused to assist 
and support the 19 activities.

The Council has adopted a Customer Services Charter, a 
summary of which can be found in Volume One, page 78 
of the LTCCP 2006-2016. This charter details what response 
anybody who has any contact with the Council can expect 
and includes a procedure for complaints.

Support and Planning



Annual Report // Including Sustainability Report 2008/2009 176
P

a
rt F

o
u

r // A
ctiv

ity
 S

ta
tem

en
ts

Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

Activity Costs

Overheads and unit administration

Overheads for allocation  10,976  13,043  14,926 

Unit administration  10,994  10,459  10,349 

Other items not included in activity plans

Community facilities property  1,176  629  574 

Economic initiatives  138  79  137 

Maori relationships  499  534  444 

Partnerships  959  1,302  775 

Risk management  (3)  -  15 

Communications  1,305  1,548  1,376 

Information and support for elected members  1,385  895  1,260 

External levies and payments to other organisations  3,291  3,585  3,119 

Planning

Strategic projects

Urban and rural villages  2,041  2,568  1,855 

Strong innovative economy  659  763  889 

Strong communities  -  -  55 

Strategy

Urban and rural villages  121  270  217 

Strong innovative economy  1,472  1,452  1,344 

Strong communities  1,005  1,174  701 

Active democracy  314  440  199 

Green network  399  641  206 

Three waters  144  120  33 

Sustainable energy and clean air  287  212  180 

Depreciation allocated from overheads  7,022  5,957  7,258 

Community facilities property depreciation  975  971  903 

Interest allocated from overheads  2,807  2,302  1,985 

Sustainability Projects  -  150  - 

Total  47,966  49,094  48,800 
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Activity Costs

Details
2008/2009 

Actual
$000’s

2008/2009 
Annual Plan

$000’s 

2007/2008 
Actual
$000’s

Activity Revenue

Support

Other items not included in activity plans

Community facilities property  212  91  168 

Partnerships  1,644  739  1,107 

Planning

Strategic projects

Urban and rural villages  25  -  10 

Strategy

Strong innovative economy  -  -  85 

General rates  27,386  27,271  29,653 

Depreciation reserve  1,003  832  911 

Development contributions  194  1,075  86 

Accumulated funds  1.691  7,814  3,551 

Total  32,155  37,822  35,571 

Net Activity Surplus (Defi cit)  (15,811)  (11,272)  (13,229)

Capital Expenditure

Plant replacement  1,608  1,273  1,313 

Civic centre and accommodation  17  25  14 

Information management  6,834  9,000  8,303 

Property  478  905  143 

Customer services  -  -  15 

Strategic projects  11,505  65,703  8,788 

Strategy  -  100  - 

Total  20,442  77,006  18,576 

Funded by:

Loan  18,154  73,358  18,037 

Development contributions  194  1,075  86 

Depreciation reserve  2,094  2,573  453 

Total  20,442  77,006  18,576 
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Financial Statements
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Income Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2009

Note

Council
Actual 

2009

$000’s

Council 
Plan
2009

$000’s

Council 
Actual 

2008

$000’s

Group 
Actual 

2009

$000’s

Group 
Actual 

2008

$000’s

Income
Revenue from rates 1 148,553 149,674 137,358 148,553 137,358 

Other revenue 2 105,630 131,381 102,182 110,446 104,407 

Other gains 3 51 - 11,583 51 11,583 

Total income 254,234 281,055 251,123 259,051 253,348 

Expenditure
Employee benefi t expenses 4 75,565 74,192 72,675 77,793 74,765 

Other expenses 5 98,179 96,321 102,265 100,629 102,186 

Finance expenses 6 29,094 27,292 24,567 29,122 24,600 

Depreciation and amortisation 7 45,468 42,516 41,376 45,599 41,509 

Other losses 3 36,656  -  12,748 36,656 12,443 

Total expenditure 284,963 240,321 253,631 289,800 255,503 

Surplus/(defi cit) before taxation 

and share of associate surplus/

(defi cit)

(30,728) 40,734 (2,508) (30,750) (2,155)

Share of associate surplus/(defi cit) 15  -   -   -  (887) 152 

Income tax expense 8  -   -   -  (7) (4)

Surplus/(defi cit) after taxation and

share of associate surplus/(defi cit)
(30,728) 40,734 (2,508) (31,644) (2,007)

Explanations of signifi cant variances against budget are detailed in note 35.

The accompanying notes form part of these fi nancial statements.



Annual Report // Including Sustainability Report 2008/2009 182
P

a
rt F

iv
e // F

in
a
n

cia
l S

ta
tem

en
ts

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2009

Note

Council
Actual 

2009

$000’s

Council 
Plan
2009

$000’s

Council 
Actual 

2008

$000’s

Group 
Actual 

2009

$000’s

Group 
Actual 

2008

$000’s

Equity
Opening balance  2,136,158  2,228,184  2,140,320  2,139,757  2,143,418 

Amounts recognised in equity
Property, plant and equipment

Revaluation gains/(losses) 9  200,886  56,280  -  200,886  - 

Financial assets at fair value through equity

Revaluation gain/(loss) 9  29,323  -  (1,654)  29,323  (1,654)

Income and expenses recognised 

directly to equity
 230,209  56,280  (1,654)  230,209  (1,654)

Surplus/(defi cit) for the year  (30,728)  40,734  (2,508)  (31,644)  (2,007)

Total recognised income 

and expenses
 199,481  97,014  (4,162)  198,566  (3,661)

Equity – closing balance 9  2,335,639  2,325,198  2,136,158  2,338,323  2,139,757 

The accompanying notes form part of these fi nancial statements.
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Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2009

Note

Council
Actual 

2009

$000’s

Council 
Plan
2009

$000’s

Council 
Actual 

2008

$000’s

Group 
Actual 

2009

$000’s

Group 
Actual 

2008

$000’s

Equity
Accumulated funds 1,389,203 1,515,653 1,425,378 1,391,887 1,428,977 

Council created reserves 23,732 13,628 18,331 23,732 18,331 

Restricted reserves 920 811 875 920 875 

Fair value through equity reserve 115,774 88,105 86,451 115,774 86,451 

Asset revaluation reserves 806,009 707,001 605,123 806,009 605,123 

Total equity 9 2,335,639 2,325,198 2,136,158 2,338,323 2,139,757 

Represented by:

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 10 3,856 - 773 8,168 5,081 

Debtors and other receivables 11 34,413 25,158 33,244 34,613 33,543 

Derivative fi nancial instruments 12 5,292 7,003 5,090 5,292 5,090 

Inventories 50 33 100 50 100 

Non-current assets held for sale 13 4,414 7,155 9,010 4,414 9,010 

Income tax receivable  -   -   -  93 66 

Total current assets 48,025 39,349 48,217 52,630 52,890 

Non-current assets
Debtors and other receivables 11 381 623 267 381 267 

Other fi nancial assets 14 242,797 215,128 213,474 241,772 212,449 

Investments in associates 15 6,000 2,000 6,000 5,165 6,052 

Investment properties 16 13,901 109,010 21,851 13,901 21,851 

Property, plant and equipment 17 2,550,149 2,594,229 2,268,689 2,550,431 2,269,038 

Intangible assets 18 24,207 26,595 21,846 24,229 21,875 

Deferred tax 8  -   -   -  6 5 

Total non-current assets 2,837,435 2,947,585 2,532,127 2,835,884 2,531,537 

Total assets 2,885,459 2,986,934 2,580,344 2,888,514 2,584,427 
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Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2009 continued

Note

Council
Actual 

2009

$000’s

Council 
Plan
2009

$000’s

Council 
Actual 

2008

$000’s

Group 
Actual 

2009

$000’s

Group 
Actual 

2008

$000’s

Current liabilities
Creditors and other payables 19 44,340 47,873 45,952 44,585 46,322 

Call borrowings 10  -  2,644  -   -   - 

Borrowings 20 132,759 55,000 55,508 132,782 55,529 

Employee benefi t liabilities 21 6,423 5,723 5,949 6,499 6,019 

Derivative fi nancial instruments 12 28,524 - 2,242 28,524 2,242 

Provisions 22 636 1,406 1,081 636 1,081 

Total current liabilities 212,682 112,646 110,732 213,027 111,193 

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 20 319,182 543,983 318,674 319,208 318,697 

Employee benefi t liabilities 21 4,033 3,357 3,520 4,033 3,520 

Provisions 22 13,924 1,750 11,260 13,924 11,260 

Total non-current liabilities 337,139 549,090 333,454 337,164 333,477 

Total liabilities 549,821 661,736 444,186 550,191 444,670 

Net assets 2,335,639 2,325,198 2,136,158 2,338,323 2,139,757 

The accompanying notes form part of these fi nancial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2009

Note

Council
Actual 

2009

$000’s

Council 
Plan
2009

$000’s

Council 
Actual 

2008

$000’s

Group 
Actual 

2009

$000’s

Group 
Actual 

2008

$000’s

Cash fl ows from operating activities
Cash was provided from:

Receipts from rates 129,715 129,339 117,050 129,715 117,050 

Receipts from water by meter 18,839 20,225 18,351 18,839 18,351 

Receipts from subsidies and grants 24,132 48,199 21,826 25,255 22,864 

Dividends received 189 - 159 189 159 

Interest received 177 9 72 387 360 

Other receipts 59,965 77,483 59,971 60,873 60,808 

233,016 275,255 217,429 235,258 219,592 

Cash was applied to:

Payments to suppliers and employees (151,852) (170,252) (147,901) (153,976) (149,711)

Auckland War Memorial Museum levy (2,017) (2,003) (1,949) (2,017) (1,949)

MOTAT levy (763) (763) (662) (763) (662)

Income tax paid / (received) - - - - - 

Auckland Regional Council rates (209) (256) (246) (209) (246)

Interest paid (29,071) (27,292) (24,290) (29,073) (24,290)

Goods and services tax (net) 69 - (1,221) 6 (1,376)

(183,841) (200,566) (176,269) (186,032) (178,234)

Net cash fl ow from 

operating activities
23 49,175 74,689 41,160 49,226 41,358 

Cash fl ows from investing activities
Cash was provided from:

Proceeds from sale of property, 
plant and equipment

5,218 - 8,955 5,216 8,955 

Community loan repayments received 367 - 56 367 56 

5,585 - 9,011 5,583 9,011 
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued

Note

Council
Actual 

2009

$000’s

Council 
Annual 

Plan 2009

$000’s

Council 
Actual 

2008

$000’s

Group 
Actual 

2009

$000’s

Group 
Actual 

2008

$000’s

Cash fl ows from investing activities continued
Cash was applied to:

Purchase of property, 
plant and equipment

(124,839) (308,753) (109,817) (124,882) (109,943)

Purchase of intangible assets (5,115) - (14,860) (5,117) (14,866)

Purchase of shares in Associate - - (4,000) - (4,423)

(129,954) (308,753) (128,677) (129,999) (129,232)

Net cash fl ow from 

investing activities
(124,369) (308,753) (119,666) (124,416) (120,221)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities
Cash was provided from:

Proceeds from borrowings 131,000 280,478 120,000 131,000 120,000 

Cash was applied to:

Repayment of borrowings (52,723) (55,000) (30,632) (52,723) (30,632)

Net cash fl ow from 

fi nancing activities
78,277 225,478 89,368 78,277 89,368 

Total net cash fl ows 3,083 (8,586) 10,862 3,087 10,505 

Cash, cash equivalents and bank 
overdrafts at the beginning of the year

773 5,942 (10,089) 5,081 (5,424)

Cash, cash equivalents and bank 

overdrafts at the end of the year
10 3,856 (2,644) 773 8,168 5,081 

Composition of cash balances :
Cash and deposits 3,856 - 773 7,783 1,251 

Short term deposits/(borrowings) - (2,644) - 385 3,830 

Cash balances at the end 

of the year
3,856 (2,644) 773 8,168 5,081 

The GST (net) component of operating activities refl ects the net GST paid and received to/from the Inland Revenue 
Department. The GST (net) component has been presented on a net basis, as the gross amounts do not provide 
meaningful information for fi nancial statement purposes. The accompanying notes form part of these fi nancial statements.
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Statement of Accounting Policies
For the year ended 30 June 2009

Reporting entity

Waitakere City Council (the Council) is a local authority 
governed by the Local Government Act 2002. The primary 
objective of the Council is to provide services and facilities 
for the community as a social benefi t rather than making 
a fi nancial return. Accordingly, the Council is designated 
as a public benefi t entity for the purposes of New Zealand 
equivalents to International Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS). 

Financial statements for the Council and Group are 
presented. The consolidated fi nancial statements 
include Council, its subsidiaries and the Group’s 
interest in associates.  

Details of the subsidiaries and associates are as follows:

• Waitakere City Holdings Ltd (100% owned)

• Waitakere Enterprise Trust Board (100% owned)

• Auckland Film Studio Ltd (formerly Prime West Ltd) 
(44.4% owned)

• Waitakere Properties Ltd (100% owned by Waitakere City 
Holdings Ltd) 

• Prime West Management Ltd (40% owned by Waitakere 
Properties Ltd)

All Waitakere City Council subsidiaries and associates 
are incorporated in New Zealand.

The fi nancial statements of the Council and Group are for 
the year ended 30 June 2009. The fi nancial statements were 
authorised for issue by the Council on 28 October 2009.

Basis of preparation

Dissolution basis of accounts preparation

The Royal Commission on Auckland Governance 
reported to the Government in March 2009, its principal 
recommendation being that the local authorities governing 
the Auckland region be dissolved and a single entity is 
formed to replace them.

Following that report the Local Government (Tamaki 
Makaurau Reorganisation) Act 2009 was passed.
The purpose of the legislation means:

• Waitakere City Council (the local authority) will be 
dissolved on 1 November 2010. As a consequence of the 
dissolution of the local authority, the group structure in 
its current form will also cease to exist. The functions, 
duties and powers of the local authority and group will 
become the functions, duties and powers of the single 

unitary authority (the Auckland Council) that will be 
responsible for governing the entire Auckland region 
from 1 November 2010.

• All property belonging to local authority and group 
will be vested in the Auckland Council.

• All money payable to or by the local authority and group 
will become payable to or by the Auckland Council.

• All rights, liabilities, contracts, entitlements and 
engagements of the local authority and group will 
become the rights, liabilities, contracts, entitlements, 
and engagements of the Auckland Council.

• The establishment of the Auckland Transition Agency that 
will develop an organisational structure for the Auckland 
Council so that it can operate effi ciently and effectively 
on and from 1 November 2010 and it will develop a 
change management plan that includes protocols and 
processes for managing the transition of:

 (i)  assets from existing local government organisations 
to the Council structure;

 (ii)  staff from existing local government organisations 
to the Council structure having regard to the existing 
employment agreements applying to the staff.

• Decisions are yet to be made on the Auckland Council’s 
structure and operations including how the systems, 
plans, policies, assets and liabilities of the local authority, 
including its subsidiaries will be vested and integrated. 

The pending dissolution of Waitakere City Council requires 
the fi nancial statements to be prepared on a dissolution 
basis, not the normal going-concern basis. However, 
Waitakere City Council and group expect the services 
it currently delivers to continue to be delivered by the 
organisational structure put in place by the Auckland 
Council and therefore the assets and liabilities of Waitakere 
City Council and group will be relevant to the Auckland 
Council. For that reason, while the fi nancial statements 
have been prepared on a dissolution basis, no adjustments 
have been made to the fi nancial statements because of the 
dissolution basis of preparation.

Statement of compliance with international fi nancial 

reporting standards

The fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of Section 98 and Part 3 of schedule 
10 of the Local Government Act 2002 which includes the 
requirement to comply with generally accepted accounting 
practice (NZ GAAP). 
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Statement of Accounting Policies
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued

These fi nancial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with NZ GAAP. They comply with NZ IFRS 
and other applicable Financial Reporting Standards, as 
appropriate for public benefi t entities.

Measurement base

The fi nancial statements are prepared on an historical cost 
basis, modifi ed by the revaluation of certain infrastructural 
assets, investment property and fi nancial instruments 
(including derivative instruments).

The fi nancial statements are presented in New Zealand 
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars ($’000).      

New accounting standards and interpretations

Standards and Interpretations that have recently been 
issued or amended but are not yet effective have not been 
adopted by Council for the annual reporting period ended 
30 June 2009. 

• NZ IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (revised 
2007) is effective for reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2009. The revised standard requires 
information in fi nancial statements to be aggregated on the 
basis of shared characteristics and introduces a statement 
of comprehensive income. Council will apply this standard 
for the reporting period ending 30 June 2010 and is yet 
to decide whether it will prepare a single statement of 
comprehensive income or a separate income statement 
followed by a statement of comprehensive income. 

• NZ IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (revised 2007) is effective 
for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2009. The revised standard requires all borrowing 
costs to be capitalised if they are directly attributable 
to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset. Council will apply this standard for the 
reporting period ending 30 June 2010 and it has not yet 
determined the potential impact of the new standard.

• NZ IFRS 3 Business Combinations (revised 2008) and the 
amended NZ IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements are effective for reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 July 2009 and must be applied prospectively 
from that date. As the Council and group are currently not 
planning to enter into any new business combinations, the 
revised and amended standards will not have any impact.

Adoption of new accounting standards

The Council has adopted IAS 2 Inventories and all 
consequential amendments which became applicable 
on 1 January 2008. The adoption of this standard has not 
affected the surplus or fi nancial position of the Council 
and group.

NZ IFRS 7 Financial Instruments Disclosures (issued March 
2009) is effective for reporting periods beginning after 1 
January 2009. The amendments introduce a three-level 
fair value disclosure hierarchy that distinguishes fair value 
measurements by the signifi cance of the inputs used. 
These disclosures are expected to provide more information 
about the relative reliability of fair value measurements.

In addition, the amendments enhance disclosure 
requirements on the nature and extent of liquidity risk 
arising from fi nancial instruments to which an entity is 
exposed. The amendments clarify current requirements to 
address application issues. The amendments also reinforce 
the principles of NZ IFRS 7 to ensure that information 
disclosed enables users to evaluate the nature and extent 
of liquidity risk arising from fi nancial instruments and how 
the entity manages this risk.

Signifi cant accounting policies 

(a) Basis of consolidation

   The purchase method is used to prepare the 
consolidated fi nancial statements, which involves 
adding together like items of assets, liabilities, equity, 
income and expenses on a line-by-line basis. All 
signifi cant intra-group balances, transactions, income 
and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

   Subsidiaries

   The Council consolidates as subsidiaries in the group 
fi nancial statements all entities where the Council 
(directly or through a subsidiary) has the capacity to 
control their fi nancing and operating polices so as to 
obtain benefi ts from the activities of the entity. This 
power exists where the Council controls the majority 
voting power on the governing body or where such 
policies have been irreversibly predetermined by the 
Council or where the determination of such polices 
is unable to materially impact the level of potential 
ownership benefi ts that arise from the activities of 
the subsidiary. 

   The Council measures the cost of a business 
combination as the aggregate of the fair values, 
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at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities 
incurred, in exchange for control of the subsidiary 
plus any costs directly attributable to the business 
combination.

    Any excess of the cost of the business combination 
over the Council and group’s interest in the net 
fair value of the identifi able assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities is recognised as goodwill. 
If the Council and group’s interest in the net fair 
value of the identifi able assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities recognised exceeds the costs 
of the business combination, the difference will be 
recognised immediately in the income statement.

   Investments in subsidiaries are carried at costs in the 
      Council’s own “parent entity” fi nancial statements. 

   Investments in associates

    The Council’s investment in its associates is 
accounted for using the equity method of accounting 
in the consolidated fi nancial statements and at cost 
in the parent. 

    Associates are entities in which the Council (directly 
or through a subsidiary) has signifi cant infl uence, 
but not control, over the operating and fi nancial 
policies. The Council’s share of the net surplus of 
associates is recognised as a component of operating 
revenue in the income statement, after adjusting 
for the differences between the accounting policies 
of the group and associates. The Council’s share of 
other gains and losses of associates is recognised 
as a component of total recognised revenues and 
expenses in the statements of movements in equity. 
Dividends received from associates are credited to 
the carrying amount of the investment in associates.

(b)  Revenue recognition

   Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration 
received or receivable. Specifi c accounting policies for 
major categories of revenue are outlined below:

   Rates revenue

   Rates are set annually by a resolution from the 
Council and relate to a fi nancial year. All ratepayers 
are invoiced within the fi nancial year to which the 
rates have been set. Rates revenue is recognised 
when invoiced. 

   Water Revenue

   Revenue for water by meter is recognised on an 
accrual basis. Unbilled usage, as a result of unread 
meters at year end is accrued based on past usage.

   Grants

    Government grants are recognised when conditions 
pertaining to their eligibility have been fulfi lled. 

    Grants and contributions received in connection 
with the acquisition of property, plant and equipment 
are recognised as income in the year that they 
are received.

   Provision of services

    Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised 
by reference to the stage of completion of the 
transaction at balance date, based on the actual 
service provided as a percentage of the total 
services being provided.

   Sale of goods

    Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when 
a product is sold to the customer and when all the 
risks and rewards of ownership have been 
transferred to the customer.

   Vested assets

    Assets vested in the Council at nil or nominal cost are 
recognised as revenue based on their fair value when 
control over the asset is obtained. 

   Infringements and fi nes

    Traffi c and Parking Infringement revenue is 
recognised when the infringement notices are issued. 

   Investment property leases

    Lease rentals are recognised on a straight line basis 
over the period of the term of the lease.

   Interest and dividends

    Interest income is recognised using the effective 
interest rate method. Dividends are recognised when 
the right to receive payment is established.

   Development contributions

    Development contributions are recognised as 
revenue upon entitlement, which is when the 
contribution/levy is due and payable following 
fulfi lment of conditions pertaining to entitlement.

(c) Borrowing costs

   Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense 
in the period in which they are incurred.

Statement of Accounting Policies
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued
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(d) Leases

   Finance leases

   A fi nance lease is a lease that transfers to the 
lessees substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an asset, whether 
or not title is eventually transferred.

   At the commencement of the lease term, fi nance 
leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the 
balance sheet at the lower of the fair value of the 
leased item or the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. 

   Lease payments are apportioned between the 
fi nance charges and reduction of the lease liability 
so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are 
recognised as an expense in the income statement.

   The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated 
over its useful life. If there is no certainty as to 
whether ownership will be obtained at the end of 
the lease term, the asset is fully depreciated over 
the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

   Operating leases

   An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an asset. Lease payments under an 
operating lease are recognised as an expense on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

(e) Grant expenditure

   Non-discretionary grants are those grants that are 
awarded if the grant application meets the specifi ed 
criteria and are recognised as expenditure when an 
application that meets the specifi ed criteria for the 
grant has been received.

   Discretionary grants are those grants where there is no 
obligation to award on receipt of the grant application 
and are only recognised as expenditure when the 
successful applicant has been notifi ed of the decision.

(f)  Cash and cash equivalents

   Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, 
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities 
of three months or less and bank overdrafts.

   Bank overdrafts are shown within in current liabilities 
in the balance sheet.

(g) Debtors and other receivables

   Trade and other receivables are initially measured at 
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any 
provision for impairment.

   Loans, including loans to community organisations 
made at nil, or below-market interest rates are initially 
recognised at the present value of their expected 
future cash fl ows, discounted at the current market 
rate of return for a similar asset/investment. They are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. The difference between the 
face value and present value of expected future cash 
fl ows of the loan is recognised in the income statement 
as a grant.

   A provision for impairment of receivables is established 
when there is objective evidence that the Council will 
not be able to collect all amounts due according to 
the original terms of receivables. The amount of the 
provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
fl ows, discounted using the effective interest method.

(h) Inventories

  Inventories held for distribution are stated at cost. 

(i)  Financial instruments

   Financial instruments are classifi ed into the following 
three headings: (i) fi nancial assets comprising: cash 
and cash equivalents; loans and receivables; available 
for sale assets; and investments; (ii) fi nancial liabilities 
comprising: payables and borrowings; (iii) derivatives.

   Financial instruments are initially recognised at 
fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequent 
measurement is dependant upon the classifi cation 
determined by the Council. 

  Financial assets

   Financial assets are classifi ed into four categories 
as detailed below. The classifi cation depends on the 
purpose for which the investments were acquired. The 
group determines the classifi cation of its investments 
at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation 
at every reporting date.

   Purchases and sales of fi nancial assets are recognised 
on trade-date, the date on which the group commits 
to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are 
derecognised when the rights to receive cash fl ows 

Statement of Accounting Policies
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued
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from the fi nancial asset have expired or have been 
transferred and the group has transferred substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership.

  The four categories of fi nancial assets are:

  • Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss

    Assets designated at fair value through profi t or loss 
are classifi ed as fi nancial assets if acquired principally 
for the purpose of selling in the short term or if so 
designated by the group. Derivatives are classifi ed 
within this category. 

    After initial recognition they are measured at their 
fair values with gains and losses on re-measurement 
recognised in the income statement.

  • Loans and receivables

    Loans and receivables are non-derivative fi nancial 
assets with fi xed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. They are included 
in current assets, except for maturities greater than 
12 months after balance date, which are included 
in non current assets. Loans and receivables assets 
comprise: cash and cash equivalents; debtors and 
other receivables; and term deposits.

     After initial recognition they are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method less impairment. Gains and losses when 
the asset is impaired or derecognised are 
recognised in the income statement.

   •  Held-to-maturity investments

    Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative 
fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable 
payments and fi xed maturities that the group has 
the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.

    After initial recognition they are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method less impairment. Gains and losses when 
the asset is impaired or derecognised are 
recognised in the income statement.

   • Financial assets at fair value through equity

    Financial assets at fair value through equity are 
non-derivative fi nancial assets that are either 
designated in this category or not classifi ed 
in any of the other categories. 

    These fi nancial assets are subsequently carried 
at fair value. Shares in companies other than 
associates and subsidiaries are classifi ed in this 

category and are recorded at fair value. An increase 
in the fair value of a shareholding is recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income unless 
it offsets a previous decrease recognised in the 
income statement, in which case it is recognised 
in the income statement. A decrease in fair value 
is recognised in income statement where it 
exceeds the increase previously recognised 
in equity.

   Financial liabilities

   Financial liabilities include creditors and other 
payables and borrowings. These liabilities fall within 
the category of loans and receivables.

    Derivatives

   The group uses various derivative fi nancial instruments 
to hedge exposures to interest rate risks. The group 
does not hold derivative fi nancial instruments for 
trading purposes. Approved derivative fi nancial 
instruments are: Forward Rate Agreements; Interest 
Rate Swaps; and Specifi ed Interest Rate Options.

   The Council has not adopted hedge account 
accounting. Derivatives are initially recognised at 
fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered 
into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair 
value at each balance date. Changes in the fair value 
of derivative fi nancial instruments are recognised in 
the income statement as an unrealised profi t or loss 
on derivative fi nancial instruments. The net fair value 
of derivative fi nancial instruments is recorded in the 
balance sheet as a current asset or liability.

   The portfolio of derivative fi nancial instruments is 
considered a hedge against the portfolio of current 
and future debt liabilities exposed to interest rate 
risk. Derivative fi nancial instruments are not assigned 
to any particular individual debt item, except for the 
case of fi xed interest rate ‘payer swaps’. Interest 
payable or receivable from derivative fi nancial 
instruments is recognised on the same basis as 
the underlying debt portfolio, as accrued revenue 
or expense in the income statement over the life 
of the agreement.

(j)  Non current assets held for sale

   Non current assets held for sale are classifi ed as held 
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through 
continuing use. Non current assets held for sale are 
measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value 

Statement of Accounting Policies
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued
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less cost to sell. Where a property previously accounted 
for as an investment property is intended to be sold, it 
has been reclassifi ed accordingly and recorded at the 
carrying amount at the date of the change of intention. 

   Where the carrying amount is greater than fair value 
less cost to sell, the decrease in value is recognised 
in the income statement.

   Non current assets held for sale is not depreciated 
while they are classifi ed as held for sale.

(k) Investment properties   

   Investment properties are properties which are held 
either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation, 
or for both. Investment properties are stated at fair 
value. An external, independent valuation company, 
having an appropriate recognised professional 
qualifi cation and recent experience in the location and 
category of property being valued, values the portfolio 
every year. The fair values are based on market values, 
being the estimated amount for which a property 
could be exchanged on the date of valuation between 
a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length 
transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties 
had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and 
without compulsion.

   Gains or losses arising from a change in the fair value 
of investment property are recognised in the income 
statement. Where an investment property is disposed 
of, the gain or loss is the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount and 
is recognised in the income statement in the year 
of disposal.  

  Investment properties are not depreciated.

(l)  Property, plant and equipment

   Property, plant and equipment consist of:
Operational assets – These include: land; buildings; 
library books; plant and equipment; motor vehicles; 
and leased assets. The Council owns a number of 
properties, which are maintained primarily to provide 
housing to pensioners. These properties are held for 
service delivery objectives as part of the Council’s social 
housing policy. These properties are accounted for as 
operational assets.

    Restricted assets – Restricted assets are parks and 
reserves owned by the Council which provide a benefi t 
or service to the community and cannot be disposed of 
because of legal or other restrictions.

   

Infrastructure assets – Infrastructure assets are the 
fi xed utility systems owned by the Council. Each asset 
class includes all items that are required for the network 
to function, for example, sewer reticulation includes 
reticulation piping and sewer pump stations.

Valuation

Under NZ IFRS 1 the group elected to use the fair value 
of its property plant and equipment as at 30 June 2005 as 
deemed cost for the 1 July 2005 opening balance sheet. 
Since 1 July 2005 the valuation policies as detailed below 
are applied:

Infrastructure assets, excluding land, are stated at valuation 
as determined at least every three years by an independent 
valuer, or a Council employee suffi ciently experienced to 
conduct a valuation. Valuations conducted by a Council 
employee are subject to review by an independent valuer. 

The latest valuation for infrastructure assets was performed 
as at 31 March 2009 and the basis of valuation is optimised 
depreciated replacement cost. Any increase in value of 
a class of infrastructure is recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income unless it offsets a previous 
decrease in value recognised in the income statement, 
in which case it is recognised in the income statement. 
A decrease in value relating to a class of infrastructure is 
recognised in the income statement where it exceeds the 
increase previously recognised in equity.

The carrying values of revalued items are reviewed at each 
balance date to ensure these values are not materially 
different to fair value.

All remaining classes of property, plant and equipment 
is shown at deemed cost or cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.

Additions

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset if and only if, it is probable that 
future economic benefi ts or service potential associated 
with the item will fl ow to the group and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably. 

In most instances, an item of property, plant and equipment 
is recognised at its cost. Where an asset is acquired at no 
cost, or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value as 
at the date of acquisition.

   

Statement of Accounting Policies
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued
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Disposals

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
the proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset. Gains 
and losses on disposals are reported net in the income 
statement. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts 
included in asset revaluation reserves in respect of those 
assets are transferred to retained earnings.

Subsequent costs

Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised 
only when it is probable that future economic benefi ts or 
service potential associated with the item will fl ow to the 
group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis for all 
property, plant and equipment (other than land, pavement 
formation and road marking) at rates that will write off the 
cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual 
values over their useful lives. Depreciation is not provided 
on assets under construction until they are complete and 
available for use. 

The useful lives and associated depreciation rates of major 
classes of assets have been estimated as follows:

No. of years

Land not depreciated

Buildings (at individual 

component level)
15-50

Motor vehicles, offi ce equipment,

furniture and fi ttings
5

Plant and equipment 10

Library books 8

Leased assets 3-5

Infrastructure assets

  Transport system

    – Pavement surface 3-75

    – Pavement layers 50-85

    – P avement formation, 

road marking
not depreciated

    – Major culverts, bridges, 

drainage control
80-100

    – Retaining walls and footpaths 50-80

    – Street lighting, traffi c signs, 

traffi c signals
20

    – Street furniture 

and safety barriers
30

No. of years

  Parks and reserves

    – Bridges, buildings, 

other structures
30-50

    – Drainage systems 20-33

    – Car parks and courts base 15-80

    – Furniture, fencing, tracks, 

surfaces, sports fi elds
5-75

    – Lighting 30

  Stormwater reticulation

    – Pipes 30-100

    – Manholes, cesspits, inlets 

and outlet structures
80

    – Detention and quality ponds, 

dam retaining walls
50

    – Swales, rain gardens, permeable

paving, sand fi lters
15-50

    – Mechanical devices 

(litter traps, enviropods)
5

    – Stream fl ood warning alarms, 

network modelling
10

    – Stream bank improvements 25

  Wastewater reticulation

    – Pipes 60-100

    – Manholes and dry chambers 80

    – Pipe bridges 60

    – Pump stations (at individual 

component level)
12-100

Water supply reticulation

    – Pipes 40-80

    – Fire hydrants, valves 25-70

    – Water meters 25-35

    – Pipe bridges 60

    – Reservoirs (at individual 

component level)
15-80

    – Drinking water monitoring stations 40

Statement of Accounting Policies
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   The residual value and the useful life of assets are 
reviewed and adjusted if applicable, at each fi nancial 
year end. 

(m) Intangible assets  

   Intangible assets comprise of purchased software 
licenses and internally developed software.

Acquired computer software and software licences are 
capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire 
and bring to use the specifi c software.

The production of identifi able and unique software 
products controlled by the Council are capitalised and 
recognised as intangible assets if the software will 
generate economic benefi ts exceeding costs beyond 
one year. Direct costs include employee costs incurred 
in developing the software and an appropriate portion 
of relevant overheads.

   Intangible assets are amortised on a straight line basis 
over their estimated useful lives of between 3 to10 
years. Cost associated with maintaining computer 
software are recognised as an expense as incurred.

(n) Impairment of property, plant and equipment 

and intangible assets

   Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
that have a fi nite useful life are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

   Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an 
asset where the future economic benefi ts or service 
potential of the asset are not primarily dependent on 
the asset’s ability to generate net cash infl ows and 
where the Council would, if deprived of the asset, 
replace its remaining future economic benefi ts or 
service potential.

   If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the asset is impaired and the carrying amount 
is written down to the recoverable amount. For revalued 
assets the impairment loss is recognised against the 
revaluation reserve for that class of asset. Where that 
results in a debit balance in the revaluation reserve, 
the balance is recognised in the income statement.

   For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total 
impairment loss is recognised in the income statement.

(o) Trade and other payables  

   Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
but due to their short term nature they are not 
discounted. They represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the group prior to the end of the 
fi nancial year that are unpaid and arise when the group 
becomes obliged to make future payments in respect 
of the purchase of these goods and services. The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 
30 days of recognition.

   Provisions

    Provisions are recognised when the group has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events, it is more likely than not that an outfl ow 
of resources will be required to settle the obligation 
and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions 
are not recognised for future operating losses.

    Where there are a number of similar obligations, the 
likelihood that an outfl ow will be required in settlement 
is determined by considering the class of obligations 
as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the 
likelihood of an outfl ow with respect to any one item 
included in the same class of obligations may be small.

    Provisions are measured at the present value of the 
expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that refl ects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specifi c to the obligation. The increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as 
an interest expense and is included in fi nance costs. 
Changes in the provision are recognised in the 
income statement.

   Financial guarantee contracts

    A fi nancial guarantee contract is a contract that 
requires the group to make specifi ed payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a 
specifi ed debtor fails to make payment when due.

    Financial guarantee contracts are initially recognised 
at fair value. If a fi nancial guarantee was issued 
in a stand-alone arms length transaction to an 
unrelated party, its fair value at inception is equal to 
the consideration received. When no consideration 
is received a provision is recognised based on the 
probability the group will be required to reimburse 
a holder for a loss incurred discounted to present 
value. The portion of the guarantee that remains 
unrecognised, prior to discounting to fair value, 
is disclosed as a contingent liability. 

Statement of Accounting Policies
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    Financial guarantees are subsequently measured at 
that initial recognition amount less any amortisation, 
however if the group assess that it is probable the 
expenditure will be required to settle a guarantee, 
then the provision for the guarantee is measured 
at the present value of the future expenditure.

   Landfi ll aftercare costs

    The Council is responsible for a provision of landfi ll 
aftercare costs. The provision is stated at the present 
value of the future cash outfl ows expected to be 
incurred, taking into account future events including 
new legal requirements and known improvements in 
technology. The liability includes all costs associated 
with landfi ll aftercare.

   Building weather-tightness

    The Council’s exposure in relation to the estimates 
and uncertainties surrounding the building weather-
tightness provision is disclosed in Note 22. 

(p) Employee entitlements  

   Short-term employee benefi ts

    Employee benefi ts that are expected to be settled 
within 12 months of balance date are measured at 
nominal values based on accrued entitlements at 
current rates of pay.

    These include salaries and wages accrued up to 
balance date, annual leave earned to, but not yet 
taken at balance date, retiring and long service 
leave entitlements expected to be settled 
within 12 months and sick leave.

    A liability for sick leave is recognised to the extent 
that absences in the coming year are expected to 
be greater than the sick leave entitlements earned 
in the coming year. The amount is calculated based 
on the unused sick leave entitlement that can be 
carried forward at balance date, to the extent that it is 
anticipated that the leave will be used by employees 
to cover those future absences.

   Long term employee benefi ts

    Entitlements that are payable beyond 12 months, 
such as long service leave and retiring leave; have 
been calculated on an actuarial basis.

   

   The calculation is based on:

   •  Likely future entitlements accruing to employees, 
based on years of service, years to entitlement, 
the likelihood that employees will reach the 
point of entitlement and contractual entitlements 
information; and

   •  The present value of the estimated future 
cash fl ows.

    The discount rates are based on the weighted average 
of interest rates for government stock with terms to 
maturity similar to those of the relevant liabilities. The 
infl ation factor is based on the expected long-term 
increase in remuneration for employees.

(q) Superannuation schemes

    Defi ned contribution schemes

    Obligations for contributions to defi ned contribution 
superannuation schemes are recognised as an 
expense in the income statement as incurred.

(r) Borrowings

   Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, 
net of transaction costs incurred and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Any difference between the proceeds (net 
of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is 
recognised in the income statement over the period 
of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

(s) Equity

   Equity is the community’s interest in the group and is 
measured as the difference between total assets and 
total liabilities. Equity is disaggregated and classifi ed 
into the following components:

  • Accumulated funds

  • Council created reserves

  • Restricted reserves

  • Revaluation reserves

  • Fair value through equity reserves

  Council created reserves

   Council created reserves are reserves restricted by 
Council decision. The Council may alter them without 
references to any third party or the Courts. Transfers 
to and from these reserves are at the discretion of 
the Council.

Statement of Accounting Policies
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  Restricted reserves

   Restricted reserves are a component of equity generally 
representing a particular use to which various parts of 
equity have been assigned. Reserves may be legally 
restricted or created by the Council.

   Restricted reserves are those subject to specifi c 
conditions accepted as binding by the Council and 
which may not be revised by the Council without 
reference to the Courts or a third party. Transfers from 
these reserves may be made only for certain specifi ed 
purposes or when certain specifi ed conditions are met.

(t)  Goods and Services Tax (GST)

   All items in the prospective fi nancial statements are 
exclusive of GST, with the exception of receivables 
and payables, which are stated as GST inclusive. 
Where GST is not recoverable as an input tax then it 
is recognised as part of the related asset or expense.

(u) Income tax

   Income tax expense in relation to the surplus or defi cit 
for the period comprises current tax and deferred tax. 
Current tax and deferred tax is charged or credited to 
the income statement, except when it relates to items 
charged or credited directly to equity, in which case 
the tax is dealt within equity.

   Current tax is the amount of income tax payable based 
on the taxable profi t for the current year, plus any 
adjustments to income tax payable in respect of prior 
years. Current tax is calculated using rates that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by balance date.

   Deferred tax is the amount of income tax payable or 
recoverable in future periods in respect of temporary 
differences and unused tax losses. Temporary 
differences are differences between the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities in the prospective 
fi nancial statements and the corresponding tax bases 
used in the computation of taxable profi t.

   Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all 
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets 
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profi ts will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences or tax losses can be 
utilised. Deferred tax is not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill 
or from the initial recognition of an asset and liability in 
a transaction that is not a business combination and at 
the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting 
profi t nor taxable profi t.

   Deferred tax is recognised on taxable temporary 
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries 
and associates and interests in joint ventures, except 
where the reversal of the temporary difference can 
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

   Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply in the period when the liability is 
settled or the asset is realised, using tax rates that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by balance date.

(v) Cost allocation

   The Council has derived the cost of service for each 
signifi cant activity (as reported within the Statement 
of Service Performance) using the following cost 
allocation methodology:

   Direct support costs are charged directly to signifi cant 
activities. These consist of specifi c unit administration 
functions readily identifi able with a signifi cant activity.

   Indirect costs, which cannot be identifi ed to a specifi c 
signifi cant activity, are allocated to signifi cant activities 
by a number of cost drivers such as staff numbers 
and fl oor area.

(w) Budget fi gures

   The Council budget fi gures are those approved by 
the Council at the beginning of the year after a period 
of consultation with the public as part of the Annual 
Plan process. The budget fi gures have been prepared 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practice and are consistent with the accounting 
policies adopted by the Council for the preparation 
of the fi nancial statements.

Changes in Accounting Policies

Uniform accounting policies have been applied 
throughout the Group and there have been no changes 
from the accounting policies adopted in the last audited 
fi nancial statements.

Comparative fi gures

The current year’s fi gures have been presented in 
accordance with classifi cations in the Annual Plan. Prior 
year comparatives have been restated where necessary 
to enable comparison with the current year fi gures.   
   

Statement of Accounting Policies
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued



Annual Report // Including Sustainability Report 2008/2009197

1   REVENUE FROM RATES

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Total revenue from rates 148,553 137,358 148,553 137,358

Rates consist of:
General rates 101,771 93,754 101,771 93,754

Separate rates attributable to activities:
Water (water by meter) 18,839 18,990 18,839 18,990

Rural Sewerage 631 648 631 648

Wastewater 27,156 23,832 27,156 23,832

Environment Monitoring 157 134 157 134

Total separate rates 46,782 43,604 46,782 43,604

Total Rates 148,553 137,358 148,553 137,358

Rates revenue is shown net of rates remissions and non-rateable land. The Council has established a rates remissions 
policy under the Local Government Act 2002. This policy provides for rates to be remitted for water leaks, penalties, fi xed 
rate charges and Council owned non revenue producing properties. For the year ended 30 June 2009 the Council provided 
rates remissions totalling $108,035 (2008 was $99,507).

In accordance with the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002 certain properties cannot be rated for general rates, 
uniform annual general charges and some targeted rates. They include, but are not limited to, schools, places of religious 
worship, public gardens and reserves. These non-rateable properties, where applicable, may be subject to targeted rates 
in respect of water supply, rural sewage and wastewater. Non-rateable land does not constitute a remission under the 
Local Government (Rating) Act 2002.

Included in general rates are external levies on behalf of the Auckland War Memorial Museum and MOTAT $2,764,320 
(2008 - $2,615,338).

2   OTHER REVENUE

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

User charges, sales and recoveries 28,093 27,081 28,981 27,081 

Subsidies and grants 24,132 21,955 26,298 22,994 

Regulatory revenue 12,035 12,524 12,035 12,524 

Infringements and fi nes 3,652 3,423 3,652 3,423 

Petrol tax 1,129 1,185 1,129 1,185 

Vested assets 21,167 16,735 21,167 16,735 

Dividend income 189 159 189 159 

Contributions 779 1,401 779 1,401 

Development and fi nancial contributions 8,692 11,107 8,692 11,107 

Interest income 177 72 191 418 

Rent income 3,753 3,984 4,073 4,078 

Other 1,833 2,556 3,260 3,302 

Total other revenue 105,630 102,182 110,446 104,407 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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3   OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) Note

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Gains
Gain on changes in fair value of investment property 16 4,089  -  4,089 

Gain on release of fi nancial guarantees - 210  -  210 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 51 7,284 51 7,284 

Total gains 51 11,583 51 11,583 

Losses
Loss on change in fair value of investment property 16 (6,950) - (6,950) - 

Revaluation of derivative fi nancial instruments 12 (26,080) (4,155) (26,080) (4,155)

Increase in weather tightness provision (3,626) (7,679) (3,626) (7,679)

Other - (914) - (609)

Total losses (36,656) (12,748) (36,656) (12,443)

Net gains/(losses) (36,605) (1,165) (36,605) (860)

4   EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Salaries, wages and other employment costs 74,173 71,812 76,365 73,867 

Employer contributions to defi ned contribution plans 458 204 458 204 

Increases/(decrease) in employee benefi t liabilities 934 659 971 694 

Total employee benefi t expenses 75,565 72,675 77,793 74,765 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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5   OTHER EXPENSES

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Fees to principal auditor:

Audit fees for financial statement audit 191 182 237 244 

Audit fees for LTCCP audit 157  -  157  - 

Audit fees for prior year fi nancial statement audit 105  -  105  - 

Audit related fees for assurance 
and related services

 -   -   -  5 

Donations 5 4 5 4 

Auckland War Memorial Museum Levy 2,017 1,949 2,017 1,949 

MOTAT Levy 763 662 763 662 

Impairment of receivables 275 367 275 367 

Minimum lease payments under operating leases 646 538 706 702 

Direct expenses from investment property generating income 221 180 221 180 

Directors fees - subsidiaries - - 263 231 

Other operating expenses 93,800 98,383 95,881 97,842 

Total other expenses 98,179 102,265 100,629 102,186 

6   FINANCE EXPENSES Note

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Interest on bank borrowings 29,037 24,348 29,038 24,364 

Interest on fi nance leases 34 49 62 66 

Provisions: discount unwinding 22 23 170 23 170 

Total fi nance expenses 29,094 24,567 29,122 24,600 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued

7 DEPRECIATION 

AND AMORTISATION

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Depreciation
Buildings 5,356 5,105 5,356 5,105 

Books 1,563 1,441 1,563 1,441 

Computers 922 979 959 1,022 

Furniture 20 35 20 82 

Motor vehicles 1,044 1,045 1,061 1,061 

Offi ce equipment 107 123 163 123 

Plant and equipment 857 750 857 750 

Residential buildings 543 404 543 404 

Lease Assets 544 639 544 639 

Transport system 11,705 11,416 11,705 11,416 

Parks and reserves 4,727 3,484 4,727 3,484 

Stormwater reticulation 5,419 4,847 5,419 4,847 

Wastewater reticulation 6,226 5,117 6,226 5,117 

Water supply 3,683 3,453 3,683 3,453 

Total depreciation 42,714 38,838 42,824 38,944 

Amortisation
Computer software 2,754 2,538 2,775 2,565 

Total amortisation 2,754 2,538 2,775 2,565 

Total depreciation and amortisation 45,468 41,376 45,599 41,509 
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8   INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Components of tax expense
Current tax expense - - 8 5 

Adjustments to current tax in prior year - - - -

Deferred tax expense - - (1) (1)

Income tax expense - - 7 4 

Relationship between tax and accounting profi t
Surplus before tax (30,728) (2,508) (30,750) (2,155)

Tax @ 30% (2008: 33%) (9,219) (753) (9,225) (601)

Plus (less) tax effect of:

–  Non-deductible expenditure 9,198 790 9,210 624 

–  Non-taxable income - - - - 

–  Prior year adjustment (20) - (20) - 

–  Tax rate adjustment - (75) - (60)

–  Tax loss not recognised 21 38 21 38 

–  Deferred tax adjustment 20 - 21 3 

Tax expense - - 7 4 

Deferred tax
Opening balance - - 5 4 

Movement - - 1 1 

Deferred tax – closing balance - - 6 5 

A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in relation to deductible temporary differences of $Nil (2008: $Nil).

A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in relation to unused tax losses of $595,379, tax effect $178,614 (2008: 
$527,503, tax effect $158,251).

A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in relation to unused tax losses for Waitakere City Holdings Limited 
of $350,884, tax effect $105,265 (2008: $410,253, tax effect $123,076).

Imputation credits of $161,485 are available to Waitakere City Holdings Limited to impute dividends (2008: $142,250).

Notes to the Financial Statements
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9   EQUITY

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Accumulated funds
Opening balance 1,425,378 1,432,653 1,428,977 1,435,751 

Surplus/(defi cit) for the year (30,728) (2,508) (31,644) (2,007)

Transfers from:

Council created reserves - - - -

Transfers to:

Council created reserves (5,401) (4,703) (5,401) (4,703)

Restricted reserve (45) (64) (45) (64)

Accumulated funds – closing balance 1,389,203 1,425,378 1,391,887 1,428,977 

Council created reserves 
Opening balance 18,331 13,628 18,331 13,628 

Interest 55 117 55 117 

Transactions 5,346 4,586 5,346 4,586 

Council created reserves – closing balance 23,732 18,331 23,732 18,331 

Restricted reserves
Opening balance 875 811 875 811 

Transfers from accumulated funds:

Interest 47 60 47 60 

Transactions (2) 4 (2) 4 

Restricted reserves – closing balance 920 875 920 875 

Fair value through equity reserve
Opening balance 86,451 88,105 86,451 88,105 

Valuation gain/(loss) taken to equity 29,323 (1,654) 29,323 (1,654)

Fair value through equity reserve 

- closing balance
115,774 86,451 115,774 86,451 

Asset revaluation reserves
Opening balance 605,123 605,123 605,123 605,123 

Disposal - - - 

Valuation gain/(loss) taken to equity 200,886 - 200,886 - 

Asset revaluation reserves - closing balance 806,009 605,123 806,009 605,123 

Total equity 2,335,639 2,136,158 2,338,323 2,139,757 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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10   CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Cash at bank and in hand 3,856 773 7,783 1,251 

Short term deposits maturing three months or less from date 
of acquisition

- - 385 3,830 

Total cash and cash equivalents 3,856 773 8,168 5,081 

The carrying value of cash at bank and short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months or less approximates 
their fair value. 

Cash and bank overdrafts include the following for the purposes of the cash fl ow statement:

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Cash at bank and in hand 3,856 773 7,783 1,251 

Short term deposits maturing three months 
or less from date of acquisition

- - 385 3,830 

Call borrowings - unsecured - - - - 

Total 3,856 773 8,168 5,081 

Bank overdraft, bank facilities borrowings and cash deposits

The carrying amounts of these fi nancial instruments are equivalent to their fair values. As at 30 June 2009 the Council has 
uncommitted overnight borrowing facilities of $10,000,000 (2008 was $32,500,000) and standby committed facilities of 
$215,000,000 (2008 was $185,000,000).

Security

The security for the Bank Overdraft is the debenture trust deed, which creates a charge over rates. 

The maximum amount that can be drawn down against the overdraft facility is $1,000,000 (2008 was $1,000,000).

At balance date the interest rate on this facility was 4.25% (2008 was 8.45%). There are no restrictions on the use 
of the facility.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued

9   EQUITY continued

Council & Group

2009

$000’s

Revaluation
2009

$000’s

Disposal
2009

$000’s

2008

$000’s

Movements in asset revaluation reserves
Wastewater reticulation 131,211 86,664 9,490 35,057 

Water supply 6,968 507 6,461 - 

Stormwater reticulation 179,809 53,532 8,988 117,289 

Transport system 313,108 (11,135) - 324,243 

Parks and reserves 174,914 39,419 6,961 128,534 

Total asset revaluation reserves 806,009 168,986 31,900 605,123 
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11 DEBTORS AND 

OTHER RECEIVABLES

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Rates debtors 9,179 6,775 9,179 6,775 

Water debtors 7,699 9,036 7,699 9,036 

Sundry debtors 4,958 6,923 5,169 7,212 

Inter-entity receivables 17 16  -  - 

Community loans 382 749 382 749 

Accrued revenue 13,786 11,404 13,792 11,430 

36,020 34,903 36,220 35,202 

Less provision for impairment of receivables 1,226 1,392 1,226 1,392 

Total debtors and other receivables 34,794 33,511 34,994 33,810 

Less non-current portion:

Community loans 381 267 381 267 

Total non-current portion 381 267 381 267 

Total current portion 34,413 33,244 34,613 33,543 

The carrying value of trade and other receivables approximates their fair value.

Analysis of aging and impairment

Rates debtors

The Council does not provide for any impairment on rates debtors as it has various powers under the Local Government 
(Rating) Act 2002 to recover any outstanding debts.

These powers allow the Council to commence legal proceedings to recover any rates that remain unpaid four months 
after the due date for payment. If payment has not been made within three months of the Court’s judgment, then the 
Council can apply to the Register of the High Court to have the judgement enforced by sale or lease of the rating unit.

Ratepayers can apply for payment plan options in special circumstances. Where such payment plans are in place debts are 
discounted to the present value of future repayments.

As at 30 June 2009 rates debtors to the value of $743,559 (2008 $532,000) was over 365 days old.

The age of rates receivable overdue, but not inpaired are as follows:

                                 Council & Group

2009

$000’s

2008

$000’s

Less than one year 8,435 6,243 

Later than one year but not more than two years 482 369 

Later than two years but not more than three years 120 86 

Later than three years but not more than four years 74 42 

Later than four years 68 35 

Total rates debtors 9,179 6,775 

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued

11 DEBTORS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES continued

Water debtors

The Council does not provide for any impairment on water debtors as it has the same powers as for rates debtors to 
recover any outstanding debts. As at 30 June 2009 water debtors to the value of $596,341 (2008 $548,000) was over 
150 days old.

Remaining Debtors

As at balance date all remaining overdue receivables have been assessed for impairment and appropriate provisions applied.

The Council holds no collateral as security or other credit enhancement over receivables that are either past due or impaired.

The impairment provision has been calculated based on expected losses for the Council’s pool of debtors. Expected losses 
have been determined based on an analysis of the Council’s losses in previous periods and review of specifi c debtors.

Movements in the provision for impairment of trade and other receivables

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Opening balance 1,392 1,143 1,392 1,143 

Provision reversed during the year (371) - (371) -

Additional provisions made during the year 205 249 205 249 

Provision for impairment – closing balance 1,226 1,392 1,226 1,392 

The Council holds no collateral as security or other credit enhancements over receivables that are either past 
due or impaired.

Sundry debtors

Impairment

The impairment provision has been calculated based on expected losses for the Council’s pool of debtors. Expected losses 
have been determined based on an analysis of the Council’s losses in previous periods and review of specifi c debtors.

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Individual impairment 560 742 560 742 

Collective impairment 666 650 666 650 

Total provision for impairment 1,226 1,392 1,226 1,392 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued

12 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 

INSTRUMENTS

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Current assets 
Interest rate swaps  5,292  5,090  5,292  5,090 

Current liabilities
Interest rate swaps  28,524  2,242  28,524  2,242 

Derivative fi nancial instruments – net balance  (23,232)  2,848  (23,232)  2,848 

Derivative fi nancial instruments are used by the Council in the normal course of business in order to hedge exposures to 
fl uctuations in interest rates.

Interest rate swaps with a total notional principal or contract amount of $576,525,000 (2008 was $346,525,000) and 
interest rate caps with a total principal or contract amount of $Nil (2008 was $5,000,000) provide hedge cover for interest 
repayments on current and future borrowings. The fair value of $23,232,000 (2008 was $2,847,906) has been determined 
by reference to the quoted market prices of comparable instruments. The Council does not anticipate early termination of 
its fi nancial instruments.

13   NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

The Council owns properties which have been presented as properties held for sale. The Council has approved these 
properties for sale as they will provide no future use to the Council. The completion date of the sale is expected to be 
during 2009/2010.     

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Opening balance  9,010  7,155  9,010  7,155 

Additions  240  1,317  240  1,317 

Disposals  (4,193)  (6,153)  (4,193)  (6,153)

Net transfers  (643)  6,691  (643)  6,691 

Non current assets held for sale – closing balance  4,414  9,010  4,414  9,010 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued

14   OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Fair value through equity
Unlisted shares – Watercare Services Limited 241,553 212,230 241,553 212,230 

Unlisted shares – NZLGIC 199 199 199 199 

Investments carried at cost
Investment in subsidiary – Waitakere City Holdings Limited 1,025 1,025 - - 

Shares in Beacon Pathway Limited 20 20 20 20 

Total other fi nancial assets 242,797 213,474 241,772 212,449 

There were no impairment provisions for other fi nancial assets.

Unlisted shares - valuation

The fair value of unlisted shares in Watercare Services Limited has been calculated as the net asset backing of the 
shares. At 30 June 2009 the net asset backing of the 43,400,849 shares in Watercare Services Limited was $5.57 
per share (2008 - $4.89). 

The fair value of unlisted shares in NZ Local Government Insurance Corp Limited (NZLGIC) has been calculated as 
the net asset backing of the shares. At 31 December 2008 the net asset backing of the 66,205 shares in NZLGIC 
was $3.01 per share (2008 - $3.00).

Investment in subsidiary

The Council holds 100 per cent of shares in Waitakere City Holdings Limited. The net asset backing as at 
30 June 2009 of the 1,025,000 shares in Waitakere City Holdings Limited was $3.80 per share (2008 - $3.77).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued

15 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
2009

$000’s

2008

$000’s

Council
Investment in Auckland Film Studio Limited (was formerly Prime West Limited) 6,000 6,000

Group
Opening balance 6,052 1,900 

Share of recognised revenues and expenses (887) 152 

New investments during the year  -  4,000 

Auckland Film Studio Limited - closing balance 5,165 6,052 

Summarised fi nancial information of Auckland Film Studio
Assets 13,275 14,689 

Liabilities 1,957 1,038 

Revenues 1,946 1,001 

Surplus/(defi cit) (1,996) 341 

Group's interest 44.4% 44.4%

Auckland Film Studio Limited is an unlisted company and accordingly, there are no published price quotations to determine 
the fair value of this investment. Details of contingent liabilities arising from the group’s involvement in the associate are 
disclosed separately (where applicable) in note 29. The Company owns fi lm studio assets located in Henderson Valley 
Road. The Company’s balance date is 31 March. Subsequent to 31 March the Company declared and paid a dividend 
of $180,000 (2008 $150,000) to the Council.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued

15 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES continued
2009

$000’s
2008

$000’s

Council
Investment in Prime West Management Limited (owned by Waitakere Properties Limited) - -

Group
Opening balance - -

Share of recognised revenues and expenses - -

New investments during the year - -

Share of dividend - -

Prime West Management Limited - closing balance - -

Summarised fi nancial information of Prime West Management Limited
Assets 2 3 

Liabilities 83 58 

Revenues 183 244 

Surplus/(defi cit) (27) (56)

Group's interest 40% 40%

Prime West Management Limited is an unlisted company and accordingly, there are no published price quotations to 
determine the fair value of this investment. Details of contingent liabilities arising from the group’s involvement in the 
associate are disclosed separately (where applicable) in note 29. The company’s balance date is 30 June. The business 
of company is property management.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued

16   INVESTMENT PROPERTIES Note

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Opening balance  21,851  33,733  21,851  33,733 

Additions from acquisitions -  1,158  -  1,158 

Transfers  (1,000)  (17,129)  (1,000)  (17,129)

Fair value gains/(losses) on valuation 3  (6,950)  4,089  (6,950)  4,089 

Investment properties - closing balance  13,901  21,851  13,901  21,851 

The Council’s investment properties are valued annually at fair value effective 30 June. All investment properties were 
valued based on open market evidence. The valuation was performed by Mike Bristow, Darroch Valuations. Mr Bristow 
is registered valuer and a member of the New Zealand Institute of Valuers.

There are no contractual obligations in relation to the investment properties at balance date which have not been 
recognised in the fi nancial statements.

A number of the Council’s investment properties are legally vested in Deeds of Trust for which Waitakere Properties 
Limited is the appointed sole Trustee.

Under the Deeds of Trust, Waitakere Properties Limited is obliged to develop and market properties to the best 
commercial advantage and to return to the Council funds realised through sales, as agreed between the parties
from time to time.

All assets, liabilities and fi nancial transactions relating to these Trusts are incorporated within the fi nancial statements
of the Council prior to any group consolidations.

Amounts recognised in the statement of fi nancial performance

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Rental income 691 616 691 616 

Direct operating expenses of investment (221) (180) (221) (180)

Property generating rental income 470 436 470 436 



Annual Report // Including Sustainability Report 2008/2009211

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued

17 PROPERTY, PLANT 

AND EQUIPMENT 

2009
Cost/revaluation 

1 July 2008
$000’s

Accumulated 
depreciation and 

impairment charges
1 July 2008

$000’s

Carrying Amount
1 July 2008

$000’s

Council Operational Assets
Buildings 145,056 (22,913) 122,143 

Books 11,667 (6,012) 5,655 

Computers 7,514 (2,525) 4,989 

Furniture 1,115 (1,064) 51 

Land 37,455 - 37,455 

Motor vehicles 5,879 (2,649) 3,230 

Offi ce equipment 1,916 (1,564) 352 

Plant and equipment 13,838 (8,815) 5,023 

Residential buildings 12,721 (3,697) 9,024 

Residential land 2,788 - 2,788 

Leased assets 1,800 (1,101) 699 

Work in progress 11,193 - 11,193 

252,942 (50,340) 202,602 

Council Infrastructure Assets
Transport system 1,002,284 (12,335) 989,949 

Parks and reserves 348,997 (3,707) 345,290 

Stormwater reticulation 379,455 (5,233) 374,222 

Wastewater reticulation 233,264 (5,553) 227,711 

Water supply 132,681 (3,766) 128,915 

2,096,681 (30,594) 2,066,087 

Total Council 2,349,623 (80,934) 2,268,689 

Group operational assets
Leased Assets 44  -  44 

Furniture 295 (63) 188 

Computers 135 (90) 45 

Motor vehicles 69 (41) 28 

543 (194) 305 

Total Group 2,350,166 (81,128) 2,268,994 

Infrastructure assets includes work in progress of $23,446,971 (2008 $9,232,000).

The additions to property, plant and equipment during the year are mainly due to the following:

– New Lynn town centre revitalisation and undergrounding transport system. This project is in conjunction with ONTRACK, 
Auckland Regional Transport Agency and the Council to create an integrated transport hub and support a growing 
population. This is an ongoing project and any unused budget for this fi nancial year has been carried forward to 2009/2010
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Cost/revaluation 
30 June 2009

$000’s

Accumulated 
depreciation and 

impairment charges
30 June 2009

$000’s

Carrying Amount
30 June 2009

$000’s

PROPERTY, PLANT 

AND EQUIPMENT

2009

Council Operational Assets
149,017 (27,877) 121,140 Buildings

13,069 (7,575) 5,494 Books

7,929 (3,437) 4,492 Computers

1,145 (1,084) 61 Furniture

40,569 - 40,569 Land

5,999 (2,718) 3,281 Motor vehicles

1,916 (1,671) 245 Offi ce equipment

16,378 (9,601) 6,778 Plant and equipment

15,307 (4,240) 11,067 Residential buildings

2,788 - 2,788 Residential land

1,719 (638) 1,082 Leased assets

16,561 - 16,561 Work in progress

272,399 (58,841) 213,558 

Council Infrastructure Assets
1,019,470 (3,141) 1,016,329 Transport system

401,384 (1,473) 399,911 Parks and reserves

452,172 (1,663) 450,509 Stormwater reticulation

335,371 (2,288) 333,083 Wastewater reticulation

137,747 (988) 136,759 Water supply

2,346,144 (9,553) 2,336,591 

2,618,542 (68,394) 2,550,149 Total Council

Group operational assets
49  -  49 Leased Assets

296 (120) 176 Furniture

130 (122) 8 Computers

74 (25) 49 Motor vehicles

549 (267) 282 

2,619,091 (68,661) 2,550,431 Total Group

– Hobsonville and Massey North/Westgate development. This project involves the purchase of strategic land in the Massey
North to Hobsonville Airbase corridor for urban development and to support the Auckland Regional Growth Strategy. This is  
an ongoing project and any unused budget has been carried forward to 2009/2010

There were no signifi cant asset disposals during the year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued

17 PROPERTY, PLANT 

AND EQUIPMENT 

2009 continued
Carrying amount 

1 July 2008
$000’s

Current year 
additions

$000’s

Current year 
disposals/ 

transfers

$000’s

Council Operational Assets
Buildings  122,143 829 3,524 

Books  5,655 1,402 -

Computers  4,989 1,014 (589)

Furniture  51 2 28 

Land  37,455 2,000 1,113 

Motor vehicles  3,230 1,583 (489)

Offi ce equipment  352 - -

Plant and equipment  5,023 1,049 1,562 

Residential buildings  9,024 2,373 213 

Residential land  2,788 - -

Leased assets  699 - 928 

Work in progress  11,193 13,209 (7,841)

 202,602 23,463 (1,551)

Council Infrastructure Assets
Transport system  989,949 49,220 -

Parks and reserves  345,290 12,967 -

Stormwater reticulation  374,222 19,186 -

Wastewater reticulation  227,711 15,444 -

Water supply  128,915 4,560 -

2,066,087 101,376 -

Total Council 2,268,689 124,839 (1,551)

Group operational assets
Leased Assets 44  -  5 

Furniture  144 1 86 

Computers  45  -  (5)

Motor vehicles  28 60 (19)

261 61 68 

Total Group 2,268,950 124,900 (1,484)

Infrastructure assets includes work in progress of $23,446,971 (2008 $9,232,000).

The additions to property, plant and equipment during the year are mainly due to the following:

– New Lynn town centre revitalisation and undergrounding transport system. This project is in conjunction with ONTRACK, 
Auckland Regional Transport Agency and the Council to create an integrated transport hub and support a growing population.
This is an ongoing project and any unused budget for this fi nancial year has been carried forward to 2009/2010
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Current year 
Impairment 

charges

$000’s

Current year 
depreciation

$000’s

Revaluation 
surplus

$000’s

Carrying 
Amount

30 June 2009

$000’s

PROPERTY, PLANT 

AND EQUIPMENT

2009

Council Operational Assets
- (5,356) -  121,140 Buildings

- (1,563) -  5,495 Books

- (922) -  4,492 Computers

- (20) -  61 Furniture

- -  40,568 Land

- (1,044) -  3,280 Motor vehicles

- (107) -  245 Offi ce equipment

- (857) -  6,777 Plant and equipment

- (543) -  11,067 Residential buildings

- -  2,788 Residential land

- (544) -  1,083 Leased assets

- -  16,561 Work in progress

- (10,955) -  213,558 

Council Infrastructure Assets
- (11,705) (11,135)  1,016,329 Transport system

- (4,727) 46,380  399,911 Parks and reserves

- (5,419) 62,520  450,509 Stormwater reticulation

- (6,226) 96,154  333,083 Wastewater reticulation

- (3,683) 6,968  136,760 Water supply

- (31,759) 200,886 2,336,591

- (42,714) 200,886 2,550,149 Total Council

Group operational assets
-  -  - 49 Leased Assets

- (56) - 176 Furniture

- (32) - 8 Computers

- (20) - 49 Motor vehicles

- (108) - 282

- (42,822) 200,886 2,550,431 Total Group

– Hobsonville and Massey North/Westgate development. This project involves the purchase of strategic land in the Massey 
North to Hobsonville Airbase corridor for urban development and to support the Auckland Regional Growth Strategy. This 
is an ongoing project and any unused budget has been carried forward to 2009/2010

There were no signifi cant asset disposals during the year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued

17 PROPERTY, PLANT 

AND EQUIPMENT 

2008
Cost/revaluation 

1 July 2007
$000’s

Accumulated 
depreciation and 

impairment charges
1 July 2007

$000’s

Carrying Amount
1 July 2007

$000’s

Council Operational Assets
Buildings  135,495 (17,840)  117,655 

Books  10,021 (4,572)  5,449 

Computers  4,765 (1,691)  3,074 

Furniture  1,170 (1,089)  81 

Land  14,618  -  14,618 

Motor vehicles  5,913 (2,587)  3,326 

Offi ce equipment  2,014 (1,538)  476 

Plant and equipment  12,887 (8,253)  4,634 

Residential buildings  9,622 (3,293)  6,329 

Residential land  2,788  -  2,788 

Leased assets  5,357 (1,732)  3,625 

Work in progress  27,353  -  27,353 

232,003 (42,595) 189,408 

Council Infrastructure Assets
Transport system  957,961 (919) 957,042

Parks and reserves  339,928 (315) 339,613

Stormwater reticulation  362,758 (386) 362,372

Wastewater reticulation  222,333 (436) 221,897

Water supply  127,769 (313) 127,456

2,010,749 (2,369) 2,008,380 

Total Council 2,242,752 (44,964) 2,197,788 

Group operational assets
Furniture 247 (24) 223

Computers 121 (54) 67

Motor vehicles 58 (24) 34

426 (102) 324

Total Group 2,243,178 (45,066) 2,198,112
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Cost/revaluation 
30 June 2008

$000’s

Accumulated 
depreciation and 

impairment charges
30 June 2008

$000’s

Carrying Amount
30 June 2008

$000’s

PROPERTY, PLANT 

AND EQUIPMENT

2008

Council Operational Assets
 145,056 (22,913)  122,143 Buildings

 11,667 (6,012)  5,655 Books

 7,514 (2,525)  4,989 Computers

 1,115 (1,064)  51 Furniture

 37,455  -  37,455 Land

 5,879 (2,649)  3,230 Motor vehicles

 1,916 (1,564)  352 Offi ce equipment

 13,838 (8,815)  5,023 Plant and equipment

 12,721 (3,697)  9,024 Residential buildings

 2,788  -  2,788 Residential land

 1,800 (1,101)  699 Leased assets

 11,193  -  11,193 Work in progress

252,942 (50,340) 202,602 

Council Infrastructure Assets
1,002,284 (12,335) 989,949 Transport system

348,997 (3,707) 345,290 Parks and reserves

379,455 (5,233) 374,222 Stormwater reticulation

233,264 (5,553) 227,711 Wastewater reticulation

132,681 (3,766) 128,915 Water supply

2,096,681 (30,594) 2,066,087 

2,349,623 (80,934) 2,268,689 Total Council

Group operational assets
339 (63)  276 Furniture

135 (90)  45 Computers

69 (41)  28 Motor vehicles

543 (194) 349

2,350,166 (81,128) 2,269,038 Total Group
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued

17 PROPERTY, PLANT 

AND EQUIPMENT 

2008 continued
Carrying amount 

1 July 2007
$000’s

Current year 
additions

$000’s

Current year 
disposals/ 

transfers

$000’s

Council Operational Assets
Buildings  117,655  9,682 (89)

Books  5,449  1,647  - 

Computers  3,074 2,897 (3)

Furniture  81 5  - 

Land  14,618 24,131 (1,294)

Motor vehicles  3,326 1,407 (458)

Offi ce equipment  476  - (1)

Plant and equipment  4,634 1,182 (43)

Residential buildings  6,329 3,099  - 

Residential land  2,788  -  - 

Leased assets  3,625  9 (2,296) 

Work in progress  27,353 30,790 (46,950)

 189,408  74,849 (51,134)

Council Infrastructure Assets
Transport system 957,042 44,323  - 

Parks and reserves 339,613 11,138 (1,977)

Stormwater reticulation 362,372 17,217 (519)

Wastewater reticulation 221,897 10,931  - 

Water supply 127,456 4,911  - 

2,008,380 88,520 (2,496)

Total Council 2,197,788 163,369 (53,630)

Group operational assets
Furniture 223 109 (9)

Computers 67 22 (1)

Motor vehicles 34  -  10 

324 131 -

Total Group 2,198,112 163,500 (53,630)
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Current year 
Impairment 

charges

$000’s

Current year 
depreciation

$000’s

Revaluation 
surplus

$000’s

Carrying 
Amount

30 June 2008

$000’s

PROPERTY, PLANT 

AND EQUIPMENT

2008

Council Operational Assets
 - (5,105)  -  122,143 Buildings

 - (1,441)  -  5,655 Books

 - (979)  -  4,989 Computers

 - (35)  -  51 Furniture

 -  -  -  37,455 Land

 - (1,045)  -  3,230 Motor vehicles

 - (123)  -  352 Offi ce equipment

 - (750)  -  5,023 Plant and equipment

 - (404)  -  9,024 Residential buildings

 -  -  -  2,788 Residential land

- (639) -  699 Leased assets

 -  -  -  11,193 Work in progress

 - (10,521)  -  202,602 

Council Infrastructure Assets
 - (11,416)  -  989,949 Transport system

 - (3,484)  -  345,290 Parks and reserves

 - (4,847)  -  374,223 Stormwater reticulation

 - (5,117)  -  227,711 Wastewater reticulation

 - (3,453)  -  128,914 Water supply

 - (28,317)  - 2,066,087

 - (38,838)  - 2,268,689 Total Council

Group operational assets
 - (47)  -  276 Furniture

 - (43)  -  45 Computers

 - (16)  -  28 Motor vehicles

 - (106)  - 349

 - (38,944)  - 2,269,038 Total Group



Annual Report // Including Sustainability Report 2008/2009219

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued

18   INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Opening balance
Opening cost 29,896 20,318 29,984 20,400 

Opening accumulated amortisation and impairment (8,050) (10,794) (8,109) (10,826)

Opening carrying amount 21,846 9,524 21,875 9,574 

Opening cost 29,896 20,318 29,984 20,400 

Current year additions 5,115 14,860 5,129 14,866 

Current year deletions - (5,282) - (5,282)

Closing cost 35,011 29,896 35,113 29,984 

Opening accumulated amortisation 

and impairment
(8,050) (10,794) (8,109) (10,826)

Current year amortisation charges (2,754) (2,538) (2,776) (2,565)

Current year deletions - 5,282 - 5,282 

Closing accumulated amortisation 

and impairment
(10,804) (8,050) (10,885) (8,109)

Closing balance
Cost 35,011 29,896 35,113 29,984 

Accumulated amortisation charges (10,804) (8,050) (10,885) (8,109)

Closing carrying amount 24,207 21,846 24,229 21,875 

Intangible assets for the Council and the group consist of computer software.

19  CREDITORS AND OTHER PAYABLES

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Trade creditors 12,279 22,557 12,473 22,884 

Deposits and bonds 4,697 5,423 4,697 5,423 

Accrued expenses 24,240 13,003 24,490 13,191 

Inter-entity payables 199 145  -   - 

Rates in advance 1,732 1,698 1,732 1,698 

Accrued Interest on borrowings 1,193 3,126 1,193 3,126 

Total creditors and other payables 44,340 45,952 44,585 46,322 

Creditors and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms, therefore the carrying 
value of trade and other payables approximates their fair value.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009 continued

20   BORROWINGS

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Current
Loans 132,270 55,000 132,270 55,000 

Finance lease liabilities 489 508 512 529 

Total current borrowings 132,759 55,508 132,782 55,529 

Non-current
Loans 318,500 318,525 318,500 318,525 

Finance lease liabilities 682 149 708 172 

Total non-current borrowings 319,182 318,674 319,208 318,697 

Analysis of Finance Lease Liabilities
Council

2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Total minimum lease payments are payable:
Not later than one year 535 543 545 571 

Later than one year and not later than fi ve years 661 159 710 179 

Later than fi ve years - - - 13 

Total minimum lease payments 1,196 702 1,256 763 

Future fi nance charges (25) (45) (35) (62)

Present value of minimum lease payments 1,171 657 1,220 701 

Not later than one year 489 508 512 529 

Later than one year and not later than fi ve years 682 149 708 172 

Later than fi ve years - - - - 

Total present value of minimum lease payments 1,171 657 1,220 701 

Current 489 508 512 529 

Non-current 682 149 708 172 

Total 1,171 657 1,220 701 

Description of material leasing arrangements

Council has entered into fi nance leases for various items of plant and equipment. The net carrying amount of the leased 
items within each class of property, plant and equipment is shown in note 17. The fi nance leases can be renewed at 
Council’s option, with rents set by reference to current market rates for items of equivalent age and condition. There 
are no restrictions placed on Council by any of the fi nance leasing arrangements.
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20 BORROWINGS continued

ANALYSIS OF LOAN LIABILITIES

Council Group

$000’s

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 

Interest Rate

$000’s

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 

Interest Rate

Maturity and interest rate analysis

There are no early repayment options.

2009
Less than one year  132,270 7.02% 132,270 7.02%

Later than one year but no more than fi ve years  195,000 7.02% 195,000 7.02%

Later than fi ve years  123,500 7.02% 123,500 7.02%

450,770 450,770 

2008
Less than one year  55,000 7.58% 55,000 7.58%

Later than one year but no more than fi ve years  185,025 7.58% 185,025 7.58%

Later than fi ve years  133,500 7.58% 133,500 7.58%

373,525 373,525 

Floating-rate debt

The debt of $270,025,000 (2008 $245,025,000) is at a fl oating interest rate.

Fixed-rate debt

The debt of $180,745,000 (2008 $128,500,000) is issued at fi xed rates of interest.

Refi nancing

During July 2009 $62.245 million of issued bonds matured. A total of $62.245 million was refi nanced for a term of 90 days 

at interest rates ranging between 3.05% to 3.11%.

Fair values of loans

The carrying amounts and the fair values of loans are as follows:

Carrying Amounts Fair Values

2009

$000’s

2008

$000’s

2009

$000’s

2008

$000’s

Loans 450,770 373,525 437,898 370,592

The fair values of the Council’s issued debt are based on the current market value of similar bonds at prevailing interest rates.

Suspensory loan

2009 and 2008

The Council entered into a loan agreement with the Housing Corporation of New Zealand for the purposes of upgrading Housing 
For Older Adult units. Provided that certain conditions are met by the Council each year, the loan is interest free and the principal 
will be forgiven on maturity. The loan is secured by mortgage over Housing for Older Adult property and will mature in 2028.

On the basis the Council will comply with the loan conditions, the loan is not recognised as a liability in the fi nancial statements.  
Accordingly the proceeds from this loan were recognised as grant revenue in the fi nancial statements.
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21   EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LIABILITIES

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Annual leave 6,345 5,922 6,421  5,992 

Long service leave 2,350 1,913 2,350  1,913 

Retirement gratuities 1,648 1,532 1,648  1,532 

Sick leave 113 102 113  102 

Total employee benefi t liabilities 10,456 9,469 10,532 9,539

Comprising:
Current 6,423 5,949 6,499 6,019

Non-current 4,033 3,520 4,033 3,520

Total employee benefi t liabilities 10,456 9,469 10,532 9,539

22   PROVISIONS

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Current provisions are represented by:
Financial guarantees  -   -   -   - 

Building weather-tightness  -   -   -   - 

Landfi ll aftercare 636 1,081 636 1,081 

Total current provisions 636 1,081 636 1,081 

Non-current provisions are represented by:
Financial guarantees 263 290 263 290 

Building weather-tightness 11,200 8,000 11,200 8,000 

Landfi ll aftercare 2,460 2,970 2,460 2,970 

Total non-current provisions 13,924 11,260 13,924 11,260 

Comprising:
Current 636 1,081 636 1,081 

Non-current 13,924 11,260 13,924 11,260 

Total provisions 14,560 12,341 14,560 12,341 
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22 PROVISIONS continued
Council

2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Financial Guarantees

Opening balance  290  500  290  500 

Amounts used  -  -  -  - 

Adjustment to provision ( 27) ( 210) ( 27) ( 210) 

Financial guarantees – closing balance  263  290  263  290 

The Council is listed as sole guarantor to three community organisation bank loans. The Council is obligated under 
the guarantee to make loan payments in the event the organisation defaults on a loan arrangement. The exercising 
of guarantees will be dependent on the fi nancial stability of the community organisations, which will vary over time.

22 PROVISIONS continued
Council

2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Building Weather-Tightness

Opening balance  8,000  450  8,000  450 

Amounts used ( 426) ( 129) ( 426) ( 129) 

Adjustment to provision  3,626  7,679  3,626  7,679 

Building weather-tightness – closing balance  11,200  8,000  11,200  8,000 

The provision for weather tightness building defects is based on an actuarial assessment of claims notifi ed 
to Council and claims which have been lodged with the Weathertightness Home Resolution Service (WHRS). 

(Refer to note 29 for disclosure on contingent liabilities).

22 PROVISIONS continued Note

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Landfi ll Aftercare

Opening balance 4,051 4,215 4,051 4,215

Amounts used  (978)  (334)  (978)  (334)

Additional provision  -  -  -  - 

Discount unwinding (Note 6) 6  23  170 23  170 

Landfi ll aftercare – closing balance 3,096 4,051 3,096 4,051

The liability has been calculated based on a prioritised 30 year aftercare programme and incorporates estimated future 
costs associated with the resource consent process, reparation works and monitoring costs. Requirements of the 
Resource Management Act 1991 have also been taken into consideration when calculating the liability. The aftercare 
programme will provide for aftercare of the Kay Road bale fi ll site and all other sites that the Council is responsible for.

The currently recognised liability has been measured based on the discounted (present) value of future cash fl ows 
expected to be incurred.
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23 RECONCILIATION OF SURPLUS/

(DEFICIT) TO NET CASH FLOWS 

FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Surplus/(defi cit) after tax (30,728) (2,508) (31,644) (2,007)

Non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation 45,468 41,376 45,597 41,509 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 3,206 7,836 3,206 7,836 

Infrastructure assets vested in the Council (21,167) (16,735) (21,167) (16,735)

Increase in deferred taxation asset  -  -  1 (1)

Equity accounted (earnings) / loss of associate  -  - 887 (152)

Revaluation of fi nancial instrument  26,080  4,155  26,080  4,155 

Movement in working capital
Decrease/(increase) in non-capital debtors (1,283) (3,364) (1,269) (3,431)

Decrease/(increase) in inventories 50 (69) 50 (69)

Increase/(decrease) in non capital creditors 22,584 21,441 22,522 21,123 

Increase/(decrease) in interest payable (1,933) 401 (1,933) 503 

Less items classifi ed as investing activity
(Gain)/loss on sale/revaluation of assets – net 6,899 (11,373) 6,896 (11,373)

Net cash fl ow from operating activities 49,175  41,160 49,226  41,358 
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24 REMUNERATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND ELECTED REPRESENTATIVES

Chief Executive Offi cer - Vijaya Vaidyanath (appointed 1 April 2008)

For the year ended 30 June 2009 the total remuneration package paid to the Chief Executive Offi cer, Vijaya Vaidyanath, 
is calculated at a salary of $363,526 plus an at risk component of $25,000, motor vehicle value of $8,497 and professional 
membership fee of $3,000.

For the period 1 April 2008 to 30 June 2008, the total remuneration package paid to the Chief Executive Offi cer, 
Vijaya Vaidyanath, is calculated at a salary of $87,427 plus motor vehicle value of $3,734 and professional 
membership fee of $750.

Elected representatives

Total remuneration paid by Waitakere City Council to elected representative was as follows:

                                    Total remuneration
2009

$
2008

$

Mayor
R Harvey 134,069 132,344

Deputy Mayor
P Hulse (Councillor until 19 October 2007, 
thereafter Deputy Mayor) 

 77,434  65,841 

CA Stone (Until 19 October 2007)  -  29,945 

Councillors:
DQ Battersby  68,000  60,294 

BA Brady  52,409  28,981 

MF Chan  52,409  48,409 

JM Clews  65,000  61,441 

RI Clow  68,000  53,606 

LA Cooper  68,000  54,800 

AK Corban  55,000  49,272 

RP Dallow  55,000  53,857 

WW Flaunty  55,000  51,039 

DE Gilmore (Until 3 August 2007)  -  8,245 

C Harding (Until 19 October 2007)  -  20,612 

MM Jolley  52,409  28,981 

JP Lawley  68,000  59,568 

PG Mitchell  52,409  28,981 

VS Neeson  68,000  68,636 

 25 SEVERANCE PAYMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2009 the Council made 1 severance payment to an employee totalling $9,606 (in 2008 2 payments 
totalling $153,920).
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26 RELATED PARTIES

Waitakere City Council is the ultimate parent of the group and controls three entities, namely Waitakere City Holdings

Limited, Waitakere Properties Limited and the Waitakere Enterprise Trust Board. The Council also has signifi cant

infl uence over Auckland Film Studio Limited and Prime West Management Limited.

The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
2009

$000’s

2008

$000’s

Waitakere City Holdings Limited
Dividend paid to the Council  -   - 

Secretarial fees paid to the Council 6 6 

Amounts owing to the Council 7  - 

Waitakere Properties Limited
Management and consultancy fees received from the Council 1,333 907 

Amounts owing by the Council 187 103 

Amounts owing to the Council 10 16 

Purchase of goods and services from the Council 2  - 

Waitakere Enterprise Trust Board
Operating grant received from the Council 1,123 1,182 

Other operating revenue received from the Council 10 8 

Occupancy and other costs paid to the Council 183 171 

Purchase of goods and services from the Council 17 55 

Amounts owing by the Council 12 42 

Auckland Film Studio Limited (was formerly Prime West Limited)
Sale of property to Auckland Film Studio Limited  -  4,000 

Purchase of shares in Auckland Film Studio Limited  -  4,000 

Prime West Management Limited
Directors fees received 14 53 
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27 STATEMENT OF SERVICE PERFORMANCE

Surveys of residents, businesses and customers are used to obtain results for many of the performance measures.  
These involve a variety of survey techniques that provide results with margins of error ranging from 4-6% for resident 
and business surveys and from 4-5% for customer surveys. The sample base of the three key performance indicators 
phone surveys is approximately 650 residents.

Surveys were conducted using best practice market research principles by in-house staff. Interviewers were contracted 
to provide independence and expertise. Where appropriate the Council ensures work is performed to recognised 
standards, such as those established by Transit New Zealand for roading activities, Ministry of Health for water quality, 
etc. In activities such as policy, planning and inspector services, the Council ensures a quality service is provided by 
using suitably trained, qualifi ed and supervised staff.

28 SEGMENTAL REPORTING

The Council’s activities comprise the provision of goods and services under the Local Government Act 2002. The 
Council’s business is conducted in Waitakere City and is therefore within one geographical area for reporting purposes.

26 RELATED PARTIES continued

Key management personnel 

Key management personnel include the Mayor, Councillors, Chief Executive Offi cer and executive 
management personnel.

During the year, key management personnel, as part of normal customer relationship, were involved 
in minor transactions with the Council (such as payment of rates etc.).

During the year the Council provided a grant of $475,000 (2008 $475,000) to the Trust Stadium for which 
Councillor Dallow is the Chairman of the Trust.

During the year the Council contributed $1,595.61 towards a contract related to Council’s stormwater capacity. The 
contract involves a new stormwater drainage crossing across a private property for which Andrew Pollock, Director: 
Finance is the owner.

During the year Council paid $1,946.25 towards signage the ”Craft Out West”, for which Councillor Warren Flaunty’s wife 
was the organiser for the event.

Councillor Chan’s wife was employed by the Council until September 2008. The terms and conditions of her employment 
contract are no more favourable than the Council would have adopted if there were no relationship.

Key management personnel were not involved in any other related party transactions.

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
2009

$000’s

2008

$000’s

Salaries and other short term employee benefi ts 2,999 3,514

Other long term benefi ts 25 55

Termination benefi ts  -  - 

Total key management personnel compensation  3,024  3,569 
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30 CONTINGENT ASSETS

There are no contingent assets for the 2009 year. (2008: nil)

29 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

       Council & Group

2009

$000’s

2008

$000’s

Industrial relations
Claims from former employees in relation to conditions of employment. - 40

Litigation
Claims have been received from third parties pending court decision. The Council is 
opposing all these claims. In some cases the Council’s exposure is an insured risk.

24,040 250

Building Weather-tightness – unreported claims assessment
In addition to the provision made on Note 22, Council has also assessed other building 
defect claims.

60,325 37,000

Tax liability
A tax liability may arise on the profi ts of the Harbourview Joint Venture if this entity is 
deemed to be a council-controlled trading organisation.

 600  600 

Civil defence emergency management
An amount of $8,500,000 has been provided within the Council’s committed cash advance 
facilities for the recognition of civil defence emergency management in the event of a 
disaster being declared.

This amount includes the Council’s responsibilities under the Auckland Region 
Civic Defence Emergency Management Group Facility Management Deed. 

 8,500  8,500 

Watercare guarantee
As at 24 July 2008 the council joined the fi ve other shareholding councils of Watercare 
Services Limited (Watercare) to provide the creditors of Watercare and its subsidiaries with 
a guarantee of Watercare’s debt.  Auckland City Council fi rstly provided a guarantee for the 
debt with back to back indemnities by the other shareholding councils in proportion to their 
shareholding. Waitakere City Council’s percentage of any liability called under this guarantee 
is therefore 16.6 per cent. If any Council other than Auckland City (which own 41.6 per cent) 
is unable to pay their share, all the other councils are required to make up the defaulting 
amount based upon the shareholding formula. This arrangement was put in place by the 
shareholding councils in order to minimise long term price increases for bulk water and 
wastewater services purchased from Watercare.

 96,700  76,000 

The Council’s share of the indemnity would be called upon if Watercare defaulted on its debt. Waitakere City Council’s 
fi nancial exposure is projected to be a maximum of $96.7m for the year ended 30 June 2009, based on a fi rst call where 
all councils paid their respective shares; for the year ended 30 June 2008 the equivalent amount would have been $76m.
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31 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 

AND OPERATING LEASES

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Capital commitments  7,985  19,162  7,985  19,162 

Capital expenditure contracted for at balance date but not yet incurred. Capital commitments are related to property, 
plant and equipment. There are no capital commitments in respect of intangible assets or investment property.

Operating Lease as Lessee

The Council and group leases property, plant and equipment in the course of their business. The minimum lease rental 
commitments as at 30 June for all non-cancellable operating leases are:

Not later than one year  464  518  464  518 

Later than one year and not later than fi ve years  1,368  1,458  1,368  1,458 

Later than fi ve years  1,577  1,568  1,577  1,568 

Total non-cancellable operating lease commitments  3,409  3,544  3,409  3,544 

In a majority of cases the Council has a right of renewal for the property leases included in the above table.

Total commitments  11,394  22,706  11,394  22,706 

Operating Lease as Lessor

Not later than one year 518 615 518 615

Later than one year and not later than fi ve years 693 878 693 878

Later than fi ve years 100 98 100 98

 1,311  1,591  1,311  1,591 
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT CATEGORIES

The accounting policies for fi nancial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Note

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Financial Assets
Fair value through profi t and loss

Derivative fi nancial instrument assets 5,292 5,090 5,292 5,090 

Loans and receivables

Cash and cash equivalents 3,856 773 8,168 5,081 

Debtors and other receivables 11 34,794 33,511 35,087 33,810 

Held to maturity - - - - 

Fair value through equity
Other fi nancial assets

Unlisted shares 14 241,752 212,429 241,752 212,429 

Financial Liabilities
Fair value through profi t and loss

Derivative fi nancial instrument liabilities 28,524 2,242 28,524 2,242 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Creditors and other payables 44,340 45,952 44,585 46,322 

Borrowings 451,941 374,182 451,990 374,226 
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WEIGHTED AVERAGE BORROWING COST

Council & Group

Lower %
Interest rates 
as at balance 

date
Upper %

30 June 2009
-0.50%  +0.50%

7.04% 7.02% 6.95%

30 June 2008
-0.50%  +0.50%

7.45% 7.6% 7.75%

If total borrowings remained constant for a full year, the higher/lower weighted average borrowing cost would be translated 
into higher/lower reported interest expense.

33 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISKS

The Council and group’s activities expose it to a variety 
of fi nancial instrument risks, including market risk, credit 
risk and liquidity risk. The Council has an approved Liability 
Management and Investment Policy which contains 
principles to manage the risks associated with fi nancial 
instruments. The Council is risk aware and seeks to 
minimise exposure from its treasury activities. The policy 
does not allow for any transactions that are speculative in 
nature to be entered into.

Currency risk

The Council and group has no fi nancial instrument currency 
risk exposure as at 30 June 2009. The Council’s Liability 
Management and Investment Policy forbids borrowing and 
entry into incidental arrangements, in currencies other than 
New Zealand currency.

Market Risk

Cash fl ow interest rate risk

Cash fl ow Interest rate risk is the risk that expected cash 
fl ows associated with fi nancial instruments will fl uctuate 
due to adverse changes in market interest rates. This 
may result in interest expenses materially exceeding 
those adopted in the Annual Plan’s and strategic ten 
year plan’s interest cost projections. This may adversely 
impact cost control, capital investment decisions, returns 
and feasibilities.

The Council is exposed to interest rate risk from debt 
instruments it has issued and interest bearing investments 
that it holds. The Council seeks to minimise this exposure 

through its Liability Management and Investment Policy.  
The policy prescribes the “fi xed/fl oating rate mix” risk 
control limit, the fi xed rate maturity profi le limit and the 
approval for the use of derivative fi nancial instruments.

Derivative fi nancial instruments are used as a means of 
reducing exposure to fl uctuations in interest rates. While 
these instruments are subject to the risk of market rates 
changing subsequent to acquisition, such changes would 
generally be offset by opposite effects on the items being 
hedged. The Council uses forward rate agreements, 
interest rate swaps and interest rate options to manage 
interest rate risk.

The Council has a Liability Management and Investment 
Policy. This policy provides guidelines on the mix of fi xed 
and fl oating interest rate borrowings within the overall 
portfolio. At any time the Council will have proportion of 
fl oating interest rate borrowings ranging from a minimum 
of 5% to a maximum of 35%. The greater the percentage 
of fl oating interest rate borrowings, the greater the volatility 
there will be in the Council’s interest expense.

As at 30 June 2009 the Councils weighted average 
borrowing cost was 7.02% (2008 7.58%).

Sensitivity analysis

If interest rates as at 30 June 2009 had been higher by 
0.50% or lower by 0.50% with all other variables held 
constant, the Council’s borrowing portfolio’s weighted 
average interest rate would fl uctuate in proportion to 
the volume of fl oating interest rate borrowing within 
the debt portfolio.
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33 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISKS continued

ANNUAL INTEREST BASED ON WEIGHTED 
AVERAGE BORROWING COST   

Council & Group

Lower %
Interest rates 
as at balance 

date
Upper %

30 June 2009
-0.50%  +0.50%

 31,970  31,647  31,325 

30 June 2008
-0.50%  +0.50%

 27,845  28,397  28,950 

Fair value interest rate risk

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a 
fi nancial instrument will fl uctuate due to changes in market 
interest rates. The Council’s Liability Management and 
Investment Policy outlines the level of borrowing that is to 
be secured using fi xed rate instruments. Borrowings issued 
at fi xed interest rates expose the Council to fair value 
risk. Fixed to fl oating interest rate swaps are entered into 
simultaneously with the issue of fi xed rate borrowings to 
hedge the fair value interest rate risk arising from borrowing 
at fi xed interest rates. Floating to fi xed interest rate swaps 
are used to meet the requirements of the “fi xed/fl oating 
rate mix” control limit. The value of movements in fair value 
are reported in the Council’s Income Statement. 

The fair value gain or loss is not realised unless the 
position is closed out at the time of valuation. The Council 
does not expect to close out of its fi nancial instruments 
early, implying that the fair value reported will never 
be realised.

Sensitivity analysis fair value interest 

rates swaps

The table below illustrates the potential fair value impact 
for reasonably possible market movements in interest 
rates, with all other variables held constant, based on the 
Council’s interest rate swaps at balance date. The impact 
is translated into changes in fair value of the derivative 
fi nancial instruments.

Council & Group 2009

Lower $000
-100 bps Actual

Upper $000
+100 bps

Current assets

Interest rate swaps  8,561  5,292  4,166 

Current liabilities

Interest rate swaps  53,429  28,524  7,598 

Net balance of interest rate swaps  (44,868)  (23,232)  (3,432)

Council & Group 2008

Lower $000
-100 bps Actual

Upper $000
+100 bps

Current assets

Interest rate swaps  2,705  5,090  14,350 

Current liabilities

Interest rate swaps  5,703  2,242  5,656 

Net balance of interest rate swaps  (2,998)  2,848  8,694 

* bps denotes basis points
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Liquidity Risk

Liquidity Risk is the risk that the Council will encounter diffi culty raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they fall due. 
Prudent liquidity management implies maintaining suffi cient cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of 
committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. The Council aims to maintain fl exibility in funding by 
keeping committed credit lines available.

The Council manages its borrowings in accordance with its Liability Management and Investment Policy. Included in that policy 
are guidelines for maturity profi ling. These guidelines are intended to reduce the concentration of debt maturing at any given time.  
The Council also maintains Committed Cash Advance Facilities with separate providers totalling $215 million (2008 $185 million).

Contractual maturity analysis of fi nancial assets and liabilities

Other than loans, which are detailed below, the contractual maturity and contractual cash fl ows of all remaining fi nancial assets 
and liabilities equate to their disclosure in the balance sheet.     

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Financial Assets
Fair value through profi t and loss

Derivative fi nancial instrument assets  5,292  5,090  5,292  5,090 

Loans and receivables

Cash and cash equivalents  3,856  773  8,168  5,081 

Debtors and other receivables  34,794  33,511  35,087  33,810 

33 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISKS continued

Credit risk

To the extent that Waitakere City Council has a receivable 
from another party there is a risk in the event of non-
performance by that counterparty. Financial instruments 
subject to credit risk include cash and cash equivalents, trade 
and other receivables, derivative fi nancial instruments and 
fi nancial guarantees. Debtors and other receivables mainly 
arise from the Council’s statutory functions, therefore there 
are no procedures in place to monitor or report the credit 
quality debtors and other receivables with reference 
to internal or external credit ratings.

The Council’s Treasury functions are carried out with 
institutions that have the following Standard & Poor’s 
credit rating

ANZ      AA

ASB      AA

BNZ      AA

Westpac    AA

Commonwealth Bank of Australia AA

In order to minimise credit risk relating 
to treasury transactions:      
– the Council uses fi nancial institutions with recognised 

high credit ratings for investing and cash handling
purposes; and     

– the Council’s Liability Management and Investment Policy 
limits the amount of surplus funds that can be placed
with any one fi nancial institution at any one time.

Credit risk attaching to land and water rate receivables is 
minimised as a result of the Council’s statutory collection 
powers under the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002.

As at balance date there were no signifi cant concentrations 
of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is detailed 
below:     
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33 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISKS continued

Council
2009

$000’s

Council 
2008

$000’s

Group
2009

$000’s

Group 
2008

$000’s

Loans
Carrying amount 450,770 373,525 450,770 373,525

Contractual cash fl ows

Not later than one year 142,947 81,419 142,947 81,419

Later then one year and not later than two years 73,812 77,477 73,812 77,477

Later than two years and not later than fi ve years 149,637 174,295 149,637 174,295

Later than fi ve years 153,263 157,906 153,263 157,906

Total contractual cash fl ows 519,659 491,097 519,659 491,097

Council & Group

 Within
One year

$000’s

One to 
Two years

$000’s

Two to 
Five years

$000’s

Greater 
than Five 

years

$000’s

Interest rate swaps/options (investor) 93,500 (20,000) (40,000) (33,500)

Interest rate swaps/options (borrower) (458,025) 20,000 203,000 235,025 

Financial instruments 2009 (364,525)  -  163,000 201,525 

Financial instruments 2008 (154,525) 68,000 40,000 46,525 

Changes to the Liability Management Investment Policy

There have been no signifi cant changes to the Liability Management Investment Policy. Minor changes of an administrative nature 
were consulted on and adopted in May 2008.

Repricing Analysis

The following table identifi es the period until derivative fi nancial instruments that are interest rate sensitive reprice. The interest 
rate applicable to derivative fi nancial instruments is incorporated into the effective interest rate of the underlying hedge items.
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34 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Council’s capital is its equity (or ratepayers’ funds), 
which comprise accumulated balance and reserves. 
Equity is represented by net assets.

The Local Government Act 2002 (the Act) requires the 
Council to manage its revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, 
investments and general fi nancial dealings prudently and in 
a manner that promotes the current and future interests of 
the community. Ratepayer’s funds are largely managed as a 
by-product of managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, 
investments and general fi nancial dealings.

The objective of managing these items is to achieve 
intergenerational equity, which is a principle promoted in 
the Act and applied by the Council. Intergenerational equity 
requires today’s ratepayers to meet the costs of utilising 
the Council’s assets and not expecting them to meet the 
full cost of long term assets that will benefi t ratepayers in 
future generations. Additionally, the Council has in place 
asset management plans for major classes of assets detailing 
renewal and maintenance programmes, to ensure ratepayers 
in future generations are not required to meet the costs of 
deferred renewals and maintenance.

The Act requires the Council to make adequate and effective 
provision in its Long Term Council Community Plan (LTCCP) 
and in its Annual Plan (where applicable) to meet the 
expenditure needs identifi ed in those plans. The Act also sets 
out the factors that the Council is required to consider when 
determining the most appropriate sources of funding for each 
of its activities. The sources and levels of funding are set out 
in the funding and fi nancial policies in the Council’s LTCCP.

The Council has the following council created reserves:

• reserves for different areas of benefi t; and

• self-insurance reserves; and

• trust and bequest reserves.

Reserves for different areas of benefi t are used where there 
is a discrete set of rate or levy payers as distinct from the 
general rate. Any surplus or defi cit relating to these separate 
areas of benefi t is applied to the specifi c reserves.

Self-insurance reserves are built up from general rates and are 
made available for specifi c unforeseen events. The release of 
these funds generally can only be approved by the Council.

Trust and bequest reserves are set up where the Council has 
been donated funds that are restricted for particular purposes. 
Interest is added to trust and bequest reserves where 
applicable and deductions are made where funds have been 
used for the purpose they were donated. 

35 EXPLANATION OF MAJOR VARIANCES 

AGAINST THE ANNUAL PLAN

Explanations for major variances from 

the 2008/2009 Annual plan are as follows:

Income Statement

Other revenue ($25.8m)

Key components of other revenue comprise:

User charges, sales and recoveries $5.6m

User charges, sales and recoveries were ahead of budget, 
mainly because of the strong performance of the fi tness 
centre and unbudgeted share of proceeds received from 
the sale of regional assets.

External subsidies and development contributions 

($45.1m)

External subsidies were lower than anticipated as 
expenditure on the New Lynn TOD and other capital works 
was deferred. Development contributions were also less 
than expected as subdivision activity during the year was 
lower than anticipated.

Vested assets $11.6m

Vested assets are infrastructure assets received from 
developers once the subdivision is complete. This is a non 
cash item and is subject to the number of subdivisions that 
are completed during the year.

Depreciation and Amortisation $2.9m

Depreciation on assets increased as a result of the 
revaluation of Infrastructure assets.

Other losses $36.7m

Other losses primarily comprise of non cash items relating 
to the reduction in fair value of fi nancial instruments, an 
increase in the weather tightness provision and loss on 
revaluation of investment properties. See note 3 for details.

Balance Sheet

Current assets $8.6m

Cash and cash equivalents $3.9m

The Council is in a net borrowing position and no cash 
was budgeted to be held at balance date.

Debtors and other receivables $9.2m

These balances are consistent with the previous year 
and includes a signifi cant end of year property sale debtor.
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Derivative fi nancial instruments( $1.7m)

These relate to the year end valuation of fi nancial 
instruments. See current liabilities below.

Non current assets held for sale ($2.7m)

More properties held for sale were sold in the 
current year than were budgeted in the annual plan.

Current liabilities $100m

Borrowing $75.1m

(refer non current liabilities)

Creditors, other payables and employee 

entitlements($3.6m)

These balances were consistent with the prior year and 
refl ect the level of accounts payable activity at balance date.

Derivative fi nancial instruments $28.5m

These are year end valuation of fi nancial instruments. The 
overall annual plan budget amount of $7m was based on 
anticipated market position at the time the budget was 
prepared for the Annual Plan.

Non current assets ($110.0m)

Other fi nancial assets $27.7m

The value of shares in Watercare increased by $29.3m 
based on their net asset backing at balance date. The 
annual plan budget was based on best estimate of the fair 
value of investments when the annual plan was approved.

Investment in associates $4.0m

The purchase of shares in this associate (which was funded 
through a land sale) occurred in 2008 fi nancial year after the 
completion of the Annual Plan.

Investment property ($95.1m)

There was a downward revaluation of Investment 
Property ($8.0) and anticipated acquisition of strategic 
land did not occur.

Property plant and equipment and Intangible assets 

($46.5m)

A number of capital projects were deferred during the year. 
The project plans for major capital projects require working 
in partnership with a number of government parties. This 
had made progress slower than anticipated.

Non current liabilities ($212.0m)

Borrowing ($224.8m)

The combined current and non current borrowing is down 
on budget by $149.7m. This is as a result of delays in 
capital projects and anticipated strategic land purchases 
that did not occur and are expected to be carried out in 
future years.

Provisions $12.2m

Council’s weather tightness provision increased 
to refl ect new claims reported.   
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Audit Report

To the readers of Waitakere City Council and group’s fi nancial statements and performance 

information for the year ended 30 June 2009

The Auditor General is the auditor of Waitakere City Council (the City Council) and group. The Auditor General has appointed 

me, Ben Halford, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit. The audit covers the City Council’s

compliance with the requirements of Schedule 10 of the Local Government Act 2002 that apply to the annual report of the City 

Council and group for the year ended 30 June 2009, including the fi nancial statements.

Unqualifi ed Opinion 

In our opinion: 

• The fi nancial statements of the City Council and group on pages 181 to 236 that are prepared on a dissolution basis:
• comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and
• fairly refl ect :

• the City Council and group’s fi nancial position as at 30 June 2009; and

• the results of operations and cash fl ows for the year ended on that date. 

• The service provision information of the City Council and group on pages 115 to 177 fairly refl ects the levels of service 
provision as measured against the intended levels of service provision adopted, as well as the reasons for any signifi cant 
variances, for the year ended on that date; and

• The Council has complied with the other requirements of Schedule 10 of the Local Government Act 2002 that apply
to the annual report (the “other requirements”).

The audit was completed on 28 October 2009 and is the date at which our opinion is expressed. 

The basis of our opinion is explained below and refers to the fi nancial statements being appropriately prepared on a dissolution 
basis and the transition to a new local government structure for the Auckland region on 1 November 2010. In addition, we 
outline the responsibilities of the Council and the Auditor and explain our independence.

Basis of Opinion

We carried out the audit in accordance with the Auditor General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the New Zealand 

Auditing Standards. 

We planned and performed the audit to obtain all the information and explanations we considered necessary in order to obtain 

reasonable assurance that the fi nancial statements, performance information and the other requirements did not have material 

misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error. 

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would affect a reader’s overall 

understanding of the fi nancial statements, performance information and the other requirements. If we had found material 

misstatements that were not corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion. 

The audit involved performing procedures to test the information presented in the fi nancial statements, performance information 

and the other requirements. We assessed the results of those procedures in forming our opinion.

Audit procedures generally include:

• determining whether signifi cant fi nancial and management controls are working and can be relied on to produce complete 

and accurate data;

• verifying samples of transactions and account balances;

• performing analyses to identify anomalies in the reported data;

• reviewing signifi cant estimates and judgements made by the Council;

• confi rming year-end balances; 

• determining whether accounting policies are appropriate and consistently applied; and

• determining whether all required disclosures are adequate.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the fi nancial statements, performance 

information and the other requirements.

We evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the fi nancial statements, performance information 

and the other requirements. We obtained all the information and explanations we required to support our opinion above. 
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The fi nancial statements are appropriately prepared on a dissolution basis and refer to the new local government 

structure for the Auckland region.

In forming our opinion, we considered the accounting policy on page 187 about the fi nancial statements being prepared on 

a dissolution basis and which outlines the Government’s decision to dissolve the City Council and, as a consequence, the 

group and establish a new local government structure for the Auckland region.

The Government’s decision includes the dissolution of the City Council and other existing local authorities in the Auckland 

region after 31 October 2010. As a consequence of the dissolution of the City Council the group structure in its current 

form will also cease to exist. In accordance with the Local Government (Tamaki Makaurau Reorganisation) Act 2009, the 

functions, duties and powers of the City Council will become the functions, duties and powers of a single unitary authority 

(the Auckland Council) that will be responsible for governing the entire Auckland region from 1 November 2010.

Decisions are yet to be made on the Auckland Council’s structure and operations including how the systems, plans, policies, 

assets and liabilities of the City Council, including its subsidiaries and associates and the other existing local authorities will 

be vested and integrated. Nevertheless, the City Council and group expects the services currently delivered to continue to 

be delivered by the organisational structure put in place by the Auckland Council and therefore the assets and liabilities of 

the City Council and group will be relevant to the Auckland Council. For that reason, no adjustments have been made to the 

fi nancial statements because of the dissolution basis of preparation. We consider the basis of preparation of the fi nancial 

statements and the related disclosures to be appropriate to the City Council and group’s circumstances.

Responsibilities of the Council and the Auditor

The Council is responsible for preparing fi nancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice in New 

Zealand. The fi nancial statements must fairly refl ect the fi nancial position of the City Council and group as at 30 June 2009. They 

must also fairly refl ect the results of operations and cash fl ows and the levels of service provision for the year ended on that date. 

The Council is also responsible for meeting the other requirements of Schedule 10 and including that information in the annual report. 

The Council’s responsibilities arise from Section 98 and Schedule 10 of the Local Government Act 2002.

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the fi nancial statements, performance information and the other 

requirements and reporting that opinion to you. This responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and section 99 

of the Local Government Act 2002.

Independence

When carrying out the audit we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor General, which incorporate 
the independence requirements of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of New Zealand. 

Other than the audit and in conducting the audit of the Long Term Council Community Plan, we have no relationship 
with or interests in the City Council or any of its subsidiaries.

Matters Relating to the Electronic Presentation of the Audited Financial 

Statements, Performance Information and the Other Requirements

This audit report relates to the fi nancial statements, performance information and the 
other requirements of Waitakere City Council and group for the year ended 30 June 2009 
included on Waitakere City Council and group’s website. The Waitakere City Council 
is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of Waitakere City Council and group’s 
website. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of Waitakere City Council 
and group’s website. We accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred 
to the fi nancial statements, performance information and the other requirements since 
they were initially presented on the website.

The audit report refers only to the fi nancial statements, performance information and the 
other requirements named above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information 
which may have been hyperlinked to or from the fi nancial statements, performance 
information and the other requirements. If readers of this report are concerned with the 
inherent risks arising from electronic data communication they should refer to the published 
hard copy of the audited fi nancial statements, performance information and the other 
requirements as well as the related audit report dated 28 October 2009 to confi rm the 
information included in the audited summary annual presented on this website.

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of fi nancial 
information may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Ben Halford

Audit New Zealand

On behalf of the Auditor-General

Auckland, New Zealand
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GRI
In preparing this report we were guided by the indicators of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Sustainability 
Reporting Draft G3 Framework. GRI indicators that have been discussed in this report (either wholly or in part), 
or are to be addressed in future reports are referenced in the following table.

Indicator  Location Covered
Partially 
Covered

11 Strategy and AnalysisStrategy and Analysis 7-107-10

1.11.1 Statement from the Mayor and CEOStatement from the Mayor and CEO 13-14, 18-2013-14, 18-20

1.21.2 Description of key risks and opportunitiesDescription of key risks and opportunities

22 Organisational ProfileOrganisational Profi le

2.12.1 Name of the OrganisationName of the Organisation Front CoverFront Cover

2.22.2 Primary brands, products and/or servicesPrimary brands, products and/or services 22-26, 18722-26, 187

2.32.3 Operation structure of the OrganisationOperation structure of the Organisation 64-65, 71-80, 18764-65, 71-80, 187

2.42.4 Location of Organisation’s headquartersLocation of Organisation’s headquarters Inside Back CoverInside Back Cover 

2.52.5 Countries of OperationsCountries of Operations 3-43-4

2.62.6 Nature of ownership and legal formNature of ownership and legal form 187187

2.72.7 Community/markets servedCommunity/markets served 44

2.82.8 Scale of organisationScale of organisation 31, 43-46,31, 43-46, 
99-177, 18399-177, 183

2.92.9 Significant changes during the reporting periodSignifi cant changes during the reporting period 48, 56, 57, 18748, 56, 57, 187

2.102.10 Awards receivedAwards received 6262

33 Report Scope/ProfileReport Scope/Profi le

3.13.1 Reporting PeriodReporting Period Front CoverFront Cover

3.23.2 Date of most previous reportDate of most previous report 1212

3.33.3 Reporting cycleReporting cycle 1212

3.43.4 Contact point for questions regarding the reportContact point for questions regarding the report Inside Back CoverInside Back Cover

3.53.5 Process for defining report contentProcess for defi ning report content 4, 12, 154, 12, 15

3.63.6 Boundary of the ReportBoundary of the Report 4, 95-96, 1874, 95-96, 187

3.73.7 Limitations on report scope or boundaryLimitations on report scope or boundary 1212

3.83.8 Basis for reporting on joint venturesBasis for reporting on joint ventures 81-96, 187, 22681-96, 187, 226

3.93.9 Data measurement techniquesData measurement techniques Throughout reportThroughout report

3.103.10 Explanation of any re-statements of information providedExplanation of any re-statements of information provided 
in previous reportsin previous reports

4949

3.113.11 Significant changes from previous reportSignifi cant changes from previous report 48, 56-57, 18748, 56-57, 187
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Indicator  Location Covered
Partially 
Covered

3.123.12 GRI IndexGRI Index 239-242239-242

3.133.13 External Assurance External Assurance 237-238237-238

44 GovernanceGovernance

4.14.1 GovernanceGovernance 63-6863-68

4.24.2 Mayor/Executive Officer StatusMayor/Executive Offi cer Status 6464

4.44.4 Mechanisms for Shareholders and employeesMechanisms for Shareholders and employees 65, 117-11865, 117-118

4.54.5 Linkage between organisational performance and remunerationLinkage between organisational performance and remuneration 225225

4.64.6 Process in place for the highest governance body to ensureProcess in place for the highest governance body to ensure 
conflicts of interests are avoidedconfl icts of interests are avoided

64-7064-70

4.74.7 Process for determining qualifications and expertiseProcess for determining qualifi cations and expertise 
of members of the highest governance bodyof members of the highest governance body

65-9565-95

4.84.8 Mission and values statementsMission and values statements 77

4.94.9 Highest governance body for overseeing economic,Highest governance body for overseeing economic,
environmental and social performanceenvironmental and social performance

64-6664-66

4.114.11 How the precautionary approach or principle is addressedHow the precautionary approach or principle is addressed 
by the organisationby the organisation

LTCCP 2006-2016LTCCP 2006-2016 
Vol. 1 p.12Vol. 1 p.12

4.124.12 Commitments to external initiativesCommitments to external initiatives LTCCP 2006-2016LTCCP 2006-2016 
Vol.1 p10-14, 13-14Vol.1 p10-14, 13-14

4.144.14 List of stakeholder groups engaged by the organisationList of stakeholder groups engaged by the organisation 1515

4.154.15 Basis for identification and selection of stakeholdersBasis for identifi cation and selection of stakeholders           
with whom to engagewith whom to engage

15-1615-16

4.164.16 Approaches to stakeholder engagementApproaches to stakeholder engagement 12, 15-16, 2512, 15-16, 25

4.174.17 Key issues raised through stakeholder engagementKey issues raised through stakeholder engagement 15-1615-16

ECEC Economic Performance IndicatorsEconomic Performance Indicators

EC1EC1 Economic value generated and distributedEconomic value generated and distributed 38-4638-46

EC2EC2 Financial implications of climate changeFinancial implications of climate change 4141

EC4EC4 Financial assistance received from governmentFinancial assistance received from government 4040

EC6EC6 Proportion of spending on locally-based suppliers at significantProportion of spending on locally-based suppliers at signifi cant 
locations of operation significant locations of operationlocations of operation signifi cant locations of operation

4040

EC8EC8 Infrastructure investments and services supported that provideInfrastructure investments and services supported that provide 
public benefitpublic benefi t

38, 91-112,38, 91-112, 
115-177, 226, 229115-177, 226, 229
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Indicator  Location Covered
Partially 
Covered

EC9EC9 Indirect economic impactsIndirect economic impacts 39-4039-40

ENEN Environmental Performance IndicatorsEnvironmental Performance Indicators

EN1EN1 Weight of materials usedWeight of materials used 5555

EN2EN2 Percentage of materials used that are recycledPercentage of materials used that are recycled 5555

EN3EN3 Direct energy consumptionDirect energy consumption 48, 55-5848, 55-58

EN4EN4 Indirect energy consumptionIndirect energy consumption 48-50, 55-5848-50, 55-58

EN5EN5 Energy saved due to conservation and efficiency improvementsEnergy saved due to conservation and effi ciency improvements 48-51, 5848-51, 58

EN6EN6 Provision of energy efficient or renewable energy basedProvision of energy effi cient or renewable energy based 
products or services and savings achieved.products or services and savings achieved.

48-51, 55-5848-51, 55-58

EN7EN7 Initiatives to reduce indirect energy consumptionInitiatives to reduce indirect energy consumption 
and savings achievedand savings achieved

48, 51, 5648, 51, 56

EN8EN8 Total water withdrawal by sourceTotal water withdrawal by source 52-53, 174-17452-53, 174-174

EN12EN12 Significant impacts on biodiversity value (outsideSignifi cant impacts on biodiversity value (outside 
protected area)protected area)

59-6259-62

EN13EN13 Habitats protected or restoredHabitats protected or restored 60-6160-61

EN14EN14 Strategies and plans for managing impacts on biodiversityStrategies and plans for managing impacts on biodiversity 59, 61-62,59, 61-62, 
139-142, 155, 164139-142, 155, 164

EN15EN15 Number of protected species in areas affected by operationsNumber of protected species in areas affected by operations 5959

EN16EN16 Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions by weightTotal direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions by weight 56-5856-58

EN17EN17 Greenhouse gas emissions – otherGreenhouse gas emissions – other 5656

EN18EN18 Initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissionsInitiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions 
and reductions achievedand reductions achieved

48-54, 15348-54, 153

EN22EN22 Total weight of waste by type and disposal methodTotal weight of waste by type and disposal method 42, 48, 147-14942, 48, 147-149

HRHR Social Performance: Human RightsSocial Performance: Human Rights

HR5HR5 Operations identified in which the right to exercise freedom ofOperations identifi ed in which the right to exercise freedom of 
association and collective bargaining may be at significant riskassociation and collective bargaining may be at signifi cant risk 
and actions taken to support these rightsand actions taken to support these rights

2828

LALA Social Performance: Labour Practices and Decent WorkSocial Performance: Labour Practices and Decent Work 

PerformancePerformance

LA1LA1 Total workforce by employment type, employment contractTotal workforce by employment type, employment contract 
and regionand region

3131

LA2LA2 Total number and rate of employee turnoverTotal number and rate of employee turnover 3131

LA3LA3 Benefits provided to full-time employees that are not providedBenefi ts provided to full-time employees that are not provided 
to temporary or part-time employees, by major operationsto temporary or part-time employees, by major operations

195, 198195, 198
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Report Application Level A+B+C+ ABC
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Report on a minimum of 
10 Performance Indicators, 
including at least one from 
each of: Economic, Social and 
Environmental.

Not Required

Report on:
1.1
2.1 - 2.10
3.1 - 3.8, 3.10 - 3.12
4.1 - 4.4, 4.14 - 4.15

Report on a minimum of 
20 Performance Indicators, 
at least one from each of: 
Economic, Environmental, 
Human rights, Labor, Society, 
Product Responsibility.

Management Approach 
Disclosures for each Indicator 
Category

Report on all criteria listed for 
Level C plus:
1.2
3.9, 3.13
4.5 - 4.13, 4.16 - 4.17

Report on each core G3 and 
Sector Supplement* Indicator 
with due regard to the 
Materiality Principle by either: 
a) reporting on the indicator or 
b) explaining the reason 
for its omission.

Management Approach 
Disclosures for each Indicator 
Category

Same as requirement 
for Level B.

G3 Performance 
Indicators & 

Sector Supplement
Performance Indicators

G3 Management 
Approach Disclosures

G3 Profi le 
Disclosures
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Indicator  Location Covered
Partially 
Covered

LA6LA6 Percentage of workforce represented in health andPercentage of workforce represented in health and 
safety committeessafety committees

2929

LA7LA7 Rates of injury, lost days, absenteeismRates of injury, lost days, absenteeism 3232

LA9LA9 Health and safety topics covered in formal agreements withHealth and safety topics covered in formal agreements with 
trade unions agreements with trade unionstrade unions agreements with trade unions

2828

LA11LA11 Hours of training per year per employeeHours of training per year per employee 2929

LA13LA13 Composition of employees and governance bodiesComposition of employees and governance bodies 71-8071-80

SOSO Social Performance: Society PerformanceSocial Performance: Society Performance

SO1SO1 Nature, scope and effectiveness of any programmes andNature, scope and effectiveness of any programmes and 
practices that assesses and manage the impacts of operationspractices that assesses and manage the impacts of operations 
on communities, including entering, operating and exitingon communities, including entering, operating and exiting

115-177115-177

SO5SO5 Public policy positions and participation in public policyPublic policy positions and participation in public policy 
development and lobbyingdevelopment and lobbying

13-14, 3013-14, 30

PRPR Social Performance: Product Responsibility PerformanceSocial Performance: Product Responsibility Performance

PR5PR5 Practices related to customer satisfactionPractices related to customer satisfaction 25, 115-177, 22725, 115-177, 227

Additional sustainability indicators that Waitakere would like to report on that are not Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) indicators:Additional sustainability indicators that Waitakere would like to report on that are not Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) indicators:

CultureCulture

Procedures and programs for the commitment to the Treaty of WaitangiProcedures and programs for the commitment to the Treaty of Waitangi 22-23, 34-35,22-23, 34-35, 
117-118117-118

Relationships with Mana WhenuaRelationships with Mana Whenua 6666

Opportunities for Maori and local ethnic groups to participate in decisionOpportunities for Maori and local ethnic groups to participate in decision 
makingmaking

66-6966-69

Procedures and programs to foster and nurture ethnic diversity withinProcedures and programs to foster and nurture ethnic diversity within 
the communitythe community

34-3634-36

* Sector supplement in fi nal version
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Council Services Contacts

Online
www.waitakere.govt.nz

e-mail: info@waitakere.govt.nz

Customer Services Call Centre
All enquiries: 24 hours, 7 days per week
Telephone: 839 0400

Waitakere Central
Monday to Friday: 8.00am - 5.00pm

6 Henderson Valley Road,

Henderson,

Waitakere 0612

Telephone: 836 8000
(This is also the prime contact number, 
should you know the extension number 
of the person you need to speak to.)
Facsimile: 836 8001

New Lynn War Memorial Library
Monday to Thursday: 9.00am - 5.30pm
Friday: 9.00am - 8.00pm
Saturday & Sunday: 10.00am - 4.00pm

3 Memorial Drive,

New Lynn,

Waitakere 0600

Telephone: 839 2260
Facsimile: 827 3393

Massey Library
Monday, Wednesday, Thursday 

& Friday: 9.00am - 5.30pm
Tuesday: 9.00am - 8.00pm
Saturday & Sunday: 10.00am - 4.00pm

Corner of Don Buck Road and Westgate Drive,

Massey,

Waitakere 0614

Telephone: 832 5389
Facsimile: 832 5341

Glen Eden Library
Monday, Tuesday, 

Thursday & Friday: 9.00am - 5.30pm
Wednesday: 9.00am - 8.00pm
Saturday: 10.00am - 4.00pm
Sunday: Closed

12-32 Glendale Road,

Glen Eden,

Waitakere 0602

Telephone: 839 2260
Facsimile: 818 5363

Te Atatu Peninsula Library
Monday to Wednesday 

& Friday: 9.00am - 5.30pm
Thursday: 9.00am - 8.00pm
Saturday: 10.00am - 4.00pm
Sunday: Closed

595 Te Atatu Road,

Te Atatu Peninsula,

Waitakere 0610

Telephone: 839 2260
Facsimile: 834 2596

Titirangi Library
Monday to Wednesday 

& Friday: 9.00am - 5.30pm
Thursday: 9.00am - 8.00pm
Saturday: 10.00am - 4.00pm
Sunday: Closed

500 South Titirangi Road,

Titirangi,

Waitakere 0604

Telephone: 839 2260
Facsimile: 817 6085




